EX-2.1 2 d23566dex21.htm EX-2.1

Exhibit 2.1

EXECUTION VERSION

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

BY AND AMONG

DEVON ENERGY CORPORATION,

EAST MERGER SUB, INC.

AND

WPX ENERGY, INC.

September 26, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

|  |  |  | Page |
ARTICLE I |
THE MERGER |
Section 1.1 |  | Merger of Merger Sub into East |  |  | 2 |
Section 1.2 |  | Effect of the Merger |  |  | 2 |
Section 1.3 |  | Closing; Effective Time |  |  | 2 |
Section 1.4 |  | Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation |  |  | 2 |
Section 1.5 |  | Directors and Officers of the Surviving Corporation |  |  | 3 |
Section 1.6 |  | Effect on Capital Stock |  |  | 3 |
Section 1.7 |  | Closing of East’s Transfer Books |  |  | 4 |
Section 1.8 |  | Exchange Fund; Exchange of Certificates |  |  | 5 |
Section 1.9 |  | Book-Entry Common Shares |  |  | 7 |
Section 1.10 |  | No Dissenters’ Rights |  |  | 8 |
Section 1.11 |  | Further Action |  |  | 8 |
Section 1.12 |  | Post-Merger Operations; Transition Committee |  |  | 8 |
ARTICLE II |
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF EAST |
Section 2.1 |  | Due Organization; Subsidiaries |  |  | 9 |
Section 2.2 |  | Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement |  |  | 10 |
Section 2.3 |  | Vote Required |  |  | 10 |
Section 2.4 |  | Capitalization |  |  | 10 |
Section 2.5 |  | Governmental Filings; No Violations |  |  | 12 |
Section 2.6 |  | SEC Filings; Financial Statements |  |  | 13 |
Section 2.7 |  | Felix Financial Statements |  |  | 14 |
Section 2.8 |  | Absence of Changes |  |  | 15 |
Section 2.9 |  | Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities |  |  | 15 |
Section 2.10 |  | Compliance with Laws; Regulation |  |  | 15 |
Section 2.11 |  | Material Contracts |  |  | 16 |
Section 2.12 |  | Tax Matters |  |  | 19 |
Section 2.13 |  | Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans |  |  | 21 |
Section 2.14 |  | Environmental Matters |  |  | 24 |
Section 2.15 |  | Reserve Reports |  |  | 25 |
Section 2.16 |  | Legal Proceedings; Orders |  |  | 26 |
Section 2.17 |  | Title to Properties |  |  | 26 |
Section 2.18 |  | Intellectual Property; IT and Privacy |  |  | 29 |
Section 2.19 |  | Affiliate Transactions |  |  | 30 |
Section 2.20 |  | Insurance |  |  | 30 |
Section 2.21 |  | Information to be Supplied |  |  | 30 |
Section 2.22 |  | Regulatory Proceedings |  |  | 31 |

ii

Section 2.23 |  | Takeover Statutes |  |  | 31 |
Section 2.24 |  | Financial Advisor |  |  | 31 |
Section 2.25 |  | Opinion of Financial Advisor |  |  | 31 |
Section 2.26 |  | [Reserved.] |  |  | 32 |
Section 2.27 |  | Regulatory Matters |  |  | 32 |
Section 2.28 |  | No Additional Representations |  |  | 32 |
ARTICLE III |
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF CENTRAL AND MERGER SUB |
Section 3.1 |  | Due Organization; Subsidiaries |  |  | 33 |
Section 3.2 |  | Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement |  |  | 34 |
Section 3.3 |  | Vote Required |  |  | 34 |
Section 3.4 |  | Capitalization |  |  | 35 |
Section 3.5 |  | Governmental Filings; No Violations |  |  | 36 |
Section 3.6 |  | SEC Filings; Financial Statements |  |  | 37 |
Section 3.7 |  | Absence of Changes |  |  | 39 |
Section 3.8 |  | Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities |  |  | 39 |
Section 3.9 |  | Compliance with Laws; Regulation |  |  | 39 |
Section 3.10 |  | Material Contracts |  |  | 40 |
Section 3.11 |  | Tax Matters |  |  | 44 |
Section 3.12 |  | Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans |  |  | 46 |
Section 3.13 |  | Environmental Matters |  |  | 49 |
Section 3.14 |  | Reserve Report |  |  | 49 |
Section 3.15 |  | Legal Proceedings; Orders |  |  | 50 |
Section 3.16 |  | Title to Properties |  |  | 50 |
Section 3.17 |  | Intellectual Property; IT and Privacy |  |  | 53 |
Section 3.18 |  | Affiliate Transactions |  |  | 54 |
Section 3.19 |  | Insurance |  |  | 54 |
Section 3.20 |  | Information to be Supplied |  |  | 54 |
Section 3.21 |  | Regulatory Proceedings |  |  | 55 |
Section 3.22 |  | Takeover Statutes |  |  | 55 |
Section 3.23 |  | Financial Advisor |  |  | 55 |
Section 3.24 |  | Opinion of Financial Advisor |  |  | 55 |
Section 3.25 |  | [Reserved] |  |  | 56 |
Section 3.26 |  | Regulatory Matters |  |  | 56 |
Section 3.27 |  | No Additional Representations |  |  | 56 |
ARTICLE IV |
COVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS |
Section 4.1 |  | Covenants of East |  |  | 57 |
Section 4.2 |  | Covenants of Central |  |  | 62 |

iii

ARTICLE V |
ADDITIONAL COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES |
Section 5.1 |  | Investigation |  |  | 67 |
Section 5.2 |  | Registration Statement and Proxy Statement for Stockholder Approval |  |  | 67 |
Section 5.3 |  | Stockholders Meetings |  |  | 68 |
Section 5.4 |  | Non-Solicitation |  |  | 70 |
Section 5.5 |  | Consummation of the Merger; Additional Agreements |  |  | 75 |
Section 5.6 |  | East Equity Awards |  |  | 77 |
Section 5.7 |  | Employee and Labor Matters |  |  | 78 |
Section 5.8 |  | Indemnification of Officers and Directors |  |  | 81 |
Section 5.9 |  | Public Disclosure |  |  | 83 |
Section 5.10 |  | NYSE Listing of Additional Shares; Delisting |  |  | 83 |
Section 5.11 |  | Takeover Laws |  |  | 84 |
Section 5.12 |  | Section 16 |  |  | 84 |
Section 5.13 |  | Notice of Changes |  |  | 84 |
Section 5.14 |  | Tax Matters |  |  | 84 |
Section 5.15 |  | Treatment of Existing Indebtedness |  |  | 85 |
Section 5.16 |  | Shareholder Litigation |  |  | 86 |
Section 5.17 |  | Cooperation |  |  | 87 |
Section 5.18 |  | Governance |  |  | 87 |
Section 5.19 |  | Corporate Governance Policy |  |  | 87 |
Section 5.20 |  | Charitable Contributions |  |  | 88 |
Section 5.21 |  | New Felix Agreements |  |  | 88 |
ARTICLE VI |
CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER |
Section 6.1 |  | Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation |  |  | 88 |
Section 6.2 |  | Additional Conditions to Central’s and Merger Sub’s Obligations |  |  | 89 |
Section 6.3 |  | Additional Conditions to East’s Obligations |  |  | 89 |
ARTICLE VII |
TERMINATION |
Section 7.1 |  | Termination |  |  | 90 |
Section 7.2 |  | Effect of Termination |  |  | 92 |
Section 7.3 |  | Expenses; Termination Fees |  |  | 92 |
ARTICLE VIII |
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS |
Section 8.1 |  | Amendment |  |  | 95 |

iv

Section 8.2 |  | Waiver |  |  | 96 |
Section 8.3 |  | No Survival of Representations and Warranties |  |  | 96 |
Section 8.4 |  | Entire Agreement; Counterparts |  |  | 96 |
Section 8.5 |  | Applicable Law; Jurisdiction |  |  | 96 |
Section 8.6 |  | Waiver of Jury Trial |  |  | 97 |
Section 8.7 |  | Assignability |  |  | 97 |
Section 8.8 |  | No Third-Party Beneficiaries |  |  | 97 |
Section 8.9 |  | Notices |  |  | 97 |
Section 8.10 |  | Severability |  |  | 98 |
Section 8.11 |  | Specific Performance |  |  | 99 |
Section 8.12 |  | Construction |  |  | 99 |
Section 8.13 |  | Certain Definitions |  |  | 100 |

EXHIBITS
Exhibit A |  | Form of Support Agreement
Exhibit B |  | Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation
Exhibit C |  | Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation
Exhibit D |  | Corporate Governance Policy
Exhibit E |  | New Felix Registration Rights Agreement
Exhibit F |  | New Felix Stockholders’ Agreement
Exhibit G |  | Form of East Officer’s Certificate
Exhibit H |  | Form of Central Officer’s Certificate
ANNEXES |  |
Annex I |  | Index of Defined Terms

v

Agreement and Plan of Merger

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into on September 26, 2020, by and among Devon Energy Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Central”), East Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned, direct, Subsidiary of Central (“Merger Sub”) and WPX Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“East”).

Recitals

WHEREAS, Central, Merger Sub and East intend to effect a merger (the “Merger”) of Merger Sub with and into East in accordance with this Agreement and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”);

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of East (the “East Board”) has unanimously (i) determined that this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are in the best interests of, and are advisable to, East and the holders of East Common Stock (the “East Stockholders”), (ii) (A) approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (B) approved and declared advisable the Support Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and (iii) resolved to recommend that the East Stockholders adopt and approve this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the recommendation referred to in this clause (iii), the “East Recommendation”);

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Central (the “Central Board”) has unanimously (i) determined that this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are in the best interests of, and advisable to, Central and its stockholders (the “Central Stockholders”), (ii) (A) approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (B) approved and declared advisable the Support Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, and (iii) resolved to recommend that the Central Stockholders approve the issuance of shares of Central Common Stock in connection with the Merger (the “Stock Issuance”) (the recommendation referred to in this clause (iii), the “Central Recommendation”);

WHEREAS, (i) the Board of Directors of Merger Sub has unanimously (a) determined that this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are in the best interests of, and advisable to, Merger Sub and its sole stockholder, (b) approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (c) recommended that its sole stockholder adopt and approve this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) Central, or another wholly-owned Subsidiary of Central which is the sole stockholder of Merger Sub, has approved and adopted this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

WHEREAS, in order to induce Central to enter into this Agreement, funds managed by EnCap Investments, L.P. are contemporaneously entering into a Support Agreement (the “Support Agreement”), of even date herewith, with Central, in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto;

WHEREAS, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it is intended that the Merger qualify as a “reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and that this Agreement constitute and be adopted as a “plan of reorganization” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations §§ 1.368-2(g) and 1.368-3(a); and

1

WHEREAS, Central, Merger Sub and East desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with the Merger and also to prescribe various conditions to the Merger.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective representations, warranties, covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth, the parties to this Agreement, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE MERGER

Section 1.1 Merger of Merger Sub into East. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the DGCL, at the Effective Time, Merger Sub shall be merged with and into East, and the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease, and East shall continue as the surviving corporation in the Merger (the “Surviving Corporation”) as a wholly-owned, direct, Subsidiary of Central.

Section 1.2 Effect of the Merger. At the Effective Time, the Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement, the Certificate of Merger and the applicable provisions of the DGCL. At the Effective Time, all of the properties, rights, privileges, immunities, powers and franchises of East and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities and duties of East and Merger Sub shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of the Surviving Corporation.

Section 1.3 Closing; Effective Time. The consummation of the Merger (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, 1000 Louisiana Street, Suite 6800, Houston, Texas 77002 on a date to be mutually agreed upon by Central and East (the “Closing Date”), which date shall be no later than the second Business Day after the conditions set forth in Article VI shall have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions), or such other time as Central and East shall mutually agree. Immediately following the Closing, East and Central shall cause a certificate of merger (the “Certificate of Merger”) to be executed and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in accordance with the DGCL. The Merger shall become effective upon such filing and acceptance of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, or at such later date and time as agreed by Central and East and as set forth in the Certificate of Merger (the “Effective Time”).

Section 1.4 Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

(a) At the Effective Time, the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated pursuant to the Merger in its entirety as set forth on Exhibit B, until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein, subject to Section 5.8(b), or by applicable Law.

2

(b) The name of the Surviving Corporation immediately after the Effective Time shall be “East.”

(c) At the Effective Time, the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated in their entirety as set forth on Exhibit C (except that the name of the Surviving Corporation shall be reflected as “East”) until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein, subject to Section 5.8(b), or by applicable Law.

Section 1.5 Directors and Officers of the Surviving Corporation.

(a) Subject to applicable Law, the parties shall take all actions necessary such that the persons who are the directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial directors of the Surviving Corporation, and such initial directors shall hold office until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified, or their earlier death, resignation or removal.

(b) The parties shall take all action necessary such that the officers of East immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial officers of the Surviving Corporation, and such initial officers shall hold office until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified, or their earlier death, resignation or removal.

Section 1.6 Effect on Capital Stock.

(a) At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of Central, Merger Sub, East or any holder of capital stock thereof:

(i) each share of common stock, $0.01 par value, of East (the “East Common Stock”) held immediately prior to the Effective Time by Central, Merger Sub or any of Central’s other Subsidiaries (together with Merger Sub, the “Central Subsidiaries”), or by East or any of East’s Subsidiaries (the “East Subsidiaries”) (collectively, the “Excluded Shares”), shall be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor; and

(ii) subject to Section 1.6(b) and Section 1.6(c), each share of East Common Stock issued and outstanding (other than Excluded Shares) immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into the right to receive from Central 0.5165 fully paid and nonassessable shares of common stock, $0.10 par value, of Central (the “Central Common Stock”).

The number of shares of Central Common Stock into which each share of East Common Stock shall be converted, as specified in Section 1.6(a)(ii) (as such number may be adjusted in accordance with Section 1.6(b)), is referred to as the “Exchange Ratio.” The aggregate number of shares of Central Common Stock issuable pursuant to Section 1.6(a)(ii), together with any cash to be paid in lieu of any fractional shares of Central Common Stock in accordance with Section 1.6(c), is referred to as the “Merger Consideration.”

(b) Without limiting the parties’ respective obligations under Section 4.1 and Section 4.2, including Section 4.1(b)(i) and Section 4.2(b)(i), if, during the period between the date

3

of this Agreement and the Effective Time, any change in the outstanding shares of East Common Stock or Central Common Stock shall occur as a result of any reclassification, recapitalization, stock split (including reverse stock split), merger, combination, exchange or readjustment of shares, subdivision or other similar transaction, or any stock dividend thereon with a record date during such period, then the Exchange Ratio and any other amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be appropriately adjusted to eliminate the effect of such event on the Exchange Ratio or any such other amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement.

(c) No fractional shares of Central Common Stock shall be issued in connection with the Merger, and no certificates or scrip for any such fractional shares shall be issued, and such fractional share interests shall not entitle the owner thereof to vote or to any rights as a holder of Central Common Stock. Any holder of East Common Stock who would otherwise be entitled to receive a fraction of a share of Central Common Stock pursuant to the Merger (after taking into account all shares of East Common Stock held immediately prior to the Effective Time by such holder) shall, in lieu of such fraction of a share and upon surrender of such holder’s East Stock Certificate(s) or Book-Entry Common Shares, be paid in cash the dollar amount specified by Section 1.8(f).

(d) At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Central, Merger Sub, East or any holder of capital stock thereof, each share of capital stock of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Surviving Corporation and shall constitute the only outstanding shares of capital stock of the Surviving Corporation immediately following the Effective Time. From and after the Effective Time, all certificates representing the common stock of Merger Sub shall be deemed for all purposes to represent the number of shares of common stock of the Surviving Corporation into which they were converted in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.

Section 1.7 Closing of East’s Transfer Books.

(a) At the Effective Time: (a) all shares of East Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and (i) each certificate (an “East Stock Certificate”) formerly representing any share of East Common Stock (other than an Excluded Share) and (ii) each Book-Entry Common Share formerly representing any share of East Common Stock (other than an Excluded Share) shall represent only the right to receive shares of Central Common Stock (and cash in lieu of any fractional share of Central Common Stock) as contemplated by Section 1.6 and any dividends or other distributions to which the holders thereof are entitled pursuant to Section 1.8(c), and all holders of East Stock Certificates or Book-Entry Common Shares shall cease to have any rights as stockholders of East; and (b) the stock transfer books of East shall be closed with respect to all shares of East Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. No further transfer of any such shares of East Common Stock shall be made on such stock transfer books after the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, a valid East Stock Certificate is presented to the Exchange Agent or to the Surviving Corporation or Central, such East Stock Certificate shall be canceled and shall be exchanged as provided in this Article I.

4

Section 1.8 Exchange Fund; Exchange of Certificates.

(a) Prior to the Closing Date, Central and East shall mutually select a bank or trust company, which may be the transfer agent for the Central Common Stock, to act as exchange agent in the Merger (the “Exchange Agent”), and, not later than the Effective Time, Central shall enter into an agreement with the Exchange Agent, which will provide that, at or prior to the Effective Time, Central shall deposit with the Exchange Agent all of the shares of Central Common Stock to pay the aggregate Merger Consideration pursuant to Section 1.6(a)(ii) and Section 1.8(f). The shares of Central Common Stock so deposited with the Exchange Agent, together with (i) any dividends or distributions received by the Exchange Agent with respect to such shares and (ii) proceeds received from the sale of the Central Excess Shares pursuant to Section 1.8(f), are referred to collectively as the “Exchange Fund.”

(b) As soon as practicable after the Effective Time, but in no event more than two (2) Business Days after the Closing Date, Central shall cause the Exchange Agent to mail to the record holders of East Stock Certificates (i) a letter of transmittal in customary form and containing such provisions as Central and East may reasonably specify (including a provision confirming that delivery of East Stock Certificates shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to East Stock Certificates shall pass, only upon delivery of such East Stock Certificates to the Exchange Agent) and (ii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of East Stock Certificates in exchange for Central Common Stock, as provided in Section 1.6, and any cash in lieu of a fractional share which the shares of East Common Stock represented by such East Stock Certificates shall have been converted into the right to receive pursuant to this Agreement, as well as any dividends or distributions to be paid pursuant to Section 1.8(c). Upon surrender of an East Stock Certificate to the Exchange Agent for exchange, together with a duly executed letter of transmittal and such other documents as may be reasonably required by the Exchange Agent or Central, (A) the holder of such East Stock Certificate shall be entitled to receive in book-entry form the number of whole shares of Central Common Stock that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to the provisions of Section 1.6 (and cash in lieu of any fractional share of Central Common Stock) as well as any dividends or distributions to be paid pursuant to Section 1.8(c), and (B) the East Stock Certificate so surrendered shall be immediately canceled.

(c) No dividends or other distributions declared with respect to the Central Common Stock shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered East Stock Certificate until the holder thereof shall surrender such East Stock Certificate in accordance with this Article I. After the surrender of an East Stock Certificate in accordance with this Article I, the record holder thereof shall be entitled to receive any such dividends or other distributions, without any interest thereon, which theretofore had become payable with respect to the whole shares of Central Common Stock which the shares of East Common Stock represented by such East Stock Certificate have been converted into the right to receive.

(d) Until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 1.8, each East Stock Certificate shall be deemed, from and after the Effective Time, to represent only the right to receive shares of Central Common Stock (and cash in lieu of any fractional share of Central Common Stock) as contemplated by this Article I and any distribution or dividend with respect to Central Common Stock the record date for which is after the Effective Time.

5

(e) In the event of a transfer of ownership of shares of East Common Stock that is not registered in the transfer records of East, shares in book-entry form representing the proper number of shares of Central Common Stock may be issued to a Person other than the Person in whose name such East Stock Certificate so surrendered is registered if such East Stock Certificate shall be properly endorsed or otherwise be in proper form for transfer and the Person requesting such issuance shall pay any transfer or other Taxes required by reason of the issuance of Central Common Stock to a Person other than the registered holder of such East Stock Certificate or establish to the satisfaction of Central that such Taxes have been paid or are not applicable. If any East Stock Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, Central may, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance of any shares in book-entry form representing Central Common Stock require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed East Stock Certificate to provide an appropriate affidavit and to deliver a bond (in such sum as Central may reasonably direct) as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Exchange Agent, Central or the Surviving Corporation with respect to such East Stock Certificate.

(f)

(i) As promptly as practicable following the Effective Time, the Exchange Agent shall (A) determine the number of whole shares of Central Common Stock and the number of fractional shares of Central Common Stock that each holder of East Common Stock is entitled to receive in connection with the consummation of the Merger and (B) aggregate all such fractional shares of Central Common Stock that would, except as provided in Section 1.6(c), be issued to the holders of East Common Stock, rounding up to the nearest whole number (the “Central Excess Shares”), and the Exchange Agent shall, on behalf of former stockholders of East, sell the Central Excess Shares at then-prevailing prices on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”), all in the manner provided in Section 1.8(f)(ii).

(ii) The sale of the Central Excess Shares by the Exchange Agent shall be executed on the NYSE through one or more member firms of the NYSE and shall be executed in round lots to the extent practicable. The Exchange Agent shall use reasonable efforts to complete the sale of the Central Excess Shares as promptly following the Effective Time as, in the Exchange Agent’s sole judgment, is practicable consistent with obtaining the best execution of such sales in light of prevailing market conditions. Until the net proceeds of such sale or sales have been distributed to the former holders of East Common Stock, the Exchange Agent shall hold such proceeds in trust for such holders (the “East Common Stock Trust”). Central shall pay all commissions and other out-of-pocket transaction costs (other than any transfer or similar Taxes imposed on a holder of East Common Stock), including the expenses and compensation of the Exchange Agent incurred in connection with such sale of the Central Excess Shares. The Exchange Agent shall determine the portion of the East Common Stock Trust to which each former holder of East Common Stock is entitled, if any, by multiplying the amount of the aggregate net proceeds composing the East Common Stock Trust by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of the fractional share interest to which such former holder of East Common Stock is entitled (after taking into account all shares of East Common Stock held at the Effective Time by such holder) and the denominator of which is the aggregate amount of fractional share interests to which all former holders of East Common Stock are entitled.

6

(iii) As soon as practicable after the determination of the amount of cash, if any, to be paid to former holders of East Common Stock with respect to any fractional share interests, the Exchange Agent shall make available such amounts to such holders, subject to and in accordance with the terms of this Section 1.8.

(g) Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains undistributed to stockholders of East as of the date six (6) months after the Effective Time shall be delivered to Central upon demand, and any holders of East Stock Certificates who have not theretofore surrendered their East Stock Certificates to the Exchange Agent in accordance with this Section 1.8 and any holders of Book-Entry Common Shares who have not theretofore cashed any check payable to them in accordance with Section 1.9 shall thereafter look only to Central for satisfaction of their claims for Central Common Stock, cash in lieu of fractional shares of Central Common Stock and any dividends or distributions with respect to Central Common Stock subject to applicable abandoned property law, escheat laws or similar Laws.

(h) Each of the Exchange Agent, Central and the Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any consideration payable or otherwise deliverable pursuant to this Agreement such amounts as are required to be deducted or withheld therefrom under the Code, or any provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law or under any other applicable Law; provided that the parties hereto agree that the consideration payable or deliverable pursuant to this Agreement shall not be subject to withholding under Section 1445 of the Code or the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder. To the extent that amounts are so deducted or withheld, and timely remitted to the appropriate Governmental Entity, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction or withholding was made.

(i) Neither Central nor the Surviving Corporation shall be liable to any holder or former holder of East Common Stock or to any other Person with respect to any share of East Common Stock (or any dividends or distributions with respect thereto), or for any cash amounts, properly delivered to any public official in compliance with any applicable abandoned property law, escheat law or similar Law. If any East Stock Certificate shall not have been surrendered prior to five (5) years after the Effective Time (or immediately prior to such earlier date on which any such shares of Central Common Stock or any dividends or other distributions payable to the holder thereof would otherwise escheat to or become the property of any Governmental Entity), any shares of Central Common Stock issuable upon the surrender of, or any dividends or other distributions in respect of, such East Stock Certificate shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of Central, free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

(j) No interest shall be paid or accrued on any Merger Consideration, cash in lieu of fractional shares, or any unpaid dividends or distributions payable to holders of East Common Stock.

Section 1.9 Book-Entry Common Shares.

(a) Subject to applicable provisions of Section 1.8, with respect to Book-Entry Common Shares held through DTC, Central and East shall cooperate to establish procedures with

7

the Exchange Agent and DTC to ensure that the Exchange Agent will transmit to DTC or its nominees as soon as reasonably practicable on or after the Closing Date, upon surrender of shares of East Common Stock held of record by DTC or its nominees in accordance with DTC’s customary surrender procedures, the Merger Consideration (including cash to be paid in lieu of any fractional shares of Central Common Stock in accordance with Section 1.6(c), if any) and any other dividends or distributions that DTC has the right to receive pursuant to this Article I and cancel such Book-Entry Common Shares.

(b) Subject to applicable provisions of Section 1.8, Central, without any action on the part of any holder, will cause the Exchange Agent to (a) issue, as of the Effective Time, to each holder of Book-Entry Common Shares not held through DTC that number of book-entry whole shares of Central Common Stock that the holder is entitled to receive pursuant to this Article I and cancel such Book-Entry Common Shares and (b) mail to each holder of Book-Entry Common Shares (other than Excluded Shares) a check in the amount of any cash payable in respect of the holder’s Book-Entry Common Shares pursuant to Section 1.6(c) and any other dividends or distributions such holder has the right to receive pursuant to this Article I. Central will also cause the Exchange Agent to mail to each such holder materials (in a form to be reasonably agreed by Central and East prior to the Effective Time) advising the holder of the effectiveness of the Merger and the conversion of the holder’s Book-Entry Common Shares pursuant to the Merger.

Section 1.10 No Dissenters’ Rights. No dissenters’ or appraisal rights shall be available with respect to the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 1.11 Further Action. If, at any time after the Effective Time, any further action is determined by Central to be necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement or to vest the Surviving Corporation with full right, title and possession of and to all rights and property of Merger Sub and East, the officers and directors of the Surviving Corporation and Central shall be fully authorized (in the name of Merger Sub, in the name of East and otherwise) to take such action.

Section 1.12 Post-Merger Operations; Transition Committee. The parties shall create a special transition committee (the “Transition Committee”) that shall be co-chaired by the Chief Executive Officer of Central and the Chief Executive Officer of East and shall be composed of such chief executive officers and two other designees of Central and two other designees of East. After the date hereof and prior to the Effective Time, the Transition Committee shall examine various alternatives regarding the manner in which to best organize and manage the business of Central after the Effective Time, subject to applicable Law.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF EAST

Except as disclosed in (a) the East SEC Documents furnished to or filed with the SEC and available on EDGAR prior to the date hereof (excluding any disclosures set forth in any “risk factor” section and in any section relating to forward-looking statements to the extent that they are cautionary, predictive or forward-looking in nature (other than any historical factual information contained within such sections or statements)), where it is reasonably apparent on its face that such

8

disclosure is applicable to the representation; or (b) the disclosure letter delivered by East to Central and Merger Sub prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement (the “East Disclosure Letter”) (each section of which qualifies the correspondingly numbered representation, warranty or covenant to the extent specified therein and such other representations, warranties or covenants to the extent a matter in such section is disclosed in such a way as to make its relevance to such other representation, warranty or covenant reasonably apparent), East represents and warrants to Central and Merger Sub as follows:

Section 2.1 Due Organization; Subsidiaries.

(a) East is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware. East has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted, except where the failure to have such power and authority would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. East is qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing or operation of its assets or properties or conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Each of the East Subsidiaries is a legal Entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization, except where the failure to be so organized, existing or in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. Each of the East Subsidiaries has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted, except where the failure to have such power and authority would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. Each of the East Subsidiaries is qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation or other legal Entity in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing or operation of its assets or properties or conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

(c) East has delivered or made available to Central accurate and complete copies of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws (or similar organizational documents) of East and each East Subsidiary that constitutes a “significant subsidiary” of East as defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC as of the date hereof (collectively, the “East Organizational Documents”).

(d) Section 2.1(d) of the East Disclosure Letter sets forth East’s and any of East Subsidiaries’ capital stock, equity interests or other direct or indirect ownership interests in any other Person other than capital stock, equity interests or other direct or indirect ownership interests or securities of direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiaries of East. All such capital stock, equity interests or other direct or indirect ownership interests (i) have, to the Knowledge of East, been validly issued and are fully paid (in the case of an interest in a limited partnership or a limited liability company, to the extent required under the applicable East Organizational Documents) and

9

nonassessable (if such entity is a corporate entity) and (ii) are owned by East, by one or more Subsidiaries of East or by East and one or more of the East Subsidiaries, in each case free and clear of all Encumbrances.

Section 2.2 Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement.

(a) East has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and to perform its obligations under this Agreement and, subject to the receipt of East Stockholder Approval, to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by East and the consummation by East of the Merger and of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of East (other than, with respect to the Merger, the receipt of East Stockholder Approval).

(b) The East Board has unanimously (i) determined that this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are in the best interests of, and are advisable to, East and the East Stockholders, (ii) approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (iii) approved and declared advisable the Support Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and (iv) resolved to make the East Recommendation. Except in connection with an East Adverse Recommendation Change in accordance with Section 5.4, such resolutions of the East Board have not been rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way.

(c) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by East and, assuming the due execution and delivery of this Agreement by Central and Merger Sub, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of East, enforceable against East in accordance with its terms, subject to (i) Laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors and (ii) rules of Law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies (collectively (i) and (ii), “Enforceability Exceptions”).

Section 2.3 Vote Required. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of East Common Stock outstanding on the record date for the East Stockholders’ Meeting (the “East Stockholder Approval”) is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of East’s capital stock necessary to adopt this Agreement and otherwise approve and consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement as set forth herein.

Section 2.4 Capitalization.

(a) The authorized capital stock of East consists of 2,000,000,000 shares of East Common Stock and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share (“East Preferred Stock”). As of September 23, 2020, (i) 561,019,806 shares of East Common Stock are issued and outstanding, which such number does not include the shares subject to outstanding East RSAs, (ii) 1,864,613 shares are subject to outstanding East RSAs, (iii) no shares of East Common Stock are held in East’s treasury, (iv) no shares of East Common Stock are held by any of the East Subsidiaries, (v) 10,618,155 shares of East Common Stock are issuable pursuant to stock incentive plans of East (“East Stock Plans”), which includes: 558,528 shares are issuable in respect of East Stock Options, 6,199,607 shares of East Common Stock are issuable in respect of East RSUs (as

10

applicable, assuming a target level of achievement under performance awards), and 3,860,020 shares of East Common Stock are reserved for the grant of additional awards under East Stock Plans and (vi) no shares of East Preferred Stock are issued and outstanding. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of East have been duly authorized and validly issued, and are fully paid and nonassessable and are not subject to any preemptive right, and all shares of East Common Stock which may be issued pursuant to the exercise or vesting of East RSUs and East Stock Options will be, when issued in accordance with the terms thereof, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to any preemptive right. Except as described in clause (iv) of this Section 2.4(a), there are not any phantom stocks or other contractual rights the value of which is determined in whole or in part by the value of any capital stock of East and there are no outstanding stock appreciation rights with respect to the capital stock of East. Other than East Common Stock and East Preferred Stock, there are no other authorized classes of capital stock of East.

(b) Other than the Support Agreement and the Felix Stockholders’ Agreement, there are no voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which East, any of the East Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of East, any of their respective executive officers or directors is a party with respect to the voting of East Common Stock or the capital stock or other equity interests of any of the East Subsidiaries.

(c) Other than the East RSUs and the East Stock Options, there are no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, convertible securities or other similar rights, agreements or commitments relating to the issuance of capital stock or other equity interests to which East or any of the East Subsidiaries is a party obligating East or any of the East Subsidiaries to (i) issue, transfer or sell any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of East or any of the East Subsidiaries or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for such shares or equity interests, (ii) grant, extend or enter into such subscription, option, warrant, call, convertible securities or other similar right, agreement or arrangement, (iii) redeem or otherwise acquire any such shares of capital stock or other equity interests or (iv) provide a material amount of funds to, or make any material investment (in the form of loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in any of the East Subsidiaries. At the Effective Time, there will not be any outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, preemptive rights, subscriptions, or other rights, convertible or exchangeable securities, agreements, claims or commitments of any character by which East or any of the East Subsidiaries will be bound calling for the purchase or issuance of any shares of the capital stock of East or any of the East Subsidiaries or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for such shares or any other such securities or agreements. Each East Stock Option issued with respect to East Common Stock was granted with a per-share exercise price not less than the fair market value of a share of East Common Stock on the date of grant.

(d) Section 2.4(d) of the East Disclosure Letter (i) lists each of the East Subsidiaries and their respective jurisdictions of organization and (ii) designates which of the East Subsidiaries are “significant subsidiaries,” as defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other ownership interests of the East Subsidiaries that are direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiaries of East (A) have been validly issued and are fully paid (in the case of an interest in a limited partnership or a limited liability company, to the extent required under the applicable East Organizational Documents) and nonassessable (if such entity is a corporate entity) and (B) are owned by East, by one or more of the East Subsidiaries or by East and one or more of the East Subsidiaries, in each case free and clear of all Encumbrances.

11

(e) There are no outstanding bonds, debentures, notes or other Indebtedness of East or any of the East Subsidiaries having the right to vote (or convertible into, or exchangeable or exercisable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matter on which the stockholders or other equity holders of East or any of the East Subsidiaries may vote.

Section 2.5 Governmental Filings; No Violations.

(a) Other than the filings, notices, waiting periods or approvals required by (i) Section 1.3, (ii) the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (“HSR Act”), (iii) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Exchange Act”) and (iv) the NYSE rules and regulations, no consent, approval, Order, license, Permit or authorization of, or registration, declaration, notice or filing with, any Governmental Entity is necessary or required to be obtained or made by or with respect to East or any of the East Subsidiaries in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the performance by East of its obligations under this Agreement and the consummation by East of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, except those that the failure of which to make or obtain would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

(b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by East does not, and the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby will not (with or without notice or lapse of time or both), (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the East Organizational Documents, (ii) subject to the filings, notices, waiting periods or approvals contemplated by Section 2.5(a) and obtaining the East Stockholder Approval, violate or conflict with any Laws or any Order applicable to East or any of the East Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets or properties, (iii) subject to obtaining the third-party consents and approvals set forth in Section 2.5(b) of the East Disclosure Letter, the termination of the East Credit Agreement and the termination of the East Loan Agreement, in each case, prior to or at the Closing, violate, conflict with, or result in a breach of any provision of, or constitute a default under, or trigger any obligation to repurchase, redeem or otherwise retire Indebtedness under, or result in the termination of, or accelerate the performance required by, or result in a right of termination, cancellation, guaranteed payment or acceleration of any obligation or the loss of a benefit under, or result in the creation of any Encumbrance upon any of the assets of East or any of the East Subsidiaries pursuant to any provisions of any mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, Permit, concession, lease, instrument, obligation or other Contract of any kind to which East or any of the East Subsidiaries is now a party or by which it or any of its assets may be bound, or (iv) result in the creation of any Encumbrance upon any of the properties or assets of East or any of the East Subsidiaries (including Central and the Central Subsidiaries following the Merger) except, in the case of the foregoing clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) for any breach, violation, conflict, termination, default, acceleration, creation, change, conflict or Encumbrance that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

12

Section 2.6 SEC Filings; Financial Statements.

(a) All forms, documents and reports, together with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules filed or furnished therewith, and all information, documents and agreements incorporated in any such form, document or report (but not including any document incorporated by reference into an exhibit), excluding the Joint Proxy Statement, required to have been filed with or furnished to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) by East or any of the East Subsidiaries since January 1, 2019 (the “East SEC Documents”) have been timely filed or furnished, as the case may be. As of their respective dates (or, if amended, supplemented or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the date of such amendment, supplement or superseding filing): (i) each of the East SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act (as the case may be), and the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”) and (ii) none of the East SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

(b) The financial statements (including related notes, if any) contained in the East SEC Documents: (i) complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC applicable thereto; (ii) were prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered (except as may be indicated in the notes to such financial statements or, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC, and except that the unaudited financial statements may not have contained notes and were subject to normal and recurring year-end adjustments); and (iii) fairly presented in all material respects the consolidated financial position of East and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of East and its consolidated Subsidiaries for the periods covered thereby. For purposes of this Agreement, “East Balance Sheet” means that audited consolidated balance sheet (and notes thereto) of East and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019 (the “East Balance Sheet Date”) set forth in East’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2020.

(c) East maintains disclosure controls and procedures required by Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 under the Exchange Act. East’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by East is recorded and reported on a timely basis to the individuals responsible for the preparation of East’s filings with the SEC and other public disclosure documents. East maintains internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15, as applicable, under the Exchange Act). East’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and includes policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of East, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of East are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of East and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of East’s assets that could have a material effect on its financial statements. East has disclosed, based on the most recent evaluation of its chief executive officer and its chief financial officer prior to the date of this Agreement, to East’s

13

auditors and the audit committee of the East Board (A) any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of its internal controls over financial reporting that are reasonably likely to adversely affect East’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and has identified for East’s auditors and the audit committee of the East Board any material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting and (B) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in East’s internal control over financial reporting. Since January 1, 2019, any material change in internal control over financial reporting required to be disclosed in any East SEC Document has been so disclosed.

(d) Since the East Balance Sheet Date, neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of East, any director, officer, employee, auditor, accountant or representative of East or any of the East Subsidiaries has received or otherwise obtained Knowledge of any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim, whether written or oral, regarding the accounting or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of East or any of the East Subsidiaries or their respective internal accounting controls, including any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that East or any of the East Subsidiaries has engaged in questionable accounting or auditing practices.

(e) Section 2.6(e) of the East Disclosure Letter contains a complete and accurate list of all Derivative Products entered into by East or any of the East Subsidiaries or for the account of any of its customers as of the date of this Agreement. All such Derivative Products were, and any Derivative Product entered into after the date of this Agreement will be, entered into in accordance in all material respects with applicable Laws, and in accordance in all material respects with the investment, securities, commodities, risk management and other policies, practices and procedures employed by East and the East Subsidiaries (collectively, the “East Risk Policies”), and were, and will be, entered into with counterparties believed at the time to be financially responsible and able to understand (either alone or in consultation with their advisers) and to bear the risks of such Derivative Product. Section 2.6(e) of the East Disclosure Letter identifies any such counterparty as to which, to the Knowledge of East, East or any of the East Subsidiaries has any reasonable concerns regarding financial responsibility with respect to any such Derivative Product. East and each of the East Subsidiaries have, and will have, duly performed in all material respects all of their respective obligations under the Derivative Product to the extent that such obligations to perform have accrued, and, to the Knowledge of East, there are and will be no material breaches, violations, collateral deficiencies, requests for collateral or demands for payment, or defaults or allegations or assertions of such by any party thereunder. Since December 31, 2019, there have been no material violations of the East Risk Policies.

Section 2.7 Felix Financial Statements. To the Knowledge of East, (a) Felix’s audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and 2019 and for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended December 31, 2019, including the notes thereto (the “Felix Financial Statements”), set forth in East’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A, filed with the SEC on March 12, 2020 (the “East March 20 8-K/A”) were prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered (except as otherwise indicated in such financial statements and the notes thereto or in the related report of Felix’s independent auditors) and (b) the Felix Financial Statements fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial position of Felix and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of Felix and its consolidated Subsidiaries for the periods covered thereby.

14

Section 2.8 Absence of Changes. Since the East Balance Sheet Date, (a) as of the date of this Agreement, East and the East Subsidiaries have conducted their respective businesses in all material respects in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, except for commercially reasonable actions taken outside the ordinary course of business or not consistent with past practice, in any such case, in response to material changes in commodity prices or the coronavirus disease of 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic that did not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect (provided, that for purposes of this Section 2.8(a) only, the exceptions to the East Material Adverse Effect definition set forth in clauses (1) and (5) thereof shall not apply), and (b) there has not been any event, change, effect, development, condition or occurrence that has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

Section 2.9 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. Since the East Balance Sheet Date, neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations of any nature, whether or not accrued, contingent or otherwise that would be required to be reflected in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP, except for: (a) liabilities reflected or reserved against in East’s consolidated balance sheets (or the notes thereto) included in the East SEC Documents, (b) liabilities that have been incurred by East or any of the East Subsidiaries since the East Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course of business, (c) liabilities incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (d) liabilities which have not and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries is a party to, or has any commitment to become a party to, any joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership or any similar contract or arrangement (including any Contract relating to any transaction or relationship between or among East and any of the East Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any unconsolidated Affiliate, including any structured finance, special purpose or limited purpose entity or Person, on the other hand) or any “off-balance sheet arrangements” (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act), where the result, purpose or effect of such contract is to avoid disclosure of any material transaction involving, or material liabilities of, East or any of the East Subsidiaries, in East’s consolidated financial statements or the East SEC Documents.

Section 2.10 Compliance with Laws; Regulation.

(a) Each of East and the East Subsidiaries and, with respect to any Oil and Gas Properties of East and the East Subsidiaries that are operated by third parties, to the Knowledge of East, such third parties, are and, since December 31, 2017, have been conducting the businesses and operations of East and the East Subsidiaries in compliance with all applicable Laws (other than compliance with (i) Tax Laws, which is covered solely by Section 2.12, (ii) Environmental Laws, which is covered solely by Section 2.14 and (iii) Anti-Corruption Laws, Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws or Money-Laundering Laws, which are covered solely by Section 2.27), except for instances of non-compliance that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. Since December 31, 2017, neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has received any written notice from any Governmental Entity regarding any actual or possible violation of, or failure to comply with, any Law, which has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

15

(b) Each of East and the East Subsidiaries is in possession of all Permits (other than Permits required under Environmental Laws, which are covered solely by Section 2.14) necessary for them to own, lease and (if applicable) operate their respective properties or otherwise to carry on their respective businesses as they are now being conducted (the “East Permits”), and all such East Permits are in full force and effect and no suspension, revocation, termination, cancellation, non-renewal, or modification not requested by East of any of the East Permits is pending or, to the Knowledge of East, threatened, except where the failure to have, or the suspension, revocation, termination, non-renewal, cancellation or modification of, any of the East Permits would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. East and the East Subsidiaries, and their respective businesses as currently conducted, are in compliance with the terms of the East Permits, except failures so to comply that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

(c) (i) Each of East and the East Subsidiaries and, to the Knowledge of East, its and their respective directors and officers, is in compliance in all material respects with the provisions of SOX and the related rules and regulations promulgated thereunder or under the Exchange Act and (ii) East is in compliance in all material respects with the listing and corporate governance rules and regulations of the NYSE, in each case in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) as such provisions, rules and regulations are applicable to such Person.

Section 2.11 Material Contracts

(a) All Contracts, including amendments thereto, required to be filed as an exhibit to any report of East filed pursuant to the Exchange Act of the type described in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act have been so filed as of the date hereof, and no such Contract has been amended or modified (or further amended or modified, as applicable) since the date such Contract or amendment was filed.

(b) Other than the Contracts set forth in clause (a) above which were filed in an unredacted form, Section 2.11(b) of the East Disclosure Letter sets forth a correct and complete list, and East has made available to Central correct and complete copies (including all material amendments, modifications, extensions or renewals with respect thereto), of each of the following Contracts to which East or any of the East Subsidiaries is a party or bound as of the date hereof:

(i) each Contract containing any area of mutual interest, joint bidding area, joint acquisition area, or non-compete or similar type of provision that materially restricts the ability of East or any of its Affiliates (including Central and the Central Subsidiaries following the Closing) to (A) compete in any line of business or geographic area or with any Person during any period of time after the Effective Time or (B) make, sell or distribute any products or services, or use, transfer or distribute, or enforce any of their rights with respect to, any of their material assets or properties;

16

(ii) each Contract that creates, evidences, provides commitments in respect of, secures or guarantees (A) Indebtedness for borrowed money in any amount in excess of $50,000,000 or (B) other Indebtedness of East or any of the East Subsidiaries (whether incurred, assumed, guaranteed or secured by any asset) in excess of $50,000,000, other than agreements solely between or among East and the East Subsidiaries;

(iii) each Contract for lease of personal property or real property (excluding Oil and Gas Leases) involving annual payments in excess of $25,000,000 or aggregate payments in excess of $50,000,000 that are not terminable without penalty or other liability to East or any of the East Subsidiaries (other than any ongoing obligation pursuant to such Contract that is not caused by any such termination) within sixty (60) days, other than Contracts related to drilling rigs;

(iv) each Contract involving the pending acquisition, swap, exchange, sale or other disposition of (or option to purchase, acquire, swap, exchange, sell or dispose of) any Oil and Gas Properties of East and the East Subsidiaries for which the aggregate consideration (or the fair market value of such consideration, if non-cash) payable to or from East or any East Subsidiary exceeds $50,000,000, other than Contracts involving the acquisition or sale of (or option to purchase or sell) Hydrocarbons in the ordinary course of business;

(v) each Contract for any Derivative Product;

(vi) each material partnership, stockholder, joint venture, limited liability company agreement or other joint ownership agreement, other than with respect to arrangements exclusively among East and/or its wholly-owned Subsidiaries and other than any customary joint operating agreements or unit agreements affecting the Oil and Gas Properties of East or any of the East Subsidiaries;

(vii) each joint development agreement, exploration agreement, participation, farmout, farm-in or program agreement or similar Contract requiring East or any of the East Subsidiaries to make annual expenditures in excess of $25,000,000 or aggregate payments in excess of $60,000,000 (in each case, net to the interest of East and the East Subsidiaries) following the date of this Agreement, other than customary joint operating agreements and continuous development obligations under Oil and Gas Leases;

(viii) each agreement that contains any exclusivity, “most favored nation” or most favored customer provision, call or put option, preferential right or rights of first or last offer, negotiation or refusal, to which East or any of the East Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates is subject, and, in each case, is material to the business of East and the East Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in each case other than those contained in (A) any agreement in which such provision is solely for the benefit of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, (B) customary royalty pricing provisions in Oil and Gas Leases or (C) customary preferential rights in joint operating agreements or unit agreements affecting the business or the Oil and Gas Properties of East or any of the East Subsidiaries;

17

(ix) any acquisition or divestiture Contract that contains “earn out” or other contingent payment obligations, or remaining indemnity or similar obligations (other than (A) asset retirement obligations or plugging and abandonment obligations set forth in the East Reserve Report or the Felix Reserve Report, as applicable or (B) customary indemnity obligations with respect to the post-closing ownership and operation of acquired assets), that would reasonably be expected to result in (1) earn out payments, contingent payments or other similar obligations to a third party (but excluding indemnity payments) in any year in excess of $15,000,000 or (2) earn out payments, contingent payments or other similar obligations to a third party, including indemnity payments, in excess of $30,000,000 in the aggregate after the date hereof;

(x) any Contract (other than any other Contract otherwise covered by this Section 2.11(b)) that creates future payment obligations (including settlement agreements or Contracts that require any capital contributions to, or investments in, any Person) of East or any of the East Subsidiaries outside the ordinary course of business, in each case, involving annual payments in excess of $25,000,000 or aggregate payments in excess of $50,000,000 (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, customary joint operating agreements or unit agreements affecting the Oil and Gas Properties of East or any of the East Subsidiaries), or creates or would create an Encumbrance on any material asset or property of East or any of the East Subsidiaries (other than Permitted Encumbrances);

(xi) any Contract that (A) provides for midstream services to, or the sale by, East or any of the East Subsidiaries of Hydrocarbons (1) in excess of 15,000 gross barrels of oil equivalent of Hydrocarbons per day (calculated on a per day yearly average basis) or (2) for a term greater than or equal to ten (10) years and (B) has a remaining term of greater than ninety (90) days and does not allow East or the East Subsidiaries to terminate it without penalty to East or the East Subsidiaries within ninety (90) days;

(xii) any Contract that provides for a “take-or-pay” clause or any similar prepayment obligation, minimum volume commitments or capacity reservation fees to a gathering, transportation or other arrangement downstream of the wellhead, or similar arrangements that otherwise guarantee or commit volumes of Hydrocarbons from East or any East Subsidiary’s Oil and Gas Properties, which in each case, would reasonably be expected to involve payments (including penalty or deficiency payments) in excess of $10,000,000 during the twelve (12)-month period following the date of this Agreement or aggregate penalty or deficiency payments in excess of $20,000,000 during the two (2)-year period following the date of this Agreement;

(xiii) any Labor Agreement;

(xiv) any Contract (other than Oil and Gas Leases) pursuant to which East or any of the East Subsidiaries has paid amounts associated with any Production Burden in excess of $25,000,000 during the immediately preceding fiscal year or with respect to which East reasonably expects that it and the East Subsidiaries will make payments associated with any Production Burden in any of the next three (3) succeeding fiscal years that could, based on current projections, exceed $25,000,000 annually or $50,000,000 in the aggregate;

18

(xv) any Contract which is between East or any of the East Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any of their respective officers, directors or principals (or any such Person’s Affiliates) or any Person that holds or owns five percent (5%) or more of the shares of East’s capital stock (or any affiliates of any such Person) on the other hand involving aggregate annual payments in excess of $120,000, other than compensation arrangements with the directors on the East Board in their capacity as such; or

(xvi) each Contract or East Organizational Document that would, on or after the Closing Date, prohibit or restrict the ability of the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries to declare and pay dividends or distributions with respect to their capital stock, pay any Indebtedness for borrowed money, obligations or liabilities from time to time owed to the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries, make loans or advances or transfer any of its properties or assets.

(c) The Contracts described in the foregoing clauses (a) and (b), together with all exhibits and schedules to such Contracts, as amended through the date hereof or as hereafter amended in accordance with Section 4.1 hereof, are referred to herein as “East Material Contracts.”

(d) Each East Material Contract is valid and binding on East or the East Subsidiary party thereto, as the case may be, and, to the Knowledge of East, each other party thereto, and is in full force and effect in accordance with its terms, except for (i) terminations or expirations at the end of the stated term or (ii) such failures to be valid and binding or to be in full force and effect as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect, in each case subject to Enforceability Exceptions.

(e) Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries is in breach of, or default under the terms of, and, to the Knowledge of East, no other party to any East Material Contract is in breach of, or default under the terms of, any East Material Contract, nor is any event of default (or similar term) continuing under any East Material Contract, and, to the Knowledge of East, there does not exist any event, condition or omission that would constitute such a default, breach or event of default (or similar term) (whether by lapse of time or notice or both) under any East Material Contract, in each case where such breach, default or event of default (or similar term) would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

Section 2.12 Tax Matters.

(a) Except as would not have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect:

(i) all Tax Returns required to be filed by East or any of the East Subsidiaries on or prior to the date hereof have been timely filed (taking into account any valid extension of time within which to file), and all such Tax Returns were true, correct and complete in all respects;

(ii) all Tax Returns required to be filed by East or any of the East Subsidiaries after the date hereof and prior to the Closing will be timely filed (taking into account any valid extension of time within which to file), and all such Tax Returns will be true, correct and complete in all respects;

19

(iii) East and each of the East Subsidiaries has timely paid or withheld, or will timely pay or withhold, all Taxes required to be paid or withheld by it prior to the Closing;

(iv) no deficiency for Taxes has been proposed, assessed or asserted in writing against East or any of the East Subsidiaries;

(v) the East Balance Sheet reflects an adequate reserve in accordance with GAAP for all Taxes payable by East and the East Subsidiaries for all taxable periods (and portions thereof) through the East Balance Sheet Date;

(vi) none of the East Subsidiaries (A) have been a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group for any Tax purposes (other than a group of which East was the common parent) or (B) have any material liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than East or any of the East Subsidiaries) arising under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law), or as a transferee or successor by Contract (other than (x) any commercially reasonable agreements providing for the reallocation or payment of real property Taxes attributable to real property leased or occupied by East or any of the East Subsidiaries, (y) commercially reasonable agreements for the allocation or payment of personal property Taxes, sales or use Taxes or value added Taxes with respect to personal property leased, used, owned or sold by East or any of the East Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and (z) commercially reasonable credit or other commercial agreements, the primary purposes of which do not relate to Taxes, that contain customary indemnifications for Taxes) or otherwise;

(vii) no Taxes of East or any of the East Subsidiaries are being contested and there are no audits, claims, assessments, levies, or administrative or judicial proceedings pending or proposed in writing, against East or any of the East Subsidiaries in respect of Taxes;

(viii) neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency (other than pursuant to extensions of time to file Tax Returns obtained in the ordinary course of business);

(ix) there are no Encumbrances for Taxes on any of the assets of East or any of the East Subsidiaries other than Permitted Encumbrances; and

(x) neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for a taxable period ending after the Closing Date of as a result of any (A) adjustment pursuant to Section 481 of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign

20

Law) for a taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date, (B) “closing agreement” as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (C) installment sale, intercompany transaction or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date, or (D) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date.

(b) Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has been a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation,” each within the meaning of Section 355(a)(1)(A) of the Code, in a distribution intended to qualify under Section 355 of the Code (i) within the past two (2) years or (ii) as part of a “plan” or “series of related transactions” (within the meaning of Section 355(e) of the Code) in conjunction with the Merger.

(c) Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has participated in any “listed transaction” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4 (as in effect at the relevant time) (or any comparable Laws of any state, local or foreign jurisdiction).

(d) No power of attorney with respect to any material Taxes of East or any of the East Subsidiaries has been filed or entered into with any Taxing Authority that remains in effect.

(e) At the Effective Time, neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries will be a party to, have any obligation under, or be bound by any material Tax allocation, Tax sharing, Tax indemnity or similar arrangement, understanding or agreement pursuant to which it will have any potential material liability to any Person (other than East or any of the East Subsidiaries) after the Effective Time (other than any (x) commercially reasonable agreements providing for the reallocation or payment of real property Taxes attributable to real property leased or occupied by East or any of the East Subsidiaries, (y) commercially reasonable agreements for the allocation or payment of personal property Taxes, sales or use Taxes or value added Taxes with respect to personal property leased, used, owned or sold by East or any of the East Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and (z) other commercially reasonable credit or other commercial agreements, the primary purposes of which do not related to Taxes, that contain customary indemnifications for Taxes).

(f) Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries is a “U.S. shareholder” (within the meaning of Section 951(b) of the Code) of any foreign corporation which may be required to include in income any amounts under Section 951(a) of the Code.

(g) After reasonable diligence, neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries are aware of the existence of any fact, or has taken or agreed to take any action, that could reasonably be expected to prevent the Merger from qualifying as a “reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code.

(h) No East Subsidiary is a non-United States corporation.

Section 2.13 Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans.

(a) Section 2.13(a) of the East Disclosure Letter lists as of the date of this Agreement (i) all material employee pension benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”)), (ii) all material employee welfare benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), (iii) all other material

21

pension, bonus, commission, stock option, stock purchase, incentive, deferred compensation, supplemental retirement or retiree plans, programs or other retiree coverage or arrangements, fringe benefit and other benefit plans, programs, Contracts, arrangements or policies and (iv) any material employment, executive compensation, change in control or severance plans, programs, Contracts, arrangements or policies, in each case, that is sponsored or maintained by East or any of the East Subsidiaries or any other Entity (whether or not incorporated) which is treated as a single employer together with East or any of the East Subsidiaries within the meaning of Section 4001(b) of ERISA (each, an “East ERISA Affiliate”) for the benefit of, or relating to, any former or current employee, officer or director of East or any of the East Subsidiaries or as to which East or any East ERISA Affiliate has any material liability (all such plans, programs, Contracts or policies as described in this Section 2.13(a), whether or not material, shall be collectively referred to as the “East Benefit Plans”). East has made available to Central, true and complete copies of (i) the current plan document for each written material East Benefit Plan, including all amendments thereto, and any related trust agreement currently in effect, (ii) the most recent annual report on Form 5500 series, with accompanying schedules and attachments (including accountants’ opinions, if applicable), filed with respect to each East Benefit Plan required to make such a filing, (iii) the most recent actuarial valuation for each East Benefit Plan for which such a valuation was prepared and (iv) the most recent favorable determination letter issued for each East Benefit Plan which is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 2.13(a) of the East Disclosure Letter: (i) none of the East Benefit Plans promises or provides post-termination or retiree medical or life insurance benefits to any former or current employee of East or any of the East Subsidiaries (other than continuation coverage to the extent required by Law, whether pursuant to Section 4980B of the Code or other state Law); (ii) none of the East Benefit Plans are, or within the past six plan years have been, subject to Section 302 of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 or 430 of the Code, a “multiple employer welfare arrangement” (as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA), a “multiple employer plan” (as defined in Section 413(c) of the Code), a “multiemployer plan” (within the meaning of Section 3(37) or 4001(a)(3) of ERISA) or a cash balance pension plan or other hybrid plan that is an “applicable defined benefit plan” as defined in Section 203(f)(3) of ERISA; (iii) all of the East Benefit Plans have been established, operated, funded and maintained in all material respects in compliance with their terms and all applicable Laws, including ERISA and the Code; (iv) each East Benefit Plan subject to Section 409A of the Code has been maintained in substantial compliance with such provision; (v) each East Benefit Plan which is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and each trust intended to qualify under Section 501(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter or may rely on an opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service as to its qualified status under Section 401(a) of the Code and to the Knowledge of East, nothing has occurred since the issuance of such letter that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of such plan; (vi) no liability under Title IV of ERISA has been incurred by East, any of the East Subsidiaries, or any East ERISA Affiliate that has not been satisfied in full when due, and no condition exists that is reasonably expected to result in the incurrence by East, any of the East Subsidiaries, or any East ERISA Affiliate of a liability under Title IV of ERISA (other than for the timely payment of Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation insurance premiums); (vii) no East Benefit Plan that is subject to Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA has incurred a “funding deficiency” (whether or not waived) within the meaning of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA; (viii) all material contributions required to be made with respect to any East Benefit Plan on or before the date hereof have been

22

made; (vii) there are no pending or, to the Knowledge of East, threatened claims by or on behalf of any of the East Benefit Plans or otherwise relating to any East Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for benefits); and (viii) no East Benefit Plan is maintained for the benefit of employees, directors, or other individual service providers who work primarily outside of the United States.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not (either solely as a result thereof or as a result of such transactions in conjunction with another event) (i) cause or result in an increase in the amount of compensation or benefits or timing of vesting or payment of any benefits or compensation payable in respect of any former or current employee, officer or director of East or any of the East Subsidiaries; or (ii) cause or result in an increase in the liabilities of East, Central, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Subsidiaries to any third Person on account of matters relating to compensation or benefits in respect of any former or current employee, officer or director of East or any of the East Subsidiaries.

(d) No East Benefit Plan provides for payments or benefits in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to give rise to the payment of any amount that would result in a loss of tax deductions pursuant to Section 280G of the Code.

(e) Neither East or any of the East Subsidiaries is party to or is otherwise bound to or is in the process of negotiating any labor agreements, collective bargaining agreements and any other labor-related agreements or arrangements with any union or other labor organization (collectively, “Labor Agreements”). Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has any unions, employee representative bodies or other labor organizations which, to the Knowledge of East, represent any employees of East or any of the East Subsidiaries.

(f) There is not now in existence, nor has there been since one (1) year prior to the date of this Agreement, any pending or, to the Knowledge of East, written threat of any: (i) strike, slowdown, stoppage, picketing or lockout against or affecting East or any of the East Subsidiaries; or (ii) labor-related demand for representation. There is not now in existence any pending or, to the Knowledge of East, threatened Legal Proceeding alleging or involving any violation of any employment-related, labor-related or benefits-related Law against, in respect of or relating to East, any of the East Subsidiaries or any East Benefit Plan, including claims arising under any such Law by any independent contractor or leased personnel; in each case except for such Legal Proceedings that have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

(g) To the Knowledge of East, the relations between East and the East Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and each of their respective employees and the unions, employee representative bodies or other labor organizations representing any such employees, on the other hand, are satisfactory.

(h) To the Knowledge of East, no current or former employee of East or any of the East Subsidiaries at the level of Senior Vice President or above is in violation in any material respect, or has threatened a violation in any material respect, of any term or provision of any employment Contract, Labor Agreement, confidentiality or other proprietary information disclosure Contract arising out of or relating to such Person’s current or former employment or engagement by East or any of the East Subsidiaries.

23

(i) To the Knowledge of East, none of East’s or the East Subsidiaries’ employment, labor, benefits or other policies or practices applicable to any current or former employee, independent contractor or leased personnel of East or any of the East Subsidiaries are currently being audited or investigated by any Governmental Entity.

(j) Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has any employees employed outside of the United States.

(k) None of East or any of the East Subsidiaries is party to a settlement agreement with a current or former officer, employee or independent contractor of East or any of the East Subsidiaries that involves allegations relating to sexual harassment by an officer or employee of East or any of the East Subsidiaries at the level of Senior Vice President or above. To the Knowledge of East, in the last five (5) years, no allegations of sexual harassment have been made against any officer or employee of East or any of the East Subsidiaries at a level of Senior Vice President or above.

(l) To the Knowledge of East, each individual who is currently providing services to East or any of the East Subsidiaries, or who previously provided services to East or any of the East Subsidiaries, as an independent contractor or consultant is or was properly classified and properly treated as an independent contractor or consultant by East or the East Subsidiaries. Each individual who is currently providing services to East or any of the East Subsidiaries through a third-party service provider, or who previously provided services to East or any of the East Subsidiaries through a third-party service provider, is not or was not an employee of East or any of the East Subsidiaries. None of East or any of the East Subsidiaries has a single employer, joint employer, alter ego or similar relationship with any other company.

(m) East and the East Subsidiaries have not engaged in layoffs, furloughs or employment terminations, whether temporary or permanent, since January 1, 2020, through the date hereof. East and the East Subsidiaries have no plans to engage in any layoffs, furloughs or employment terminations, whether temporary or permanent, within the next six (6) months. East and the East Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, have sufficient employees to operate the East business as currently conducted and consistent with past practice.

(n) Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has applied for a loan under 15 U.S.C. 636(a)(36) (a “PPP Loan”). East and the East Subsidiaries have complied in all material respects as applicable with the requirements of (i) the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (the “FFCRA”), (ii) any applicable federal, state or local stay-at-home orders (i.e., directives that order residents to stay at home unless performing certain essential activities) and (iii) any applicable provisions of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”).

Section 2.14 Environmental Matters.

(a) Since December 31, 2015, each of East and the East Subsidiaries has been, and currently is in compliance with, all applicable Environmental Laws (which compliance

24

includes, but is not limited to, the possession by East and the East Subsidiaries of all Permits required under applicable Environmental Laws, and compliance with the terms and conditions thereof), except for matters that have been fully resolved with the applicable Governmental Entity or where failure to be in compliance would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. East and the East Subsidiaries have not received any written communication from a Governmental Entity alleging that East and the East Subsidiaries are not in such compliance (giving effect to such qualifications), and, to the Knowledge of East, there are no past or present activities, conditions or circumstances that would be reasonably likely to prevent or interfere with such compliance (giving effect to such qualifications) in the future to the extent such prevention or interference would be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

(b) There has been no past or present Release of any Hazardous Material which could form the basis of any Environmental Claim against East or any of the East Subsidiaries which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

(c) There is no Environmental Claim pending or, to the Knowledge of East, threatened against East or any of the East Subsidiaries which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

Section 2.15 Reserve Reports.

(a) The factual, non-interpretive data relating to the Oil and Gas Properties of East and the East Subsidiaries on which (i) East’s estimate of the proved Hydrocarbon reserves of East and the East Subsidiaries with respect to the Oil and Gas Properties of East and the East Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019, referred to in East’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (the “East Reserve Report”), and (ii) the report of Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. (“NSAI”) regarding its independent audit, as of December 31, 2019, of certain of the proved Hydrocarbon reserves of East and the East Subsidiaries referred to in East’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (the “East NSAI Audit Report”) were based was complete and accurate at the time such data was used by East in the preparation of the East Reserve Report and provided to NSAI for use in the East NSAI Audit Report, except for any incompleteness or inaccuracy that would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. To the Knowledge of East, there are no material errors in the assumptions and estimates used by East and the East Subsidiaries in connection with the preparation of the East Reserve Report or by NSAI in connection with the preparation of the East NSAI Audit Report. The proved Hydrocarbon reserve estimates of East and the East Subsidiaries set forth in the East Reserve Report fairly reflect, in all material respects, the proved Hydrocarbon reserves of East and the East Subsidiaries at the dates indicated therein and are in accordance with the rules promulgated by the SEC, as applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods reflected therein. Except for changes (including changes in Hydrocarbon commodity prices) generally affecting the oil and gas industry and normal depletion by production, there has been no change in respect of the matters addressed in the East Reserve Report that would be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. The estimates of proved Hydrocarbon reserves used by East and the East Subsidiaries in connection with the preparation of the East Reserve Report complied in

25

all material respects with Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC, and the estimates of proved Hydrocarbon reserves provided to NSAI in connection with the preparation of the East NSAI Audit Report complied in all material respects with Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC.

(b) The factual, non-interpretive data supplied by Felix to NSAI relating to the interests of Felix and its Subsidiaries on which NSAI’s estimate of the proved Hydrocarbon reserves of Felix and its Subsidiaries with respect to the Oil and Gas Properties of Felix and its Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019, included in the East March 20 8-K/A (the “Felix Reserve Report”) was based was complete and accurate at the time such data was provided to NSAI, except for any incompleteness or inaccuracy that would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. To the Knowledge of East, the proved Hydrocarbon reserve estimates of NSAI set forth in the Felix Reserve Report fairly reflect, in all material respects, the proved Hydrocarbon reserves of Felix at the dates indicated therein. Except for changes (including changes in Hydrocarbon commodity prices) generally affecting the oil and gas industry and normal depletion by production, there has been no change in respect of the matters addressed in the Felix Reserve Report that would be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. To the Knowledge of East, the estimates of proved Hydrocarbon reserves used in connection with the preparation of the Felix Reserve Report complied in all material respects with Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC.

Section 2.16 Legal Proceedings; Orders. There is no pending Legal Proceeding (other than Legal Proceedings involving Tax matters, employee and labor matters, or environmental matters, which are covered solely by Section 2.12, Section 2.13 and Section 2.14, respectively) and, within the past twelve (12) months, to the Knowledge of East, no Person has threatened to commence any Legal Proceeding (other than Legal Proceedings involving Tax matters, employee and labor matters, or environmental matters, which are covered solely by Section 2.12, Section 2.13 and Section 2.14, respectively), against East or any of the East Subsidiaries or any of the material assets owned or used by any of them, in each case which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect. There is no Order to which East or any of the East Subsidiaries, or any of the material assets owned or used by any of them, is subject which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

Section 2.17 Title to Properties.

(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect and except for any property (i) sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business since the date of the East Reserve Report or Felix Reserve Report relating to the interests of East and the East Subsidiaries and Felix, respectively, referred to therein or (ii) reflected in the East Reserve Report or the Felix Reserve Report, as applicable, or in the East SEC Documents as having been sold or otherwise disposed of, as of the date hereof, East and the East Subsidiaries have good and defensible title to all Oil and Gas Properties forming the basis for the reserves reflected in the East Reserve Report or the Felix Reserve Report, as applicable, and in each case as attributable to interests owned by East and the East Subsidiaries, free and clear of any Encumbrances, except for Permitted Encumbrances. For purposes of the foregoing sentence, “good and defensible title” means that East’s or one or more

26

of the East Subsidiaries’, as applicable, title (as of the date hereof and as of the Closing), beneficially or of record, to each of the Oil and Gas Properties held or owned by them (or purported to be held or owned by them) that (A) entitles East (or one or more of the East Subsidiaries, as applicable) to receive (after satisfaction of all Production Burdens applicable thereto), not less than the net revenue interest share reflected in the East Reserve Report or the Felix Reserve Report, as applicable, of all Hydrocarbons produced from such Oil and Gas Properties throughout the life of such Oil and Gas Properties, (B) obligates East (or one or more of the East Subsidiaries, as applicable) to bear a percentage of the costs and expenses for the maintenance and development of, and operations relating to, such Oil and Gas Properties, of not greater than the working interest reflected in the East Reserve Report or the Felix Reserve Report, as applicable, for such Oil and Gas Properties (other than any increases that are accompanied by a proportionate (or greater) net revenue interest in such Oil and Gas Properties) and (C) is free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances).

(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect and except to the extent that enforceability thereof may be limited by Enforceability Exceptions, each material Oil and Gas Lease of East or any of the East Subsidiaries (i) constitutes the valid and binding obligation of East or the East Subsidiaries and, to the Knowledge of East, constitutes the valid and binding obligation of the other parties thereto, (ii) is in full force and effect and (iii) immediately after the Effective Time will continue to constitute a valid and binding obligation of East or the East Subsidiaries and, to the Knowledge of East, each of the other parties thereto, in accordance with its terms. Each of East and the East Subsidiaries (to the extent it is a party thereto or bound thereby) and, to the Knowledge of East, each other party thereto, has performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under each material Oil and Gas Lease of East or any of the East Subsidiaries. There is not, to the Knowledge of East, under any Oil and Gas Lease of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, any material default or event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a material default on the part of any of the parties thereto, or any notice of termination, cancellation or material modification, in each case, except such defaults, other events, notices or modifications as to which requisite waivers or consents have been obtained, and, to the Knowledge of East, neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has received any notice of any material violation or breach of, material default under or intention to cancel, terminate, materially modify or not renew any material Oil and Gas Lease of East or any of the East Subsidiaries.

(c) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect, and with respect to clauses (i) and (ii) below, except with respect to any of the Oil and Gas Properties of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, (i) East and the East Subsidiaries have good, valid and defensible title to all real property owned by East or any of the East Subsidiaries (collectively, the “East Owned Real Property”) and valid leasehold estates in all real property leased, subleased, licensed or otherwise occupied (whether as tenant, subtenant or pursuant to other occupancy arrangements) by East or any of the East Subsidiaries (collectively, including the improvements thereon, the “East Leased Real Property”, and, together with the East Owned Real Property, the “East Real Property”) free and clear of all Encumbrances, except Permitted Encumbrances, (ii) each Contract under which East or any of the East Subsidiaries is the landlord, sublandlord, tenant, subtenant or occupant with respect to East Leased Real Property (each, an “East Real Property Lease”), to the Knowledge of East, is in full force and effect and is valid and enforceable against the parties thereto in

27

accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforceability, to Enforceability Exceptions, and neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries, or to the Knowledge of East, any other party thereto, has received written notice of any default under any East Real Property Lease and (iii) there does not exist any pending or, to the Knowledge of East, threatened, condemnation or eminent domain proceedings that affect any of the Oil and Gas Properties of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, East Owned Real Property or East Leased Real Property.

(d) There are no leases, subleases, licenses, rights or other agreements burdening or affecting any portion of the East Real Property that would reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to materially adversely affect the existing use or value of such East Real Property by East and the East Subsidiaries in the operation of their respective businesses thereon. Except for such arrangements solely between or among East and the East Subsidiaries, there are no outstanding options or rights of first refusal or first offer in favor of any other party to purchase any East Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein that would reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the existing use of the East Owned Real Property by East and the East Subsidiaries in the operation of their respective businesses thereon. Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries is currently leasing, subleasing, licensing or otherwise granting any Person the right to use or occupy all or any portion of any East Real Property that would reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the existing use or value of such East Real Property by East and the East Subsidiaries in the operation of their respective businesses thereon. The East Real Property constitutes all of the real estate (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, Oil and Gas Properties) used in and necessary for the operation of the respective businesses of East and the East Subsidiaries.

(e) Except (i) for amounts being held in suspense (by East, any of the East Subsidiaries, any third-party operator thereof or any other Person) in accordance with applicable Law, as reported in the East SEC Documents or as a result of the ongoing preparation and approval of division order title opinions for recently drilled Wells or (ii) as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect, all proceeds from the sale of Hydrocarbons produced from the Oil and Gas Properties of East and the East Subsidiaries are being received by such selling Persons in a timely manner. Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries is obligated by virtue of a take-or-pay payment, advance payment, or similar payment (other than royalties, overriding royalties and similar arrangements established in the Oil and Gas Leases of East or any of the East Subsidiaries) to deliver Hydrocarbons or proceeds from the sale thereof, attributable to such Person’s interest in its Oil and Gas Properties at some future time without receiving payment therefor at the time of delivery, except, in each case, as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

(f) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect and to the Knowledge of East, all Hydrocarbon Wells and all water, CO2 or injection Wells located on the Oil and Gas Leases of East or any of the East Subsidiaries have been drilled, completed and operated, as applicable, within the limits permitted by the applicable Contracts and applicable Law and all drilling and completion (and plugging and abandonment, including plugging and abandonment of permanently plugged wells located on the Oil and Gas Leases of East or any of the East Subsidiaries) of the Hydrocarbon Wells and such other Wells and all related development, production and other operations have been conducted in compliance with all applicable Law.

28

(g) No Oil and Gas Properties of East or any of the East Subsidiaries is subject to any preferential purchase, consent, tag-along or similar right or obligation that would become operative or be required by East or any of its Affiliates as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect.

(h) As of the date of this Agreement, and except as provided for in the East Budget, there is no outstanding authorization for expenditure or similar request or invoice for funding or participation under any Contracts which are binding on East, the East Subsidiaries or any of their respective Oil and Gas Properties and which East reasonably anticipates will individually require expenditures by East or any of the East Subsidiaries in excess of $25,000,000 (net to the interest of East and the East Subsidiaries).

(i) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have an East Material Adverse Effect, to the Knowledge of East, there are no Wells that constitute a part of the Oil and Gas Properties of East or any of the East Subsidiaries in respect of which East or any of the East Subsidiaries has received a notice, claim, demand or Order notifying, claiming, demanding or requiring that such Wells be temporarily or permanently plugged and abandoned.

Section 2.18 Intellectual Property; IT and Privacy.

(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect: (i) each of East and the East Subsidiaries owns or has a valid right to use, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances), all Intellectual Property used or held for use in, or necessary to conduct, the business of East and the East Subsidiaries as currently conducted; (ii) to East’s Knowledge, the conduct of the business of East and each of the East Subsidiaries, since December 31, 2017, has not infringed upon, misappropriated or otherwise violated, and is not infringing upon, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Intellectual Property of any other Person; and (iii) each of East and the East Subsidiaries takes and has taken actions to protect the proprietary rights in trade secrets included in its Intellectual Property and the trade secrets of other Persons possessed by East and the East Subsidiaries, and, since December 31, 2017, there has been no unauthorized loss of trade secret rights in any such trade secrets due to acts or omissions by East or any of the East Subsidiaries.

(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect, since December 31, 2017: (i) there has been no failure in, or disruptions of, its Software or information technology (“IT”) assets (including, for clarity, with respect to any third-party providers of such Software and IT assets) that has not been remedied; (ii) each of East and the East Subsidiaries has been and is in compliance with its privacy policies and contractual obligations regarding data privacy and security; (iii) each of East and the East Subsidiaries has adopted and maintains commercially reasonable measures designed to protect its IT assets, personal information and material business information against reasonably anticipated threats, hazards and the unauthorized access, use or disclosure thereof; (iv) to the Knowledge of East, no Person has committed an unauthorized access, use or exfiltration, including any such access, use or exfiltration that requires disclosure to a Governmental Entity under applicable Law, with respect to any IT asset of or used for East or any of the East Subsidiaries, or personal information or material business information possessed or controlled by or on behalf of

29

East or any of the East Subsidiaries; and (v) since December 31, 2017, neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has provided breach notices required by applicable data privacy and security Laws to, nor received written notice of any claims by, any Governmental Entity, in the case of such notices alleging noncompliance with, or a violation by East or any of the East Subsidiaries of, any Laws directed to data privacy and security.

Section 2.19 Affiliate Transactions. Except for (i) Contracts filed or incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the East SEC Documents and (ii) the East Benefit Plans, Section 2.19 of the East Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of the Contracts or understandings that are in existence as of the date of this Agreement between, on the one hand, East or any of the East Subsidiaries and, on the other hand, any (x) present executive officer or director of East or any of the East Subsidiaries or any Person that has served as an executive officer or director East or any of the East Subsidiaries within the last three (3) years or any of such officer’s or director’s immediate family members, (y) record or beneficial owner of more than five percent (5%) of the East Common Stock as of the date of this Agreement or (z) to the Knowledge of East, any Affiliate of any such officer, director or owner (other than East or any of the East Subsidiaries).

Section 2.20 Insurance. Section 2.20 of the East Disclosure Letter sets forth (i) a list of the material insurance policies (including directors and officers liability insurance) covering East and the East Subsidiaries as of the date hereof and (ii) pending claims under such policies as of the date of this Agreement. Except for failures to maintain insurance that have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect, from December 31, 2017 through the date of this Agreement, each of East and the East Subsidiaries has been continuously insured with recognized insurers or has self-insured, in each case in such amounts and with respect to such risks and losses as are customary for the nature of the property so insured and for companies in the United States conducting the business conducted by East and the East Subsidiaries during such time period. Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has received any notice of cancellation or termination with respect to any material insurance policy of East or any of the East Subsidiaries.

Section 2.21 Information to be Supplied. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by or on behalf of East for inclusion or incorporation by reference in (a) the Registration Statement will, at the time the Registration Statement is filed with the SEC or becomes effective under the Securities Act or (b) the Joint Proxy Statement will, at the time the Joint Proxy Statement is mailed to East Stockholders, or at the time of the East Stockholders’ Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact, or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein, necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading or necessary to correct any statement of a material fact in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of proxies for the East Stockholders’ Meeting which has become false or misleading. The Joint Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, East makes no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by or to be supplied by Central or Merger Sub that is included or incorporated by reference in the foregoing documents.

30

Section 2.22 Regulatory Proceedings.

(a) East is not a “holding company,” a “subsidiary company” of a “holding company,” an affiliate of a “holding company,” a “public utility” or a “public-utility company,” as each such term is defined in the U.S. Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005.

(b) Except for certain facilities that are subject to Section 2.22(c), all properties and related facilities constituting East’s and the East Subsidiaries’ properties (including any facilities under development) are (i) exempt from regulation by the U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission under applicable Law and (ii) not subject to rate regulation or comprehensive nondiscriminatory access regulation under the Laws of any state or other local jurisdiction.

(c) Except for certain facilities, as described on Section 2.22(c) of the East Disclosure Letter, used in the transport of Hydrocarbons which are subject to the Interstate Commerce Act and are subject to the jurisdiction of the U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, and which are in substantial compliance with the applicable Laws, rules and regulations issued by any Governmental Entity, neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries owns, controls, or has under development any (i) refining capacity or (ii) oil or gas transportation infrastructure (other than gathering facilities).

(d) East is not an “investment company” within the meaning of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940.

Section 2.23 Takeover Statutes. The approval by the East Board referred to in Section 2.2(b) constitutes the approval of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger, and the Support Agreement, and the transactions contemplated thereby, for purposes of the DGCL and represents the only action necessary to ensure that any “business combination” (as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL) or other applicable provision of the DGCL does not and will not apply to the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby or the Support Agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby. To the Knowledge of East, no other Takeover Laws or any anti-takeover provision in the East Organizational Documents are, or at the Effective Time will be, applicable to East, the Merger, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

Section 2.24 Financial Advisor. Except for Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (the fees and expenses of which will be paid by East and are reflected in its engagement letter with East), neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has employed any financial advisor, investment bank, broker or finder who is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. East has furnished to Central an accurate and complete copy of East’s engagement letter with Citigroup Global Markets Inc. relating to the Merger.

Section 2.25 Opinion of Financial Advisor. The East Board has received the opinion of Citigroup Global Markets Inc. to the effect that, as of the date of such opinion and based on and subject to the various assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations and qualifications on the review undertaken as set forth therein, Exchange Ratio (prior to any adjustments pursuant to Section 1.6(b)) is fair, from a financial point of view, to holders of East Common Stock (other than, as applicable, Central, Merger Sub and their respective affiliates).

31

Section 2.26 [Reserved.]

Section 2.27 Regulatory Matters.

(a) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to have an East Material Adverse Effect, since December 31, 2018, (i) none of East, any of the East Subsidiaries, nor, to the Knowledge of East, any East or East Subsidiary director, officer, employee, representative, agent or any other Person acting on behalf of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, has violated any applicable Anti-Corruption Law, Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws or Money-Laundering Laws; and (ii) none of East, any of the East Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of East, any East or East Subsidiary director, officer, employee, representative, agent or any other Person acting on behalf of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, has offered, paid, given, promised or authorized the payment of, anything of value (including money, checks, wire transfers, tangible and intangible gifts, favors, services or entertainment and travel) directly or indirectly to any employee, officer, or representative of, or any Person otherwise acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of a Governmental Entity, whether elected or appointed, including an officer or employee of a state-owned or state-controlled enterprise, a political party, political party official or employee, candidate for public office, or an officer or employee of a public international organization (such as the World Bank, United Nations, International Monetary Fund, or Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development) (any such Person, a “Government Official”) (A) for the purpose of (1) influencing any act or decision of a Government Official or any other Person in his or her official capacity, (2) inducing a Government Official or any other Person to do or omit to do any act in violation of his or her lawful duties, (3) securing any improper advantage, (4) inducing a Government Official or any other Person to influence or affect any act or decision of any Governmental Entity or (5) assisting East, any of the East Subsidiaries, or any East or East Subsidiary director, officer employee, agent, representative or any other Person acting on behalf of East or any of the East Subsidiaries in obtaining or retaining business or (B) in a manner which would constitute or have the purpose or effect of public or commercial bribery or corruption, acceptance of, or acquiescence in extortion, kickbacks, or other unlawful or improper means of obtaining or retaining business or any improper advantage.

(b) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to have an East Material Adverse Effect, since December 31, 2018, East and the East Subsidiaries have implemented and have at all times maintained internal controls, policies and procedures reasonably designed to detect, prevent and deter violations of Anti-Corruption Laws, Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws and Money-Laundering Laws.

Section 2.28 No Additional Representations. Except for those representations and warranties expressly set forth in this Article II and except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries or other Person acting on behalf of East makes any representation or warranty of any kind or nature, express or implied, in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries has made or makes any representation or warranty with respect to any projections, estimates or budgets made available to the public, Central or Merger Sub or their Affiliates of future revenues,

32

future production, future results of operations (or any component thereof), future cash flows or future financial condition (or any component thereof) of East and the East Subsidiaries or the future business and operations of East and the East Subsidiaries.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF CENTRAL AND MERGER SUB

Except as disclosed in (a) the Central SEC Documents furnished to or filed with the SEC and available on EDGAR prior to the date hereof (excluding any disclosures set forth in any “risk factor” section and in any section relating to forward-looking statements to the extent that they are cautionary, predictive or forward-looking in nature (other than any historical factual information contained within such sections or statements)), where it is reasonably apparent on its face that such disclosure is applicable to the representation; or (b) the disclosure letter delivered by Central to East prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement (the “Central Disclosure Letter”) (each section of which qualifies the correspondingly numbered representation, warranty or covenant to the extent specified therein and such other representations, warranties or covenants to the extent a matter in such section is disclosed in such a way as to make its relevance to such other representation, warranty or covenant reasonably apparent), Central represents and warrants to East as follows:

Section 3.1 Due Organization; Subsidiaries.

(a) Central is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware. Central has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted, except where the failure to have such power and authority would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. Central is qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing or operation of its assets or properties or conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Each of the Central Subsidiaries is a legal Entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization, except where the failure to be so organized, existing or in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Central Subsidiaries has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted, except where the failure to have such power and authority would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Central Subsidiaries is qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation or other legal Entity in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing or operation of its assets or properties or conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

33

(c) Central has delivered or made available to East accurate and complete copies of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws (or similar organizational documents) of Central and each Central Subsidiary that constitutes a “significant subsidiary” of Central as defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC as of the date hereof (collectively, the “Central Organizational Documents”) and the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Merger Sub.

(d) Section 3.1(d) of the Central Disclosure Letter sets forth Central’s and any of Central Subsidiaries’ capital stock, equity interests or other direct or indirect ownership interests in any other Person other than capital stock, equity interests or other direct or indirect ownership interests or securities of direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiaries of Central. All such capital stock, equity interests or other direct or indirect ownership interests (i) have, to the Knowledge of Central, been validly issued and are fully paid (in the case of an interest in a limited partnership or a limited liability company, to the extent required under the applicable Central Organizational Documents) and nonassessable (if such entity is a corporate entity) and (ii) are owned by Central, by one or more Subsidiaries of Central or by Central and one or more of the Central Subsidiaries, in each case free and clear of all Encumbrances.

Section 3.2 Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement.

(a) Each of Central and Merger Sub has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and to perform their respective obligations under (i) this Agreement and, subject to the receipt of Central Stockholder Approval, to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, including the Stock Issuance and (ii) the Support Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Central and Merger Sub and the consummation by Central and Merger Sub of the Merger and of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Stock Issuance, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Central and Merger Sub (other than, with respect to the Stock Issuance, the receipt of Central Stockholder Approval).

(b) The Central Board has unanimously (i) determined that this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are in the best interests of, and are advisable to, Central and the Central Stockholders, (ii) approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (iii) approved and declared advisable the Support Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and (iv) resolved to make the Central Recommendation. Except in connection with a Central Adverse Recommendation Change in accordance with Section 5.4, such resolutions of the Central Board have not been rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way.

(c) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Central and Merger Sub and, assuming the due execution and delivery of this Agreement by East, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Central and Merger Sub, enforceable against Central and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, subject to Enforceability Exceptions.

Section 3.3 Vote Required. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of votes cast at a meeting at which a majority of the outstanding shares of Central Common Stock are present and voting (the “Central Stockholder Approval”) is the only vote of the holders of any

34

class or series of capital stock of Central necessary to authorize the Stock Issuance under Sections 312.03(b), 312.03(c) and 312.07 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual (the “Central Proposal”).

Section 3.4 Capitalization.

(a) The authorized capital stock of Central consists of 1,000,000,000 shares of Central Common Stock and 4,500,000 shares of preferred stock, $1.00 par value (the “Central Preferred Stock”). As of September 23, 2020, (i) 382,606,506 shares of Central Common Stock are issued and outstanding, including 5,699,874 shares subject to a restricted stock award under Central Benefit Plans, (ii) no shares of Central Common Stock are held in Central’s treasury or by any of the Central Subsidiaries, (iii) 2,002,606 shares of Central Common Stock are issuable pursuant to awards granted under the stock incentive plans of Central (“Central Stock Plans”), of which, 2,002,606 shares are issuable in respect of restricted stock units issued under a Central Stock Plan (“Central RSUs”), assuming, as applicable, a target level of achievement under performance awards, (iv) 25,405,777.12 shares are reserved for the grant of additional awards under Central Stock Plans and (v) no shares of Central Preferred Stock are issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Central have been duly authorized and validly issued, and are fully paid and nonassessable and are not subject to any preemptive right, and all shares of Central Common Stock which may be issued pursuant to the exercise or vesting of Central RSUs will be, when issued in accordance with the terms thereof, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to any preemptive right. Except as described in clause (iii) of this Section 3.4(a), there are not any phantom stocks or other contractual rights the value of which is determined in whole or in part by the value of any capital stock of Central and there are no outstanding stock appreciation rights with respect to the capital stock of Central. Other than Central Common Stock and Central Preferred Stock, there are no other authorized classes of capital stock of Central.

(b) The shares of Central Common Stock to be issued pursuant to the Merger, when issued in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, will be duly authorized, validly issued and fully paid, and not subject to any preemptive right.

(c) There are no voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which Central, any of the Central Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of Central, any of their respective executive officers or directors is a party with respect to the voting of Central Common Stock or the capital stock or other equity interests of any of the Central Subsidiaries.

(d) Other than Central RSUs, there are no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, convertible securities or other similar rights, agreements or commitments relating to the issuance of capital stock or other equity interests to which Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries is a party obligating Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries to (i) issue, transfer or sell any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for such shares or equity interests, (ii) grant, extend or enter into such subscription, option, warrant, call, convertible securities or other similar right, agreement or arrangement, (iii) redeem or otherwise acquire any such shares of capital stock or other equity interests or (iv) provide a material amount of funds to, or make any material investment (in the form of loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in any of the Central

35

Subsidiaries. At the Effective Time, there will not be any outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, preemptive rights, subscriptions, or other rights, convertible or exchangeable securities, agreements, claims or commitments of any character by which Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries will be bound calling for the purchase or issuance of any shares of the capital stock of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for such shares or any other such securities or agreements.

(e) Section 3.4(e) of the Central Disclosure Letter (i) lists each of the Central Subsidiaries and their respective jurisdictions of organization and (ii) designates which of the Central Subsidiaries are “significant subsidiaries,” as defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other ownership interests of the Central Subsidiaries that are direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiaries of Central (A) have been validly issued and are fully paid (in the case of an interest in a limited partnership or a limited liability company, to the extent required under the applicable Central Organizational Documents) and nonassessable (if such entity is a corporate entity) and (B) are owned by Central, by one or more of the Central Subsidiaries or by Central and one or more of the Central Subsidiaries, in each case free and clear of all Encumbrances.

(f) There are no outstanding bonds, debentures, notes or other Indebtedness of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries having the right to vote (or convertible into, or exchangeable or exercisable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matter on which the stockholders or other equity holders of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries may vote.

Section 3.5 Governmental Filings; No Violations.

(a) Other than the filings, notices, waiting periods or approvals required by (i) Section 1.3, (ii) the HSR Act, (iii) the filing with the SEC of the registration statement on Form S-4 by Central in connection with the Stock Issuance pursuant to this Agreement (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Registration Statement”) and other filings required under federal or state securities laws and (iv) the NYSE rules and regulations, no consent, approval, Order, license, Permit or authorization of, or registration, declaration, notice or filing with, any Governmental Entity is necessary or required to be obtained or made by or with respect to Central or Merger Sub in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the performance by each of Central and Merger Sub of its obligations under this Agreement and the consummation by Central and Merger Sub of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, except those that the failure of which to make or obtain would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

(b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Central and Merger Sub does not, and the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby will not (with or without notice or lapse of time or both), (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the Central Organizational Documents, (ii) subject to the filings, notices, waiting periods or approvals contemplated by Section 3.5(a) and obtaining the Central Stockholder Approval, violate or conflict with any Laws or any Order applicable to Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets or properties or (iii) subject to obtaining the third-party consents and approvals set forth in Section 3.5(b) of the Central Disclosure Letter, violate, conflict with, or result in a breach of any provision of, or constitute a default under, or trigger any obligation to

36

repurchase, redeem or otherwise retire Indebtedness under, or result in the termination of, or accelerate the performance required by, or result in a right of termination, cancellation, guaranteed payment or acceleration of any obligation or the loss of a benefit under, or result in the creation of any Encumbrance upon any of the assets of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries pursuant to any provisions of any mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, Permit, concession, lease, instrument, obligation or other Contract of any kind to which Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries is now a party or by which it or any of its assets may be bound, or (iv) result in the creation of any Encumbrance upon any of the properties or assets of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, except in the case of the foregoing clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) for any breach, violation, conflict, termination, default, acceleration, creation, change, conflict or Encumbrance that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.6 SEC Filings; Financial Statements.

(a) All forms, documents and reports, together with all exhibits, financial statements and schedules filed or furnished therewith, and all information, documents and agreements incorporated in any such form, document or report (but not including any document incorporated by reference into an exhibit), excluding the Joint Proxy Statement, required to have been filed with or furnished to the SEC by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries since January 1, 2019 (the “Central SEC Documents”) have been timely filed or furnished, as the case may be. As of their respective dates (or, if amended, supplemented or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the date of such amendment, supplement or superseding filing): (i) each of the Central SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act (as the case may be), and the requirements of SOX and (ii) none of the Central SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

(b) The financial statements (including related notes, if any) contained in the Central SEC Documents: (i) complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC applicable thereto; (ii) were prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered (except as may be indicated in the notes to such financial statements or, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC, and except that the unaudited financial statements may not have contained notes and were subject to normal and recurring year-end adjustments); and (iii) fairly presented in all material respects the consolidated financial position of Central and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of Central and its consolidated Subsidiaries for the periods covered thereby. For purposes of this Agreement, “Central Balance Sheet” means that audited consolidated balance sheet (and notes thereto) of Central and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019 (the “Central Balance Sheet Date”) set forth in Central’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 19, 2020.

(c) Central maintains disclosure controls and procedures required by Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 under the Exchange Act. Central’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by Central is recorded

37

and reported on a timely basis to the individuals responsible for the preparation of Central’s filings with the SEC and other public disclosure documents. Central maintains internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15, as applicable, under the Exchange Act). Central’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and includes policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of Central, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of Central are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of Central and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of Central’s assets that could have a material effect on its financial statements. Central has disclosed, based on the most recent evaluation of its chief executive officer and its chief financial officer prior to the date of this Agreement, to Central’s auditors and the audit committee of the Central Board (A) any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of its internal controls over financial reporting that are reasonably likely to adversely affect Central’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and has identified for Central’s auditors and the audit committee of the Central Board any material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting and (B) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in Central’s internal control over financial reporting. Since January 1, 2019, any material change in internal control over financial reporting required to be disclosed in any Central SEC Document has been so disclosed.

(d) Since the Central Balance Sheet Date, neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of Central, any director, officer, employee, auditor, accountant or representative of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries has received or otherwise obtained Knowledge of any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim, whether written or oral, regarding the accounting or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or their respective internal accounting controls, including any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries has engaged in questionable accounting or auditing practices.

(e) Section 3.6(e) of the Central Disclosure Letter contains a complete and accurate list of all Derivative Products entered into by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or for the account of any of its customers as of the date of this Agreement. All such Derivative Products were, and any Derivative Product entered into after the date of this Agreement will be, entered into in accordance in all material respects with applicable Laws, and in accordance in all material respects with the investment, securities, commodities, risk management and other policies, practices and procedures employed by Central and the Central Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Central Risk Policies”), and were, and will be, entered into with counterparties believed at the time to be financially responsible and able to understand (either alone or in consultation with their advisers) and to bear the risks of such Derivative Product. Section 3.6(e) of the Central Disclosure Letter identifies any such counterparty as to which, to the Knowledge of Central, Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries has any reasonable concerns regarding financial responsibility with respect to any such Derivative Product. Central and each of the Central Subsidiaries have, and will have, duly performed in all material respects all of their respective

38

obligations under the Derivative Product to the extent that such obligations to perform have accrued, and, to the Knowledge of Central, there are and will be no material breaches, violations, collateral deficiencies, requests for collateral or demands for payment, or defaults or allegations or assertions of such by any party thereunder. Since December 31, 2019, there have been no material violations of the Central Risk Policies.

Section 3.7 Absence of Changes. Since the Central Balance Sheet Date, (a) as of the date of this Agreement, Central and the Central Subsidiaries have conducted their respective businesses in all material respects in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, except for commercially reasonable actions taken outside the ordinary course of business or not consistent with past practice, in any such case, in response to material changes in commodity prices or the COVID-19 pandemic that did not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect (provided, that for purposes of this Section 3.7(a) only, the exceptions to the Central Material Adverse Effect definition set forth in clauses (1) and (5) thereof shall not apply), and (b) there has not been any event, change, effect, development, condition or occurrence that has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.8 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. Since the Central Balance Sheet Date, neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations of any nature, whether or not accrued, contingent or otherwise that would be required to be reflected in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP, except for: (a) liabilities reflected or reserved against in Central’s consolidated balance sheets (or the notes thereto) included in the Central SEC Documents, (b) liabilities that have been incurred by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries since the Central Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course of business, (c) liabilities incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (d) liabilities which have not and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries is a party to, or has an commitment to become a party to, any joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership or any similar contract or arrangement (including any Contract relating to any transaction or relationship between or among Central and any of the Central Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any unconsolidated Affiliate, including any structured finance, special purpose or limited purpose entity or Person, on the other hand) or any “off-balance sheet arrangements” (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act), where the result, purpose or effect of such contract is to avoid disclosure of any material transaction involving, or material liabilities of, Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, in Central’s consolidated financial statements or the Central SEC Documents.

Section 3.9 Compliance with Laws; Regulation.

(a) Each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries and, with respect to any Oil and Gas Properties of Central and the Central Subsidiaries that are operated by third parties, to the Knowledge of Central, such third parties, are and, since December 31, 2017, have been conducting the businesses and operations of Central and the Central Subsidiaries in compliance with all applicable Laws (other than compliance with (i) Tax Laws, which is covered solely by Section 3.11, (ii) Environmental Laws, which is covered solely by Section 3.13 and (iii) Anti-Corruption Laws, Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws or Money-Laundering Laws, which are covered solely by Section 3.26), except for instances of non-compliance that would not reasonably

39

be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. Since December 31, 2017, neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has received any written notice from any Governmental Entity regarding any actual or possible violation of, or failure to comply with, any Law, which has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries is in possession of all Permits (other than Permits required under Environmental Laws, which are covered solely by Section 3.13) necessary for them to own, lease and (if applicable) operate their respective properties or otherwise to carry on their respective businesses as they are now being conducted (the “Central Permits”), and all such Central Permits are in full force and effect and no suspension, revocation, termination, cancellation, non-renewal, or modification not requested by Central of any of the Central Permits is pending or, to the Knowledge of Central, threatened, except where the failure to have, or the suspension, revocation, termination, non-renewal, cancellation or modification of, any of the Central Permits would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. Central and the Central Subsidiaries, and their respective businesses as currently conducted, are in compliance with the terms of the Central Permits, except failures so to comply that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

(c) (i) Each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries and, to the Knowledge of Central, its and their respective directors and officers, is in compliance in all material respects with the provisions of SOX and the related rules and regulations promulgated thereunder or under the Exchange Act and (ii) Central is in compliance in all material respects with the listing and corporate governance rules and regulations of the NYSE, in each case in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) as such provisions, rules and regulations are applicable to such Person.

Section 3.10 Material Contracts.

(a) All Contracts, including amendments thereto, required to be filed as an exhibit to any report of Central filed pursuant to the Exchange Act of the type described in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act have been so filed as of the date hereof, and no such Contract has been amended or modified(or further amended or modified, as applicable) since the date such Contract or amendment was filed.

(b) Other than the Contracts set forth in clause (a) above which were filed in an unredacted form, Section 3.10(b) of the Central Disclosure Letter sets forth a correct and complete list, and Central has made available to East correct and complete copies (including all material amendments, modifications, extensions or renewals with respect thereto), of each of the following Contracts to which Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries is a party or bound as of the date hereof:

(i) each Contract containing any area of mutual interest, joint bidding area, joint acquisition area, or non-compete or similar type of provision that materially restricts the ability of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries (including East and the East Subsidiaries following the Closing) to (A) compete in any line of business or geographic area or with any Person during any period of time after the Effective Time or (B) make, sell or distribute any products or services, or use, transfer or distribute, or enforce any of their rights with respect to, any of their material assets or properties;

40

(ii) each Contract that creates, evidences, provides commitments in respect of, secures or guarantees (A) Indebtedness for borrowed money in any amount in excess of $50,000,000 or (B) other Indebtedness of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries (whether incurred, assumed, guaranteed or secured by any asset) in excess of $50,000,000, other than agreements solely between or among Central and the Central Subsidiaries;

(iii) each Contract for lease of personal property or real property (excluding Oil and Gas Leases) involving annual payments in excess of $25,000,000 or aggregate payments in excess of $50,000,000 that are not terminable without penalty or other liability to Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries (other than any ongoing obligation pursuant to such Contract that is not caused by any such termination) within sixty (60) days, other than Contracts related to drilling rigs;

(iv) each Contract involving the pending acquisition, swap, exchange, sale or other disposition of (or option to purchase, acquire, swap, exchange, sell or dispose of) any Oil and Gas Properties of Central and the Central Subsidiaries for which the aggregate consideration (or the fair market value of such consideration, if non-cash) payable to or from Central or any Central Subsidiary exceeds $50,000,000, other than Contracts involving the acquisition or sale of (or option to purchase or sell) Hydrocarbons in the ordinary course of business;

(v) each Contract for any Derivative Product;

(vi) each material partnership, stockholder, joint venture, limited liability company agreement or other joint ownership agreement, other than with respect to arrangements exclusively among Central and/or its wholly-owned Subsidiaries and other than any customary joint operating agreements or unit agreements affecting the Oil and Gas Properties of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries;

(vii) each joint development agreement, exploration agreement, participation, farmout, farm-in or program agreement or similar Contract requiring Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries to make annual expenditures in excess of $25,000,000 or aggregate payments in excess of $60,000,000 (in each case, net to the interest of Central and the Central Subsidiaries) following the date of this Agreement, other than customary joint operating agreements and continuous development obligations under Oil and Gas Leases;

(viii) each agreement that contains any exclusivity, “most favored nation” or most favored customer provision, call or put option, preferential right or rights of first or last offer, negotiation or refusal, to which Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates is subject, and, in each case, is material to the business of Central and the Central Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in each case other than those contained in (A) any agreement in which such provision is solely for the benefit of Central

41

or any of the Central Subsidiaries, (B) customary royalty pricing provisions in Oil and Gas Leases or (C) customary preferential rights in joint operating agreements or unit agreements affecting the business or the Oil and Gas Properties of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries;

(ix) any acquisition or divestiture Contract that contains “earn out” or other contingent payment obligations, or remaining indemnity or similar obligations (other than (A) asset retirement obligations or plugging and abandonment obligations set forth in the Central Reserve Report or (B) customary indemnity obligations with respect to the post-closing ownership and operation of acquired assets), that would reasonably be expected to result in (1) earn out payments, contingent payments or other similar obligations to a third party (but excluding indemnity payments) in any year in excess of $15,000,000 or (2) earn out payments, contingent payments or other similar obligations to a third party, including indemnity payments, in excess of $30,000,000 in the aggregate after the date hereof;

(x) any Contract (other than any other Contract otherwise covered by this Section 3.10(b)) that creates future payment obligations (including settlement agreements or Contracts that require any capital contributions to, or investments in, any Person) of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries outside the ordinary course of business, in each case, involving annual payments in excess of $25,000,000 or aggregate payments in excess of $50,000,000 (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, customary joint operating agreements or unit agreements affecting the Oil and Gas Properties of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries), or creates or would create an Encumbrance on any material asset or property of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries (other than Permitted Encumbrances);

(xi) any Contract that (A) provides for midstream services to, or the sale by, Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries of Hydrocarbons (1) in excess of 15,000 gross barrels of oil equivalent of Hydrocarbons per day (calculated on a per day yearly average basis) or (2) for a term greater than or equal to ten (10) years and (B) has a remaining term of greater than ninety (90) days and does not allow Central or the Central Subsidiaries to terminate it without penalty to Central or the Central Subsidiaries within ninety (90) days;

(xii) any Contract that provides for a “take-or-pay” clause or any similar prepayment obligation, minimum volume commitments or capacity reservation fees to a gathering, transportation or other arrangement downstream of the wellhead, or similar arrangements that otherwise guarantee or commit volumes of Hydrocarbons from Central or any Central Subsidiary’s Oil and Gas Properties, which in each case, would reasonably be expected to involve payments (including penalty or deficiency payments) in excess of $10,000,000 during the twelve (12)-month period following the date of this Agreement or aggregate penalty or deficiency payments in excess of $20,000,000 during the two (2)-year period following the date of this Agreement;

(xiii) any Labor Agreement;

42

(xiv) any Contract (other than Oil and Gas Leases) pursuant to which Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries has paid amounts associated with any Production Burden in excess of $25,000,000 during the immediately preceding fiscal year or with respect to which Central reasonably expects that it and the Central Subsidiaries will make payments associated with any Production Burden in any of the next three (3) succeeding fiscal years that could, based on current projections, exceed $25,000,000 annually or $50,000,000 in the aggregate;

(xv) any Contract which is between Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any of their respective officers, directors or principals (or any such Person’s Affiliates) or any Person that holds or owns five percent (5%) or more of the shares of Central’s capital stock (or any affiliates of any such Person) on the other hand involving aggregate annual payments in excess of $120,000, other than compensation arrangements with the directors on the Central Board in their capacity as such; or

(xvi) each Contract or Central Organizational Document that would, on or after the Closing Date, prohibit or restrict the ability of the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries to declare and pay dividends or distributions with respect to their capital stock, pay any Indebtedness for borrowed money, obligations or liabilities from time to time owed to the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries, make loans or advances or transfer any of its properties or assets.

(c) The Contracts described in the foregoing clauses (a) and (b), together with all exhibits and schedules to such Contracts, as amended through the date hereof or as hereafter amended in accordance with Section 4.2 hereof, are referred to herein as “Central Material Contracts.”

(d) Each Central Material Contract is valid and binding on Central or the Central Subsidiary party thereto, as the case may be, and, to the Knowledge of Central, each other party thereto, and is in full force and effect in accordance with its terms, except for (i) terminations or expirations at the end of the stated term or (ii) such failures to be valid and binding or to be in full force and effect as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect, in each case subject to Enforceability Exceptions.

(e) Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries is in breach of, or default under the terms of, and, to the Knowledge of Central, no other party to any Central Material Contract is in breach of, or default under the terms of, any Central Material Contract, nor is any event of default (or similar term) continuing under any Central Material Contract, and, to the Knowledge of Central, there does not exist any event, condition or omission that would constitute such a default, breach or event of default (or similar term) (whether by lapse of time or notice or both) under any Central Material Contract, in each case where such breach, default or event of default (or similar term) would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

43

Section 3.11 Tax Matters.

(a) Except as would not have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect:

(i) all Tax Returns required to be filed by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries on or prior to the date hereof have been timely filed (taking into account any valid extension of time within which to file), and all such Tax Returns were true, correct and complete in all respects;

(ii) all Tax Returns required to be filed by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries after the date hereof and prior to the Closing will be timely filed (taking into account any valid extension of time within which to file), and all such Tax Returns will be true, correct and complete in all respects;

(iii) Central and each of the Central Subsidiaries has timely paid or withheld, or will timely pay or withhold, all Taxes required to be paid or withheld by it prior to the Closing;

(iv) no deficiency for Taxes has been proposed, assessed or asserted in writing against Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries;

(v) the Central Balance Sheet reflects an adequate reserve in accordance with GAAP for all Taxes payable by Central and the Central Subsidiaries for all taxable periods (and portions thereof) through the Central Balance Sheet Date;

(vi) none of the Central Subsidiaries (A) have been a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group for any Tax purposes (other than a group of which Central was the common parent) or (B) have any material liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries) arising under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law), or as a transferee or successor by Contract (other than (x) any commercially reasonable agreements providing for the reallocation or payment of real property Taxes attributable to real property leased or occupied by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, (y) commercially reasonable agreements for the allocation or payment of personal property Taxes, sales or use Taxes or value added Taxes with respect to personal property leased, used, owned or sold by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and (z) commercially reasonable credit or other commercial agreements, the primary purposes of which do not relate to Taxes, that contain customary indemnifications for Taxes) or otherwise;

(vii) no Taxes of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries are being contested and there are no audits, claims, assessments, levies, or administrative or judicial proceedings pending or proposed in writing, against Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries in respect of Taxes;

(viii) neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency (other than pursuant to extensions of time to file Tax Returns obtained in the ordinary course of business);

44

(ix) there are no Encumbrances for Taxes on any of the assets of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries other than Permitted Encumbrances; and

(x) neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for a taxable period ending after the Closing Date of as a result of any (A) adjustment pursuant to Section 481 of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign Law) for a taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date, (B) “closing agreement” as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (C) installment sale, intercompany transaction or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date, or (D) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date.

(b) Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has been a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation,” each within the meaning of Section 355(a)(1)(A) of the Code, in a distribution intended to qualify under Section 355 of the Code (i) within the past two (2) years or (ii) as part of a “plan” or “series of related transactions” (within the meaning of Section 355(e) of the Code) in conjunction with the Merger.

(c) Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has participated in any “listed transaction” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4 (as in effect at the relevant time) (or any comparable Laws of any state, local or foreign jurisdiction).

(d) No power of attorney with respect to any material Taxes of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries has been filed or entered into with any Taxing Authority that remains in effect.

(e) At the Effective Time, neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries will be a party to, have any obligation under, or be bound by any material Tax allocation, Tax sharing, Tax indemnity or similar arrangement, understanding or agreement pursuant to which it will have any potential material liability to any Person (other than Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries) after the Effective Time (other than any (x) commercially reasonable agreements providing for the reallocation or payment of real property Taxes attributable to real property leased or occupied by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, (y) commercially reasonable agreements for the allocation or payment of personal property Taxes, sales or use Taxes or value added Taxes with respect to personal property leased, used, owned or sold by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and (z) other commercially reasonable credit or other commercial agreements, the primary purposes of which do not related to Taxes, that contain customary indemnifications for Taxes).

(f) Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries is a “U.S. shareholder” (within the meaning of Section 951(b) of the Code) of any foreign corporation which may be required to include in income any amounts under Section 951(a) of the Code.

(g) After reasonable diligence, neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries are aware of the existence of any fact, or has taken or agreed to take any action, that could reasonably be expected to prevent the Merger from qualifying as a “reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code.

45

(h) No Central Subsidiary is a non-United States corporation.

Section 3.12 Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans.

(a) Section 3.12(a) of the Central Disclosure Letter lists as of the date of this Agreement (i) all material employee pension benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA), (ii) all material employee welfare benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), (iii) all other material pension, bonus, commission, stock option, stock purchase, incentive, deferred compensation, supplemental retirement or retiree plans, programs or other retiree coverage or arrangements, fringe benefit and other benefit plans, programs, Contracts, arrangements or policies and (iv) any material employment, executive compensation, change in control or severance plans, programs, Contracts, arrangements or policies, in each case, that is sponsored or maintained by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or any other Entity (whether or not incorporated) which is treated as a single employer together with Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries within the meaning of Section 4001(b) of ERISA (each, a “Central ERISA Affiliate”) for the benefit of, or relating to, any former or current employee, officer or director of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or as to which Central or any Central ERISA Affiliate has any material liability (all such plans, programs, Contracts or policies as described in this Section 3.12(a), whether or not material, shall be collectively referred to as the “Central Benefit Plans”). Central has made available to East, true and complete copies of (i) the current plan document for each written material Central Benefit Plan, including all amendments thereto, and any related trust agreement currently in effect, (ii) the most recent annual report on Form 5500 series, with accompanying schedules and attachments (including accountants’ opinions, if applicable), filed with respect to each Central Benefit Plan required to make such a filing, (iii) the most recent actuarial valuation for each Central Benefit Plan for which such a valuation was prepared and (iv) the most recent favorable determination letter issued for each Central Benefit Plan which is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 3.12(b) of the Central Disclosure Letter: (i) none of the Central Benefit Plans promises or provides post-termination or retiree medical or life insurance benefits to any former or current employee of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries (other than continuation coverage to the extent required by Law, whether pursuant to Section 4980B of the Code or other state Law); (ii) none of the Central Benefit Plans are, or within the past six plan years have been, subject to Section 302 of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 or 430 of the Code, a “multiple employer welfare arrangement” (as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA), a “multiple employer plan” (as defined in Section 413(c) of the Code), a “multiemployer plan” (within the meaning of Section 3(37) or 4001(a)(3) of ERISA) or a cash balance pension plan or other hybrid plan that is an “applicable defined benefit plan” as defined in Section 203(f)(3) of ERISA; (iii) all of the Central Benefit Plans have been established, operated, funded and maintained in all material respects in compliance with their terms and all applicable Laws, including ERISA and the Code; (iv) each Central Benefit Plan subject to Section 409A of the Code has been maintained in substantial compliance with such provision; (v) each Central Benefit Plan which is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and each trust intended to qualify under Section 501(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter or may rely

46

on an opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service as to its qualified status under Section 401(a) of the Code and to the Knowledge of Central, nothing has occurred since the issuance of such letter that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of such plan; (vi) no liability under Title IV of ERISA has been incurred by Central, any of the Central Subsidiaries, or any Central ERISA Affiliate that has not been satisfied in full when due, and no condition exists that is reasonably expected to result in the incurrence by Central, any of the Central Subsidiaries, or any Central ERISA Affiliate of a liability under Title IV of ERISA (other than for the timely payment of Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation insurance premiums); (vii) no Central Benefit Plan that is subject to Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA has incurred a “funding deficiency” (whether or not waived) within the meaning of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA; (viii) all material contributions required to be made with respect to any Central Benefit Plan on or before the date hereof have been made; (ix) there are no pending or, to the Knowledge of Central, threatened claims by or on behalf of any of the Central Benefit Plans or otherwise relating to any Central Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for benefits); and (x) no Central Benefit Plan is maintained for the benefit of employees, directors, or other individual service providers who work primarily outside of the United States.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not (either solely as a result thereof or as a result of such transactions in conjunction with another event) (i) cause or result in an increase in the amount of compensation or benefits or timing of vesting or payment of any benefits or compensation payable in respect of any former or current employee, officer or director of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries; or (ii) cause or result in an increase in the liabilities of East, Central, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Subsidiaries to any third Person on account of matters relating to compensation or benefits in respect of any former or current employee, officer or director of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries.

(d) No Central Benefit Plan provides for payments or benefits in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to give rise to the payment of any amount that would result in a loss of tax deductions pursuant to Section 280G of the Code.

(e) Neither Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries is party to or is otherwise bound to or is in the process of negotiating any Labor Agreements. Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has any unions, employee representative bodies or other labor organizations which, to the Knowledge of Central, represent any employees of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries.

(f) There is not now in existence, nor has there been since one (1) year prior to the date of this Agreement, any pending or, to the Knowledge of Central, written threat of any: (i) strike, slowdown, stoppage, picketing or lockout against or affecting Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries; or (ii) labor-related demand for representation. There is not now in existence any pending or, to the Knowledge of Central, threatened Legal Proceeding alleging or involving any violation of any employment-related, labor-related or benefits-related Law against, in respect of or relating to Central, any of the Central Subsidiaries or any Central Benefit Plan, including claims arising under any such Law by any independent contractor or leased personnel; in each case except for such Legal Proceedings that have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

47

(g) To the Knowledge of Central, the relations between Central and the Central Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and each of their respective employees and the unions, employee representative bodies or other labor organizations representing any such employees, on the other hand, are satisfactory.

(h) To the Knowledge of Central, no current or former employee of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries at the level of Senior Vice President or above is in violation in any material respect, or has threatened a violation in any material respect, of any term or provision of any employment Contract, Labor Agreement, confidentiality or other proprietary information disclosure Contract arising out of or relating to such Person’s current or former employment or engagement by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries.

(i) To the Knowledge of Central, none of Central’s or the Central Subsidiaries’ employment, labor, benefits or other policies or practices applicable to any current or former employee, independent contractor or leased personnel of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries are currently being audited or investigated by any Governmental Entity.

(j) Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has any employees employed outside of the United States.

(k) None of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries is party to a settlement agreement with a current or former officer, employee or independent contractor of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries that involves allegations relating to sexual harassment by an officer or employee of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries at the level of Senior Vice President or above. To the Knowledge of Central, in the last five (5) years, no allegations of sexual harassment have been made against any officer or employee of Central or the Central Subsidiaries at a level of Senior Vice President or above.

(l) To the Knowledge of Central, each individual who is currently providing services to Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, or who previously provided services to Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, as an independent contractor or consultant is or was properly classified and properly treated as an independent contractor or consultant by Central or the Central Subsidiaries. Each individual who is currently providing services to Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries through a third-party service provider, or who previously provided services to Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries through a third-party service provider, is not or was not an employee of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries. None of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries has a single employer, joint employer, alter ego or similar relationship with any other company.

(m) Central and the Central Subsidiaries have not engaged in layoffs, furloughs or employment terminations, whether temporary or permanent, since January 1, 2020, through the date hereof. Central and the Central Subsidiaries have no plans to engage in any layoffs, furloughs or employment terminations, whether temporary or permanent, within the next six (6) months. Central and the Central Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, have sufficient employees to operate the Central business as currently conducted and consistent with past practice.

48

(n) Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has applied for a PPP Loan. Central and the Central Subsidiaries have complied in all material respects as applicable with the requirements of (i) the FFCRA, (ii) any applicable federal, state or local stay-at-home orders (i.e., directives that order residents to stay at home unless performing certain essential activities) and (iii) any applicable provisions of the CARES Act.

Section 3.13 Environmental Matters.

(a) Since December 31, 2015, each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries has been, and currently is in compliance with, all applicable Environmental Laws (which compliance includes, but is not limited to, the possession by Central and the Central Subsidiaries of all Permits required under applicable Environmental Laws, and compliance with the terms and conditions thereof), except for matters that have been fully resolved with the applicable Governmental Entity or where failure to be in compliance would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. Central and the Central Subsidiaries have not received any written communication from a Governmental Entity alleging that Central and the Central Subsidiaries are not in such compliance (giving effect to such qualifications), and, to the Knowledge of Central, there are no past or present activities, conditions or circumstances that would be reasonably likely to prevent or interfere with such compliance (giving effect to such qualifications) in the future to the extent such prevention or interference would be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

(b) There has been no past or present Release of any Hazardous Material which could form the basis of any Environmental Claim against Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

(c) There is no Environmental Claim pending or, to the Knowledge of Central, threatened against Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.14 Reserve Report. The factual, non-interpretive data relating to the Oil and Gas Properties of Central and the Central Subsidiaries on which (i) Central’s estimate of the proved Hydrocarbon reserves of Central and the Central Subsidiaries with respect to the Oil and Gas Properties of Central and the Central Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019, referred to in Central’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (the “Central Reserve Report”), and (ii) the report of LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Ltd. regarding its audit, as of December 31, 2019, of certain of the proved Hydrocarbon reserves of Central and the Central Subsidiaries referred to in Central’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (the “Central LPC Report”) were based was complete and accurate at the time such data was used by Central in the preparation of the Central Reserve Report and provided to LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Ltd. for use in the Central LPC Report, except for any incompleteness or inaccuracy that would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. To the Knowledge of Central, there are no material

49

errors in the assumptions and estimates used by Central and the Central Subsidiaries in connection with the preparation of the Central Reserve Report or by LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Ltd. in connection with the preparation of the Central LPC Report. The proved Hydrocarbon reserve estimates of Central and the Central Subsidiaries set forth in the Central Reserve Report fairly reflect, in all material respects, the proved Hydrocarbon reserves of Central and the Central Subsidiaries at the dates indicated therein and are in accordance with the rules promulgated by the SEC, as applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods reflected therein. Except for changes (including changes in Hydrocarbon commodity prices) generally affecting the oil and gas industry and normal depletion by production, there has been no change in respect of the matters addressed in the Central Reserve Report that would be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. The estimates of proved Hydrocarbon reserves used by Central and the Central Subsidiaries in connection with the preparation of the Central Reserve Report complied in all material respects with Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC, and the estimates of proved Hydrocarbon reserves provided to LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Ltd. in connection with the preparation of the Central LPC Report complied in all material respects with Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC.

Section 3.15 Legal Proceedings; Orders. There is no pending Legal Proceeding (other than Legal Proceedings involving Tax matters, employee and labor matters, or environmental matters, which are covered solely by Section 3.11, Section 3.12 and Section 3.13, respectively) and, within the past twelve (12) months, to the Knowledge of Central, no Person has threatened to commence any Legal Proceeding (other than Legal Proceedings involving Tax matters, employee and labor matters, or environmental matters, which are covered solely by Section 3.11, Section 3.12 and Section 3.13, respectively), against Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or any of the material assets owned or used by any of them, in each case which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect. There is no Order to which Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, or any of the material assets owned or used by any of them, is subject which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.16 Title to Properties.

(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect and except for any property (i) sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business since the date of the Central Reserve Report relating to the interests of Central and the Central Subsidiaries referred to therein or (ii) reflected in the Central Reserve Report or in the Central SEC Documents as having been sold or otherwise disposed of, as of the date hereof, Central and the Central Subsidiaries have good and defensible title to all Oil and Gas Properties forming the basis for the reserves reflected in the Central Reserve Report and in each case as attributable to interests owned by Central and the Central Subsidiaries, free and clear of any Encumbrances, except for Permitted Encumbrances. For purposes of the foregoing sentence, “good and defensible title” means that Central’s or one or more of the Central Subsidiaries’, as applicable, title (as of the date hereof and as of the Closing), beneficially or of record, to each of the Oil and Gas Properties held or owned by them (or purported to be held or owned by them) that (A) entitles Central (or one or more of the Central Subsidiaries, as applicable) to receive (after satisfaction of all Production Burdens applicable thereto), not less than the net revenue interest share reflected in the Central Reserve Report of all Hydrocarbons produced from

50

such Oil and Gas Properties throughout the life of such Oil and Gas Properties, (B) obligates Central (or one or more of the Central Subsidiaries, as applicable) to bear a percentage of the costs and expenses for the maintenance and development of, and operations relating to, such Oil and Gas Properties, of not greater than the working interest reflected in the Central Reserve Report for such Oil and Gas Properties (other than any increases that are accompanied by a proportionate (or greater) net revenue interest in such Oil and Gas Properties) and (C) is free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances).

(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect and except to the extent that enforceability thereof may be limited by Enforceability Exceptions, each material Oil and Gas Lease of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries (i) constitutes the valid and binding obligation of Central or the Central Subsidiaries and, to the Knowledge of Central, constitutes the valid and binding obligation of the other parties thereto, (ii) is in full force and effect and (iii) immediately after the Effective Time will continue to constitute a valid and binding obligation of Central or the Central Subsidiaries and, to the Knowledge of Central, each of the other parties thereto, in accordance with its terms. Each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries (to the extent it is a party thereto or bound thereby) and, to the Knowledge of Central, each other party thereto, has performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under each material Oil and Gas Lease of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries. There is not, to the Knowledge of Central, under any Oil and Gas Lease of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, any material default or event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a material default on the part of any of the parties thereto, or any notice of termination, cancellation or material modification, in each case, except such defaults, other events, notices or modifications as to which requisite waivers or consents have been obtained, and, to the Knowledge of Central, neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has received any notice of any material violation or breach of, material default under or intention to cancel, terminate, materially modify or not renew any material Oil and Gas Lease of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries.

(c) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect, and with respect to clauses (i) and (ii) below, except with respect to any of the Oil and Gas Properties of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, (i) Central and the Central Subsidiaries have good, valid and defensible title to all real property owned by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Central Owned Real Property”) and valid leasehold estates in all real property leased, subleased, licensed or otherwise occupied (whether as tenant, subtenant or pursuant to other occupancy arrangements) by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries (collectively, including the improvements thereon, the “Central Leased Real Property”, and, together with the Central Owned Real Property, the “Central Real Property”) free and clear of all Encumbrances, except Permitted Encumbrances, (ii) each Contract under which Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries is the landlord, sublandlord, tenant, subtenant or occupant with respect to Central Leased Real Property (each, a “Central Real Property Lease”), to the Knowledge of Central, is in full force and effect and is valid and enforceable against the parties thereto in accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforceability, to Enforceability Exceptions, and neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries, or to the Knowledge of Central, any other party thereto, has received written notice of any default under any Central Real Property Lease and (iii) there does not exist any pending or, to the Knowledge of Central, threatened, condemnation or eminent domain proceedings that affect any of the Oil and Gas Properties of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, Central Owned Real Property or Central Leased Real Property.

51

(d) There are no leases, subleases, licenses, rights or other agreements burdening or affecting any portion of the Central Real Property that would reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to materially adversely affect the existing use or value of such Central Real Property by Central and the Central Subsidiaries in the operation of their respective businesses thereon. Except for such arrangements solely between or among Central and the Central Subsidiaries, there are no outstanding options or rights of first refusal or first offer in favor of any other party to purchase any Central Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein that would reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the existing use of the Central Owned Real Property by Central and the Central Subsidiaries in the operation of their respective businesses thereon. Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries is currently leasing, subleasing, licensing or otherwise granting any Person the right to use or occupy all or any portion of any Central Real Property that would reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the existing use or value of such Central Real Property by Central and the Central Subsidiaries in the operation of their respective businesses thereon. The Central Real Property constitutes all of the real estate (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, Oil and Gas Properties) used in and necessary for the operation of the respective businesses of Central and the Central Subsidiaries.

(e) Except (i) for amounts being held in suspense (by Central, any of the Central Subsidiaries, any third-party operator thereof or any other Person) in accordance with applicable Law, as reported in the Central SEC Documents or as a result of the ongoing preparation and approval of division order title opinions for recently drilled Wells or (ii) as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect, all proceeds from the sale of Hydrocarbons produced from the Oil and Gas Properties of Central and the Central Subsidiaries are being received by such selling Persons in a timely manner. Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries is obligated by virtue of a take-or-pay payment, advance payment, or similar payment (other than royalties, overriding royalties and similar arrangements established in the Oil and Gas Leases of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries) to deliver Hydrocarbons or proceeds from the sale thereof, attributable to such Person’s interest in its Oil and Gas Properties at some future time without receiving payment therefor at the time of delivery, except, in each case, as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

(f) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect and to the Knowledge of Central, all Hydrocarbon Wells and all water, CO2 or injection Wells located on the Oil and Gas Leases of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries have been drilled, completed and operated, as applicable, within the limits permitted by the applicable Contracts and applicable Law and all drilling and completion (and plugging and abandonment, including plugging and abandonment of permanently plugged wells located on the Oil and Gas Leases of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries) of the Hydrocarbon Wells and such other Wells and all related development, production and other operations have been conducted in compliance with all applicable Law.

52

(g) No Oil and Gas Properties of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries is subject to any preferential purchase, consent, tag-along or similar right or obligation that would become operative or be required by Central or any of its Affiliates as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect.

(h) As of the date of this Agreement, and except as provided for in the Central Budget, there is no outstanding authorization for expenditure or similar request or invoice for funding or participation under any Contracts which are binding on Central, the Central Subsidiaries or any of their respective Oil and Gas Properties and which Central reasonably anticipates will individually require expenditures by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries in excess of $25,000,000 (net to the interest of Central and the Central Subsidiaries).

(i) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Central Material Adverse Effect, to the Knowledge of Central, there are no Wells that constitute a part of the Oil and Gas Properties of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries in respect of which Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries has received a notice, claim, demand or Order notifying, claiming, demanding or requiring that such Wells be temporarily or permanently plugged and abandoned.

Section 3.17 Intellectual Property; IT and Privacy.

(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect: (i) each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries owns or has a valid right to use, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances), all Intellectual Property used or held for use in, or necessary to conduct, the business of Central and the Central Subsidiaries as currently conducted; (ii) to Central’s Knowledge, the conduct of the business of Central and the Central Subsidiaries, since December 31, 2017, has not infringed upon, misappropriated or otherwise violated, and is not infringing upon, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Intellectual Property of any other Person; and (iii) each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries takes and has taken actions to protect the proprietary rights in trade secrets included in its Intellectual Property and the trade secrets of other Persons possessed by Central and the Central Subsidiaries, and, since December 31, 2017, there has been no unauthorized loss of trade secret rights in any such trade secrets due to acts or omissions by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries.

(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect, since December 31, 2017: (i) there has been no failure in, or disruptions of, its Software or IT assets (including, for clarity, with respect to any third-party providers of such Software and IT assets) that has not been remedied; (ii) each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries has been and is in compliance with its privacy policies and contractual obligations regarding data privacy and security; (iii) each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries has adopted and maintains commercially reasonable measures designed to protect its IT assets, personal information and material business information against reasonably anticipated threats, hazards and the unauthorized access, use or disclosure thereof; (iv) to the Knowledge of Central, no Person has committed an unauthorized access, use or exfiltration, including any such access, use or exfiltration that requires disclosure to a Governmental Entity under applicable Law, with respect to any IT asset of or used for Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, or personal

53

information or material business information possessed or controlled by or on behalf of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries; and (v) since December 31, 2017, neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has provided breach notices required by applicable data privacy and security Laws to, nor received written notice of any claims by, any Governmental Entity, in the case of such notices alleging noncompliance with, or a violation by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries of, any Laws directed to data privacy and security.

Section 3.18 Affiliate Transactions. Except for (i) Contracts filed or incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Central SEC Documents and (ii) the Central Benefit Plans, Section 3.18 of the Central Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of the Contracts or understandings that are in existence as of the date of this Agreement between, on the one hand, Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries and, on the other hand, any (x) present executive officer or director of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or any Person that has served as an executive officer or director Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries within the last three (3) years or any of such officer’s or director’s immediate family members, (y) record or beneficial owner of more than five percent (5%) of the Central Common Stock as of the date of this Agreement or (z) to the Knowledge of Central, any Affiliate of any such officer, director or owner (other than Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries).

Section 3.19 Insurance. Section 3.19 of the Central Disclosure Letter sets forth (i) a list of the material insurance policies (including directors and officers liability insurance) covering Central and the Central Subsidiaries as of the date hereof and (ii) pending claims under such policies as of the date of this Agreement. Except for failures to maintain insurance that have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect, from December 31, 2017 through the date of this Agreement, each of Central and the Central Subsidiaries has been continuously insured with recognized insurers or has self-insured, in each case in such amounts and with respect to such risks and losses as are customary for the nature of the property so insured and for companies in the United States conducting the business conducted by Central and the Central Subsidiaries during such time period. Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has received any notice of cancellation or termination with respect to any material insurance policy of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries.

Section 3.20 Information to be Supplied. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by or on behalf of Central for inclusion or incorporation by reference in (a) the Registration Statement will, at the time the Registration Statement is filed with the SEC or becomes effective under the Securities Act or (b) the Joint Proxy Statement will, at the time the Joint Proxy Statement is mailed to the Central Stockholders, or at the time of the Central Stockholders’ Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact, or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein, necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading or necessary to correct any statement of a material fact in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of proxies for the Central Stockholders’ Meeting which has become false or misleading. The Joint Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Central makes no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by or to be supplied by East that is included or incorporated by reference in the foregoing documents.

54

Section 3.21 Regulatory Proceedings.

(a) Central is not a “holding company,” a “subsidiary company” of a “holding company,” an affiliate of a “holding company,” a “public utility” or a “public-utility company,” as each such term is defined in the U.S. Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005.

(b) Except for certain facilities that are subject to Section 3.21(c), all properties and related facilities constituting Central’s and the Central Subsidiaries’ properties (including any facilities under development) are (i) exempt from regulation by the U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission under applicable Law and (ii) not subject to rate regulation or comprehensive nondiscriminatory access regulation under the Laws of any state or other local jurisdiction.

(c) Except for certain facilities, as described on Section 3.21(c) of the Central Disclosure Letter, used in the transport of Hydrocarbons which are subject to the Interstate Commerce Act and are subject to the jurisdiction of the U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, and which are in substantial compliance with the applicable Laws, rules and regulations issued by any Governmental Entity, neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries owns, controls, or has under development any (i) refining capacity or (ii) oil or gas transportation infrastructure (other than gathering facilities).

(d) Central is not an “investment company” within the meaning of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940.

Section 3.22 Takeover Statutes. The approval by the Central Board referred to in Section 3.2(b) constitutes the approval of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger, and the Support Agreement, and the transactions contemplated thereby, for purposes of the DGCL and represents the only action necessary to ensure that any “business combination” (as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL) or other applicable provision of the DGCL does not and will not apply to the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby or the Support Agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby. To the Knowledge of Central, no other Takeover Laws or any anti-takeover provision in the Central Organizational Documents are, or at the Effective Time will be, applicable to Central, the Merger, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

Section 3.23 Financial Advisor. Except for J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (the fees and expenses of which will be paid by Central and are reflected in its engagement letter with Central), neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has employed any financial advisor, investment bank, broker or finder who is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Central has furnished to East an accurate and complete copy of Central’s engagement letter with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC relating to the Merger.

Section 3.24 Opinion of Financial Advisor. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Central’s financial advisor, has delivered to the Central Board on or prior to the date of this Agreement its opinion in writing or orally, in which case such opinion will be subsequently confirmed in writing,

55

to the effect that, as of the date thereof and based upon and subject to the factors and assumptions set forth therein, the Exchange Ratio is fair, from a financial point of view, to Central as of the date of this Agreement.

Section 3.25 [Reserved]

Section 3.26 Regulatory Matters.

(a) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to have a Central Material Adverse Effect, since December 31, 2018, (i) none of Central, any of the Central Subsidiaries, nor, to the Knowledge of Central, any Central or Central Subsidiary director, officer, employee, representative, agent or any other Person acting on behalf of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, has violated any applicable Anti-Corruption Law, Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws or Money-Laundering Laws; or (ii) none of Central, any of the Central Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of Central, any Central or Central Subsidiary director, officer, employee, representative, agent or any other Person acting on behalf of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, has offered, paid, given, promised or authorized the payment of, anything of value (including money, checks, wire transfers, tangible and intangible gifts, favors, services or entertainment and travel) directly or indirectly to any Government Official (A) for the purpose of (1) influencing any act or decision of a Government Official or any other Person in his or her official capacity, (2) inducing a Government Official or any other Person to do or omit to do any act in violation of his or her lawful duties, (3) securing any improper advantage, (4) inducing a Government Official or any other Person to influence or affect any act or decision of any Governmental Entity or (5) assisting Central, any of the Central Subsidiaries, or any Central or Central Subsidiary director, officer employee, agent, representative or any other Person acting on behalf of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries in obtaining or retaining business or (B) in a manner which would constitute or have the purpose or effect of public or commercial bribery or corruption, acceptance of, or acquiescence in extortion, kickbacks, or other unlawful or improper means of obtaining or retaining business or any improper advantage.

(b) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to have an East Material Adverse Effect, since December 31, 2018, Central and the Central Subsidiaries have implemented and have at all times maintained internal controls, policies and procedures reasonably designed to detect, prevent and deter violations of Anti-Corruption Laws, Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws and Money-Laundering Laws.

Section 3.27 No Additional Representations. Except for those representations and warranties expressly set forth in this Article III and except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries or other Person acting on behalf of Central makes any representation or warranty of any kind or nature, express or implied, in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries has made or makes any representation or warranty with respect to any projections, estimates or budgets made available to the public, East or its Affiliates of future revenues, future production, future results of operations (or any component thereof), future cash flows or future financial condition (or any component thereof) of Central and the Central Subsidiaries or the future business and operations of Central and the Central Subsidiaries.

56

ARTICLE IV

COVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

Section 4.1 Covenants of East.

(a) Except (i) as provided in Section 4.1(a) of the East Disclosure Letter, (ii) as required by applicable Law, (iii) as expressly permitted by this Agreement, (iv) with the prior written consent of Central (which consent shall not be unreasonably delayed, withheld or conditioned), or (v) as expressly provided for in East’s capital budget (the “East Budget”), a correct and complete copy of which has been made available to Central, from the date hereof until the earlier of the Effective Time or the date this Agreement shall be terminated in accordance with Article VII (the “Pre-Closing Period”), East (which for purposes of this Section 4.1 shall include the East Subsidiaries) shall, (A) conduct the business and operations of East and the East Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in all material respects in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and (B) use commercially reasonable efforts to (v) preserve intact the current business organizations of East and the East Subsidiaries, (w) maintain in effect all existing material East Permits, (x) maintain their assets and properties in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, (y) maintain insurance on their tangible assets and businesses in such amounts and against such risks and losses as are currently in effect and (z) maintain their existing relations and goodwill with Governmental Entities, key employees, lessors, suppliers, customers, regulators, distributors, landlords, creditors, licensors, licensees and other Persons having business relationships with them; provided that this Section 4.1(a) shall not prohibit East and any of the East Subsidiaries from taking commercially reasonable actions outside of the ordinary course or not consistent with past practice in response to (I) changes or developments resulting from (1) material changes in commodity prices or (2) the COVID-19 pandemic; provided, further, however, that prior to taking any such action outside of the ordinary course or that is not consistent with past practice, East shall consult with Central and consider in good faith the views of Central regarding any such proposed action, unless clause (II) of this proviso also applies, in which case no such prior consultation shall be required, or (II) an emergency condition that presents, or is reasonably likely to present, a significant risk of imminent harm to human health, any material property or asset or the environment; provided, further, however, that East shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable, inform Central of such condition and any such actions taken pursuant to this clause (II).

(b) Except as (x) contemplated by this Agreement, the East Budget or as set forth on Section 4.1(b) of the East Disclosure Letter or (y) required by Law, during the Pre-Closing Period, East shall not and shall not permit any of the East Subsidiaries, without the prior written consent of Central (which consent shall not be unreasonably delayed, withheld or conditioned, and which for purposes solely of this Section 4.2(b) may consist of an email consent from an executive officer of Central) to:

(i) (A) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distribution in respect of any outstanding capital stock of, or other equity interests in, or other securities or obligations convertible (whether currently convertible or convertible only after the passage of time or the occurrence of specific events) into or exchangeable for any shares of capital stock of, East or any of the East Subsidiaries, except for dividends

57

or distributions by a wholly-owned Subsidiary of East to East or another wholly-owned Subsidiary of East; (B) split, combine or reclassify any capital stock of, or other equity interests in, East or any of the East Subsidiaries; or (C) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, or offer to purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, any capital stock of, or other equity interests in, East or any of the East Subsidiaries, except as required by the terms of any capital stock or equity interest of any East Subsidiary or as contemplated or permitted by the terms of any East Benefit Plan in effect as of the date hereof (including any award agreement applicable to any East Stock Option or East RSU outstanding on the date hereof or issued in accordance with this Agreement);

(ii) except for (A) issuances of shares of East Common Stock in respect of any exercise of East Stock Options and settlement of any East RSUs outstanding on the date hereof, (B) the sale of shares of East Common Stock issued pursuant to the exercise of options to purchase East Common Stock or vesting of East RSUs, in each case, if necessary to effectuate exercise or the withholding of Taxes and (C) transactions solely between or among East and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries, issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber, or authorize the issuance, sale, pledge, disposition or encumbrance of, (x) any shares of its capital stock or other ownership interest in East or any of the East Subsidiaries, (y) any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any such shares or ownership interest and (z) any rights, warrants or options to acquire or with respect to any such shares of capital stock, ownership interest or convertible or exchangeable securities;

(iii) except as required by the terms of any East Benefit Plan, (A) enter into, adopt or terminate any material East Benefit Plan, other than entering into employment agreements in the ordinary course of business that can be terminated within thirty (30) days without penalty or payment of severance, (B) amend any East Benefit Plan, other than amendments in the ordinary course of business (including, for the avoidance of doubt, annual renewals of welfare benefit plans) that do not materially increase the cost to East of maintaining such East Benefit Plan, (C) increase the compensation payable to any current or former employee or director, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice in respect of employees whose annual base salary is less than $250,000 or with a title below Vice President, (D) grant or award, or pay or award, any severance or termination pay, bonuses, retention or incentive compensation, to any current or former employee or director, (E) hire or terminate the employment of any employee with an annual base salary greater than or equal to $250,000 or with a title equal to Vice President or above, other than terminations for cause, (F) recall any laid off or furloughed employees to the workplace, or return any employees to the workplace, other than in compliance with applicable Laws, (G) implement any layoffs, furloughs or reductions in hours with respect to any officers or employees of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, (H) modify, extend or enter into any Labor Agreements or (I) recognize or certify any unions, employee representative bodies or other labor organizations as the bargaining representative for any employees of East or any of the East Subsidiaries;

(iv) waive the restrictive covenant obligations of any employee of East or any of the East Subsidiaries;

58

(v) (A) in the case of East, amend or permit the adoption of any amendment to the East Organizational Documents or (B) in the case of any of the East Subsidiaries, except for amendments that would not materially restrict the operation of their businesses, amend or permit the adoption of any amendment to the East Organizational Documents;

(vi) (A) merge, consolidate, combine or amalgamate with any Person or announce, authorize, propose or recommend any such merger, consolidation, combination or amalgamation (other than the Merger) or (B) acquire or agree to acquire (including by merging or consolidating with, purchasing any equity interest in or a substantial portion of the assets of, exchanging, licensing or by any other manner), any properties, assets, business or any corporation, partnership, association or other business organization or division thereof, in each case other than (1) any such action solely between or among East and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or between or among wholly-owned Subsidiaries of East, (2) acquisitions of inventory or other assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or pursuant to existing Contracts which are listed in Section 4.1(b)(vi) or 2.11(b)(iv) of the East Disclosure Letter or (3) acquisitions where no Indebtedness is assumed and for which the consideration is equal to or less than $25,000,000 (for any single transaction) or $50,000,000 in the aggregate for all such transactions;

(vii) consummate, authorize, recommend, propose or announce any intention to adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation or dissolution of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, or a restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization of East or any of the East Subsidiaries of a similar nature;

(viii) authorize, make or commit to make capital expenditures that are in the aggregate greater than one hundred and five percent (105%) of the aggregate amount of capital expenditures set forth in the East Budget, except to the extent such operations are specifically further described in Section 4.1(b)(viii) of the East Disclosure Letter, except, in each case, for capital expenditures to repair damage resulting from insured casualty events or capital expenditures required on an emergency basis or for the safety of individuals, assets or the environment;

(ix) sell, lease, exchange or otherwise dispose of, or agree to sell, lease, exchange or otherwise dispose of, any of its assets or properties, other than (A) pursuant to a Contract of East or any of the East Subsidiaries in effect on the date of this Agreement and listed in Section 4.1(b)(ix) of the East Disclosure Letter, (B) among East and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or among wholly-owned Subsidiaries of East, (C) sales, leases, exchanges or dispositions for which the consideration (or fair value if the consideration is non-cash) of less than $25,000,000 (for any individual transaction) or $50,000,000 (in the aggregate for all such transactions), (D) sales of Hydrocarbons made in the ordinary course of business, (E) sales of obsolete or worthless equipment or (F) the expiration of any Oil and Gas Lease in accordance with its terms and in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

59

(x) fail to maintain material Intellectual Property owned by East or any of the East Subsidiaries, or maintain rights in material Intellectual Property, in the ordinary course of business, provided that the foregoing shall not require East or any of the East Subsidiaries to take any action to alter the terms of any license or other Contract with respect to Intellectual Property;

(xi) (A) incur, create or suffer to exist any Encumbrance other than (1) Encumbrances in existence on the date hereof or (2) Permitted Encumbrances, or (B) incur, create, assume (including pursuant to an acquisition permitted by Section 4.1(b)(vi)) or guarantee any Indebtedness, other than (1) incurrences in the ordinary course of business under the East Credit Agreement in an aggregate amount under this clause (xi)(B)(1) that would not cause outstanding borrowings of East under the East Credit Agreement to exceed $100,000,000, (2) transactions solely between or among East and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or solely between or among wholly-owned Subsidiaries of East, and in each case guarantees thereof, (3) debt incurred in connection with hedging activities (including pursuant to any Derivative Product) in the ordinary course consistent with past practices and consistent with the parameters set forth on Schedule 4.1(b)(xi) of the East Disclosure Letter, or (4) debt incurred under the East Credit Agreement to fund the purchase price of any acquisition permitted under Section 4.1(b)(vi), provided that in the case of each of foregoing clauses (1) through (4), such Indebtedness does not (x) impose or result in any additional restrictions or limitations in any material respect on East or any of the East Subsidiaries or (y) subject East or any of the East Subsidiaries, or, following the Closing, Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, to any additional covenants or obligations in any material respect (other than the obligation to make payments on such Indebtedness);

(xii) other than the settlement of any Legal Proceedings reflected or reserved against on the East Balance Sheet or the Felix Balance Sheet (or, in each case, in the notes thereto) for an amount not in excess of such reserve, settle or offer or propose to settle, any Legal Proceeding (excluding (A) any audit, claim or Legal Proceeding in respect of Taxes, which shall be governed exclusively by Section 4.1(b)(xv) and (B) any shareholder litigation against East, Central or their respective directors or officers relating to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which shall be governed exclusively by Section 5.16) involving solely the payment of monetary damages by East or any of the East Subsidiaries of any amount exceeding $25,000,000 in the aggregate (but excluding any amounts paid on behalf of East or any of the East Subsidiaries by any applicable insurance policy maintained by East or any of the East Subsidiaries); provided, however, that neither East nor any of the East Subsidiaries shall settle or compromise any Legal Proceeding if such settlement or compromise (1) involves a material conduct remedy or material injunctive or similar relief, (2) involves an admission of criminal wrongdoing by East or any of the East Subsidiaries or (3) has a materially restrictive impact on the business of East or any of the East Subsidiaries;

(xiii) change in any material respect any of its financial accounting principles, practices or methods that would materially affect the consolidated assets, liabilities or results of operations of East and the East Subsidiaries, except as required by GAAP or applicable Law;

60

(xiv) (A) enter into any lease for real property (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Oil and Gas Leases) that would be a material East Real Property Lease if entered into prior to the date hereof or (B) terminate, amend, assign, transfer, modify, supplement, deliver a notice of termination under, fail to renew or waive or accelerate any rights or defer any liabilities under any material East Real Property Lease;

(xv) (A) make (other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice), change or rescind any material election relating to Taxes (including any such election for any joint venture, partnership, limited liability company or other investment where East has the authority to make such binding election), (B) amend any Tax Return that is reasonably likely to result in a material increase to a Tax liability (other than any amendment to claim a benefit provided by the CARES Act), (C) settle or compromise any Tax claim or assessment by any Taxing Authority, or surrender any right to claim a refund, offset or other reduction in Tax liability, except where the amount of any such settlements or compromises or foregone refunds does not exceed $25,000,000 in the aggregate, (D) change any material method of Tax accounting from those employed in the preparation of its Tax Returns that have been filed for prior taxable years or (E) fail to timely pay any material Tax or file any material Tax Return when due (taking into account any valid extension of time within which to pay or file);

(xvi) except as expressly permitted in this Section 4.1 and other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (A) enter into or assume any Contract that would have been an East Material Contract (excluding any East Benefit Plan) had it been entered into prior to the date of this Agreement or (B) terminate, materially amend, assign, transfer, materially modify, materially supplement, deliver a notice of termination under or waive or accelerate any material rights or defer any material liabilities under any East Material Contract (excluding any East Benefit Plan) or any Contract (excluding any East Benefit Plan) that would have been an East Material Contract had it been entered into prior to the date of this Agreement, excluding any termination upon expiration of a term in accordance with the terms of such East Material Contract;

(xvii) fail to maintain in full force and effect in all material respects, or fail to replace or renew, the material insurance policies of East and the East Subsidiaries to the extent commercially reasonable in East’s business judgment in light of prevailing conditions in the insurance market;

(xviii) take any action, cause any action to be taken, knowingly fail to take any action or knowingly fail to cause any action to be taken, which action or failure to act would prevent or impede, or could reasonably be expected to prevent or impede, the Merger from qualifying as a “reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code; or

(xix) agree to take any action that is prohibited by this Section 4.1(b).

61

Section 4.2 Covenants of Central.

(a) Except (i) as provided in Section 4.2(a) of the Central Disclosure Letter, (ii) as required by applicable Law, (iii) as expressly permitted by this Agreement, (iv) with the prior written consent of East (which consent shall not be unreasonably delayed, withheld or conditioned), or (v) as expressly provided for in Central’s capital budget (the “Central Budget”), a correct and complete copy of which has been made available to Central, from the date hereof until the earlier of the Effective Time or the Pre-Closing Period, Central (which for purposes of this Section 4.2(a) shall include the Central Subsidiaries) shall, (A) conduct the business and operations of Central and the Central Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in all material respects in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and (B) use commercially reasonable efforts to (v) preserve intact the current business organizations of Central and the Central Subsidiaries, (w) maintain in effect all existing material Central Permits, (x) maintain their assets and properties in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, (y) maintain insurance on their tangible assets and businesses in such amounts and against such risks and losses as are currently in effect and (z) maintain their existing relations and goodwill with Governmental Entities, key employees, lessors, suppliers, customers, regulators, distributors, landlords, creditors, licensors, licensees and other Persons having business relationships with them; provided that this Section 4.2(a) shall not prohibit Central and any of the Central Subsidiaries from taking commercially reasonable actions outside of the ordinary course or not consistent with past practice in response to (I) changes or developments resulting from (1) material changes in commodity prices or (2) the COVID-19 pandemic; provided, further, however, that prior to taking any such action outside of the ordinary course or that is not consistent with past practice, Central shall consult with East and consider in good faith the views of East regarding any such proposed action, unless clause (II) of this proviso also applies, in which case no such prior consultation shall be required, or (II) an emergency condition that presents, or is reasonably likely to present, a significant risk of imminent harm to human health, any material property or asset or the environment; provided, further, however, that Central shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable, inform East of such condition and any such actions taken pursuant to this clause (II).

(b) Except as (x) contemplated by this Agreement, the Central Budget or as set forth on Section 4.2(b) of the Central Disclosure Letter or (y) required by Law, during the Pre-Closing Period, Central shall not and shall not permit any of the Central Subsidiaries, without the prior written consent of East (which consent shall not be unreasonably delayed, withheld or conditioned, and which for purposes solely of this Section 4.2(b) may consist of an email consent from an executive officer of East) to:

(i) (A) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distribution in respect of any outstanding capital stock of, or other equity interests in, or other securities or obligations convertible (whether currently convertible or convertible only after the passage of time or the occurrence of specific events) into or exchangeable for any shares of capital stock of, Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, except for (1) regular quarterly cash dividends payable by Central in respect of shares of Central Common Stock not exceeding $0.11 per share of Central Common Stock and in accordance with Central’s current dividend policy and (2) dividends or distributions by a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Central to Central or another wholly-owned Subsidiary of Central; (B) split, combine or reclassify any capital stock of, or other equity interests in, Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries; or (C) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, or offer to purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, any capital stock of, or other equity interests in,

62

Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, except as required by the terms of any capital stock or equity interest of any Central Subsidiary or as contemplated or permitted by the terms of any Central Benefit Plan in effect as of the date hereof (including any award agreement applicable to any equity award of Central outstanding on the date hereof or issued in accordance with this Agreement);

(ii) except for (A) issuances of shares of Central Common Stock in respect of any settlement of any Central RSUs outstanding on the date hereof, (B) the sale of shares of Central Common Stock issued pursuant to the exercise of options to purchase Central Common Stock or vesting of Central RSUs, in each case, if necessary to effectuate exercise or the withholding of Taxes and (C) transactions solely between or among Central and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries, issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber, or authorize the issuance, sale, pledge, disposition or encumbrance of, (x) any shares of its capital stock or other ownership interest in Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, (y) any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any such shares or ownership interest and (z) any rights, warrants or options to acquire or with respect to any such shares of capital stock, ownership interest or convertible or exchangeable securities;

(iii) except as required by the terms of any Central Benefit Plan, (A) enter into, adopt or terminate any material Central Benefit Plan, other than entering into employment agreements in the ordinary course of business that can be terminated within thirty (30) days without penalty or payment of severance, (B) amend any Central Benefit Plan, other than amendments in the ordinary course of business (including, for the avoidance of doubt, annual renewals of welfare benefit plans) that do not materially increase the cost to Central of maintaining such Central Benefit Plan, (C) increase the compensation payable to any current or former employee or director, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice in respect of employees whose annual base salary is less than $250,000 or with a title below Vice President, (D) grant or award, or pay or award, any severance or termination pay, bonuses, retention or incentive compensation, to any current or former employee or director, (E) hire or terminate the employment of any employee with an annual base salary greater than or equal to $250,000 or with a title equal to Vice President or above, other than terminations for cause, (F) recall any laid off or furloughed employees to the workplace, or return any employees to the workplace, other than in compliance with applicable Laws, (G) implement any layoffs, furloughs or reductions in hours with respect to any officers or employees of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, (H) modify, extend or enter into any Labor Agreements or (I) recognize or certify any unions, employee representative bodies or other labor organizations as the bargaining representative for any employees of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries;

(iv) waive the restrictive covenant obligations of any employee of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries;

(v) (A) in the case of Central, amend or permit the adoption of any amendment to the Central Organizational Documents or (B) in the case of any of the Central Subsidiaries, except for amendments that would not materially restrict the operation of their businesses, amend or permit the adoption of any amendment to the Central Organizational Documents;

63

(vi) (A) merge, consolidate, combine or amalgamate with any Person or announce, authorize, propose or recommend any such merger, consolidation, combination or amalgamation (other than the Merger) or (B) acquire or agree to acquire (including by merging or consolidating with, purchasing any equity interest in or a substantial portion of the assets of, exchanging, licensing or by any other manner), any properties, assets, business or any corporation, partnership, association or other business organization or division thereof, in each case other than (1) any such action solely between or among Central and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or between or among wholly-owned Subsidiaries of Central, (2) acquisitions of inventory or other assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or pursuant to existing Contracts which are listed in Section 4.2(b)(vi) or 3.10(b)(iv) of the Central Disclosure Letter or (3) acquisitions where no Indebtedness is assumed and for which the consideration is equal to or less than $25,000,000 (for any single transaction) or $50,000,000 in the aggregate for all such transactions;

(vii) consummate, authorize, recommend, propose or announce any intention to adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation or dissolution of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, or a restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries of a similar nature;

(viii) (viii) authorize, make or commit to make capital expenditures that are in the aggregate greater than one hundred and five percent (105%) of the aggregate amount of capital expenditures set forth in the Central Budget, except to the extent such operations are specifically further described in Section 4.2(b)(viii) of the Central Disclosure Letter, except, in each case, for capital expenditures to repair damage resulting from insured casualty events or capital expenditures required on an emergency basis or for the safety of individuals, assets or the environment;

(ix) sell, lease, exchange or otherwise dispose of, or agree to sell, lease, exchange or otherwise dispose of, any of its assets or properties, other than (A) pursuant to a Contract of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries in effect on the date of this Agreement and listed in Section 4.2(b)(ix) of the Central Disclosure Letter, (B) among Central and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or among wholly-owned Subsidiaries of Central, (C) sales, leases, exchanges or dispositions for which the consideration (or fair value if the consideration is non-cash) of less than $25,000,000 (for any individual transaction) or $50,000,000 (in the aggregate for all such transactions), (D) sales of Hydrocarbons made in the ordinary course of business, (E) sales of obsolete or worthless equipment or (F) the expiration of any Oil and Gas Lease in accordance with its terms and in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(x) fail to maintain material Intellectual Property owned by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, or maintain rights in material Intellectual Property, in the ordinary course of business; provided that the foregoing shall not require Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries to take any action to alter the terms of any license or other Contract with respect to Intellectual Property;

64

(xi) (A) incur, create or suffer to exist any Encumbrance other than (1) Encumbrances in existence on the date hereof or (2) Permitted Encumbrances, or (B) incur, create, assume (including pursuant to an acquisition permitted by Section 4.2(b)(vi)) or guarantee any Indebtedness, other than (1) incurrences in the ordinary course of business under the Central Credit Agreement in an aggregate amount under this clause (x)(B)(1) that would not cause outstanding borrowings of Central under the Central Credit Agreement to exceed $100,000,000, (2) transactions solely between or among Central and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or solely between or among wholly-owned Subsidiaries of Central, and in each case guarantees thereof, (3) debt incurred in connection with hedging activities (including pursuant to any Derivative Product) in the ordinary course consistent with past practices and consistent with the parameters set forth in Section 4.2(b)(xi) of the Central Disclosure Letter, or (4) debt incurred under the Central Credit Agreement to fund the purchase price of any acquisition permitted under Section 4.2(b)(vi), provided that in the case of each of foregoing clauses (1) through (4), such Indebtedness does not (x) impose or result in any additional restrictions or limitations in any material respect on Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or (y) subject Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries to any additional covenants or obligations in any material respect (other than the obligation to make payments on such Indebtedness);

(xii) other than the settlement of any Legal Proceedings reflected or reserved against on the Central Balance Sheet (or in the notes thereto) for an amount not in excess of such reserve, settle or offer or propose to settle, any Legal Proceeding (excluding (A) any audit, claim or Legal Proceeding in respect of Taxes, which shall be governed exclusively by Section 4.2(b)(xv) and (B) any shareholder litigation against East, Central or their respective directors or officers relating to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which shall be governed exclusively by Section 5.16) involving solely the payment of monetary damages by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries of any amount exceeding $25,000,000 in the aggregate (but excluding any amounts paid on behalf of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries by any applicable insurance policy maintained by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries); provided, however, that neither Central nor any of the Central Subsidiaries shall settle or compromise any Legal Proceeding if such settlement or compromise (1) involves a material conduct remedy or material injunctive or similar relief, (2) involves an admission of criminal wrongdoing by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or (3) has a materially restrictive impact on the business of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries;

(xiii) change in any material respect any of its financial accounting principles, practices or methods that would materially affect the consolidated assets, liabilities or results of operations of Central and the Central Subsidiaries, except as required by GAAP or applicable Law;

(xiv) (A) enter into any lease for real property (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Oil and Gas Leases) that would be a material Central Real Property Lease if entered into prior to the date hereof or (B) terminate, amend, assign, transfer,

65

modify, supplement, deliver a notice of termination under, fail to renew or waive or accelerate any rights or defer any liabilities under any material Central Real Property Lease;

(xv) (A) make (other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice), change or rescind any material election relating to Taxes (including any such election for any joint venture, partnership, limited liability company or other investment where Central has the authority to make such binding election), (B) amend any Tax Return that is reasonably likely to result in a material increase to a Tax liability (other than any amendment to claim a benefit provided by the CARES Act), (C) settle or compromise any Tax claim or assessment by any Taxing Authority, or surrender any right to claim a refund, offset or other reduction in Tax liability, except where the amount of any such settlements or compromises or foregone refunds does not exceed $25,000,000 in the aggregate, (D) change any material method of Tax accounting from those employed in the preparation of its Tax Returns that have been filed for prior taxable years or (E) fail to timely pay any material Tax or file any material Tax Return when due (taking into account any valid extension of time within which to pay or file);

(xvi) except as expressly permitted in this Section 4.2 and other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (A) enter into or assume any Contract that would have been a Central Material Contract (excluding any Central Benefit Plan) had it been entered into prior to the date of this Agreement or (B) terminate, materially amend, assign, transfer, materially modify, materially supplement, deliver a notice of termination under, or waive or accelerate any material rights or defer any material liabilities under Central Material Contract (excluding any Central Benefit Plan) or any Contract (excluding any Central Benefit Plan) that would have been a Central Material Contract had it been entered into prior to the date of this Agreement, excluding any termination upon expiration of a term in accordance with the terms of such Central Material Contract;

(xvii) fail to maintain in full force and effect in all material respects, or fail to replace or renew, the material insurance policies of Central and the Central Subsidiaries to the extent commercially reasonable in Central’s business judgment in light of prevailing conditions in the insurance market;

(xviii) take any action, cause any action to be taken, knowingly fail to take any action or knowingly fail to cause any action to be taken, which action or failure to act would prevent or impede, or could reasonably be expected to prevent or impede, the Merger from qualifying as a “reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code; or

(xix) agree to take any action that is prohibited by this Section 4.2(b).

66

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES

Section 5.1 Investigation.

(a) Each of East and Central shall afford to the other party and to the directors, officers, employees, accountants, consultants, legal counsel, financial advisors and agents and other representatives (collectively, “Representatives”) of such other party reasonable access during normal business hours, throughout the period prior to the earlier of the Effective Time and the Termination Date, to its and its Subsidiaries’ personnel and properties (to the extent and only to the extent East or Central, as applicable, or its respective Subsidiaries has to right to permit access to such properties), Contracts, commitments, books and records and any report, schedule or other documents filed or received by it pursuant to the requirements of applicable Laws and with such additional financing, operating and other data and information regarding East and the East Subsidiaries, as Central may reasonably request in connection with activities related to the completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (collectively, the “Activities”), or regarding Central and the Central Subsidiaries, as East may reasonably request in connection with the Activities, as the case may be, provided, however, that in no event shall access be provided to conduct any invasive sampling, monitoring or other investigations, including any Phase II assessments or investigations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither East nor Central nor their respective Subsidiaries shall be required to afford such access if it would unreasonably disrupt the operations of such party or any of its Subsidiaries, would cause a violation of any applicable Law, Contract or obligation of confidentiality to which such party or any of its Subsidiaries is a party (provided that Central or East, as the case may be, has used its reasonable best efforts to find an alternative way to provide the access or information contemplated by this Section 5.1), cause a risk of a loss of privilege to such party or any of its Subsidiaries or would constitute a violation of any applicable Law.

(b) The parties hereto hereby agree that all information provided to them or their respective Representatives in connection with this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby shall be deemed to be subject to the terms of that certain Confidentiality Agreement, effective as of July 30, 2020, between East and Central (the “Confidentiality Agreement”).

Section 5.2 Registration Statement and Proxy Statement for Stockholder Approval.

(a) As soon as practicable following the execution of this Agreement, Central and East shall jointly prepare and each shall file with the SEC a joint proxy statement in preliminary form, which shall contain each of the Central Recommendation and the East Recommendation (unless, in either case, a Central Adverse Recommendation Change or an East Adverse Recommendation Change, as applicable, occurs) and comply with applicable Laws (the “Joint Proxy Statement”), and Central shall prepare and file with the SEC (a) a Registration Statement on Form S-4, in which the Joint Proxy Statement will be included, and (b) a prospectus relating to the Central Common Stock to be offered and sold pursuant to this Agreement and the Merger. Central and East shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to have the Registration Statement declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly as practicable after its filing.

67

Each of Central and East shall use its reasonable best efforts to mail the Joint Proxy Statement to its stockholders as promptly as practicable after the Registration Statement is declared effective under the Securities Act. Central shall also use its reasonable best efforts to take any action required to be taken under any applicable state securities Laws and other applicable Laws in connection with the issuance of shares of Central Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement, and each party shall furnish all information concerning East, Central and the holders of capital stock of East and Central, as applicable, as may be reasonably requested by the other party in connection with any such action and the preparation, filing and distribution of the Joint Proxy Statement. No filing of, or amendment or supplement to, or correspondence to the SEC or its staff with respect to the Registration Statement will be made by Central, or with respect to the Joint Proxy Statement will be made by East, Central or any of their Subsidiaries, without providing the other party a reasonable opportunity to review and comment thereon. Central will advise East, promptly after it receives notice thereof, of the time when the Registration Statement has become effective or any supplement or amendment has been filed, the issuance of any stop order, the suspension of the qualification of the Central Common Stock issuable in connection with the Merger for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or any request by the SEC for amendment of the Registration Statement or comments thereon and responses thereto or requests by the SEC for additional information. Each of Central and East shall advise the other party, promptly after it receives notice thereof, of any request by the SEC for the amendment of the Joint Proxy Statement or comments thereon and responses thereto or requests by the SEC for additional information. If at any time prior to the Effective Time any information relating to East or Central, or any of their respective Affiliates, officers or directors, is discovered by East or Central which should be set forth in an amendment or supplement to either the Registration Statement or the Joint Proxy Statement, so that any of such documents would not include any misstatement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, the party which discovers such information shall promptly notify the other party hereto and an appropriate amendment or supplement describing such information shall be promptly filed with the SEC, after the other party has had a reasonable opportunity to review and comment thereon, and, to the extent required by applicable Law, disseminated to either the Central Stockholders or the East Stockholders, as applicable.

Section 5.3 Stockholders Meetings.

(a) East shall take all action necessary in accordance with applicable Laws and the East Organizational Documents to duly give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of the East Stockholders, to be held as promptly as practicable after the Registration Statement is declared effective under the Securities Act, to consider the adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger (the “East Stockholders’ Meeting”). Subject to Section 5.4(b) and (c), East will, through the East Board, recommend that the East Stockholders adopt this Agreement and will use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit from the East Stockholders proxies in favor of the adoption of this Agreement and to take all other action necessary or advisable to secure the vote or consent of the East Stockholders required by the rules of the NYSE or applicable Laws to obtain such approvals. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, East agrees that (i) its obligations pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 5.3(a) shall not be affected by (A) the commencement, public proposal, public disclosure or communication to East of any Acquisition Proposal with respect to East or (B) any East Adverse Recommendation Change and (ii) no Acquisition Proposal with respect to East shall be presented

68

to the East Stockholders for approval at the East Stockholders’ Meeting or any other meeting of the East Stockholders; provided that, nothing set forth in this Section 5.3 shall prohibit East or the East Board from disclosing to the East Stockholders the existence of, or any terms or provisions of, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to East or any of the modifications thereto. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, East (i) shall be required to adjourn or postpone the East Stockholders’ Meeting (A) to the extent necessary to ensure that any legally required supplement or amendment to the Joint Proxy Statement is provided to the East Stockholders or (B) if, as of the time for which the East Stockholders’ Meeting is scheduled, there are insufficient shares of East Common Stock represented (either in person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to conduct business at such East Stockholders’ Meeting and (ii) may adjourn or postpone the East Stockholders’ Meeting if, as of the time for which the East Stockholders’ Meeting is scheduled, there are insufficient shares of East Common Stock represented (either in person or by proxy) to obtain the East Stockholders’ Approval; provided, however, that the East Stockholders’ Meeting shall not be adjourned or postponed to a date on or after two (2) Business Days prior to the Termination Date.

(b) Central shall take all action necessary in accordance with applicable Laws and the Central Organizational Documents to duly give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of the Central Stockholders, to be held as promptly as practicable after the Registration Statement is declared effective under the Securities Act, to vote upon the Central Proposal (the “Central Stockholders’ Meeting”). Subject to Section 5.4(e) and (f), Central will, through the Central Board, recommend that the Central Stockholders approve the Central Proposal and will use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit from the Central Stockholders proxies in favor of the Central Proposal and to take all other action necessary or advisable to secure the vote or consent of the Central Stockholders required by the rules of the NYSE or applicable Laws to obtain such approvals. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Central agrees that (i) its obligations pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 5.3(b) shall not be affected by (A) the commencement, public proposal, public disclosure or communication to Central of any Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central or (B) any Central Adverse Recommendation Change and (ii) no Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central shall be presented to the Central Stockholders for approval at the Central Stockholders’ Meeting or any other meeting of the East Stockholders; provided that, nothing set forth in this Section 5.3 shall prohibit Central or the Central Board from disclosing to the Central Stockholders the existence of, or any terms or provisions of, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central or any of the modifications thereto. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Central (i) shall be required to adjourn or postpone the Central Stockholders’ Meeting (A) to the extent necessary to ensure that any legally required supplement or amendment to the Joint Proxy Statement is provided to the Central Stockholders or (B) if, as of the time for which the Central Stockholders’ Meeting is scheduled, there are insufficient shares of Central Common Stock represented (either in person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to conduct business at such Central Stockholders’ Meeting and (ii) may adjourn or postpone the Central Stockholders’ Meeting if, as of the time for which the Central Stockholders’ Meeting is scheduled, there are insufficient shares of Central Common Stock represented (either in person or by proxy) to obtain the Central Stockholders’ Approval; provided, however, that the Central Stockholders’ Meeting shall not be adjourned or postponed to a date on or after two (2) Business Days prior to the Termination Date.

69

Section 5.4 Non-Solicitation.

(a) East agrees that, except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, neither it nor any of the East Subsidiaries shall, and East shall use its reasonable best efforts, and shall cause each of the East Subsidiaries to use their respective reasonable best efforts to, cause their respective Representatives not to (i) directly or indirectly initiate or solicit, or knowingly encourage or knowingly facilitate (including by way of furnishing non-public information relating to East or any of the East Subsidiaries) any inquiries or the making or submission of any proposal that constitutes, or could reasonably be expected to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal with respect to East, (ii) other than clarifying terms of the Acquisition Proposal in accordance with the penultimate sentence of this Section 5.4(a), participate or engage in discussions or negotiations with, or disclose any non-public information or data relating to East or any of the East Subsidiaries or afford access to the properties, books or records of East or any of the East Subsidiaries to any Person that has made an Acquisition Proposal with respect to East or to any Person in contemplation of making an Acquisition Proposal with respect to East, or (iii) accept an Acquisition Proposal with respect to East or enter into any agreement, including any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle, merger agreement, acquisition agreement, option agreement, joint venture agreement, partnership agreement or other similar agreement, arrangement or understanding, (A) constituting or related to, or that is intended to or could reasonably be expected to lead to, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to East (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement permitted pursuant to this Section 5.4) or (B) requiring, intending to cause, or which could reasonably be expected to cause East to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the Merger or any other transaction contemplated by this Agreement (each, an “East Acquisition Agreement”). Any violation of the foregoing restrictions by the East Subsidiaries or by any Representatives of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, whether or not such Representative is so authorized and whether or not such Representative is purporting to act on behalf of East or any of the East Subsidiaries or otherwise, shall be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement by East. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, prior to obtaining the East Stockholder Approval, East and the East Board may take any actions described in clause (ii) in the first sentence of this Section 5.4(a) with respect to a third party if (w) after the date of this Agreement, East receives a written Acquisition Proposal with respect to East from such third party (and such Acquisition Proposal was not initiated, solicited, knowingly encouraged or knowingly facilitated by East or any of the East Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives), (x) East provides Central the notice required by Section 5.4(g) with respect to such Acquisition Proposal, (y) the East Board determines in good faith (after consultation with East’s financial advisors and outside legal counsel) that such proposal constitutes or could reasonably be expected to lead to a Superior Proposal with respect to East, and (z) the East Board determines in good faith (after consultation with East’s outside legal counsel) that the failure to participate in such discussions or negotiations or to disclose such information or data to such third party would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties; provided that East shall not deliver any information to such third party without first entering into an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement with such third party. Notwithstanding the limitations set forth in this Section 5.4(a) and subject to compliance with East’s obligations contained in Section 5.4(g), if East receives, following the date hereof and prior to the East Stockholders’ Meeting, an unsolicited bona fide written Acquisition Proposal that did not result from a knowing and intentional breach of this Section 5.4, East and its Representatives may contact the Person or any of such Person’s Representatives who has made such Acquisition Proposal solely to clarify the terms of such Acquisition Proposal so that East may inform itself about such Acquisition Proposal. Nothing contained in this Section 5.4

70

shall prohibit East or the East Board from taking and disclosing to the East Stockholders a position with respect to an Acquisition Proposal with respect to East pursuant to Rules 14d-9 and 14e-2(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act or from making any similar disclosure, in either case to the extent required by applicable Law.

(b) Neither (i) the East Board nor any committee thereof shall directly or indirectly (A) withhold or withdraw (or amend, modify or qualify in a manner adverse to Central or Merger Sub), or publicly propose or announce any intention to withhold or withdraw (or amend, modify or qualify in a manner adverse to Central or Merger Sub), the East Recommendation or (B) recommend, adopt or approve, or propose publicly to recommend, adopt or approve, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to East (any action described in this clause (i) being referred to as an “East Adverse Recommendation Change”) nor (ii) shall East or any of the East Subsidiaries execute or enter into an East Acquisition Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time prior to obtaining the East Stockholder Approval, and subject to East’s compliance in all material respects at all times with the provisions of this Section 5.4 and Section 5.3, in response to a Superior Proposal with respect to East that was not initiated, solicited, knowingly encouraged or knowingly facilitated by East or any of the East Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives, the East Board may make an East Adverse Recommendation Change; provided, however, that East shall not be entitled to exercise its right to make an East Adverse Recommendation Change in response to a Superior Proposal with respect to East (x) until three (3) Business Days after East provides written notice to Central (an “East Notice”) advising Central that the East Board or a committee thereof has received a Superior Proposal, specifying the material terms and conditions of such Superior Proposal, and identifying the Person or group making such Superior Proposal, (y) if during such three (3) Business Day period, Central proposes any alternative transaction (including any modifications to the terms of this Agreement), unless the East Board determines in good faith (after consultation with East’s financial advisors and outside legal counsel, and taking into account all financial, legal, and regulatory terms and conditions of such alternative transaction proposal, including any conditions to and expected timing of consummation, and any risks of non-consummation of such alternative transaction proposal) that such alternative transaction proposal is not at least as favorable to East and its stockholders as the Superior Proposal (it being understood that any change in the financial or other material terms of a Superior Proposal shall require a new East Notice and a new two (2) Business Day period under this Section 5.4(b)) and (z) unless the East Board, after consultation with outside legal counsel, determines that the failure to make an East Adverse Recommendation Change would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties.

(c) Notwithstanding the first sentence of Section 5.4(b), at any time prior to obtaining the East Stockholder Approval, and subject to East’s compliance in all material respects at all times with the provisions of this Section 5.4 and Section 5.3, in response to an East Intervening Event, the East Board may make an East Adverse Recommendation Change described in clause (A) of the definition thereof if the East Board (i) determines in good faith, after consultation with East’s outside legal counsel and any other advisor it chooses to consult, that the failure to make such East Adverse Recommendation Change would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties, (ii) determines in good faith that the reasons for making such East Adverse Recommendation Change are independent of any Acquisition Proposal (whether pending, potential or otherwise) with respect to East and (iii) provides written notice to Central (an “East Notice of Change”) advising Central that the East Board is contemplating making an East Adverse

71

Recommendation Change and specifying the material facts and information constituting the basis for such contemplated determination; provided, however, that (x) the East Board may not make such an East Adverse Recommendation Change until the third Business Day after receipt by Central of the East Notice of Change and (y) during such three (3) Business Day period, at the request of Central, East shall negotiate in good faith with respect to any changes or modifications to this Agreement which would allow the East Board not to make such East Adverse Recommendation Change consistent with its fiduciary duties.

(d) Central agrees that, except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement or Section 5.4(d) of the Central Disclosure Letter, neither it nor any of the Central Subsidiaries shall, and Central shall use its reasonable best efforts, and shall cause each of the Central Subsidiaries to use their respective reasonable best efforts to, cause their respective Representatives not to (i) directly or indirectly initiate or solicit, or knowingly encourage or knowingly facilitate (including by way of furnishing non-public information relating to Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries) any inquiries or the making or submission of any proposal that constitutes, or could reasonably be expected to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central, (ii) other than clarifying terms of the Acquisition Proposal in accordance with the penultimate sentence of this Section 5.4(d), participate or engage in discussions or negotiations with, or disclose any non-public information or data relating to Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or afford access to the properties, books or records of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries to any Person that has made an Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central or to any Person in contemplation of making an Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central, or (iii) accept an Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central or enter into any agreement, including any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle, merger agreement, acquisition agreement, option agreement, joint venture agreement, partnership agreement or other similar agreement, arrangement or understanding, (A) constituting or related to, or that is intended to or could reasonably be expected to lead to, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement permitted pursuant to this Section 5.4) or (B) requiring, intending to cause, or which could reasonably be expected to cause Central to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the Merger or any other transaction contemplated by this Agreement (each, a “Central Acquisition Agreement”). Any violation of the foregoing restrictions by any of the Central Subsidiaries or by any Representatives of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries, whether or not such Representative is so authorized and whether or not such Representative is purporting to act on behalf of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or otherwise, shall be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement by Central. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, prior to obtaining the Central Stockholder Approval, Central and the Central Board may take any actions described in clause (ii) in the first sentence of this Section 5.4(d) with respect to a third party if (w) after the date of this Agreement, Central receives a written Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central from such third party (and such Acquisition Proposal was not initiated, solicited, knowingly encouraged or knowingly facilitated by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives), (x) Central provides East the notice required by Section 5.4(g) with respect to such Acquisition Proposal, (y) the Central Board determines in good faith (after consultation with Central’s financial advisors and outside legal counsel) that such proposal constitutes or could reasonably be expected to lead to a Superior Proposal with respect to Central, and (z) the Central Board determines in good faith (after consultation with Central’s outside legal counsel) that the failure to participate in such discussions or negotiations or to disclose such information or data to such third party would be inconsistent

72

with its fiduciary duties; provided that Central shall not deliver any information to such third party without first entering into an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement with such third party. Notwithstanding the limitations set forth in this Section 5.4(d), and subject to compliance with Central’s obligations contained in Section 5.4(g), if Central receives, following the date hereof and prior to the Central Stockholders’ Meeting, an unsolicited bona fide written Acquisition Proposal that did not result from a knowing and intentional breach of this Section 5.4, Central and its Representatives may contact the Person or any of such Person’s Representatives who has made such Acquisition Proposal solely to clarify the terms of such Acquisition Proposal so that Central may inform itself about such Acquisition Proposal. Nothing contained in this Section 5.4 shall prohibit Central or the Central Board from taking and disclosing to the Central Stockholders a position with respect to an Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central pursuant to Rules 14d-9 and 14e-2(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act or from making any similar disclosure, in either case to the extent required by applicable Law.

(e) Neither (i) the Central Board nor any committee thereof shall directly or indirectly (A) withhold or withdraw (or amend or modify or qualify in a manner adverse to East), or publicly propose or announce any intention to withhold or withdraw (or amend or modify or qualify in a manner adverse to East), the Central Recommendation or the Central Proposal or (B) recommend, adopt or approve, or propose publicly to recommend, adopt or approve, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central (any action described in this clause (i) being referred to as a “Central Adverse Recommendation Change”) nor (ii) shall Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries execute or enter into, a Central Acquisition Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time prior to obtaining the Central Stockholder Approval, and subject to Central’s compliance in all material respects at all times with the provisions of this Section 5.4 and Section 5.3, in response to a Superior Proposal with respect to Central, that was not initiated, solicited, knowingly encouraged or knowingly facilitated by Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives, the Central Board may make a Central Adverse Recommendation Change; provided, however, that Central shall not be entitled to exercise its right to make a Central Adverse Recommendation Change in response to a Superior Proposal with respect to Central (x) until three (3) Business Days after Central provides written notice to East (a “Central Notice”) advising East that the Central Board or a committee thereof has received a Superior Proposal, specifying the material terms and conditions of such Superior Proposal, and identifying the Person or group making such Superior Proposal, (y) if during such three (3) Business Day period, East proposes any alternative transaction (including any modifications to the terms of this Agreement), unless the Central Board determines in good faith (after consultation with Central’s financial advisors and outside legal counsel, and taking into account all financial, legal, and regulatory terms and conditions of such alternative transaction proposal, including any conditions to and expected timing of consummation, and any risks of non-consummation of such alternative transaction proposal) that such alternative transaction proposal is not at least as favorable to Central and its stockholders as the Superior Proposal (it being understood that any change in the financial or other material terms of a Superior Proposal shall require a new Central Notice and a new two (2) Business Day period under this Section 5.4(e)) and (z) unless the Central Board, after consultation with outside legal counsel, determines that the failure to make a Central Adverse Recommendation Change would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties.

73

(f) Notwithstanding the first sentence of Section 5.4(e), at any time prior to obtaining the Central Stockholder Approval, and subject to Central’s compliance in all material respects at all times with the provisions of this Section 5.4 and Section 5.3, in response to a Central Intervening Event, the Central Board may make a Central Adverse Recommendation Change described in clause (A) of the definition thereof if the Central Board (i) determines in good faith, after consultation with Central’s outside legal counsel and any other advisor it chooses to consult, that the failure to make such Central Adverse Recommendation Change would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties, (ii) determines in good faith that the reasons for making such Central Adverse Recommendation Change are independent of any Acquisition Proposal (whether pending, potential or otherwise) with respect to Central and (iii) provides written notice to East (a “Central Notice of Change”) advising East that the Central Board is contemplating making a Central Adverse Recommendation Change and specifying the material facts and information constituting the basis for such contemplated determination; provided, however, that (x) the Central Board may not make such a Central Adverse Recommendation Change until the third Business Day after receipt by East of the Central Notice of Change and (y) during such three (3) Business Day period, at the request of East, Central shall negotiate in good faith with respect to any changes or modifications to this Agreement which would allow the Central Board not to make such Central Adverse Recommendation Change consistent with its fiduciary duties.

(g) The parties agree that in addition to the obligations of East and Central set forth in the foregoing paragraphs (a) through (f) of this Section 5.4, as promptly as practicable (and in any event within twenty-four (24) hours) after receipt thereof, East or Central, as applicable, shall advise Central or East, respectively, in writing of any request for information or any Acquisition Proposal with respect to such party received from any Person, or any inquiry, discussions or negotiations with respect to any Acquisition Proposal with respect to such party, and the terms and conditions of such request, Acquisition Proposal, inquiry, discussions or negotiations, and East or Central, as applicable, shall promptly provide to Central or East, respectively, copies of any written materials received by East or Central, as applicable, in connection with any of the foregoing, and the identity of the Person or group making any such request, Acquisition Proposal or inquiry or with whom any discussions or negotiations are taking place. Each of East and Central agrees that it shall simultaneously provide to the other any non-public information concerning itself or its Subsidiaries provided to any other Person or group in connection with any Acquisition Proposal which was not previously provided to the other. East and Central shall keep Central and East, respectively, fully informed of the status of any Acquisition Proposals (including the identity of the parties and price involved and any changes to any material terms and conditions thereof). Each of East and Central agrees not to release any third party from, or waive any provisions of, any confidentiality or standstill agreement to which it is a party; provided, however, that prior to, but not after, obtaining the East Stockholder Approval or Central Stockholder Approval (as applicable), if, in response to an unsolicited request from a third party to waive any “standstill” or similar provision, the East Board or Central Board (as applicable) determines in good faith after consultation with East’s or Central’s (as applicable) outside legal counsel that the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties, East or Central (as applicable) shall be permitted to waive, without the other’s prior written consent, such standstill or similar provision solely to the extent necessary to permit such third party to make an Acquisition Proposal to East or Central (as applicable), on a confidential basis, provided, however, that East or Central (as applicable) shall advise the other party in writing at least two (2) calendar days prior to taking such action.

74

(h) Immediately after the execution and delivery of this Agreement, each party hereto will, and will cause its Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives to, cease and terminate any existing activities, discussions or negotiations with any parties conducted heretofore relating to any possible Acquisition Proposal with respect to such party. Each party agrees that it shall (i) take the necessary steps to promptly inform its Representatives involved in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement of the obligations undertaken in this Section 5.4 and (ii) promptly request each Person who has heretofore executed a confidentiality agreement in connection with such Person’s consideration of acquiring such party or any material portion thereof to return or destroy all confidential information heretofore furnished to such Person by or on its behalf.

Section 5.5 Consummation of the Merger; Additional Agreements.

(a) As promptly as reasonably practicable (but in no event later than ten (10) Business Days following the date of this Agreement), following the date of this Agreement, East and Central each shall file with the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) and the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) Notification and Report Forms relating to the transactions contemplated herein to the extent any such filing is required by the HSR Act. East and Central shall each use reasonable best efforts to obtain early termination of any waiting period under the HSR Act and East and Central shall each promptly, subject to confidentiality provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement, (i) supply the other with any information which may be required in order to effectuate such filings and (ii) supply any additional information which reasonably may be required by the FTC or the DOJ. The parties shall take reasonable efforts to share information protected from disclosure under the attorney-client privilege, work product doctrine, joint defense privilege or any other privilege pursuant to this Section 5.5(a) so as to preserve any applicable privilege.

(b) Each of East and Central shall use reasonable best efforts to file, as soon as practicable after the date of this Agreement, all other notices, reports and other documents required to be filed with any Governmental Entity with respect to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Each of Central and East shall promptly, subject to confidentiality provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement, (i) supply the other with any information which may be required in order to effectuate such filings and (ii) supply any additional information which reasonably may be required by a Governmental Entity of any jurisdiction and which the parties may reasonably deem appropriate. The parties shall take reasonable efforts to share information protected from disclosure under the attorney-client privilege, work product doctrine, joint defense privilege or any other privilege pursuant to this Section 5.5(b) so as to preserve any applicable privilege. No party shall independently participate in any meeting, or engage in any substantive meeting, with any Governmental Entity in respect to any filings, investigation or other inquiry without giving the other party prior notice of the meeting and, unless prohibited by such Governmental Entity, the opportunity to attend or participate. The parties will consult and cooperate with one another and permit the other party or its counsel to review in advance any proposed communication by such party to any Governmental Entity in connection with any analyses, appearances, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions and proposals made or submitted by or on behalf of any party in connection with proceedings under or relating to the HSR Act, other antitrust Laws or any applicable state Laws in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The parties shall discuss in advance and jointly determine the strategy and timing for obtaining any clearances required or advisable under any applicable Law in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

75

(c) Each of East and Central shall (i) give the other party prompt notice of the commencement or threat of commencement of any Legal Proceeding by or before any Governmental Entity with respect to the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) keep the other party informed as to the status of any such Legal Proceeding or threat and (iii) subject to applicable legal limitations and the instructions of any Governmental Entity, keep each other apprised of the status of matters relating to the completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and promptly inform the other party of any communication to or from any Governmental Entity regarding the Merger.

(d) Subject to the conditions and upon the terms of this Agreement, each of Central and East shall use reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions necessary to carry out the intent and purposes of this Agreement and to consummate the Merger and make effective the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, subject to the conditions and upon the terms of this Agreement, each party to this Agreement shall (i) reasonably cooperate with the other party, execute and deliver such further documents, certificates, agreements and instruments and take such other actions as may be reasonably requested by the other party to evidence or reflect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the execution and delivery of all documents, certificates, agreements and instruments reasonably necessary for all filings hereunder); (ii) give all notices (if any) required to be made and given by such party in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (iii) use reasonable best efforts to obtain each approval, consent, ratification, permission, waiver of authorization (including any authorization of a Governmental Entity) required to be obtained from parties to any material Contracts (if any) or required to be obtained (pursuant to any applicable Law or Contract, or otherwise) by such party in connection with the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (provided, however, that Central, Merger Sub and East shall not be required to pay any fees or make any other payments to any such Person in order to obtain any such approval, consent, ratification, permission, waiver or authorization (other than normal filing fees imposed by Law)); and (iv) use reasonable best efforts to lift any restraint, injunction or other legal bar to the Merger.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, (i) neither East nor Central shall, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, without the prior written consent of the other party, divest or hold separate or otherwise take or commit to take any action that limits its freedom, or after the Merger, the freedom of action of Central or any of Central’s Affiliates with respect to, or its ability to retain, East and the East Subsidiaries, Central or the Central Subsidiaries, or any of the respective businesses or assets of Central, East or any of their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates and (ii) neither Central nor East, nor any of their respective Affiliates, shall be required to divest or hold separate or otherwise take or commit to take any action that limits its freedom of action with respect to, or its ability to retain, East and the East Subsidiaries, Central or the Central Subsidiaries, or any of the respective businesses or assets of Central, East or any of their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates, in each case if such divestiture or other action with respect thereto would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to impair the benefits of the Merger to Central or to have an East Material Adverse Effect or a Central Material Adverse Effect.

76

Section 5.6 East Equity Awards.

(a) East Stock Options. At the Effective Time, each stock option issued under an East Benefit Plan (an “East Stock Option”) that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that by its terms does not settle by reason of the occurrence of the Closing shall, by virtue of the occurrence of the Closing and without any action by Central, Merger Sub, East or the holder thereof, cease to represent an option to purchase East Common Stock and be converted into an option to purchase a number of shares of Central Common Stock (such option, a “Converted Stock Option”) equal to the product (with the result rounded down to the nearest whole number) of (i) the number of shares of East Common Stock subject to each such East Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time multiplied by (ii) the Exchange Ratio, at an exercise price per share (rounded up to the nearest whole cent) equal to (A) the exercise price per East Common Stock of such East Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time divided by (B) the Exchange Ratio; provided, however, that the exercise price and the number of shares of Central Common Stock purchasable pursuant to the Converted Stock Option shall be determined in a manner consistent with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and, as applicable, Section 422 of the Code. Immediately following the Effective Time, each Converted Stock Option otherwise shall continue to be governed by the same terms and conditions (including vesting, forfeiture and exercisability terms) as were applicable to the corresponding East Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time.

(b) East RSUs. At the Effective Time, each restricted stock unit (including those subject to performance-based vesting conditions) under an East Benefit Plan (an “East RSU”) that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that by its terms does not settle by reason of the occurrence of the Closing shall, by virtue of the occurrence of the Closing and without any action by Central, Merger Sub, East or the holder thereof, be assumed by Central and converted into a number of restricted stock units with respect to shares (rounded to the nearest number of whole shares) of Central Common Stock (such restricted stock unit, a “Converted RSU”) equal to the product of the number of East Common Stock subject to the East RSU immediately prior to the Effective Time multiplied by the Exchange Ratio. Immediately following the Effective Time, each Converted RSU otherwise shall continue to be governed by the same terms and conditions (including vesting and forfeiture) as were applicable to the corresponding East RSU immediately prior to the Effective Time, except that any performance-based vesting condition that applied to the East RSU immediately prior to the Effective Time will be treated as having been attained based on actual results measured using the average five (5) day closing price of East Common Stock ending on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date as determined by the Compensation Committee of the East Board, so that such East RSU will remain solely subject to the time-based vesting requirements in effect for the East RSU immediately prior to the Effective Time.

(c) East Restricted Stock. At the Effective Time, each restricted stock award under an East Benefit Plan (“East RSA”) that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that by its term does not vest by reason of the occurrence of the Closing shall, by virtue of the occurrence of the Closing and without any action by Central, Merger Sub, East or the holder thereof, be converted pursuant to Section 1.6(a)(ii) into shares of Central Common Stock and assumed by Central, except the number of shares subject to such award will be rounded to the nearest number of whole shares (such restricted stock award, a “Converted RSA”). Immediately

77

following the Effective Time, each Converted RSA otherwise shall continue to be governed by the same terms and conditions (including vesting, forfeiture and transferability terms) as were applicable to the corresponding East RSA immediately prior to the Effective Time.

(d) ESPP. East’s 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) shall terminate as of immediately prior to the Closing Date. For any offering period in effect under the ESPP prior to the Closing, East shall establish a new exercise date to be set under the ESPP, which date shall be no later than five (5) Business Days prior to the Effective Time (the “ESPP Exercise Date”), with the automatic purchase of East Common Stock with respect to accumulated employee contributions of each participant under the ESPP in respect of such offering period to occur on such date. East shall prohibit participants in the ESPP from altering their payroll deductions from those in effect on the date of this Agreement (other than to discontinue their participation in the ESPP in accordance with the terms and conditions of the ESPP). The amount of the accumulated contributions of each participant under the ESPP as of immediately prior to the ESPP Exercise Date shall, to the extent not used to purchase East Common Stock in accordance with the terms and conditions of the ESPP and this Section 5.6(d), be refunded to such participant as promptly as practicable following the Effective Time (without interest).

(e) Section 409A. To the extent that any award described in this Section 5.6 constitutes nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code, any payment contemplated hereby with respect to such award shall be made in accordance with this Agreement and the applicable award’s terms or, if later, at the earliest time permitted under the terms of such award that will not result in the application of a tax or penalty under Section 409A of the Code.

(f) Required Actions. Prior to the Effective Time, the East Board (or, if appropriate, any committee thereof administering any East Benefit Plan) shall take all such actions as are necessary to approve and effectuate the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.6, including making any determinations or adopting resolutions of the East Board or a committee thereof or any administrator of an East Benefit Plan as may be necessary. Central shall take such actions as are necessary for the conversion of the East RSUs, East RSAs and East Stock Options pursuant to this Section 5.6, including reservation, issuance and listing of shares of Central Common Stock as are necessary to effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Section 5.6. Central shall prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement on an appropriate form, or a post-effective amendment to a registration statement previously filed under the Securities Act, with respect to the shares of Central Common Stock subject to the Converted Stock Options, Converted RSAs and Converted RSUs and, where applicable, shall use its reasonable best efforts to have such registration statement declared effective as of the Effective Time and to maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement covering the Converted Stock Options, Converted RSAs and Converted RSUs (and to maintain the current status of the prospectus contained therein) for so long as the Converted Stock Options, Converted RSAs and Converted RSUs remain outstanding.

Section 5.7 Employee and Labor Matters.

(a) The following provisions shall apply with respect to the compensation and benefits to be provided after the Effective Time in respect of individuals who are employees of East or any of the East Subsidiaries as of the Effective Time (the “East Employees”) and to

78

individuals who are employees of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries as of the Effective Time (the “Central Employees” and, together with the East Employees, the “Employees”):

(i) East and Central have agreed that, consistent with the current practices of East and Central, East and Central will seek after the Effective Time to attract and retain superior quality executive, managerial, technical and administrative personnel in every market in which they conduct activities and will generally implement compensation and benefit plans and policies necessary or appropriate to achieve this objective. It is the specific intention that, in each of the markets in which they operate, the compensation and benefit programs of East and Central will be competitive with those provided generally in their industry, both with respect to the type and variety of programs as well as the level of benefits afforded.

(ii) Without limiting the generality of clause (i), above, except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, and subject to applicable Law and any obligations under any Labor Agreement, East and Central agree that, unless otherwise mutually determined before the Effective Time, (I) for the period beginning at the Effective Time and ending one (1) year following the Effective Time, the base pay and post termination severance pay, respectively, of the Employees shall not be reduced, (II) for the period beginning at the Effective Time and ending on December 31, 2021, the target incentive compensation opportunities of the Employees shall not be reduced, (III) for the period beginning at the Effective Time and ending on December 31, 2021, (A) each East Employee shall be provided employee benefits that are substantially no less favorable in the aggregate than either those provided to such East Employee immediately before the Effective Time or those provided from time to time to similarly situated Central Employees and (B) each Central Employee shall be provided employee benefits that are substantially no less favorable in the aggregate than either those provided to such Central Employee immediately before the Effective Time or those provided from time to time to similarly situated East Employees.

(iii) East and Central agree that, for the period beginning at the Effective Time and ending on December 31, 2021, East Employees will continue to receive or be entitled to receive an annual employer charitable matching contribution of up to $10,000 per East Employee (less any amount matched by East or any East Subsidiary prior to the Closing Date during such year).

(b) Subject to applicable Law and any obligations under any Labor Agreement, for all purposes under the benefit and compensation plans of Central and the Central Subsidiaries providing benefits to any Employees after the Effective Time (the “New Plans”), each East Employee shall be credited with his or her years of service with East and the East Subsidiaries before the Effective Time, and each Central Employee shall be credited with his or her years of service with Central and the Central Subsidiaries before the Effective Time, to the same extent as such Employee was entitled, before the Effective Time, to credit for such service under any similar East Benefit Plan or Central Benefit Plan, as applicable; provided that such service crediting shall not be required (i) to the extent it would result in a duplication of benefits, nor (ii) to the extent East Employees and Central Employees are affected without regard to whether employment before the Effective Time was with East and the East Subsidiaries or Central and the Central Subsidiaries

79

(for example, in the event a New Plan is adopted for East Employees and Central Employees under which no participants receive credit for service before the effective date of the New Plan). In addition, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing provisions of this paragraph (b): (i) each Employee shall be immediately eligible to participate, without any waiting time, in any and all New Plans to the extent coverage under such New Plan replaces coverage under a comparable East Benefit Plan or Central Benefit Plan in which such Employee participated immediately before the Effective Time (such plans, collectively, the “Old Plans”); and (ii) for purposes of each New Plan providing medical, dental, pharmaceutical or vision benefits to any Employee, Central shall cause all pre-existing condition exclusions and actively-at-work requirements of such New Plan to be waived for such employee and his or her covered dependents, and Central shall cause any eligible expenses incurred by such Employee and his or her covered dependents during the portion of the plan year of the Old Plan ending on the date such employee’s participation in the corresponding New Plan begins to be taken into account under such New Plan for purposes of satisfying all deductible, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket requirements applicable to such employee and his or her covered dependents for the applicable plan year as if such amounts had been paid in accordance with such New Plan.

(c) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, from and after the Effective Time, East and Central shall honor, and shall cause their Subsidiaries to honor, in accordance with its terms (including terms related to the amendment or termination thereof), each employment, severance and termination agreement between East or Central, or any of their respective Subsidiaries, and any current or former officer, director or employee of any such company, to the extent such terms are in effect on the date hereof.

(d) Nothing contained in this Section 5.7 (whether express or implied) shall (i) create or confer any rights, remedies or claims upon any employee, director, officer, or individual service provider or any right of employment or engagement or continued employment or engagement or any particular term or condition of employment or engagement for any Employee or any other Person, (ii) be considered or deemed to establish, amend, or modify any Central Benefit Plan, East Benefit Plan, New Plan, or any other benefit or compensation plan, program, policy, agreement, arrangement, or contract, or (iii) confer any rights or benefits (including any third-party beneficiary rights) on any Person other than the parties to this Agreement. The provisions of this Section 5.7 shall not be construed to prevent the termination of employment of any Employee or the amendment or termination of any particular East Benefit Plan or Central Benefit Plan to the extent permitted by its terms and subject to compliance with the terms of this Section 5.7.

(e) Prior to making any broad-based communication or written communications pertaining to compensation or benefit matters that are affected by the transactions contemplated in this Agreement (including any schedules hereto), each party shall provide the other party with a copy of the intended communication, and such other party shall have a reasonable period of time to review and comment on the communication. East and Central shall cooperate in providing any such mutually agreeable communication.

(f) It is acknowledged and agreed that the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will constitute a “change of control” (or “change in control” or transaction of similar import) for purposes of the arrangements identified on Section 5.7(f) of the East Disclosure Letter or Central Disclosure Letter, as the case may be.

80

(g) Prior to the Closing, Central and East shall cooperate in good faith to determine the timing and manner in which Central or East, or their respective Subsidiaries, utilize or waive the employment tax deferral or employee retention credit relief provided under Sections 2301, 2302 and 3606 of the CARES Act, as applicable.

Section 5.8 Indemnification of Officers and Directors.

(a) From and after the Effective Time, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, each of Central and the Surviving Corporation agrees that it shall jointly and severally indemnify, defend and hold harmless (and advance expenses in connection therewith) each present and former director and officer of (i) East or any of the East Subsidiaries or (ii) any other Entity that was serving in such capacity at East’s request (in each case, when acting in such capacity) (the “Indemnified Parties”), against any costs or expenses (including attorneys’ and other professionals’ fees and disbursements), judgments, fines, penalties, losses, claims, damages or liabilities or amounts that are paid in settlement, of or incurred in connection with any actual or threatened claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative to which such Indemnified Party is a party or is otherwise involved (including as a witness), and arises out of or pertains to the fact that the Indemnified Party is or was an officer or director of East or any of the East Subsidiaries, with respect to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the Effective Time (including this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby), whether asserted or claimed prior to, at or after the Effective Time.

(b) For a period of six (6) years from the Effective Time, the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation shall contain provisions no less favorable with respect to indemnification and advancement of expenses of individuals who were directors and officers prior to the Effective Time than are set forth, as of the date of this Agreement, in East’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws.

(c) The Surviving Corporation (or Central on the Surviving Corporation’s behalf) shall, in its sole discretion, either (i) continue to maintain in effect for a period of at least six (6) years from and after the Effective Time for the Persons who, as of the date of this Agreement, are covered by East’s directors’ and officers’ liability insurance (the, “D&O Insurance”) with recognized insurance companies and with terms, conditions, retentions and levels of coverage at least as favorable as provided in East’s existing policies as of the date of this Agreement, or, if such insurance is unavailable, the Surviving Corporation or Central on the Surviving Corporation’s behalf shall purchase the best available D&O Insurance from a recognized insurance company for such six-year period with terms, conditions, retentions and with levels of coverage at least as favorable as provided in East’s existing policies as of the date of this Agreement, or (ii) obtain and fully pay for “tail” insurance policies with a claims period of at least six (6) years from and after the Effective Time with recognized insurance companies for the Persons who, as of the date of this Agreement, are covered by East’s existing D&O Insurance, with terms, conditions, retentions and levels of coverage at least as favorable as East’s existing D&O Insurance with respect to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the Effective Time (including in connection with this Agreement or the transactions or actions contemplated hereby),

81

with respect to East’s D&O Insurance. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, in no event shall Central or the Surviving Corporation be required to expend for such policies an annual premium amount in excess of three hundred percent (300%) of the annual premiums currently paid by East for such insurance; and provided further, that if the annual premiums of such insurance coverage exceed such amount, the Surviving Corporation (or Central on the Surviving Corporation’s behalf) shall obtain a policy with the greatest coverage available for a cost not exceeding such amount.

(d) In the event of any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation in which any claims are made in respect of which such Indemnified Party would be entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Section 5.8(d), any Indemnified Party wishing to claim such indemnification shall promptly notify Central thereof in writing, but the failure to so notify shall not relieve Central or the Surviving Corporation of any liability it may have to such Indemnified Party except to the extent such failure materially prejudices Central or the Surviving Corporation. In the event of any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation: (i) Central or the Surviving Corporation shall have the right to assume the defense thereof (it being understood that by electing to assume the defense thereof, neither Central nor the Surviving Corporation will be deemed to have waived any right to object to the Indemnified Party’s entitlement to indemnification hereunder with respect thereto or assumed any liability with respect thereto), except that if Central or the Surviving Corporation elects not to assume such defense or legal counsel for the Indemnified Party advises that there are issues which raise conflicts of interest between Central or the Surviving Corporation and the Indemnified Party, the Indemnified Party may retain legal counsel satisfactory to Central and to the provider of any insurance obtained in accordance with the foregoing Section 5.8(c), and Central or the Surviving Corporation shall pay all reasonable and documented fees, costs and expenses of such legal counsel for the Indemnified Party as statements therefor are received; provided, however, that (1) Central and the Surviving Corporation shall be obligated pursuant to this Section 5.8(d) to pay for only one firm of legal counsel for all Indemnified Parties in any jurisdiction unless the use of one legal counsel for such Indemnified Parties would present such legal counsel with a conflict of interest (in which case the fewest number of legal counsels necessary to avoid conflicts of interest shall be used) and (2) the Indemnified Party shall have made an undertaking to repay all such fees, costs or expenses paid by Central or the Surviving Corporation if and to the extent that it is ultimately determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final judgment that the Indemnified Party is not entitled to be indemnified by Central or the Surviving Corporation; (ii) the Indemnified Parties shall cooperate in the defense of any such matter if Central or the Surviving Corporation elects to assume such defense; (iii) Central and the Surviving Corporation shall not be liable for any settlement effected without their prior written consent and the prior written consent of the provider of any insurance obtained in accordance with the foregoing Section 5.8(c), in each case if Central or the Surviving Corporation elects not to assume such defense; and (iv) Central and the Surviving Corporation shall not have any obligation hereunder to any Indemnified Party if and when a court of competent jurisdiction shall ultimately determine, and such determination shall have become final, that the indemnified action of such Indemnified Party in the manner contemplated hereby is prohibited by applicable Law. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, neither Central nor the Surviving Corporation shall settle, compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment in any claim, action, suit or other Legal Proceeding (and in which indemnification could be sought by Indemnified Parties hereunder), unless such settlement, compromise or consent includes an unconditional release of such Indemnified Party from all liability arising out of such claim, action, suit or other Legal Proceeding or such Indemnified Party otherwise consents in writing.

82

(e) If Central or the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) shall consolidate with or merge into any other corporation or Entity and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or Entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) shall transfer all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any individual, corporation or other Entity, then, and in each such case, proper provisions shall be made (whether by operation of law or otherwise) so that the successors and assigns of Central or the Surviving Corporation shall assume all of the obligations set forth in this Section 5.8.

(f) The provisions of this Section 5.8 are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each of the Indemnified Parties and their respective successors, heirs and legal representatives, shall be binding on all successors and assigns of Central and the Surviving Corporation and shall not be amended in any manner that is adverse to the Indemnified Parties (including their successors, heirs and legal representatives) without the written consent of the Indemnified Party (including the successors, heirs and legal representatives) affected thereby.

(g) The rights of the Indemnified Parties under this Section 5.8 shall be in addition to any rights such Indemnified Parties may have under the East Organizational Documents or under any applicable Contracts or Laws in effect on the date of this Agreement and, in the case of such documents and Contracts, disclosed to Central prior to the execution hereof, and Central shall, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, honor and perform under all indemnification agreements entered into by East or any of the East Subsidiaries in effect on the date of this Agreement and disclosed to Central prior to the execution hereof, and any provisions under any such applicable Contracts (including such indemnification agreements) shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified in any manner that would materially adversely affect the rights thereunder of any such individual.

Section 5.9 Public Disclosure. The initial press release relating to this Agreement shall be a joint press release and thereafter Central and East shall consult with each other before issuing, and provide each other the reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon, any press release or other public statements with respect to the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that no such consultation shall be required if, prior to the date of such release or public statement, an East Adverse Recommendation Change or a Central Adverse Recommendation Change shall have occurred in compliance in all respects with the terms of Section 5.4 of this Agreement. No provision of this Agreement shall prohibit either East or Central from issuing any press release or public statement in the event of an East Adverse Recommendation Change or a Central Adverse Recommendation Change that is in either case in compliance in all respects with the terms of Section 5.4 of this Agreement.

Section 5.10 NYSE Listing of Additional Shares; Delisting.

(a) Central shall, in accordance with the requirements of the NYSE, use its reasonable best efforts to file with the NYSE a subsequent listing application (“Subsequent Listing Application”) covering the shares of Central Common Stock to be issued to East Stockholders pursuant to this Agreement, subject to official notice of issuance, prior to the Closing Date.

83

(b) Prior to the Closing, upon Central’s request, East shall take all actions necessary to be taken prior to Closing to cause the delisting of East Common Stock from the NYSE and the termination of East’s registration of East Common Stock under the Exchange Act, in each case, as soon as practicable following the Effective Time, subject to compliance with East’s obligations under the Exchange Act.

Section 5.11 Takeover Laws. If any Takeover Law may become, or may purport to be, applicable to the transactions contemplated in this Agreement, each of Central, East, the Central Board and the East Board, to the extent permissible under applicable Laws, will grant such approvals and take such actions, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, as are necessary so that the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be consummated as promptly as practicable, and in any event prior to the Termination Date, on the terms and conditions contemplated hereby and otherwise, to the extent permissible under applicable Laws, act to eliminate the effect of any Takeover Law on any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.12 Section 16. Central shall, prior to the Effective Time, cause the Central Board to approve the issuance of Central equity securities in connection with the Merger with respect to any employees of East who, as a result of their relationship with Central as of or following the Effective Time, are subject or will become subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16 of the Exchange Act to the extent necessary for such issuance to be an exempt acquisition pursuant to SEC Rule 16b-3. Prior to the Effective Time, the East Board shall approve the disposition of East equity securities (including derivative securities) in connection with the Merger by those directors and officers of East subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16 of the Exchange Act to the extent necessary for such disposition to be an exempt disposition pursuant to SEC Rule 16b-3.

Section 5.13 Notice of Changes. Each of East and Central shall give prompt written notice to the other (and will subsequently keep the other informed on a current basis of any developments related to such notice) upon it obtaining Knowledge of the occurrence or existence of any fact, event or circumstance that is reasonably likely to result in any of the conditions set forth in Article VI not being able to be satisfied prior to the Termination Date.

Section 5.14 Tax Matters.

(a) Each of East and Central will (i) use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Merger to qualify, and (ii) not take (and will prevent any Affiliate of such party from taking) any actions that could reasonably be expected to prevent the Merger from qualifying, as a “reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code (the “Reorganization Treatment”).

(b) East and Central will use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with one another in connection with the issuance of any opinion of counsel relating to the Reorganization Treatment (including in connection with the filing or effectiveness of the

84

Registration Statement), including using commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to the relevant counsel certificates (dated as of the necessary date and signed by an officer of East or Central, as applicable) substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit G (the “East Officer’s Certificate”) or Exhibit H (the “Central Officer’s Certificate”), as applicable.

(c) Each of East and Central will notify the other party promptly after becoming aware of any reason to believe that the Merger may not qualify for the Reorganization Treatment.

(d) This Agreement is intended to constitute and be adopted as a “plan of reorganization” for purposes of Sections 354 and 361 of the Code and within the meaning of Treasury Regulations §§ 1.368-2(g) and 1.368-3(a).

(e) For the avoidance of doubt, each party acknowledges and agrees that its obligations to effect the Merger is not subject to any condition or contingency with respect to the Merger qualifying for the Reorganization Treatment.

Section 5.15 Treatment of Existing Indebtedness.

(a) Prior to or at the Closing, East shall deliver to Central an executed payoff letter (each, a “Payoff Letter”), in a form and substance reasonably acceptable to Central, from the lenders, or the administrative agent (or similar Person) on behalf of the lenders, under each of (i) the East Credit Agreement and (ii) the East Loan Agreement (in each case, a draft of which shall be provided to Central no less than two (2) Business Days prior to the anticipated Closing Date). Such Payoff Letter shall (a) confirm the aggregate outstanding amount required to be paid to fully satisfy all principal, interest, prepayment premiums, penalties, breakage costs or any other outstanding and unpaid Indebtedness under the East Credit Agreement or the East Loan Agreement, as applicable, as of the anticipated Closing Date (and the daily accrual of interest thereafter), (b) contain payment instructions and (c) evidence the satisfaction, release and discharge of the Indebtedness under the East Credit Agreement or the East Loan Agreement, as applicable, and the agreement by such administrative agent or lenders to the release of all Encumbrances (including mortgages) upon the payment of such amount in accordance with the payment instructions. Prior to or at the Closing, East shall have (a) delivered (by the applicable date required under the terms of the East Credit Agreement or the East Loan Agreement, as applicable) any notices necessary to permit the prepayment, payoff, discharge and termination in full at the Closing of all Indebtedness under each of the East Credit Agreement and the East Loan Agreement, in each case, on the Closing Date and (b) obtained such documents (including an authorization to file the Uniform Commercial Code termination statements upon the payment in full of the outstanding amounts under each of the East Credit Agreement and the East Loan Agreement, as applicable) and releases as are reasonably necessary to release all Encumbrances (including mortgages) created in connection with each of the East Credit Agreement and the East Loan Agreement, as applicable.

(b) If requested by Central, East shall, and shall cause its controlled Affiliates and Representatives to use its and their reasonable best efforts to reasonably cooperate with Central with respect to the Existing East Notes and the related indentures (as amended or supplemented prior to the date hereof), to (i) commence any of (1) one or more offers to purchase any or all of the outstanding series of Existing East Notes for cash (the “Offers to Purchase”) or (2) one or

85

more offers to exchange any or all of the outstanding Existing East Notes for securities issued by Central or any of its controlled Affiliates (the “Offers to Exchange”) and (ii) conduct consent solicitations to obtain from the requisite holders thereof consent to certain amendments to such indentures (the “Consent Solicitations” and, together with the Offers to Purchase and Offers to Exchange, if any, the “East Note Offers and Consent Solicitations”); provided that any such transaction shall be funded using consideration provided by Central, Central shall be responsible for all other liabilities, fees and expenses incurred by East or any East Subsidiary in connection with any East Notes Offers and Consent Solicitations and no Offer to Purchase or Offer to Exchange shall be consummated prior to Closing. Any East Note Offers and Consent Solicitations shall be made on customary terms and conditions (including price to be paid and conditionality) as are reasonably proposed by Central, are reasonably acceptable to East and are permitted or required by the terms of such Existing East Notes, the applicable indentures and applicable Laws, including applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. Subject to the receipt of the requisite consents, in connection with any or all of the Consent Solicitations, East shall execute supplemental indentures to the applicable Existing East Notes indentures in accordance with the terms thereof amending the terms and provisions of such indentures in a form as reasonably requested by Central and reasonably acceptable to East, which supplemental indentures shall not become effective until Closing. At Central’s expense, East shall, and shall cause the East Subsidiaries to, and shall use reasonable best efforts to cause its and their respective controlled Affiliates and Representatives to, on a timely basis, upon the reasonable request of Central, provide reasonable assistance and cooperation in connection with any East Note Offers and Consent Solicitations, including but not limited to using reasonable best efforts to (i) cause East’s independent accountants (and certified independent auditors of any Entity recently acquired or whose acquisition by East is pending of whose financial statements would be required to be included in order for a registration statement on Form S-1 filed by East to be declared effective) to provide customary consents for use of their reports and to provide customary comfort letters (including “negative assurances” comfort) for the financial information relating to East and the East Subsidiaries (including any Entity recently acquired by East or whose acquisition by East is pending), in each case, to the extent required in connection with any East Note Offers and Consent Solicitations, (ii) cause East’s Representatives to furnish any customary certificates, legal opinions or negative assurance letters in connection with the East Note Offers and Consent Solicitations, (iii) provide reasonable cooperation to the underwriters, dealer managers or similar agents in any East Note Offers and Consent Solicitations in connection with their related diligence activities, including providing access to documentation reasonably requested by such persons, and (iv) provide reasonable assistance in the preparation of customary documentation, including prospectuses, offers to purchase or similar documents (which may incorporate, by reference, periodic and current reports filed by East with the SEC). The dealer manager, solicitation agent, information agent, depositary or other agent retained in connection with any East Note Offers and Consent Solicitations will be selected by the Central and be reasonably acceptable to East and the fees and expenses of such agents will be paid directly by Central.

Section 5.16 Shareholder Litigation. East shall give Central a reasonable opportunity to participate in the defense or settlement of any shareholder litigation against East or its directors or officers relating to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and no such settlement shall be agreed to without the prior written consent of Central, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Central shall give East a reasonable opportunity to participate in the defense or settlement of any stockholder litigation against Central

86

or its directors or officers relating to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and no such settlement shall be agreed to without the prior written consent of East, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Without limiting in any way the parties’ obligations under Section 5.5, each of Central and East shall cooperate, shall cause their respective Subsidiaries, as applicable, to cooperate and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its Representatives to cooperate in the defense against such litigation.

Section 5.17 Cooperation. Each of East and Central will, and will cause its Subsidiaries and Representatives to, use its reasonable best efforts, subject to applicable Law, to cooperate with the other party in connection with planning the integration of the business operations of East and Central and their respective Subsidiaries.

Section 5.18 Governance.

Prior to the Effective Time, Central shall take:

(a) all actions as may be necessary to cause (A) the number of directors constituting the Central Board as of the Effective Time to be 12, and (B) the Central Board as of the Effective Time to be composed of (i) 7 directors currently serving on the Central Board designated by Central prior to the Effective Time (at least 5 of whom shall meet the independence standards of the NYSE with respect to Central), (ii) 5 directors currently serving on the East Board designated by East prior to the Effective Time (at least 4 of whom shall meet the independence standards of the NYSE with respect to Central (and of which one of whom shall be nominated pursuant to the New Felix Stockholders’ Agreement)), (iii) the President and Chief Executive Officer of Central immediately prior to the Effective Time, and (iv) the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of East immediately prior to the Effective Time;

(b) all actions as may be necessary to cause (i) each of the Audit, Compensation and Reserves committees of the Central Board as of the Effective Time to be composed of three (3) directors designated by Central and two (2) directors designated by East, and (ii) the Governance committee of the Central Board as of the Effective Time to be composed of two (2) directors designated by Central and two (2) directors designated by East; and

(c) such other action as is identified in Section 5.18 of the Central Disclosure Letter.

Section 5.19 Corporate Governance Policy. On or prior to the Closing, Central shall take all actions (including holding a meeting of the Central Board (or a duly authorized committee thereof)) to approve and adopt the Corporate Governance Policy. For a period of two years following the Effective Time (the “Governance Period”), unless required by applicable Law or stock exchange rule or listing standard (as determined in good faith by the Central Board after consultation with outside legal counsel), Central shall not amend, modify or terminate or agree to amend, modify or terminate the Corporate Governance Policy or take any action, or agree to take any action that would have the effect of causing Central to no longer be bound by the Corporate Governance Policy, except as approved by at least 75% of the Central Board or in compliance with the terms of the Corporate Governance Policy. Throughout the duration of the Governance Period, unless required by applicable Law or stock exchange rule or listing standard (as determined in

87

good faith by the Central Board after consultation with outside legal counsel), Central shall comply in all material respects with the Corporate Governance Policy. It is expressly agreed that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement that may be to the contrary, (i) each non-management director designated by East and non-management director designated by Central shall be an express third party beneficiary of this Section 5.19 and (ii) this Section 5.19 shall survive consummation of the Merger until the expiration of the Governance Period and shall be enforceable against Central by any non-management director designated by East who is, at the time of such enforcement action, a director of Central; provided, however that none of such persons shall be entitled to bring any claim for damages or other remedies at law or equity except for claims for injunctive relief to specifically perform this Section 5.19.

Section 5.20 Charitable Contributions. Following the Effective Time, Central shall provide, directly or indirectly, charitable contributions and community support within the Tulsa, Oklahoma area, in accordance with Section 5.20 of the East Disclosure Letter.

Section 5.21 New Felix Agreements. Central agrees that at or prior to the Effective Time, it will enter into the New Felix Stockholders’ Agreement and the New Felix Registration Rights Agreement.

ARTICLE VI

CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER

Section 6.1 Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation. The respective obligations of East, Central and Merger Sub to consummate the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted by Law, the waiver by each party on or prior to the Effective Time, of each of the following conditions:

(a) The East Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained;

(b) The Central Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained;

(c) No provision of any applicable Law and no Order (preliminary or otherwise) shall be in effect that prohibits the consummation of the Merger;

(d) Any waiting period (and any extension of such period) under the HSR Act applicable to the transactions contemplated hereby shall have expired or otherwise been terminated;

(e) The Registration Statement shall have become effective under the Securities Act and no stop order suspending the use of the Registration Statement or the Joint Proxy Statement shall have been issued by the SEC nor shall proceedings seeking a stop order have been initiated or, to the Knowledge of East or Central, as the case may be, be threatened by the SEC; and

(f) Central shall have filed with the NYSE the Subsequent Listing Application with respect to the shares of Central Common Stock issued or issuable pursuant to this Agreement and such shares of Central Common Stock shall have been approved and authorized for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance.

88

Section 6.2 Additional Conditions to Central’s and Merger Sub’s Obligations. The respective obligations of Central and Merger Sub to consummate the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted by Law, the waiver by Central and Merger Sub on or prior to the Effective Time of each of the following conditions:

(a) East shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all of its covenants, obligations or agreements required to be performed or complied with under the Agreement prior to the Effective Time;

(b) The representations and warranties of East contained (i) in the first sentence of Section 2.1(a), Section 2.1(c), Section 2.2 and Section 2.4 shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except for de minimis inaccuracies, (ii) Section 2.8(b) shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date) and (iii) in this Agreement (other than the representations and warranties of East set forth in the first sentence of Section 2.1(a), Section 2.1(c), Section 2.2, Section 2.4 and Section 2.8(b)) shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “East Material Adverse Effect” set forth in any individual such representation or warranty) as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except (in the case of this clause (iii)) where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “East Material Adverse Effect” set forth in any individual such representation or warranty) would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an East Material Adverse Effect; and

(c) Central shall have received a certificate from a duly authorized officer of East certifying as to the matters set forth in foregoing paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section 6.2.

The foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of Central and Merger Sub and may, subject to the terms of this Agreement, be waived by Central and Merger Sub, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time, in the sole discretion of Central and Merger Sub. The failure by Central and Merger Sub at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights shall not be deemed a waiver of any such right and each such right shall be deemed an ongoing right which may be asserted at any time and from time to time prior to the Effective Time.

Section 6.3 Additional Conditions to East’s Obligations. The obligations of East to consummate the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted by Law, the waiver by East on or prior to the Effective Time of each of the following conditions:

(a) Each of Central and Merger Sub shall have performed or complied in all material respects with its respective covenants, obligations or agreements required to be performed or complied with under the Agreement prior to the Effective Time;

89

(b) The representations and warranties of Central contained (i) in the first sentence of Section 3.1(a), Section 3.1(c), Section 3.2 and Section 3.4 shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except for de minimis inaccuracies, (ii) Section 3.7(b) shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date) and (iii) in this Agreement (other than the representations and warranties of Central set forth in the first sentence of Section 3.1(a), Section 3.1(c), Section 3.2, Section 3.4 and Section 3.7(b)) shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Central Material Adverse Effect” set forth in any individual such representation or warranty) as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except (in the case of this clause (iii)) where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Central Material Adverse Effect” set forth in any individual such representation or warranty) would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Central Material Adverse Effect; and

(c) East shall have received a certificate from a duly authorized officer of Central as to the matters set forth in foregoing paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section 6.3.

The foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of East and may, subject to the terms of this Agreement, be waived by East, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time, in the sole discretion of East. The failure by East at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights shall not be deemed a waiver of any such right and each such right shall be deemed an ongoing right which may be asserted at any time and from time to time prior to the Effective Time.

ARTICLE VII

TERMINATION

Section 7.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after adoption of this Agreement by East Stockholders or approval of the Central Proposal by the Central Stockholders, in the following circumstances:

(a) by mutual written consent of Central and East;

(b) by either Central or East if:

(i) the Merger shall not have been consummated on or prior to March 26, 2021 (the “Termination Date”); provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(b)(i) shall not be available to any party whose action or failure to act has been the primary cause of the failure of the Merger to occur on or before such date and such action or failure to act constitutes a material breach of this Agreement by such party;

(ii) a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Entity shall have issued a final and nonappealable Order, or shall have taken any other action, having

90

the effect of permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Merger; provided, however, the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(b)(ii) shall not be available to any party whose failure to perform any of its obligations pursuant to Section 5.5 resulted in the entry of the Order or the taking of such other action;

(iii) the required approval of East Stockholders contemplated by this Agreement at the East Stockholders’ Meeting (or at any adjournment thereof) shall not have been obtained; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(b)(iii) shall not be available to East where the failure to obtain the required approval of the East Stockholders shall have been caused by the action or failure to act of East and such action or failure to act constitutes a material breach by East of this Agreement; or

(iv) the required approval of the Central Stockholders contemplated by this Agreement at the Central Stockholders’ Meeting (or any adjournment thereof) shall not have been obtained; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(b)(iv) shall not be available to Central where the failure to obtain the required approval of the Central Stockholders shall have been caused by the actions or failure to act of Central and such action or failure to act constitutes a material breach by Central of this Agreement;

(c) by Central:

(i) at any time prior to the Effective Time, if any of East’s covenants, representations or warranties contained in this Agreement (other than those set forth in Section 5.4) shall have been breached or, any of East’s representations and warranties shall have become untrue, such that any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(a) or Section 6.2(b) would not be satisfied, and such breach (i) is incapable of being cured by East or (ii) shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days of receipt by East of written notice of such breach describing in reasonable detail such breach;

(ii) at any time prior to the receipt of the East Stockholder Approval, if the East Board or any committee thereof (A) shall make an East Adverse Recommendation Change, (B) shall approve or adopt or recommend the approval or adoption of any Acquisition Proposal with respect to East or the execution of a definitive agreement with respect to an Acquisition Proposal with respect to East (other than any Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement permitted by Section 5.4(a)), (C) shall not include the East Recommendation in the Joint Proxy Statement or (D) shall resolve, agree to, publicly propose to or allow East to publicly propose to take any of the actions in the foregoing clauses (A)-(C);

(iii) at any time prior to the receipt of the East Stockholder Approval, if East materially breaches Section 5.4, other than in the case where (A) such material breach is a result of an isolated action by a Person that is a Representative of East, (B) East uses reasonable best efforts to remedy such material breach and (C) Central is not significantly harmed as a result thereof.

91

(d) by East:

(i) at any time prior to the Effective Time, if any of Central’s or Merger Sub’s covenants, representations or warranties contained in this Agreement shall have been breached or, any of Central’s and Merger Sub’s representations and warranties shall have become untrue, such that any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.3(b) of this Agreement would not be satisfied, and such breach (i) is incapable of being cured by Central or Merger Sub, as the case may be, or (ii) shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days of receipt by Central of written notice of such breach describing in reasonable detail such breach;

(ii) at any time prior to the receipt of the Central Stockholder Approval, if the Central Board, or any committee thereof (A) shall make a Central Adverse Recommendation Change, (B) shall approve or adopt or recommend the approval or adoption of any Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central or the execution of a definitive agreement in connection with an Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central (other than any Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement permitted by Section 5.4(d)), (C) shall not include the Central Recommendation in the Joint Proxy Statement or (D) shall resolve, agree to, publicly propose to or allow Central to publicly propose to take any of the actions in the foregoing clauses (A)-(C); or

(iii) at any time prior to the receipt of the Central Stockholder Approval, if Central materially breaches Section 5.4, other than in the case where (A) such material breach is a result of an isolated action by a Person that is a Representative of Central, (B) Central uses reasonable best efforts to remedy such material breach and (C) East is not significantly harmed as a result thereof.

Section 7.2 Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 7.1 of this Agreement, this Agreement shall be of no further force or effect; provided, however, that (a) this Section 7.2, Section 7.3 and Article VIII of this Agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement and shall remain in full force and effect and (b) the termination of this Agreement shall not relieve any party from any liability or damages resulting from fraud or any Willful and Material Breach of any provision contained in this Agreement.

Section 7.3 Expenses; Termination Fees.

(a) Expenses.

(i) Except as provided below, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be borne solely and entirely by the party incurring such expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated.

(ii) In the event that this Agreement is terminated by either Central or East pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(iii) [No East Stockholder Approval], then East shall pay to Central the Expenses. Any Expenses due under this Section 7.3(a)(ii) shall be paid no later than three (3) Business Days after receipt of documentation supporting such Expenses.

92

(iii) In the event that this Agreement is terminated by either Central or East pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(iv) [No Central Stockholder Approval], then Central shall pay to East the Expenses. Any Expenses due under this Section 7.3(a)(iii) shall be paid no later than three (3) Business Days after receipt of documentation supporting such Expenses.

(b) Termination Fee.

(i) In the event that this Agreement is terminated by East pursuant to Section 7.1(d)(ii) [Central Adverse Recommendation Change] or Section 7.1(d)(iii) [Central Material Breach of Non-Solicitation], then Central shall pay to East the Termination Fee as promptly as possible (but in any event within three (3) Business Days) following such termination.

(ii) In the event that this Agreement is terminated by Central pursuant to Section 7.1(c)(ii) [East Adverse Recommendation Change] or Section 7.1(c)(iii) [East Material Breach of Non-Solicitation], then East shall pay to Central the Termination Fee as promptly as possible (but in any event within three (3) Business Days) following such termination.

(iii) In the event that (A) prior to the East Stockholders’ Meeting, an Acquisition Proposal with respect to East is publicly proposed or publicly disclosed after the date of this Agreement , (B) this Agreement is terminated by Central or East pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(i) [Termination Date], Section 7.1(b)(iii) [No East Stockholder Approval] or Section 7.1(c)(i) [East Breach], and (C) concurrently with or within nine (9) months after any such termination described in clause (B), East or any of the East Subsidiaries enters into a definitive agreement with respect to, or otherwise consummates, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to East (substituting fifty percent (50%) for the fifteen percent (15%) threshold set forth in the definition of “Acquisition Proposal” for all purposes under this Section 7.3(b)(iii)), then East shall pay to Central the Termination Fee as promptly as possible (but in any event within three (3) Business Days) following the earlier of the entry into such definitive agreement or consummation of such Acquisition Proposal.

(iv) In the event that (A) prior to the Central Stockholders’ Meeting, an Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central is publicly proposed or publicly disclosed after the date of this Agreement, (B) this Agreement is terminated by Central or East pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(i) [Termination Date], Section 7.1(b)(iv) [No Central Stockholder Approval] or Section 7.1(d)(i) [Central Breach], and (C) concurrently with or within nine (9) months after any such termination described in clause (B), Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries enters into a definitive agreement with respect to, or otherwise consummates, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to Central (substituting fifty percent (50%) for the fifteen percent (15%) threshold set forth in the definition of “Acquisition Proposal” for all purposes under this Section 7.3(b)(iv)), then Central shall pay to East the Termination Fee as promptly as possible (but in any event within three (3) Business Days) following the earlier of the entry into such definitive agreement or consummation of such Acquisition Proposal.

93

(v) In the event that this Agreement is terminated by either party pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(i) [Termination Date] and at the time of such termination, (A) the East Stockholder Approval shall not have been obtained and (B) Central would have been permitted to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(c)(ii) [East Adverse Recommendation Change] or Section 7.1(c)(iii) [East Material Breach of Non-Solicitation], then East shall pay to Central the Termination Fee as promptly as possible (but in any event within three (3) Business Days) following such termination.

(vi) In the event that this Agreement is terminated by either party pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(i) [Termination Date] and at the time of such termination, (A) the Central Stockholder Approval shall not have been obtained and (B) East would have been permitted to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(d)(ii) [Central Adverse Recommendation Change] or Section 7.1(d)(iii) [Central Material Breach of Non-Solicitation], then Central shall pay to East the Termination Fee as promptly as possible (but in any event within three (3) Business Days) following such termination.

(vii) As used in this Agreement:

(1) “Termination Fee” shall mean $75,000,000.

(2) “Expenses” shall mean reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred or paid by or on behalf of the party receiving payment thereof and its Affiliates in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or related to the authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement, in each case including all reasonable and documented fees and expenses of law firms, commercial banks, investment banking firms, financing sources, accountants, experts and consultants to such party and its Affiliates; provided that the aggregate amount of Expenses reimbursable shall not exceed $20,000,000.

(viii) Upon payment of the Termination Fee, the paying party shall have no further liability with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby to the other party (provided that nothing herein shall release any party from liability for fraud or Willful and Material Breach). The parties acknowledge and agree that in no event shall either party be required to pay the Termination Fee or the Expenses, as applicable, on more than one occasion.

(ix) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 7.3, if East or Central receives a Termination Fee, then such Person will not be entitled to also receive a payment for the Expenses and if the Termination Fee is payable at such time as such Person has already received payment or concurrently receives payment in respect of the Expenses, the amount of the Expenses received by (or on behalf of) such Person shall be deducted from the Termination Fee.

(x) Each of the parties hereto acknowledges and agrees: (A) the agreements contained in this Section 7.3 are an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and that, without these agreements, the parties would not

94

enter into this Agreement and (B) that the Termination Fee and the Expenses, as applicable, are not intended to be a penalty, but rather are liquidated damages in a reasonable amount that will compensate a party hereto in the circumstances in which such payment is due and payable and which do not involve fraud or a Willful and Material Breach, for the efforts and resources expended and opportunities foregone while negotiating this Agreement and in reliance on this Agreement and on the expectation of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, which amount would otherwise be impossible to calculate with precision. If East or Central, as applicable, fails to pay in a timely manner any amount due pursuant to this Section 7.3, then (1) East or Central, as applicable, shall reimburse the other for all costs and expenses (including disbursements and reasonable fees of counsel) incurred in the collection of such overdue amount, including in connection with any related actions commenced and (2) East or Central, as applicable, shall pay to the other interest on such amount from and including the date payment of such amount was due to but excluding the date of actual payment at the prime rate set forth in The Wall Street Journal in effect on the date such payment was required to be made plus 2%.

(xi) The parties agree that the monetary remedies set forth in this Section 7.3 and the specific performance remedies set forth in Section 8.11 shall be the sole and exclusive remedies of (A) East and its Subsidiaries against Central and Merger Sub and any of their respective former, current or future directors, officers, stockholders, Representatives or Affiliates for any loss suffered as a result of the failure of the Merger to be consummated and upon payment of such amount, none of Central or Merger Sub or any of their respective former, current or future directors, officers, stockholders, Representatives or Affiliates shall have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the Merger or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that no such payment shall relieve East of any liability or damages to Central or Merger Sub as a result of fraud or a Willful and Material Breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation (in which case only East shall be liable for damages for such fraud or Willful and Material Breach); and (B) Central and Merger Sub against East and its Subsidiaries and any of their respective former, current or future directors, officers, stockholders, Representatives or Affiliates for any loss suffered as a result of the failure of the Merger to be consummated and upon payment of such amount, none of East and its Subsidiaries or any of their respective former, current or future directors, officers, stockholders, Representatives or Affiliates shall have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the Merger or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that no such payment shall relieve Central and Merger Sub of any liability or damages to East as a result of fraud or a Willful and Material Breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation (in which case only Central and Merger Sub shall be liable for damages for such fraud or Willful and Material Breach).

ARTICLE VIII

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 8.1 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended with the approval of the respective Boards of Directors of East, Merger Sub and Central at any time (whether before or after any required approval by the East Stockholders or the Central Stockholders); provided,

95

however, that after the receipt of East Stockholder Approval, no amendment shall be made which by applicable Laws or the rules of the NYSE requires further approval of East Stockholders without the further approval of such stockholders. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto.

Section 8.2 Waiver.

(a) No failure on the part of any party to exercise any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, and no delay on the part of any party in exercising any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, shall operate as a waiver of such power, right, privilege or remedy; and no single or partial exercise of any such power, right, privilege or remedy shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof or of any other power, right, privilege or remedy.

(b) No party shall be deemed to have waived any claim arising out of this Agreement, or any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, unless the waiver of such claim, power, right, privilege or remedy is expressly set forth in a written instrument duly executed and delivered on behalf of such party; and any such waiver shall not be applicable or have any effect except in the specific instance in which it is given.

Section 8.3 No Survival of Representations and Warranties. None of the representations, warranties or agreements contained in this Agreement or in any certificate delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the Effective Time, except for agreements which expressly by their terms survive the Effective Time.

Section 8.4 Entire Agreement; Counterparts. This Agreement (and the Confidentiality Agreement and the East Disclosure Letter and Central Disclosure Letter) constitutes the entire agreement among the parties hereto and supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among or between any of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, it being understood that the Confidentiality Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until the Closing and shall survive any termination of this Agreement. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument.

Section 8.5 Applicable Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflict of laws. The parties hereto hereby declare that it is their intention that this Agreement shall be regarded as made under the laws of the State of Delaware and that the laws of said State shall be applied in interpreting its provisions in all cases where legal interpretation shall be required. Each of the parties hereto agrees that any action, suit or other Legal Proceeding arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (a “Proceeding”) shall be commenced and conducted exclusively in the federal or state courts of the State of Delaware, and each of the parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally: (a) consents to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal and state courts in the State of Delaware for any Proceeding (and each party agrees not to commence any Proceeding, except in such courts); (b) waives any objection to the laying of venue of any Proceeding in the federal or state courts of the State of Delaware; (c) waives, and agrees not to plead or to make, any claim that any Proceeding brought in any federal or state court of the State of Delaware has been brought in an improper or otherwise inconvenient forum; and (d)

96

waives, and agrees not to plead or to make, any claim that any Proceeding shall be transferred or removed to any other forum. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees: (i) to the extent such party is not otherwise subject to service of process in the State of Delaware, to appoint and maintain an agent in the State of Delaware as such party’s agent for acceptance of legal process and (ii) that service of process may also be made on such party by prepaid certified mail with a proof of mailing receipt validated by the United States Postal Service constituting evidence of valid service, and that service made pursuant to clauses (i) or (ii) above shall have the same legal force and effect as if served upon such party personally within the State of Delaware.

Section 8.6 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

Section 8.7 Assignability. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall be enforceable by and inure solely to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns; provided, however, that neither this Agreement nor any rights, interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned by any party hereto without the prior written consent of all other parties hereto, and any attempted assignment of this Agreement or any of such rights, interests or obligations without such consent shall be void and of no effect.

Section 8.8 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except for (a) the right to receive the Merger Consideration as provided in Article I and the provisions of Section 5.6 (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the rights of the former holders of East Common Stock or, where applicable, Converted RSAs, to receive the Merger Consideration) but only from and after the, and subject to the occurrence of, Effective Time, (b) the right of the Indemnified Parties to enforce the provisions of Section 5.8 only (which from and after the Effective Time is intended for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, the Persons referred to therein and by their respective heirs and Representatives) but only from and after, and subject to the occurrence of, the Effective Time, and (c) the rights of the non-management directors in Section 5.19, Central and East agree that (i) their respective representations, warranties and covenants set forth herein are solely for the benefit of the other party hereto, in accordance with and subject to the terms of this Agreement and (ii) this Agreement is not intended to, and does not, confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder, including the right to rely upon the representations and warranties set forth herein.

Section 8.9 Notices. Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be delivered to any party under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed properly delivered, given and received (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally, (b) on the date of confirmation of receipt (or the first Business Day following such receipt if the transmission is after 5 p.m. Central Time on such date or if the date is not a Business Day) of transmission by electronic mail, or (c) on the date of confirmation of receipt (or the first Business Day following such receipt if the date is not a Business Day) if delivered by a nationally recognized overnight courier service. All notices hereunder shall be delivered to the address or electronic mail set forth beneath the name of such party below (or to such other address or electronic mail as such party shall have specified in a written notice given to the other parties hereto):

97

If to Central or Merger Sub:

Devon Energy Corporation

333 West Sheridan Avenue

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102

Attention: Jeffrey L. Ritenour; Lyndon C. Taylor; Edward Highberger

Email: Jeff.Ritenour@dvn.com; lyndon.taylor@dvn.com;

Edward.Highberger@dvn.com

with a copy to (which copy shall not constitute notice hereunder):

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP

1000 Louisiana Street

Suite 6800

Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: Frank Ed Bayouth II

Email: Frank.Bayouth@skadden.com;

If to East:

WPX Energy, Inc.

One Williams Center, Suite 3800

Tulsa, Oklahoma 74172

Attention: Dennis Cameron

Email: Dennis.Cameron@wpxenergy.com

with a copy to (which copy shall not constitute notice hereunder):

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

609 Main Street

Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: Sean T. Wheeler; Debbie Yee

Email: sean.wheeler@kirkland.com; debbie.yee@kirkland.com;

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

1601 Elm Street

Dallas, Texas 75201

Attention: Kevin T. Crews

Email: kevin.crews@kirkland.com

Section 8.10 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or any part of any such provision is held under any circumstances to be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, then (a) the invalidity or unenforceability of such provision or part thereof under such circumstances and in such jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such provision or part thereof under any other circumstances or in any other jurisdiction and (b) the invalidity or unenforceability of such provision or part thereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of such provision or the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this

98

Agreement; provided that the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in a materially adverse manner to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original interest of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the maximum extent possible.

Section 8.11 Specific Performance. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any provision of this Agreement is not performed in accordance with its specific terms or is otherwise breached. The parties agree that, in the event of any breach by the other party of any covenant or obligation contained in this Agreement, the other party shall be entitled (in addition to any other remedy that may be available to it, including monetary damages) to obtain (a) a decree or order of specific performance to enforce the observance and performance of such covenant or obligation and (b) an injunction restraining such breach. The parties further agree that no party to this Agreement shall be required to obtain, furnish or post any bond or similar instrument in connection with or as a condition to obtaining any remedy referred to in this Section 8.11 and each party waives any objection to the imposition of such relief or any right it may have to require the obtaining, furnishing or posting of any such bond or similar instrument.

Section 8.12 Construction.

Unless expressly provided for elsewhere in this Agreement, this Agreement will be interpreted in accordance with the following provisions:

(a) for purposes of this Agreement, whenever the context requires: the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders; the feminine gender shall include the masculine and neuter genders; and the neuter gender shall include masculine and feminine genders;

(b) the parties hereto agree that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be applied in the construction or interpretation of this Agreement;

(c) examples are not to be construed to limit, expressly or by implication, the matter they illustrate;

(d) the word “including” and its derivatives means “including without limitation” and is a term of illustration and not of limitation;

(e) all definitions set forth herein are deemed applicable whether the words defined are used herein in the singular or in the plural and correlative forms of defined terms have corresponding meanings;

(f) the word “or” is not exclusive, and has the inclusive meaning represented by the phrase “and/or”;

99

(g) a defined term has its defined meaning throughout this Agreement and each exhibit and schedule to this Agreement, regardless of whether it appears before or after the place where it is defined;

(h) all references to prices, values or monetary amounts refer to United States dollars;

(i) this Agreement has been jointly prepared by the parties hereto, and this Agreement will not be construed against any Person as the principal draftsperson hereof or thereof and no consideration may be given to any fact or presumption that any party had a greater or lesser hand in drafting this Agreement;

(j) the captions of the articles, sections or subsections appearing in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of convenience and in no way define, limit, construe or describe the scope or extent of such section, or in any way affect this Agreement;

(k) any references herein to a particular Section, Article, Annex or Schedule means a Section or Article of, or an Annex or Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise expressly stated herein;

(l) the Annexes and Schedules attached hereto are incorporated herein by reference and will be considered part of this Agreement;

(m) all references to a Person includes such Person’s predecessors and permitted successors and assigns;

(n) unless otherwise specified herein, all accounting terms used herein will be interpreted, and all determinations with respect to accounting matters hereunder will be made, in accordance with GAAP, applied on a consistent basis;

(o) all references to days mean calendar days unless otherwise provided;

(p) all references to time mean Oklahoma City, Oklahoma time; and

(q) all references to “the date of this Agreement,” “date hereof” and terms of similar import, unless the context otherwise requires, shall be deemed to refer to September 26, 2020.

Section 8.13 Certain Definitions.

(a) As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

(i) “Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement” shall mean (a) a confidentiality agreement on terms no less favorable to East or Central, as applicable, than the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement and (b) such confidentiality agreement shall not prohibit compliance by Central or East, as applicable, with any of the provisions of Section 5.4 as between Central, on the one hand, and East, on the other hand.

100

(ii) “Acquisition Proposal” shall mean any bona fide proposal, whether or not in writing, for the (i) direct or indirect acquisition or purchase of a business or assets that constitutes fifteen percent (15%) or more of the net revenues, net income or the assets (based on the fair market value thereof) of such party and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (ii) direct or indirect acquisition or purchase of fifteen percent (15%) or more of any class of equity securities or capital stock of such party or any of its Subsidiaries whose business constitutes fifteen percent (15%) or more of the net revenues, net income or assets of such party and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (iii) merger, consolidation, restructuring, transfer of assets or other business combination, sale of shares of capital stock, tender offer, exchange offer, recapitalization, stock repurchase program or other similar transaction that if consummated would result in any Person or Persons beneficially owning fifteen percent (15%) or more of any class of equity securities of such party or any of its Subsidiaries whose business constitutes fifteen percent (15%) or more of the net revenues, net income or assets of such party and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(iii) “Affiliate” shall have the meaning as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act.

(iv) “Anti-Corruption Laws” shall mean any applicable law for the prevention or punishment of public or commercial corruption and bribery, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, U.K. Bribery Act 2010 and any applicable anti-corruption or anti-bribery law of any other applicable jurisdiction.

(v) “Book-Entry Common Share” shall mean each uncertificated share of East Common Stock.

(vi) “Business Day” shall mean any day, other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking and savings and loan institutions in New York or Oklahoma are authorized or required by Law to be closed.

(vii) “Central Credit Agreement” shall mean that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2018, among Central, as borrower, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and a letter of credit issuer, and the lenders and letter of credit issuers from time to time party thereto, as amended by that First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Extension Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2019, and as further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

(viii) “Central Intervening Event” shall mean a material event, fact, circumstance, development or occurrence not related to an Acquisition Proposal that is not known or reasonably foreseeable (or if known or reasonably foreseeable, the probability or magnitude of consequences of which were not known or reasonably foreseeable) to or by the Central Board as of the date of this Agreement, which event, fact, circumstance, development or occurrence becomes known to the Central Board prior to obtaining the Central Stockholder Approval. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the following events, changes or developments constitute a Central Intervening Event: changes

101

in the market price or trading volume of Central Common Stock, East Common Stock or any other securities of Central or East, or any change in credit rating of Central or East or the fact that Central or East meets, fails to meet, or exceeds internal or published estimates, projections, forecasts or predictions for any period (it being understood that the underlying cause thereof may constitute a Central Intervening Event).

(ix) “Central Material Adverse Effect” shall mean, when used with respect to Central and the Central Subsidiaries, (A) a material adverse effect on the ability of Central and the Central Subsidiaries to perform or comply with any material obligation under this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby in accordance with the terms hereof, or (B) any changes, events, developments, conditions, occurrences, effects or combination of the foregoing that materially adversely affects the business, results of operations or financial condition of Central and the Central Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, but none of the following changes, events, developments, conditions, occurrences or effects (either alone or in combination) will be taken into account for purposes of determining whether or not a Central Material Adverse Effect has occurred:

(1) changes in the general economic, financial, credit or securities markets, including prevailing interest rates or currency rates, or regulatory or political conditions and changes in oil, natural gas, condensate or natural gas liquids prices or the prices of other commodities, including changes in price differentials;

(2) changes in general economic conditions in the:

(A) oil and gas exploration and production industry;

(B) the oil and gas gathering, compressing, treating, processing and transportation industry generally;

(C) the natural gas liquids fractionating and transportation industry generally;

(D) the crude oil and condensate logistics and marketing industry generally; and

(E) the natural gas marketing and trading industry generally (including in each case changes in law affecting such industries);

(3) the outbreak or escalation of hostilities or acts of war or terrorism, or any escalation or worsening thereof;

(4) any hurricane, tornado, flood, earthquake or other natural disaster;

(5) any epidemic, pandemic or disease outbreak (including the COVID-19 virus), or other public health condition, or any other force majeure event, or any escalation or worsening thereof;

102

(6) the identity of, or actions or omissions of, East and its respective Affiliates, or any action taken pursuant to or in accordance with this Agreement or at the request of or with the consent of East; provided that the exception in this clause (6) shall not apply to references to “Central Material Adverse Effect” in the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.5(b) and, to the extent related thereto, the condition set forth in Section 6.3(b);

(7) the announcement or pendency of this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, compliance with or performance of obligations under this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby); provided that the exception in this clause (7) shall not apply to references to “Central Material Adverse Effect” in the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.5(b) and, to the extent related thereto, the condition set forth in Section 6.3(b);

(8) any change in the market price or trading volume of the common stock of Central (it being understood and agreed that the exception in this clause (8) shall not preclude, prevent or otherwise affect a determination that the facts, circumstances, changes, events, developments, conditions, occurrences or effects giving rise to such change (unless excepted under the other clauses of this definition) should be deemed to constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been, a Central Material Adverse Effect);

(9) any failure to meet any financial projections or estimates or forecasts of revenues, earnings or other financial metrics for any period (it being understood and agreed that the exception in this clause (9) shall not preclude, prevent or otherwise affect a determination that the facts, circumstances, changes, events, developments, conditions, occurrences or effects giving rise to such failure (unless excepted under the other clauses of this definition) should be deemed to constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been, a Central Material Adverse Effect);

(10) any downgrade in rating of any Indebtedness or debt securities of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries (it being understood and agreed that the exception in this clause (10) shall not preclude, prevent or otherwise affect a determination that the facts, circumstances, changes, events, developments, conditions, occurrences or effects giving rise to such downgrade (unless excepted under the other clauses of this definition) should be deemed to constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been, a Central Material Adverse Effect);

(11) changes in any Laws or regulations applicable to Central or any of Central’s Subsidiaries or their respective assets or operations;

(12) changes in applicable accounting regulations or the interpretations thereof; and

(13) any Legal Proceedings commenced by or involving any current or former director or stockholder of Central (on its own behalf or on behalf of Central) arising out of or related to this Agreement or the Merger or other transactions contemplated hereby.

103

provided, however, that any change, event, development, circumstance, condition, occurrence or effect referred to in the foregoing clauses (1), (2), (3), (4), (5) or (12) will, unless otherwise excluded, be taken into account for purposes of determining whether a Central Material Adverse Effect has occurred if and to the extent that such change, event, development, circumstance, condition, occurrence or effect disproportionately affects Central and the Central Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other similarly situated companies in the industries in which Central and the Central Subsidiaries operate.

(x) “Cleanup” shall mean all actions required to be taken under or pursuant to any Environmental Law to: (1) cleanup, remove, treat or remediate Hazardous Materials in the indoor or outdoor environment; (2) prevent the Release of Hazardous Materials so that they do not migrate, endanger or threaten to endanger public health or welfare or the indoor or outdoor environment; (3) perform pre-remedial studies and investigations and post-remedial monitoring and care; or (4) respond to any government requests for information or documents in any way relating to cleanup, removal, treatment or remediation or potential cleanup, removal, treatment or remediation of Hazardous Materials in the indoor or outdoor environment.

(xi) “Contract” shall mean any legally binding written or oral agreement, contract, subcontract, lease, understanding, instrument, note, option, warranty, purchase order, license, sublicense, insurance policy, benefit plan or commitment or undertaking of any nature, excluding any Permit.

(xii) “Corporate Governance Policy” means the amended Corporate Governance Guidelines of Central to be adopted by Central in accordance with Section 5.19 and appended to this Agreement as Exhibit D.

(xiii) “Derivative Product” shall mean each Contract for any futures transaction, swap transaction, collar transaction, floor transaction, cap transaction, option, warrant, forward purchase or sale transaction relating to one or more currencies, commodities (including Hydrocarbons), interest rates, bonds, equity securities, loans, catastrophe events, weather-related events, credit-related events or conditions or any indexes, or any other similar transaction (including any option with respect to any of these transactions) or combination of any of these transactions, including collateralized mortgage obligations or other similar instruments or any debt or equity instruments evidencing or embedding any such types of transactions, and any related credit support, collateral or other similar arrangements related to such transactions.

(xiv) “DTC” means The Depositary Trust Company.

(xv) “East Credit Agreement” shall mean that certain Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2016, among East, as borrower, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and swingline lender, and the lenders from time to time party thereto, as amended by that certain Second Amendment

104

to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and First Amendment to Guaranty and Collateral Agreement, dated as of April 17, 2018, as further amended by that certain Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2019, as further amended by that certain Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 16, 2019, and as further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

(xvi) “East Intervening Event” shall mean a material event, fact, circumstance, development or occurrence not related to an Acquisition Proposal that is not known or reasonably foreseeable (or if known or reasonably foreseeable, the probability or magnitude of consequences of which were not known or reasonably foreseeable) to or by the East Board as of the date of this Agreement, which event, fact, circumstance, development or occurrence becomes known to the East Board prior to obtaining the East Stockholder Approval. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the following events, changes or developments constitute an East Intervening Event: changes in the market price or trading volume of Central Common Stock, East Common Stock or any other securities of Central or East, or any change in the credit rating of Central or East or the fact that Central or East meets, fails to meet, or exceeds internal or published estimates, projections, forecasts or predictions for any period (it being understood that the underlying cause thereof may constitute an East Intervening Event).

(xvii) “East Loan Agreement” shall mean that certain Loan Agreement, by and among WXP Energy Headquarters, LLC, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, and BOKF, NA dba Bank of Oklahoma, as administrative agent, dated as of January 13, 2020, and as further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

(xviii) “East Material Adverse Effect” shall mean, when used with respect to East and the East Subsidiaries, (A) a material adverse effect on the ability of East and the East Subsidiaries to perform or comply with any material obligation under this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby in accordance with the terms hereof, or (B) any changes, events, developments, conditions, occurrences, effects or combination of the foregoing that materially adversely affects the business, results of operations or financial condition of East and the East Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, but none of the following changes, events, developments, conditions, occurrences or effects (either alone or in combination) will be taken into account for purposes of determining whether or not an East Material Adverse Effect has occurred:

(1) changes in the general economic, financial, credit or securities markets, including prevailing interest rates or currency rates, or regulatory or political conditions and changes in oil, natural gas, condensate or natural gas liquids prices or the prices of other commodities, including changes in price differentials;

(2) changes in general economic conditions in the:

(A) oil and gas exploration and production industry;

105

(B) the oil and gas gathering, compressing, treating, processing and transportation industry generally;

(C) the natural gas liquids fractionating and transportation industry generally;

(D) the crude oil and condensate logistics and marketing industry generally; and

(E) the natural gas marketing and trading industry generally (including in each case changes in law affecting such industries);

(3) the outbreak or escalation of hostilities or acts of war or terrorism, or any escalation or worsening thereof;

(4) any hurricane, tornado, flood, earthquake or other natural disaster;

(5) any epidemic, pandemic or disease outbreak (including the COVID-19 virus), or other public health condition, or any other force majeure event, or any escalation or worsening thereof;

(6) the identity of, or actions or omissions of, Central, Merger Sub or their respective Affiliates, or any action taken pursuant to or in accordance with this Agreement or at the request of or with the consent of Central; provided that the exception in this clause (6) shall not apply to references to “East Material Adverse Effect” in the representations and warranties set forth in Section 2.5(b) and, to the extent related thereto, the condition set forth in Section 6.2(b);

(7) the announcement or pendency of this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, compliance with or performance of obligations under this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby); provided that the exception in this clause (7) shall not apply to references to “East Material Adverse Effect” in the representations and warranties set forth in Section 2.5(b) and, to the extent related thereto, the condition set forth in Section 6.2(b);

(8) any change in the market price or trading volume of the common stock of East (it being understood and agreed that the exception in this clause (8) shall not preclude, prevent or otherwise affect a determination that the facts, circumstances, changes, events, developments, conditions, occurrences or effects giving rise to such change (unless excepted under the other clauses of this definition) should be deemed to constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been, an East Material Adverse Effect);

(9) any failure to meet any financial projections or estimates or forecasts of revenues, earnings or other financial metrics for any period (it being understood and agreed that the exception in this clause (9) shall not preclude, prevent or otherwise affect a determination that the facts, circumstances, changes, events,

106

developments, conditions, occurrences or effects giving rise to such failure (unless excepted under the other clauses of this definition) should be deemed to constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been, an East Material Adverse Effect);

(10) any downgrade in rating of any Indebtedness or debt securities of East or any of the East Subsidiaries (it being understood and agreed that the exception in this clause (10) shall not preclude, prevent or otherwise affect a determination that the facts, circumstances, changes, events, developments, conditions, occurrences or effects giving rise to such downgrade (unless excepted under the other clauses of this definition) should be deemed to constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been, an East Material Adverse Effect);

(11) changes in any Laws or regulations applicable to East or any of East’s Subsidiaries or their respective assets or operations;

(12) changes in applicable accounting regulations or the interpretations thereof; and

(13) any Legal Proceedings commenced by or involving any current or former director or stockholder of East (on its own behalf or on behalf of East) arising out of or related to this Agreement or the Merger or other transactions contemplated hereby.

provided, however, that any change, event, development, circumstance, condition, occurrence or effect referred to in the foregoing clauses (1), (2), (3), (4), (5) or (12) will, unless otherwise excluded, be taken into account for purposes of determining whether an East Material Adverse Effect has occurred if and to the extent that such change, event, development, circumstance, condition, occurrence or effect disproportionately affects East and the East Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other similarly situated companies in the industries in which East and the East Subsidiaries operate.

(xix) “Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws” shall mean all applicable laws relating to anti-terrorism, the importation of goods, export controls, antiboycott, and Sanctions Targets, including prohibited or restricted international trade and financial transactions and lists maintained by any governmental body, agency, authority or Entity targeting certain countries, territories, entities or Persons. For the avoidance of doubt, the applicable laws referenced in the foregoing sentence include (A) any of the Trading With the Enemy Act, the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, the United Nations Participation Act, or the Syria Accountability and Lebanese Sovereignty Act, or any regulations of the U.S. Treasury Department Office of Foreign Assets Controls “OFAC”, or any export control law applicable to U.S.-origin goods, or any enabling legislation or executive order relating to any of the above, as collectively interpreted and applied by the U.S. Government at the prevailing point in time, (B) any U.S. sanctions related to or administered by the U.S. Department of State and (C) any sanctions measures or embargoes imposed by the United Nations Security Council, Her Majesty’s Treasury or the European Union.

107

(xx) “EDGAR” means the Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval System administered by the SEC.

(xxi) “Encumbrance” shall mean any lien, pledge, hypothecation, charge, mortgage, deed of trust, security interest, encumbrance, easement, title defect, lease, sublease, claim, infringement, interference, option, right of first refusal or preemptive right (including any restriction on the voting of any security, any restriction on the transfer of any security or other asset, any restriction on the receipt of any income derived from any asset, any restriction on the use of any asset and any restriction on the possession, exercise or transfer of any other attribute of ownership of any asset).

(xxii) “Entity” shall mean any corporation (including any non-profit corporation), general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, joint venture, estate, trust, company (including any limited liability company or joint stock company), firm or other enterprise, association, organization or entity.

(xxiii) “Environmental Claim” shall mean any claim, action, cause of action, investigation or notice by any Person alleging potential liability (including potential liability for investigatory costs, Cleanup costs, governmental response costs, natural resources damages, property damages, personal injuries, or penalties) arising out of, based on or resulting from (a) the presence, Release or threatened Release of any Hazardous Materials at any location, whether or not owned or operated by East or Central, or (b) circumstances forming the basis of any violation, or alleged violation, of any Environmental Law.

(xxiv) “Environmental Law” shall mean any applicable Law that relates to:

(1) the protection of the environment (including air, surface water, groundwater, surface land, subsurface land, plant and animal life or any other natural resource), human health or safety (to the extent related to exposure to Hazardous Materials); or

(2) the use, storage, recycling, treatment, generation, transportation, processing, handling, labeling, production, or Release of Hazardous Materials, in each case as in effect on or prior to the date of this Agreement.

(xxv) “executive officers” shall have the meaning given to such term in Rule 3b-7 under the Exchange Act.

(xxvi) “Existing East Notes” shall mean East’s 6.000% Senior Notes due 2022, 8.250% Senior Notes due 2023, 5.250% Senior Notes due 2024, 5.750% Senior Notes due 2026, 5.250% Senior Notes due 2027, 4.500% Senior Notes due 2030 and 5.875% Senior Notes due 2028.

(xxvii) “Felix” shall mean Felix Energy Holdings II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and shall be treated as a wholly-owned Subsidiary of East for all purposes under this Agreement.

108

(xxviii) “Felix Balance Sheet” shall means that audited consolidated balance sheet (and notes thereto) of Felix and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019 set forth in the East March 20 8-K/A.

(xxix) “Felix Stockholders’ Agreement” means that certain stockholders agreement, dated as of March 6, 2020, by and among East, Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC and solely for certain purposes, EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P., Skye Callantine and Michael Horton.

(xxx) “GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principles, as in effect in the United States of America.

(xxxi) “Governmental Entity” shall mean any federal, state, tribal, municipal, local or foreign government or any instrumentality, subdivision, court, arbitral body (public or private), administrative agency or commission or other authority thereof.

(xxxii) “Hazardous Materials” shall mean any substance, material or waste that is listed, defined, designated or classified or otherwise regulated as hazardous, toxic, radioactive, dangerous or a “pollutant” or “contaminant” or words of similar import pursuant to any Environmental Law, including Hydrocarbons and greenhouse gases or any hazardous substance as that term is defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. §9601 et seq., as amended, and any similar term used in any similar state authority.

(xxxiii) “Hydrocarbons” shall mean crude oil, natural gas, condensate, drip gas and natural gas liquids (including coalbed gas), ethane, propane, iso-butane, nor-butane, gasoline, scrubber liquids and other liquids or gaseous hydrocarbons or other substances (including minerals or gases), or any combination thereof, produced or associated therewith.

(xxxiv) “Indebtedness” of any Person shall mean:

(1) indebtedness created, issued or incurred by such Person for borrowed money (whether by loan or the issuance and sale of debt securities or the sale of property of such Person to another Person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to repurchase such property) or payment obligations issued or incurred by such Person in substitution or exchange for payment obligations for borrowed money;

(2) obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase or acquisition price for any property of such Person or any services received by such Person, including, in any such case, “earnout” payments;

(3) obligations of such Person in respect of letters of credit or similar instruments issued or accepted by banks and other financial institutions for the account of such Person;

109

(4) obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under a lease of (or other agreement conveying the right to use) any property to such Person to the extent such obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as a capital lease on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP;

(5) payment obligations secured by (or for which the holder of such payment obligations has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Encumbrance other than a Permitted Encumbrance, on assets or properties of such Person, whether or not the obligations secured thereby have been assumed;

(6) obligations to repay deposits or other amounts advanced by and therefore owing to any party that is not an Affiliate of such Person; and

(7) obligations of such Person under any Derivative Product; and

(8) indebtedness of others as described in the foregoing clauses (1) through (7) above in any manner guaranteed by such Person or for which such Person is or may become contingently liable; but Indebtedness does not include accounts payable to trade creditors, or accrued expenses arising in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, in each case, that are not yet due and payable, or are being disputed in good faith, and the endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business.

(xxxv) “Intellectual Property” shall mean all intellectual property rights recognized throughout the world, including all U.S. and foreign (i) patents, patent applications, patent disclosures, and all related continuations, continuations-in-part, divisionals, reissues, re-examinations, substitutions, and extensions thereof, (ii) trademarks, service marks, names, corporate names, trade names, domain names, social media accounts, logos, slogans, trade dress, and other similar designations of source or origin, together with the goodwill symbolized by any of the foregoing, (iii) copyrights and copyrightable subject matter, (iv) proprietary rights in computer programs (whether in source code, object code, or other form), databases, algorithms, compilations and other collections of data (including geophysical data), and in all documentation, including user manuals and training materials, related to any of the foregoing (collectively, “Software”), (v) trade secrets and other confidential information, including ideas, know-how, inventions, proprietary processes, formulae, models and methodologies and (vi) all applications and registrations for the foregoing.

(xxxvi) “Knowledge” shall mean with respect to any party hereto shall mean the actual knowledge of such party’s executive officers.

(xxxvii) “Law” shall mean any applicable federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other law, act, Order, statute, constitution, principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, rule, regulation or requirement issued, enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Entity.

110

(xxxviii) “Legal Proceeding” shall mean any action, suit, litigation, arbitration, grievance, proceeding (including any civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or appellate proceeding), hearing, inquiry, audit, examination or investigation commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving any Person, any court or other Governmental Entity or any arbitrator or arbitration panel, or any union, employee representative body or other labor organization.

(xxxix) “Mineral Interest” shall mean any fee mineral interests or an undivided fee mineral interest, mineral interests, non-participating royalty interests, term mineral interests, coalbed methane interests, oil interests, gas interests, reversionary interests, reservations, concessions, executive rights or other similar interests in Hydrocarbons in place or other fee interests in Hydrocarbons.

(xl) “Money-Laundering Laws” shall mean any law governing financial recordkeeping and reporting requirements, including the U.S. Currency and Foreign Transaction Reporting Act of 1970, the U.S. Money Laundering Control Act of 1986, and any applicable money laundering-related laws of other jurisdictions where East or Central, as applicable, and their respective Subsidiaries conduct business, conduct financial transactions or own assets.

(xli) “New Felix Registration Rights Agreement” means that certain registration rights agreement, effective from and after the Effective Time, by and between Central and Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.

(xlii) “New Felix Stockholders’ Agreement” means that certain stockholders agreement, effective from and after the Effective Time, by and among Central, Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC and solely for certain purposes, EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P., substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F.

(xliii) “Oil and Gas Leases” shall mean, with respect to a Person, all Hydrocarbon and mineral leases and subleases, royalties, overriding royalties, net profits interests, Mineral Interests, carried interests, and other rights to Hydrocarbons in place, and mineral servitudes, and all leases, subleases, licenses or other occupancy or similar agreements under which such Person acquires or obtains operating rights in and to Hydrocarbons.

(xliv) “Oil and Gas Properties” shall mean (a) all direct and indirect interests in and rights with respect to Hydrocarbon, mineral, water and similar properties of any kind and nature, including all Oil and Gas Leases and the interests in lands covered thereby or included in Units with which the Oil and Gas Leases may have been pooled, communitized or unitized, working, leasehold and Mineral Interests and estates and operating rights and royalties, overriding royalties, production payments, net profit interests, carried interests, non-participating royalty interests and other non-working interests and non-operating interests (including all Oil and Gas Leases, operating agreements, unitization, communitization and pooling agreements and orders, division orders, transfer orders, mineral deeds, royalty deeds, and in each case, interests thereunder),

111

fee interests, reversionary interests, back-in interests, reservations, and concessions, (b) all Wells located on or producing from any of the Oil and Gas Leases, Units, or Mineral Interests and the rights to all Hydrocarbons and other minerals produced therefrom (including the proceeds thereof), (c) all surface interests, easements, surface use agreements, rights-of-way, licenses and Permits, in each case, in connection with Oil and Gas Leases, the drilling of Wells or the production, gathering, processing, storage, disposition, transportation or sale of Hydrocarbons, (d) all interests in machinery, equipment (including Well equipment and machinery), production, completion, injection, disposal, gathering, transportation, transmission, treating, processing, and storage facilities (including tanks, tank batteries, pipelines, flow lines, gathering systems and metering equipment), rigs, pumps, water plants, electric plants, platforms, processing plants, separation plants, refineries, testing and monitoring equipment, and other personal property used, in each case, in connection with Oil and Gas Leases, the drilling of Wells or the production, gathering, processing, storage, disposition, transportation or sale of Hydrocarbons and (e) all other interests of any kind or character associated with, appurtenant to, or necessary for the operation of any of the foregoing.

(xlv) “Order” shall mean any: (A) order, judgment, injunction, edict, decree, ruling, pronouncement, determination, decision, opinion, verdict, sentence, subpoena, writ or award issued, made, entered, rendered or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any court, administrative agency or other Governmental Entity or any arbitrator or arbitration panel; or (B) Contract with any Governmental Entity entered into in connection with any Legal Proceeding.

(xlvi) “Permit” shall mean any franchise, grant, authorization, license, establishment registration, product listing, permit, easement, variance, exception, consent, certificate, clearance, approval or order of any Governmental Entity.

(xlvii) “Permitted Encumbrance” shall mean:

(1) to the extent waived prior to the Effective Time, preferential purchase rights, rights of first refusal, purchase options and similar rights granted pursuant to any Contracts, including joint operating agreements, joint ownership agreements, stockholders agreements, organizational documents and other similar agreements and documents;

(2) contractual or statutory mechanic’s, materialmen’s, warehouseman’s, journeyman’s and carrier’s Encumbrances and other similar Encumbrances arising in the ordinary course of business for amounts not yet delinquent and Encumbrances for Taxes or assessments that are not yet delinquent or that are being contested in good faith and in each case for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP by the party responsible for payment thereof;

(3) lease burdens payable to third parties which are deducted in the calculation of discounted present value in the East Reserve Report, the Felix Reserve Report or the Central Reserve Report, as applicable, including any royalty, overriding royalty, net profits interest, production payment, carried interest or reversionary working interest;

112

(4) (i) contractual or statutory Encumbrances securing obligations for labor, services, materials and supplies furnished to Mineral Interests, (ii) Encumbrances on pipeline or pipeline facilities which arise out of operation of Law, or (iii) Encumbrances arising in the ordinary course of business under operating agreements, joint venture agreements, partnership agreements, Oil and Gas Leases, farm-out agreements, division orders, contracts for the sale, purchase, transportation, processing or exchange of oil, gas or other Hydrocarbons, unitization and pooling declarations and agreements, area of mutual interest agreements, development agreements, joint ownership arrangements and other agreements which are customary in the oil and gas business; provided, however, that, in the case of any Encumbrance described in the foregoing clauses (i), (ii) or (iii), such Encumbrance (A) secures obligations that are not Indebtedness and are not delinquent and (B) has no material adverse effect on the value, use or operation of the property encumbered thereby;

(5) Encumbrances incurred in the ordinary course of business on cash or securities pledged in connection with workmen’s compensation, unemployment insurance or other forms of governmental insurance or benefits, or to secure performance of tenders, statutory obligations, leases and contracts (other than for Indebtedness) entered into in the ordinary course of business (including lessee and operator obligations under statute, governmental regulations or instruments related to the ownership, exploration and production of oil, gas and minerals on state, federal or foreign lands or waters) or to secure obligations on surety or appeal bonds;

(6) customary Encumbrances for the fees, costs and expenses of trustees and escrow agents pursuant to the indenture, escrow agreement or other similar agreement establishing such trust or escrow arrangement;

(7) such title defects as (A) Central (in the case of title defects with respect to properties or assets of East or any of the East Subsidiaries) may have expressly waived in writing or (B) East (in the case of title defects with respect to properties or assets of Central or any of the Central Subsidiaries) may have expressly waived in writing;

(8) rights reserved to or vested in any Governmental Entity to control or regulate any of East’s or Central’s or their respective Subsidiaries’ properties or assets in any manner;

(9) all easements, covenants, restrictions (including zoning restrictions), rights-of-way, servitudes, Permits, surface leases and other similar rights or restrictions in respect of surface operations, and easements for pipelines, streets, alleys, highways, telephone lines, power lines, railways and other easements and rights-of-way, on, over or in respect of any of the East Owned Real Property or Central Owned Real Property or the properties of East or Central or any of their respective Subsidiaries that are of record and customarily granted in the oil and gas industry and (i) do not materially

113

interfere with the operation, development, exploration or use of the property or asset affected or (ii) increase the burdens payable to third parties that are deducted in the calculation of discounted present value in the East Reserve Report, the Felix Reserve Report or the Central Reserve Report, as applicable, including any royalty, overriding royalty, net profits interest, production payment, carried interest or reversionary working interest;

(10) any Encumbrances discharged at or prior to the Effective Time;

(11) with respect to the East Real Property or the Central Real Property (as applicable), but excluding any Oil and Gas Properties, all other Encumbrances, liens, charges, defects and irregularities not arising in connection with Indebtedness, and any encroachments, overlapping improvements, and other state of facts as would be shown on a current and accurate survey of any East Real Property or Central Real Property, as applicable, that in each case does not materially interfere with the operation, value, development, exploration or use of the property or asset affected; and

(12) nonexclusive licenses with respect to Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business.

(xlviii) “Person” shall mean any individual, Entity or Governmental Entity.

(xlix) “Production Burdens” shall mean all royalty interests, overriding royalty interests, production payments, reversionary interests, net profit interests, production payments, carried interests, non-participating royalty interests, royalty burdens or other similar interests or encumbrances that constitute a burden on, and are measured by or are payable out of, the production of Hydrocarbons from, or allocated to, any Oil and Gas Properties or the proceeds realized from the sale or other disposition thereof (including any amounts payable to publicly traded royalty trusts), other than Taxes and assessments of Governmental Entities.

(l) “Release” shall mean any depositing, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, placing, emitting, discarding, abandoning, emptying, discharging, migrating, injecting, escaping, leaching, seeping, dumping or disposing.

(li) “Sanctions Target” shall mean (A) any country or territory that is the target of country-wide or territory-wide Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws, including, as of the date of this Agreement, Iran, Cuba, Syria, the Crimea region of Ukraine, and North Korea; (B) a Person that is on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons or any of the other sanctions Persons lists published by OFAC, or any equivalent list of sanctioned Persons issued by the U.S. Department of State; (C) a Person that is located in or organized under the laws of a country or territory that is identified as the subject of country-wide or territory-wide Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws; or (D) an entity owned fifty percent (50%) or more or controlled by a country or territory identified in clause (A) or Person in clause (B) above.

114

(lii) “Subsidiary” of any Person shall mean (i) a corporation more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the outstanding voting stock of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person or by one or more other Subsidiaries of such Person or by such Person and one or more other Subsidiaries thereof, (ii) a partnership of which such Person, or one or more other Subsidiaries of such Person or such Person and one or more other Subsidiaries thereof, directly or indirectly, is the general partner and has the power to direct the policies, management and affairs of such partnership, (iii) a limited liability company of which such Person or one or more other Subsidiaries of such Person or such Person and one or more other Subsidiaries thereof, directly or indirectly, is the managing member or has the power to direct the policies, management and affairs of such company or (iv) any other Person (other than a corporation, partnership or limited liability company) in which such Person, or one or more other Subsidiaries of such Person or such Person and one or more other Subsidiaries thereof, directly or indirectly, has at least a majority ownership and power to direct the policies, management and affairs thereof.

(liii) “Superior Proposal” shall mean, with respect to a party hereto, any bona fide written Acquisition Proposal with respect to such party made by a third party to acquire, directly or indirectly, pursuant to a tender offer, exchange offer, merger, share exchange, consolidation or other business combination, (A) all or substantially all of the assets of such party and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (B) all or substantially all of the common equity securities of such party, in each case on terms which a majority of the board of directors of such party determines in good faith (after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, and taking into account all financial, legal and regulatory terms and conditions of the Acquisition Proposal and this Agreement, including any alternative transaction (including any modifications to the terms of this Agreement) proposed by the other party hereto pursuant to Section 5.4, including any conditions to and expected timing of consummation, and any risks of non-consummation, of such Acquisition Proposal) to be more favorable to such party and its stockholders (in their capacity as stockholders) as compared to the transactions contemplated hereby and to any alternative transaction (including any modifications to the terms of this Agreement) proposed by any other party hereto pursuant to Section 5.4.

(liv) “Takeover Laws” shall mean any “Moratorium,” “Control Share Acquisition,” “Fair Price,” “Supermajority,” “Affiliate Transactions,” or “Business Combination Statute or Regulation” or other similar state antitakeover Laws.

(lv) “Tax Return” shall mean any return, declaration, statement, report or similar filing (including the attached schedules) filed or required to be filed with respect to Taxes, including any information return, claim for refund, amended return, or declaration of estimated Taxes.

(lvi) “Taxes” shall mean any and all domestic or foreign, federal, state, local or other taxes and similar charges, fees and assessments of any kind (together with any and all interest, penalties, additions to tax and additional amounts imposed with respect thereto) imposed by any Taxing Authority, including taxes on or with respect to income, franchises, windfall or other profits, gross receipts, property, sales, use, capital stock, payroll, employment, unemployment, social security, workers’ compensation or net worth, and taxes in the nature of excise, withholding, ad valorem or value added.

115

(lvii) “Taxing Authority” shall mean the Internal Revenue Service and any other domestic or foreign Governmental Entity responsible for the administration or collection of any Taxes.

(lviii) “Treasury Regulations” shall mean the regulations promulgated under the Code.

(lix) “Unit” shall mean each separate pooled, communitized or unitized acreage unit which includes all or any portion of any Oil or Gas Leases or other Oil and Gas Properties.

(lx) “Wells” shall mean Hydrocarbon wells, CO2 wells, saltwater disposal wells, injection wells and storage wells, whether producing, operating, shut-in or temporarily abandoned, located on any real property associated with an Oil and Gas Property of East or Central, as applicable, or any of their Subsidiaries.

(lxi) “Willful and Material Breach” including the correlative term “Willfully and Materially Breach,” shall mean a material breach that is a consequence of an intentional act or failure to take an act by the breaching party with the Knowledge that the taking of such act (or the failure to take such act) may constitute a breach of this Agreement.

[Signatures on Following Page]

116

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.

DEVON ENERGY CORPORATION
By: |  | /s/ David A. Hager
|  | Name: David A. Hager
|  | Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
EAST MERGER SUB, INC.
By: |  | /s/ David A. Hager
|  | Name: David A. Hager
|  | Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
WPX ENERGY, INC.
By: |  | /s/ Richard E. Muncrief
|  | Name: Richard E. Muncrief
|  | Title: Chief Executive Officer

SIGNATURE PAGE TO

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

EXHIBIT A

FORM OF SUPPORT AGREEMENT

[See attached.]

Exhibit A - 1

Execution Version

SUPPORT AGREEMENT

THIS SUPPORT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as of September 26, 2020, by and among each stockholder of WPX Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), set forth on Schedule A hereto (each, a “Stockholder” and collectively, the “Stockholders”), and Devon Energy Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Parent”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Parent, the Company and East Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), are entering into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of the date hereof (as the same may be amended or supplemented, the “Merger Agreement”), providing that, among other things, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, the Company will be merged (the “Merger”) with Merger Sub, and each outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company (“Company Common Stock”) will be converted into shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share, of Parent (“Parent Common Stock”) as provided in the Merger Agreement;

WHEREAS, each Stockholder beneficially owns such number of shares of Company Common Stock set forth opposite such Stockholder’s name on Schedule A hereto (collectively, such shares of Company Common Stock are referred to herein as the “Subject Shares”); and

WHEREAS, as a condition and inducement to Parent to enter into the Merger Agreement, Parent has required that the Stockholders enter into this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, to induce Parent to enter into, and in consideration of its entering into, the Merger Agreement, and in consideration of the promises and the representations, warranties and agreements contained herein and therein, the parties, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:

1. Representations and Warranties of each Stockholder. Each Stockholder hereby represents and warrants to Parent, severally and not jointly, as of the date hereof as follows:

(a) Due Organization. Such Stockholder is an entity duly formed under the laws of its jurisdiction of formation and is validly existing and in good standing under the laws thereof.

(b) Authority; No Violation. Such Stockholder has full organizational power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations hereunder have been duly and validly approved by the governing authority of such Stockholder and no other organizational proceedings on the part of such Stockholder are necessary to approve this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by such Stockholder and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent) this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of such Stockholder, enforceable against such Stockholder in accordance with its terms, subject to the Enforceability Exceptions. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Stockholder, nor the consummation by such Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby, nor compliance by such Stockholder with any of the terms or provisions hereof, will (x) violate any provision of the governing documents of such Stockholder, (y) violate any statute, code, ordinance, rule, regulation, judgment, order, writ, decree or injunction applicable to such Stockholder, or any of its properties or assets, or (z) violate, conflict with, result in a breach of any provision of or the loss of any benefit under, constitute a default (or an event which, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default) under, result in the termination of or a right of termination or cancellation under, accelerate the performance required by, or result in the creation of any lien, claim, mortgage, encumbrance, pledge, deed of trust, security interest, equity or charge of any kind (each, a “Lien”) upon any of the Subject Shares pursuant to any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, license, lease, agreement or other instrument or obligation to which such Stockholder is a party, or by which it or any of its properties or assets may be bound or affected, except, in the case of this clause (z), for such matters that would not, individually or in the aggregate, impair the ability of such Stockholder to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

(c) The Subject Shares. As of the date of this Agreement, such Stockholder is the beneficial owner of and, together with the applicable controlling entity or entities of such Stockholder set forth on Schedule A hereto (as applicable, the “Controlling Entities”), has the sole right to vote and dispose of the Subject Shares set forth opposite such Stockholder’s name on Schedule A hereto, free and clear of any Liens whatsoever, except for any Liens which arise hereunder, in each case except as disclosed in any Schedule 13D filed by such Stockholder prior to the date hereof. Other than that certain stockholders agreement, dated as of March 6, 2020, by and among the Company, Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC, and solely for certain purposes, EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P., Skye Callantine and Michael Horton (the “Stockholders’ Agreement”), none of the Subject Shares is subject to any voting trust or other similar agreement, arrangement or restriction, except as contemplated by this Agreement. Without limiting

2

the generality of the foregoing, other than the Stockholders’ Agreement (i) there are no agreements or arrangements of any kind, contingent or otherwise, obligating such Stockholder to sell, transfer (including by tendering into any tender or exchange offer), assign, grant a participation interest in, option, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of or encumber, including by operation of law or otherwise (each, a “Transfer”), or cause to be Transferred, any of the Subject Shares, other than a Transfer, such as a hedging or derivative transaction, with respect to which such Stockholder (and/or its Controlling Entities) retains its Subject Shares and the sole right to vote, dispose of and exercise dissenters’ rights with respect to its Subject Shares during the Applicable Period (as defined below), and (ii) no Person has any contractual or other right or obligation to purchase or otherwise acquire any of the Subject Shares. Other than the Subject Shares, such Stockholder does not own any equity interests or other equity-based securities in the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(d) Absence of Litigation. There is no litigation, suit, claim, action, proceeding or investigation pending, or to the knowledge of such Stockholder, threatened against such Stockholder, or any property or asset of such Stockholder, before any Governmental Entity that seeks to delay or prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(e) No Consents Required. No consent of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any Person or Governmental Entity is required to be obtained or made by or with respect to such Stockholder in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and except for any applicable requirements and filings with the SEC, if any, under the Exchange Act and except where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not prevent or delay the performance by such Stockholder of such Stockholder’s obligations under this Agreement in any material respect.

(f) Reliance. Such Stockholder understands and acknowledges that Parent is entering into the Merger Agreement in reliance upon such Stockholder’s execution and delivery of this Agreement.

(g) Stockholder Has Adequate Information. Such Stockholder is a sophisticated seller with respect to the Subject Shares and has adequate information concerning the business and financial condition of Parent to make an informed decision regarding the Merger and the transactions contemplated thereby and has independently and without reliance upon Parent and based on such information as such Stockholder has deemed appropriate, made its own analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Such Stockholder acknowledges that Parent has not made and does not make any representation or warranty, whether express or implied, of any kind or character except as

3

expressly set forth in the Merger Agreement and this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and for the elimination of doubt, such Stockholder is not waiving and is expressly preserving any claims that might arise in connection with the Registration Statement contemplated to be filed in connection with the Merger.

2. Representations and Warranties of Parent. Parent hereby represents and warrants to each Stockholder as of the date hereof as follows:

(a) Due Organization. Parent is a corporation duly incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware and is validly existing and in good standing under the laws thereof.

(b) Authority; No Violation. Parent has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement have been duly and validly approved by the Board of Directors of Parent and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent are necessary to approve this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Parent and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the Stockholders) this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Parent, enforceable against Parent in accordance with its terms, subject to the Enforceability Exceptions. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent, nor the consummation by Parent of the transactions contemplated hereby, nor compliance by Parent with any of the terms or provisions hereof, will (x) violate any provision of the governing documents of Parent or the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or similar governing documents of any of Parent’s Subsidiaries, (y) violate any statute, code, ordinance, rule, regulation, judgment, order, writ, decree or injunction applicable to the Parent or any of Parent’s Subsidiaries, or any of their respective properties or assets, or (z) violate, conflict with, result in a breach of any provision of or the loss of any benefit under, constitute a default (or an event which, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default) under, result in the termination of or a right of termination or cancellation under, accelerate the performance required by, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the respective properties or assets of Parent or any of Parent’s Subsidiaries under, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, license, lease, agreement or other instrument or obligation to which Parent or any of Parent’s Subsidiaries is a party, or by which they or any of their respective properties or assets may be bound or affected.

4

3. Covenants of Each Stockholder. Each Stockholder, severally and not jointly, agrees as follows; provided that all of the following covenants shall apply solely to actions taken by such Stockholder in its capacity as a stockholder of the Company:

(a) Agreement to Vote Subject Shares. During the Applicable Period, at any meeting of the stockholders of the Company, however called, or at any postponement or adjournment thereof, or in any other circumstance upon which a vote or other approval of all or some of the stockholders of the Company is sought, such Stockholder shall, and shall cause any holder of record of its Subject Shares on any applicable record date to, vote: (i) in favor of adoption of the Merger Agreement and approval of any other matter that is required to be approved by the stockholders of the Company in order to effect the Merger; (ii) against any merger agreement or merger (other than the Merger Agreement and the Merger), consolidation, combination, sale or transfer of a material amount of assets, reorganization, recapitalization, dissolution, liquidation or winding up of or by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that is prohibited by the Merger Agreement (unless, in each case, such transaction is approved in writing by Parent) or any Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Company; and (iii) against any amendment of the Company’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws or other proposal or transaction involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, which amendment or other proposal or transaction would in any manner delay, impede, frustrate, prevent or nullify the Merger, the Merger Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement or change in any manner the voting rights of any outstanding class of capital stock of the Company. During the Applicable Period, such Stockholder (and/or its Controlling Entities) shall retain at all times the right to vote all of its Subject Shares in such Stockholder’s sole discretion and without any other limitation on those matters other than those set forth in this Section 3(a) that are at any time or from time to time presented for consideration to the Company’s stockholders generally. During the Applicable Period, in the event that any meeting of the stockholders of the Company is held, such Stockholder shall (or shall cause the holder of record on any applicable record date to) appear at such meeting or otherwise cause all of its Subject Shares to be counted as present thereat for purposes of establishing a quorum. During the Applicable Period, such Stockholder further agrees not to commit or agree, and to cause any record holder of its Subject Shares not to commit or agree, to take any action inconsistent with the foregoing during the Applicable Period. “Applicable Period” means the period from and including the date of this Agreement to and including the date of the termination of this Agreement.

(b) No Transfers. Except as provided in the last sentence of this Section 3(b), such Stockholder agrees not to, and to cause any record holder of its Subject Shares, not to, in any such case directly or indirectly, during the Applicable Period (i) Transfer or enter into any agreement, option or other arrangement (including any profit sharing arrangement) with respect to the Transfer of, any of its Subject Shares (or any interest therein) to any Person, other than the exchange of its Subject Shares for Parent Common Stock in accordance with the Merger Agreement or (ii) grant any proxies, or deposit any of its Subject Shares into any voting trust or enter into any voting arrangement, whether

5

by proxy, voting agreement or otherwise, with respect to its Subject Shares, other than pursuant to this Agreement. Subject to the last sentence of this Section 3(b), such Stockholder further agrees not to commit or agree to take, and to cause any record holder of any of its Subject Shares not to commit or agree to take, any of the foregoing actions during the Applicable Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such Stockholder shall have the right to (a) Transfer its Subject Shares to an Affiliate if and only if such Affiliate shall have agreed in writing, in a manner acceptable in form and substance to Parent, (i) to accept such Subject Shares subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and (ii) to be bound by this Agreement as if it were “a Stockholder” for all purposes of this Agreement; provided, however, that no such transfer shall relieve such Stockholder from its obligations under this Agreement with respect to any Subject Shares or (b) Transfer its Subject Shares in a transaction, such as a hedging or derivative transaction, with respect to which such Stockholder retains the sole right to vote, dispose of and exercise dissenters’ rights with respect to its Subject Shares during the Applicable Period; provided that no such transaction shall (x) in any way limit any of the obligations of such Stockholder under this Agreement, or (y) have any adverse effect on the ability of the Stockholders to perform their obligations under this Agreement.

(c) Reserved.

(d) Adjustment to Subject Shares. In case of a stock dividend or distribution, or any change in the Company Common Stock by reason of any stock dividend or distribution, split-up, recapitalization, combination, exchange of shares or the like, the term “Subject Shares” shall be deemed to refer to and include the Subject Shares as well as all such stock dividends and distributions and any securities into which or for which any or all of the Subject Shares may be changed or exchanged or which are received in such transaction.

(e) Non-Solicitation. Except to the extent that the Company or its Board of Directors is permitted to do so under the Merger Agreement, but subject to any limitations imposed on the Company or its Board of Directors under the Merger Agreement, such Stockholder agrees, solely in its capacity as a stockholder of the Company, that it shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and their respective Representatives not to (i) directly or indirectly initiate or solicit, or knowingly encourage or facilitate (including by way of furnishing non-public information relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) any inquiries or the making or submission of any proposal that constitutes, or could reasonably be expected to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Company, (ii) participate or engage in discussions or negotiations with, or disclose any non-public information or data relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any Person that has made an Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Company or to any Person in contemplation of

6

making an Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Company, or (iii) approve, endorse or recommend (or publicly propose to approve, endorse or recommend) an Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Company or enter into any agreement, including any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle, merger agreement, acquisition agreement, option agreement, joint venture agreement, partnership agreement or other similar agreement, arrangement or understanding, (A) constituting or related to, or that is intended to or could reasonably be expected to lead to, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Company or (B) requiring, intending to cause, or which could reasonably be expected to cause the Company to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the Merger or any other transaction contemplated by the Merger Agreement. Each Stockholder will, and will cause its Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated any discussions or negotiations with any Person conducted heretofore with respect to any Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Company. Nothing contained in this Section 3(e) shall prevent any Person affiliated with such Stockholder who is a director or officer of the Company or designated by such Stockholder as a director of officer of the Company from taking actions in his capacity as a director or officer of the Company, including taking any actions permitted under Section 5.4 of the Merger Agreement.

4. Additional Covenants of the Parties.

(a) On or prior to the Closing Date, the Stockholders shall take all actions as may be necessary to (A) enter into (i) the stockholders agreement, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “New Stockholders Agreement”), effective as of the Closing Date and (ii) the registration rights agreement, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “New Registration Rights Agreement”), effective as of the Closing Date and (B) terminate that certain registration rights agreement, dated as of March 6, 2020, by and among the Company, Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC and the other holders from time to time parties thereto.

(b) On or prior to the Closing Date, the Parent shall take all actions as may be necessary to enter into (i) the New Stockholders Agreement, effective as of the Closing Date and (ii) the New Registration Rights Agreement, effective as of the Closing Date.

5. Assignment; No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as provided herein, neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto, except that Parent may assign, it its sole discretion, any or all of its rights, interest and obligations hereunder to any direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement (including the documents and instruments referred to herein) is not intended to confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder.

7

6. Termination. This Agreement and the covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement shall automatically terminate (without any further action of the parties) upon the earliest to occur of: (a) the termination of the Merger Agreement in accordance with its terms; (b) the Effective Time; (c) as to a Stockholder, the date of any modification, waiver or amendment to the Merger Agreement effected without such Stockholder’s consent that (y) decreases the amount or changes the form of consideration payable to all of the stockholders of the Company pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement as in effect on the date of this Agreement or (z) otherwise materially adversely affects the interests of such Stockholder; (d) the mutual written consent of the parties hereto and (e) the Termination Date. In the event of termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 6, this Agreement shall become void and of no effect with no liability on the part of any party; provided, however, that no such termination shall relieve any party from liability for any breach hereof prior to such termination.

7. General Provisions.

(a) Amendments. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto.

(b) Notices. Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be delivered to any party under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed properly delivered, given and received (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally, (b) on the date of confirmation of receipt (or the first Business Day following such receipt if the transmission is after 5 p.m. Central Time on such date or if the date is not a Business Day) of transmission by electronic mail, or (c) on the date of confirmation of receipt (or the first Business Day following such receipt if the date is not a Business Day) if delivered by a nationally recognized overnight courier service. All notices hereunder shall be delivered to the address or electronic mail set forth beneath the name of such party below (or to such other address or electronic mail as such party shall have specified in a written notice given to the other parties hereto):

(i) If to the Stockholders, to:

EnCap Investments L.P.

1100 Louisiana, Suite 4900

Houston, Texas 77002

Facsimile: (713) 659-6130

Attention: Douglas E. Swanson, Jr.

Email: dswanson@encapinvestments.com

8

With copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Vinson & Elkins LLP

1001 Fannin Street, Suite 2500

Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: W. Matthew Strock; Doug McWilliams

Facsimile: (713) 615-5650; (713) 615-5725

Email: mstrock@velaw.com; dmcwilliams@velaw.com

(ii) If to Parent, to:

Devon Energy Corporation

333 West Sheridan Avenue

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102

Attention: Jeffrey L. Ritenour; Lyndon C. Taylor; Edward Highberger

Email: Jeff.Ritenour@dvn.com; lyndon.taylor@dvn.com; Edward.Highberger@dvn.com

With copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP

1000 Louisiana St., Suite 6800

Houston, TX 77002

Attention: Frank E. Bayouth

Email: Frank.Bayouth@skadden.com

(c) Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to a Section, such reference shall be to a Section in this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Wherever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” The phrases “the date of this Agreement,” “the date hereof” and terms of similar import, unless the context otherwise requires, shall be deemed to refer to September 26, 2020.

(d) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument.

9

(e) Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the documents and the instruments referred to herein) constitutes the entire agreement among the parties hereto and supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among or between any of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof.

(f) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflict of laws. The parties hereto hereby declare that it is their intention that this Agreement shall be regarded as made under the laws of the State of Delaware and that the laws of said State shall be applied in interpreting its provisions in all cases where legal interpretation shall be required.

(g) Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or any part of any such provision is held under any circumstances to be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, then (a) the invalidity or unenforceability of such provision or part thereof under such circumstances and in such jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such provision or part thereof under any other circumstances or in any other jurisdiction and (b) the invalidity or unenforceability of such provision or part thereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of such provision or the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement; provided that the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in a materially adverse manner to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith in general fashion to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original interest of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the maximum extent possible.

(h) Waiver.

(i) No failure on the part of any party to exercise any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, and no delay on the part of any party in exercising any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, shall operate as a waiver of such power, right, privilege or remedy; and no single or partial exercise of any such power, right, privilege or remedy shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof or of any other power, right, privilege or remedy.

(ii) No party shall be deemed to have waived any claim arising out of this Agreement, or any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, unless the waiver of such claim, power, right, privilege or remedy is expressly set forth in a written instrument duly executed and delivered on behalf of such party; and any such waiver shall not be applicable or have any effect except in the specific instance in which it is given.

10

(i) Further Assurances. Each Stockholder will, from time to time, (i) at the request of Parent take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do, or cause to be done, and assist and cooperate with the other parties hereto in doing, all things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable to carry out the intent and purposes of this Agreement and (ii) execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, such additional or further consents, documents and other instruments as Parent may reasonably request for the purpose of effectively carrying out the intent and purposes of this Agreement.

(j) Publicity. Except as otherwise required by law (including securities laws and regulations) and the regulations of any national stock exchange, so long as this Agreement is in effect, no Stockholder shall issue or cause the publication of any press release or other public announcement with respect to, or otherwise make any public statement concerning, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Merger Agreement, without the consent of Parent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(k) Capitalized Terms. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Merger Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Affiliate” as used in Section 3(e) of this Agreement shall not include (i) the Company and any of its Subsidiaries or (ii) any portfolio company of EnCap Investments L.P. or its affiliated investment funds, except for any portfolio company taking any action that would otherwise be prohibited by Section 3(e) at the direction or encouragement of any Stockholder or Controlling Entity.

8. Stockholder Capacity. Each Stockholder signs solely in its capacity as the beneficial owner of its Subject Shares and nothing contained herein shall limit or affect any actions taken by any officer, director, partner, Affiliate or representative of such Stockholder who is or becomes an officer or a director of the Company in his or her capacity as an officer or director of the Company, and none of such actions in such capacity shall be deemed to constitute a breach of this Agreement. Each Stockholder signs individually solely on behalf of itself and not on behalf of any other Stockholder.

9. Enforcement. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached and that money damages would not be a sufficient remedy of any such breach. It is accordingly agreed that, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity, the parties hereto shall be entitled to specific performance and injunctive or other equitable relief, without the necessity of proving the

11

inadequacy of money damages. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent agrees that with respect to any damage claim that might be brought against any Stockholder or any of its Affiliates under this Agreement, and without regard to whether such claim sounds in contract, tort or any other legal or equitable theory of relief, that damages are limited to actual damages and expressly waive any right to recover special damages, including, without limitation, lost profits as well as any punitive or exemplary damages. In the event of any litigation over the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party in any such litigation shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection with such litigation. The parties hereto further agree that any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought and determined in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware declines to accept jurisdiction over a particular matter, the Superior Court of the State of Delaware (Complex Commercial Division) or, if subject matter jurisdiction over the matter that is the subject of the action or proceeding is vested exclusively in the federal courts of the United States of America, the federal court of the United States of America sitting in the district of Delaware) and any appellate court from any thereof. In addition, each of the parties hereto (a) consents that each party hereto irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts listed in this Section 9 in the event any dispute arises out of this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, (b) agrees that each party hereto irrevocably waives the defense of an inconvenient forum and all other defenses to venue in any such court in any such action or proceeding, and (c) waives any right to trial by jury with respect to any claim or proceeding related to or arising out of this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION OR PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. EACH PARTY HERETO CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (I) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE ANY OF SUCH WAIVER, (II) IT UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF SUCH WAIVER, (III) IT MAKES SUCH WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (IV) IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 9.

10. No Ownership Interest. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to vest in Parent or any other Person any direct or indirect ownership or incidence of ownership of, or with respect to, any Subject Shares. Subject to the restrictions and requirements set forth in this Agreement, all rights, ownership and economic benefits of and relating to the Subject Shares shall remain vested in and belong to each Stockholder, and this Agreement shall not confer any

12

right, power or authority upon Parent or any other Person to direct the Stockholders in the voting of any of the Subject Shares (except as otherwise specifically provided for herein).

[Remainder of the page intentionally left blank]

13

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed and delivered as of the date first written above.

Devon Energy Corporation
By: |  | /s/ David A. Hager
|  | Name: David A. Hager
|  | Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page Support Agreement]

Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC
By: |  | /s/ John D. McCready
|  | Name: John D. McCready
|  | Title: Chief Executive Officer
Felix Energy Investments II, LLC
By: |  | /s/ John D. McCready
|  | Name: John D. McCready
|  | Title: Chief Executive Officer

EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P.
By: |  | EnCap Equity Fund X GP, L.P.,
|  | its General Partner
By: |  | EnCap Investments L.P.,
|  | its General Partner
By: |  | EnCap Investments GP, L.L.C.,
|  | its General Partner

By: |  | /s/ Douglas E. Swanson, Jr.
|  | Name: Douglas E. Swanson, Jr.
|  | Title: Managing Director
EnCap Partners GP, LLC
By: |  | /s/ Douglas E. Swanson, Jr.
|  | Name: Douglas E. Swanson, Jr.
|  | Title: Managing Director

[Signature Page Support Agreement]

Schedule A

Name of Stockholder |  | No. Shares of Company Common Stock |
Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC |  |  | 152,910,532 |
Felix Energy Investments II, LLC |  |  | * |
EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P. |  |  | * |
EnCap Partners GP, LLC |  |  | * |

* | Felix Energy Investments II, LLC, EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P. and EnCap Partners GP, LLC share voting and dispositive power over the shares of Company Common Stock held by Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC as further described in the Schedule 13D filed March 16, 2020.

Schedule - A

Exhibit A

STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT

This STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of [●], 2020, is entered into by and among Devon Energy Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Investor”) and, solely for purposes of Section 2.1 and Section 5.10, EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P. (“EnCap”).

WHEREAS, the Investor and WPX Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“East”), have completed the transactions contemplated by that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2019, pursuant to which, among other things, the Investor received 152,910,532 shares of East’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share;

WHEREAS, the Company and East have and will effect the transactions contemplated by that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), dated as of September 26, 2020 (the “Signing Date”), pursuant to which, among other things, the Investor has received [•] shares (the “Issued Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.10 per share (“Common Stock”); and

WHEREAS, in connection with, and effective upon, the date of the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement (the “Closing Date”), the Company and the Investor desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth certain understandings among themselves.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, a Person that directly or indirectly Controls or is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, such specified Person. For purposes of this Agreement, no party to this Agreement shall be deemed to be an Affiliate of another party to this Agreement solely by reason of the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

“Beneficial Owner” of a security is a Person who directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, has or shares (a) voting power, which includes the power to vote, or to direct the voting of, such security and/or (b) investment power, which includes the power to dispose of, or to direct the disposition of, such security. The term “Beneficially Own” shall have a correlative meaning. For the avoidance

of doubt, for purposes of this Agreement, the Investor is deemed to Beneficially Own the shares of Common Stock owned by it notwithstanding the fact that such shares are subject to this Agreement.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

“Control” (including the terms “Controls,” “Controlled by” and “under common Control with”) means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Governance Committee” means the Governance Committee of the Board.

“Governmental Entity” means any court, governmental, regulatory or administrative agency or commission or other governmental authority or instrumentality, domestic or foreign.

“Investor Director” means the person listed on Exhibit A hereto, or any other person designated to replace such person in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Investor Group” means the Investor and each of its Affiliates; provided, however, that for purposes of this definition of Investor Group, neither the Investor nor its Affiliates shall be considered to be an Affiliate of the Company or any person Controlled by the Company.

“Law” means any law, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, judgment, order, treaty, convention, governmental directive or other legally enforceable requirement, U.S. or non-U.S., of any Governmental Entity, including common law.

“Necessary Action” means, with respect to a specified result, any and all actions necessary to cause such result, including but not limited to executing any and all agreements and instruments that are required to achieve such result and making, or causing to be made, with any and all Governmental Entities, all filings, registrations or similar actions that are required to achieve such result (but solely to the extent such actions are permitted by Law).

“Non-Affiliated Directors” means a director who qualifies as “independent” under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange or the rules of such other national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed or trading and who is not the Investor Director.

“Organizational Documents” means the Company’s certificate of incorporation, bylaws and certificates of designations, each as amended from time to time in accordance with its terms.

“Permitted Transferee” means (i) any direct or indirect member of the Investor who receives shares of Common Stock as a result of a distribution of Common Stock by the Investor (or any subsequent distribution of such shares of Common Stock by any such direct or indirect member of Investor) and (ii) any Affiliate of the Investor.

3

“Person” means any individual, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, estate, trust, business association, organization, any court, administrative agency, regulatory body, commission or other governmental authority, board, bureau or instrumentality, domestic or foreign and any subdivision thereof or other entity, and also includes any managed investment account.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Subject Policy” means each policy of the Board in place as of the Signing Date that was in effect and applicable to the other directors (a copy of which was provided to the Investor on or prior to the Signing Date or was available on the Signing Date on EDGAR or the Company’s website at www.devonenergy.com), each subsequent policy of the Board required by Law that is in effect and applicable to all Non-Affiliated Directors, and each other subsequent policy of the Board unless such policy would have the effect of excluding the Investor Director named on Exhibit A from serving on the Board.

Section 1.2 Rules of Construction.

(a) Unless the context requires otherwise: (i) any pronoun used in this Agreement shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms; (ii) references to Articles and Sections refer to articles and sections of this Agreement; (iii) the terms “include,” “includes,” “including” and words of like import shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; (iv) the terms “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein” or “hereunder” refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement; (v) unless the context otherwise requires, the term “or” is not exclusive and shall have the inclusive meaning of “and/or”; (vi) defined terms herein will apply equally to both the singular and plural forms and derivative forms of defined terms will have correlative meanings; (vii) references to any Law or statute shall include all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and references to any Law or statute shall be construed as including any legal and statutory provisions consolidating, amending, succeeding or replacing the applicable Law or statute; (viii) references to any Person include such Person’s successors and permitted assigns; and (ix) references to “days” are to calendar days unless otherwise indicated.

(b) The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and identification only and are not intended to describe, interpret, define or limit the scope, extent or intent of this Agreement or any provision thereof.

(c) This Agreement shall be construed without regard to any presumption or other rule requiring construction against the party that drafted or caused this Agreement to be drafted.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1 Representations and Warranties. Each party hereto represents and warrants to the other party as follows: (i) such party has full legal right and capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions

4

contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by such party and the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by it and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly authorized by all Necessary Action on the part of such party and no other actions or proceedings on the part of such party are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (iii) this Agreement constitutes the valid and binding agreement of such party, enforceable against such party in accordance with its terms; and (iv) the execution and delivery of this Agreement by such party does not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the compliance with the provisions of this Agreement will not, conflict with or violate any Laws or agreements binding upon such party, nor require any authorization, consent or approval of, or filing with, any Governmental Entity, except, with respect to the Company, for filings with the SEC by the Company.

ARTICLE III

COVENANTS

Section 3.1 Designee.

(a) On the Closing Date, the Company will take all Necessary Action to cause the Investor Director listed in Exhibit A hereto to be appointed to the Board.

(b) From and after the Closing Date until the Board Designation Expiration Date, the manner for selecting nominees for election to the Board will be as follows, subject to Section 3.4:

(i) In connection with each annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Company at which directors are to be elected (each such annual or special meeting, an “Election Meeting”), the Investor shall have the right to designate for nomination one (1) Investor Director during any time that the Investor Group Beneficially Own, and have collectively Beneficially Owned at all times from the Closing Date through such Election Meeting, at least ten percent (10%) of the outstanding shares of Common Stock.

(ii) The Investor shall give written notice to the Governance Committee of the Investor Director no later than the date that is ninety (90) days before the first anniversary of the date that the Company’s annual proxy for the prior year was first mailed to the Company’s stockholders and the Investor shall provide, or cause such individual to provide, to the Company, such information about such individual and the nomination to the Company at such times as the Company may reasonably request in order to ensure compliance with the applicable stock exchange rules and the applicable securities Laws, and to enable the Board of any committee thereof to make determinations with respect to the qualifications of the individual to be the Investor Director (the “Required Information”); provided, however, that if the Investor fails to give such notice or the Required Information in a timely manner, then the Investor shall be deemed to have nominated the incumbent Investor Director in a timely manner. The Investor shall also provide to the Company, upon reasonable request from the Company and in connection with providing the Required Information, evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Company

5

that the Investor Group collectively Beneficially Own the number of shares of Common Stock that would be required to designate the Investor Director pursuant to this Section 3.1(b) then serving on the Board or then being designated to the Board in connection with an Election Meeting, as applicable.

(c) From and after the Closing Date until the Board Designation Expiration Date, the Company shall take all Necessary Actions to cause the Board to include the Investor Director entitled to be designated by the Investor pursuant to Section 3.1(b) and otherwise to reflect the Board composition contemplated by Section 3.1, including the following: (i) at each Election Meeting, include (x) the Investor Director entitled to be designated by the Investor pursuant to Section 3.1(b) in the slate of nominees recommended by the Board to the Company’s stockholders for election as directors, (ii) to solicit proxies in order to obtain stockholder approval of the election of the Investor Director, including causing officers of the Company who hold proxies (unless otherwise directed by the Company stockholder submitting such proxy) to vote such proxies in favor of the election of such Investor Director and (iii) to cause the Investor Director to be elected to the Board, including recommending that the Company’s stockholders vote in favor of the Investor Director in any proxy statement used by the Company to solicit the vote of its stockholders in connection with each Election Meeting.

(d) If at any time the Investor Director is serving on the Board when the Investor is not entitled to designate an Investor Director pursuant to Section 3.1(b), then unless otherwise requested by the Board by action of the Non-Affiliated Directors, the Investor shall promptly (and in any event prior to the time the Board next takes any action, whether at a meeting or by written consent) cause such Investor Director to resign from the Board.

(e) On the earliest to occur of (the “Board Designation Expiration Date”) (i) the Investor Group collectively Beneficially Owning less than ten percent (10%) of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and (ii) such date that the Investor delivers a written waiver of its rights under this Section 3.1 and Section 3.2 to the Company (which shall be irrevocable) the Investor will have no further rights under this Section 3.1 or Section 3.2.

(f) For the avoidance of doubt and subject to Section 3.5 and Section 3.7, the right granted to Investor to designate a member of the Board is additive to, and not intended to limit in any way, the rights that the Investor may have to nominate, elect or remove directors under the Organizational Documents or Delaware General Corporation Law.

Section 3.2 Vacancies. Subject to Section 3.1 and Section 3.4, if at any time there is no Investor Director serving on the Board and the Investor is entitled to designate an Investor Director pursuant to Section 3.1(b), whether due to the death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal from office as a member of the Board of the Investor Director or otherwise, the Board shall take all Necessary Action required to fill the vacancy resulting therefrom with such replacement designated by the Investor as promptly as practicable. In furtherance thereof, the Company and the Board shall use its reasonable best efforts, if requested by the Investor on a timely basis, to fill such vacancy prior to the time the Board next takes action on any other matter.

6

Section 3.3 Compensation; Indemnification. The Investor Director shall be entitled to the same expense reimbursement and advancement, exculpation and indemnification in connection with his or her role as a director as the other members of the Board, as well as reimbursement for documented, reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board or any committee of the Board of which the Investor Director is a member, if any, in each case to the same extent as the other members of the Board. The Investor Director shall be also entitled to any retainer, equity compensation or other fees or compensation paid to the non-employee directors of the Company for their services as a director, including any service on any committee of the Board.

Section 3.4 Selection of the Investor Director; Committees.

(a) The Investor Director’s service as a member of the Board must be reasonably acceptable to the Governance Committee. The parties hereto agree that the person listed on Exhibit A to this Agreement is qualified for service pursuant to the foregoing sentence. Subject to applicable Law and stock exchange rules, until the Board Designation Expiration Date, the Investor Director shall be appointed to serve on the Governance Committee, subject to any limitations imposed by Law or stock exchange rules (including with respect to director independence requirements).

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Investor shall not be entitled to designate any Investor Director pursuant to Section 3.1(a) to the Board if the Board or a committee thereof reasonably determines that (i) the election of such Investor Director to the Board would cause the Company to not be in compliance with applicable Law or (ii) such Investor Director has been involved in any of the events that would be required to be disclosed in a registration statement on Form S-1 pursuant to Item 401(f)(2)-(8) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933 or is subject to any order, decree or judgment of any Governmental Entity prohibiting service as a director of any public company. In any such case described in clauses (i) or (ii) of the immediately preceding sentence, the Investor shall withdraw the designation of such proposed Investor Director, and, subject to the requirements of this Section 3.4(b) be permitted to designate a replacement therefor (which replacement Investor Director will also be subject to the requirements of this Section 3.4(b)). The Company hereby agrees that the Investor Director listed on Exhibit A to this Agreement would not be prohibited from serving on the Board pursuant to clause (i) of the first sentence of this Section 3.4(b).

(c) Subject to Section 3.7, the Board may impose as a condition to the Investor Director serving on the Board that such Investor Director agree to, and be subject to, each Subject Policy. For the avoidance of doubt, no Subject Policy shall modify any of the rights and obligations of the parties to this Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement between the parties dated as of the date hereof, the Merger Agreement or any other agreement entered into between the parties in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.

Section 3.5 Lock-up. The Investor shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, during the period commencing on the Closing Date and continuing for one hundred and eighty (180) days after the Closing Date (the “Lock-up Period”), (a) offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, give, assign, hypothecate, pledge, encumber, grant a security interest in, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract

7

to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend or otherwise transfer or dispose of (including through any hedging or other similar transaction) any economic, voting or other rights in or to the Issued Shares, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, or (b) enter into any swap or other agreement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Issued Shares (any such transaction described in clause (a) or (b) above, a “Transfer”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restrictions set forth in this Section 3.5 shall not apply to (i) Transfers involving in the aggregate no more than [●]1 shares of Common Stock (as appropriately adjusted for any stock split, stock dividend or similar transaction), (ii) Transfers to Permitted Transferees; provided, however, that if such Permitted Transferee is EnCap or any of its Controlled Affiliates, EnCap or such Controlled Affiliate must agree in an executed written agreement (a copy of which will be delivered to the Company) for the benefit of the Company to be bound by the terms of this Section 3.5 prior to such Transfer or distribution, as applicable, and that any Permitted Transferee that is an Affiliate of EnCap and does not otherwise qualify as a Permitted Transferee shall also agree that such Person shall Transfer such shares of Common Stock back to EnCap if, during the Lock-Up Period, such Person ceases to be an Affiliate of EnCap, or (iii) any Transfers made in connection with any tender offer, exchange offer, merger, consolidation or other similar transaction approved or recommended by the Board or a committee thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, EnCap shall not be entitled to distribute shares of Common Stock to its limited partners during the Lock-Up Period. In connection with any Transfer to a Permitted Transferee, the Company agrees to not take any action that would cause such Transfer to be subject to requirements imposed by any “fair price,” “moratorium,” “control share acquisition,” “business combination” or any other anti-takeover statute or similar statute enacted under applicable Law (“Takeover Laws”), and, at the request of the Investor, will take all reasonable steps within its control to exempt (or ensure the continued exemption of) the Transfer from the Takeover Laws of any state that purport to apply to such transaction.

Section 3.6 Waiver of Corporate Opportunities. It is hereby acknowledged that members of the Investor Group participate in, and own and will own substantial equity interests in other entities (existing and future) that participate in, the energy industry (“Portfolio Companies”) and may make investments and enter into advisory service agreements and other agreements from time to time with those Portfolio Companies. Any individual who serves as the Investor Director may also serve as an employee, partner, officer, director, or member of the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies and, at any given time, members of the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies may be in direct or indirect competition with the Company and/or its subsidiaries. The Company waives, to the maximum extent permitted by Law, the application of the doctrine of corporate opportunity (or any analogous doctrine) with respect to the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies or the Investor Director. As a result of such waiver, no member of the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies, nor the Investor Director, shall have any obligation to refrain from: (A) engaging in or managing the same or similar activities or lines of business as the Company or any of its subsidiaries or developing or marketing any products or services that compete (directly or indirectly) with those of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (B) acquiring assets in the same or similar areas of operation and lines of business of the Company; (C) investing in, owning or disposing of any (public or private) interest in any Person engaged in the same or similar activities

1 | Note to Draft: To be equal to 1/3 of the Issued Shares.

8

or lines of business as, or otherwise in competition with, the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including any member of the Investor Group, a “Competing Person”); (D) developing a business relationship with any Competing Person; or (E) entering into any agreement to provide any service(s) to any Competing Person or acting as an officer, director, member, manager or advisor to, or other principal of, any Competing Person, regardless (in the case of each of clauses (A) through (E)) of whether such activities are in direct or indirect competition with the business or activities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (the activities described in clauses (A) through (D) are referred to herein as “Specified Activities”). To the fullest extent permitted by Law, the Company hereby renounces (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) any interest or expectancy in, or in being notified of or offered an opportunity to participate in, any Specified Activity that may be presented to or become known to any member of the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies or the Investor Director. Nothing in this Section 3.6 shall be construed to limit or waive any right of the Company or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to any express written agreement between the Company and/or one or more of its subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any member of the Investor Group, any Portfolio Company, or any of their respective employees, partners, officers, directors or members, on the other hand.

Section 3.7 Amendment to Organizational Documents. The Company shall not amend, or propose to amend, the Organizational Documents in any manner that is inconsistent with or would nullify or supersede any of the terms of this Agreement or would prevent any party hereto from complying with its obligations hereunder unless such proposed amendment is approved by the Investor.

ARTICLE IV

TERMINATION

Section 4.1 Termination. This Agreement (except with respect to the rights and obligations under Section 3.6 hereof, which shall not be terminable) shall terminate upon the earliest to occur of (a) the last to occur of (i) the Board Designation Expiration Date and (ii) the expiration of the Lock-up Period, (b) the Investor and its Permitted Transferees ceasing to own any shares of Common Stock or (c) the mutual written consent of the parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rights and obligations provided under Section 5.10 shall terminate upon the one-year anniversary of the Board Designation Expiration Date.

ARTICLE V

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 5.1 Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered, sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, mailed by registered or certified mail or be sent by facsimile or electronic mail to such party at the address set forth below (or such other address as shall be specified by like notice). Notices will be deemed to have been duly given hereunder if (a) personally delivered, when received, (b) sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, one business day after deposit with the nationally recognized overnight courier, (c) mailed by registered or certified mail, five business days after the date on which it is so mailed, and (d) sent by facsimile or electronic mail,

9

on the date sent so long as such communication is transmitted before 5:00 p.m. in the time zone of the receiving party on a business day and the receiving party affirmatively acknowledges receipt, otherwise, on the next business day.

| (a) | If to the Company, to:

Devon Energy Corporation

333 West Sheridan Avenue

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102

| Attention: | Jeffrey L. Ritenour; Lyndon C. Taylor; Edward Highberger

| Email: | Jeff.Ritenour@dvn.com;lyndon.taylor@dvn.com; Edward.Highberger@dvn.com

| (b) | If to the Investor, to:

Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC

1530 16th Street

Suite 500

Denver, Colorado 80202

Attention: John D. McCready

E-mail: johnm@felix-energy.com

| (c) | If to EnCap, to:

EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P.

1100 Louisiana Street

Suite 4900

Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: Douglas E. Swanson, Jr.

E-mail: dswanson@encapinvestments.com

Section 5.2 Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable, and the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or any circumstance, is found to be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, (a) a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision and (b) the remainder of this Agreement and the application of such provision to other Persons or circumstances shall not be affected by such invalidity or unenforceability, nor shall such invalidity or unenforceability affect the validity or enforceability of such provision, or the application thereof, in any other jurisdiction.

Section 5.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which, taken together, shall be considered one and the same agreement.

Section 5.4 Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (a) constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all other prior agreements, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and (b) is not intended to confer upon any Person, other than the parties hereto, any rights or remedies hereunder.

10

Section 5.5 Further Assurances.

(a) Each party hereto shall execute, deliver, acknowledge and file such other documents and take such further actions as may be reasonably requested from time to time by the other parties hereto to give effect to and carry out the transactions contemplated herein.

(b) In the event that the Company or any of its successors or permitted assigns engage in a merger, consolidation, equity security exchange or similar transaction in which the Common Stock is converted into or exchanged for equity securities in another entity, the Company (or such successor or permitted assign) shall cause such other entity to enter into an agreement with the Investor that provides the Investor with rights substantially similar to those provided hereunder.

Section 5.6 Governing Law; Equitable Remedies. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE (WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO CONFLICT OF LAWS PRINCIPLES THEREOF). The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with its specific terms or was otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties hereto shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions and other equitable remedies to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any of the Selected Courts (as defined below), this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at Law or in equity. Any requirements for the securing or posting of any bond with respect to such remedy are hereby waived by each of the parties hereto. Each party hereto further agrees that, in the event of any action for an injunction or other equitable remedy in respect of such breach or enforcement of specific performance, it will not assert the defense that a remedy at Law would be adequate.

Section 5.7 Consent To Jurisdiction. With respect to any suit, action or proceeding (“Proceeding”) arising out of or relating to this Agreement, each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably (a) submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the United States District Court for the District of Delaware and the appellate courts therefrom (the “Selected Courts”) and waives any objection to venue being laid in the Selected Courts whether based on the grounds of forum non conveniens or otherwise and hereby agrees not to commence any such Proceeding other than before one of the Selected Courts; provided, however, that a party may commence any Proceeding in a court other than a Selected Court solely for the purpose of enforcing an order or judgment issued by one of the Selected Courts; (b) consents to service of process in any Proceeding by the mailing of copies thereof by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or by recognized international express carrier or delivery service, to their respective addresses referred to in Section 5.1 hereof; provided, however, that nothing herein shall affect the right of any party hereto to serve process in any other manner permitted by Law; and (c) TO THE EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW THAT CANNOT BE WAIVED, WAIVES, AND COVENANTS THAT IT WILL NOT ASSERT (WHETHER AS PLAINTIFF, DEFENDANT OR OTHERWISE) ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY

11

JURY IN ANY ACTION ARISING IN WHOLE OR IN PART UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE, AND AGREES THAT ANY OF THEM MAY FILE A COPY OF THIS PARAGRAPH WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND BARGAINED-FOR AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES IRREVOCABLY TO WAIVE THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY PROCEEDING WHATSOEVER BETWEEN THEM RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND TO HAVE ALL MATTERS RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT BE TRIED IN A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION BY A JUDGE SITTING WITHOUT A JURY.

Section 5.8 Amendments; Waivers.

(a) No provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is in writing and signed (i) in the case of an amendment, by each of the parties hereto, and (ii) in the case of a waiver, by each of the parties against whom the waiver is to be effective.

(b) No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by Law.

Section 5.9 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other parties; provided, however, that the Investor may assign any of its rights hereunder to any of its Affiliates to the extent such Affiliate is Transferred Common Stock not in violation of the terms of this Agreement and provided any such Affiliate execute a joinder to this Agreement. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 5.10 Confidentiality. Each of the Investor and EnCap shall hold, and cause its Affiliates and its and their respective directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, consultants, auditors, attorneys, financial advisors, financing sources and other consultants and advisors (“Representatives”) to hold, in strict confidence, unless disclosure to a regulatory authority is necessary in connection with any necessary regulatory approval, examination or inspection or unless disclosure is required by judicial or administrative process or by other requirement of law or the applicable requirements of any regulatory agency or relevant stock exchange (in which case, other than in connection with a disclosure in connection with a routine audit or examination by, or document request from, a regulatory or self-regulatory authority, bank examiner or auditor, the party disclosing such information shall provide the other party with prior written notice of such permitted disclosure), all nonpublic records, books, contracts, instruments, computer data and other data and information (collectively, “Information”) concerning the Company, East or any of their respective subsidiaries furnished to it or the Investor Director by or on behalf of the Company, East or any of their respective subsidiaries (except to the extent that such information can be shown by the party receiving such Information to have been (a) previously known by such party from

12

other sources; provided that such source was not known by such party to be bound by a contractual, legal or fiduciary obligation of confidentiality to the other party, (b) in the public domain through no violation of this Section 5.10 by such party or (c) later lawfully acquired from other sources by the party to which it was furnished), and no such party shall release or disclose such Information to any other person, except its Representatives (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any Portfolio Company, unless such Portfolio Company enters into a joinder agreement with the Company), or use such Information other than in connection with evaluating and taking actions with respect to such Person’s ownership interest in the Company. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Investor and EnCap may, in the ordinary course of their respective businesses, evaluate investments in the energy industry and that they are actively seeking to invest in energy related projects in a variety of areas, including the provision of fresh water and disposal of produced water in connection with oil and gas exploration and development operations. The Company understands that the Investor, EnCap and the Investor Director will retain certain mental impressions of Information, which are indistinguishable from generalized industry knowledge. Accordingly, the Company agrees that, subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Investor, EnCap and the Investor Director are not precluded from pursuing investments solely because of such retained mental impressions. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, no provision of this Agreement shall apply to any action taken independently by any Portfolio Company so long as the Investor or EnCap has not provided such Portfolio Company with any Information. For purposes of clarification, no such Portfolio Company shall be deemed to have been provided with Information solely as a result of the Investor, EnCap, any Investor Director or any Representative (whether such Person has been provided with or has knowledge of Information) serving on the board of such Portfolio Company (provided that such board member does not use Information in connection with the business of such Portfolio Company).

[Signature page follows.]

13

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

DEVON ENERGY CORPORATION
By: |  |
|  | Name:
|  | Title:

A-1

FELIX INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS II, LLC
By: |  |
|  | Name:
|  | Title:

A-2

Accepted and acknowledged, solely for purposes of Section 2.1, Section 3.5, Section 3.7 and Section 5.10 in this Agreement:

ENCAP ENERGY CAPITAL FUND X, L.P.
By: |  | EnCap Equity Fund X GP, L.P.,
|  | General Partner of EnCap Energy
|  | Capital Fund X, L.P.
By: |  | EnCap Investments L.P.,
|  | General Partner of EnCap Equity Fund
|  | X GP, L.P.
By: |  | EnCap Investments GP, L.L.C.,
|  | General Partner of EnCap Investments L.P.

By: |  |
|  | Name:
|  | Title:

A-3

EXHIBIT A

INITIAL INVESTOR DIRECTOR

1. D. Martin Phillips

A-4

Exhibit B

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of [●], 2020, is by and among Devon Energy Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Investor”), and the other Holders (as defined below) from time to time parties hereto.

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Investor, the other Holders from time to time parties thereto and WPX Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“East” and together with the Investor and the other Holders from time to time parties thereto, the “East RRA Parties”) are party to that certain Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2020 (the “East Registration Rights Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things, East provided certain registration rights to the Holders of East Common Stock (as defined below) issued to the Investor pursuant to the terms of that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2019, between East and the Investor;

WHEREAS, the Company and East have entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 26, 2020, (as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, East Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), and East, pursuant to which, among other things, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into East (the “Merger”), which will survive as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the shares of East Common Stock will be converted into shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share, of the Company (the “Common Stock”);

WHEREAS, in connection with, and effective upon, the date of the closing of the Merger (the “Closing Date”), the Company has issued to the Investor the Issued Shares (as defined below) and all of Investor’s shares of East Common Stock were canceled in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement;

WHEREAS, in connection with the closing of the Merger, the Company is granting to the Investor and the other Holders from time to time parties hereto, certain registration rights with respect to the Issued Shares, as set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, in connection with, and effective upon, entering into this Agreement, the East RRA Parties are entering into that certain termination agreement, dated the date hereof, pursuant to which the East RRA Parties agreed to terminate the East Registration Rights Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by each party hereto, the parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE VI

DEFINITIONS

As used herein, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

“Adoption Agreement” means an Adoption Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.

“Affiliate” means (a) as to any Person, other than an individual Holder, any other Person who directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such Person and (b) as to any individual, (i) any Relative of such individual, (ii) any trust whose primary beneficiaries are one or more of such individual and such individual’s Relatives, (iii) the legal representative or guardian of such individual or any of such individual’s Relatives if one has been appointed and (iv) any Person controlled by one or more of such individual or any Person referred to in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above. As used in this Agreement, the term “control,” including the correlative terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with,” means possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management or policies (whether through ownership of securities or any partnership or other ownership interest, by contract or otherwise) of a Person.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph.

“ASR Filing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, any federal holiday or any other day on which banking institutions in the State of Texas or the State of New York are authorized or required to be closed by law or governmental action.

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor governmental agency.

“Common Stock” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Company” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph.

“Company Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(c)(i).

“East” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“East Common Stock” means the common stock of East, $0.01 par value per share.

“East Registration Rights Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

6

“East RRA Parties” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor federal statute, and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect at the time.

“Felix Closing Date” means March 6, 2020.

“Holder” means any record holder of Registrable Securities.

“Holders Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(c)(i).

“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3.

“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3.

“Investor” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph.

“Issued Shares” means the number of shares of Common Stock issued to the Investor pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement.

“Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

“Majority Holders” shall mean, at any time, the Holder or Holders of more than fifty percent (50%) of the Registrable Securities at such time.

“Managing Underwriter” means, with respect to any Underwritten Offering, the lead book-running manager(s) of such Underwritten Offering.

“Merger Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Opt-Out Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b).

“Permitted Transferee” of a Holder means (i) any Affiliate of the Holder or (ii) any direct or indirect partner, shareholder or member of the Holder or any trust, family partnership or family limited liability company, the sole direct or indirect beneficiaries, partners or members of which are the Holder or Relatives of the Holder.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, firm, association, trust, government, governmental agency or other entity, whether acting in an individual, fiduciary or other capacity.

“Piggyback Underwritten Offering” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

“Piggybacking Holder” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

“Proceeding” shall mean an action, claim, suit, arbitration or proceeding (including, without limitation, an investigation or partial proceeding, such as a deposition), whether commenced or threatened.

7

“Registrable Securities” shall mean (a) the Issued Shares and (b) any securities issued or issuable with respect to the Issued Shares by way of distribution or in connection with any reorganization or other recapitalization, merger, consolidation or otherwise; provided, however, that a Registrable Security shall cease to be a Registrable Security when (i) such share has been disposed of pursuant to an effective Registration Statement, (ii) such share has been disposed of under Rule 144 or any other exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act as a result of which the Transferee thereof does not receive “restricted securities” as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act or (iii) such shares are freely tradeable by the Holder thereof without volume or other limitations or requirements under Rule 144 and such Holder and its Affiliates collectively hold less than 5% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock.

“Registration Expenses” means all expenses incurred by the Company in complying with Article II, including, without limitation, all registration and filing fees, printing expenses, road show expenses, fees and disbursements of counsel and independent public accountants and independent petroleum engineers for the Company, fees and expenses (including counsel fees) incurred in connection with complying with state securities or “blue sky” laws, fees of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., fees of transfer agents and registrars, and the reasonable fees and disbursements of one special legal counsel to represent the Investor in an applicable Shelf Underwritten Offering or Piggyback Underwritten Offering not to exceed $25,000 per Shelf Underwritten Offering or Piggyback Underwritten Offering, but excluding any Selling Expenses.

“Registration Statement” means any registration statement of the Company filed or to be filed with the Commission under the Securities Act, including the related prospectus, amendments and supplements to such registration statement, and including pre- and post-effective amendments, and all exhibits and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement.

“Relative” means, with respect to any natural person: (a) such natural person’s spouse, (b) any lineal descendant, parent, grandparent, great grandparent or sibling or any lineal descendant of such sibling (in each case whether by blood or legal adoption), and (c) the spouse of a natural person described in clause (b) of this definition.

“Requesting Holder” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

“Required Shelf Filing Date” means the 10th Business Day after the date of this Agreement.

“Rule 144” means Rule 144 promulgated by the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, as such rule may be amended from time to time, or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the Commission as a replacement thereto having substantially the same effect as such rule.

“Section 2.2 Maximum Number of Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(c).

8

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any successor federal statute, and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect at the time. References to any rule under the Securities Act shall be deemed to refer to any similar or successor rule or regulation.

“Selling Expenses” means all (a) underwriting fees, discounts and selling commissions allocable to the sale of Registrable Securities, (b) transfer taxes allocable to the sale of the Registrable Securities and (c) costs or expenses related to any roadshows conducted in connection with the marketing of any Shelf Underwritten Offering.

“Selling Holder” means a Holder selling Registrable Securities pursuant to a Registration Statement.

“Shelf Piggybacking Holder” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b).

“Shelf Registration Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“Shelf Underwritten Offering” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

“Shelf Underwritten Offering Request” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

“Suspension Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.

“Transfer” means any offer, sale, pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation, entry into any contract to sell, grant of an option to purchase, short sale, assignment, transfer, exchange, gift, bequest or other disposition, direct or indirect, in whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise. “Transfer,” when used as a verb, and “Transferee” and “Transferor” have correlative meanings.

“Underwritten Offering” means an offering (including an offering pursuant to a Shelf Registration Statement) in which shares of Common Stock are sold to an underwriter for reoffer.

“Underwritten Offering Filing” means (a) with respect to a Shelf Underwritten Offering, a preliminary prospectus supplement (or prospectus supplement if no preliminary prospectus supplement is used) to the Shelf Registration Statement relating to such Shelf Underwritten Offering, and (b) with respect to a Piggyback Underwritten Offering, (i) a preliminary prospectus supplement (or prospectus supplement if no preliminary prospectus supplement is used) to an effective Shelf Registration Statement (other than the Shelf Registration Statement) or (ii) a Registration Statement, in each case relating to such Piggyback Underwritten Offering.

“WKSI” means a well-known seasoned issuer (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act).

9

ARTICLE VII

REGISTRATION RIGHTS

Section 7.1 Shelf Registration.

(a) As soon as practicable, and in any event on or prior to the Required Shelf Filing Date, the Company shall prepare and file a “shelf” registration statement under the Securities Act to permit the resale of the Registrable Securities from time to time as permitted by Rule 415 under the Securities Act (or any similar provision adopted by the Commission then in effect) (the “Shelf Registration Statement”). If at the time of such filing, the Company is a WKSI, the Registration Statement shall be an automatic shelf registration statement that becomes effective upon filing with the Commission in accordance with Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act (an “ASR Filing”). If the Shelf Registration Statement does not qualify as an ASR Filing, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such Registration Statement to become or be declared effective as soon as practicable after the filing thereof and, in any event, within 45 days after the date of this Agreement in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 or 90 days after the date of this Agreement in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-1. Following the effective date of the Shelf Registration Statement that is not an ASR Filing, the Company shall notify the Holders of the effectiveness of such Registration Statement.

(b) The Shelf Registration Statement shall be on Form S-3 or, if Form S-3 is not then available to the Company, on Form S-1 or such other form of registration statement as is then available to effect a registration for resale of such Registrable Securities and shall contain a prospectus in such form as to permit any Holder to sell such Registrable Securities pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act (or any successor or similar rule adopted by the Commission then in effect) at any time beginning on the effective date for such Registration Statement. The Shelf Registration Statement shall provide for the distribution or resale pursuant to any method or combination of methods legally available to the Holders.

(c) The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Shelf Registration Statement to remain effective, and to be supplemented and amended as promptly as practicable to the extent necessary to ensure that the Shelf Registration Statement is available or, if not available, that another Registration Statement is available (which Registration Statement shall also be referred to herein as the Shelf Registration Statement), for the resale of all the Registrable Securities until all of the Registrable Securities have ceased to be Registrable Securities or the earlier termination of this Agreement (as to all Holders).

(d) When effective, the Shelf Registration Statement (including the documents incorporated therein by reference) will comply as to form in all material respects with all applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading (in the case of any prospectus contained in the Shelf Registration Statement, in the light of the circumstances under which such statements are made).

10

Section 7.2 Underwritten Shelf Offering Requests.

(a) In the event that any Holder or group of Holders elects to dispose of Registrable Securities under a Registration Statement pursuant to an Underwritten Offering and reasonably expects gross proceeds of at least $100 million from such Underwritten Offering (including proceeds attributable to any Registrable Securities included in such Underwritten Offering by any Shelf Piggybacking Holders), the Company shall, at the request (a “Shelf Underwritten Offering Request”) of such Holder or Holders (in such capacity, a “Requesting Holder”), enter into an underwriting agreement in a form as is customary in Underwritten Offerings of securities by the Company with the underwriter or underwriters selected by the Requesting Holders holding a majority of the shares of Common Stock expected to be sold in such Underwritten Offering (and reasonably acceptable to the Company) and shall take all such other reasonable actions as are requested by the Managing Underwriter of such Underwritten Offering and/or the Requesting Holders in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities and, subject to Section 2.2(c), the Registrable Securities requested to be included by any Shelf Piggybacking Holder (a “Shelf Underwritten Offering”); provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to facilitate or participate (i) in more than two Shelf Underwritten Offerings that are initiated by a Holder pursuant to this Section 2.2 during any 12-month period (and no more than one Shelf Underwritten Offering in any 120-day period) or (ii) in any Shelf Underwritten Offering if the Company has conducted a Shelf Underwritten Offering in the preceding 120-day period in which such Requesting Holder was eligible to exercise piggyback registration rights pursuant to Section 2.4 and was not subject to cutback pursuant to Section 2.4(c) to the number of Registrable Securities that the Requesting Holder had requested be included in the Piggyback Underwritten Offering.

(b) If the Company receives a Shelf Underwritten Offering Request, it will give written notice of such proposed Shelf Underwritten Offering to each Holder (other than the Requesting Holder), which notice shall include the anticipated filing date of the related Underwritten Offering Filing and, if known, the number of shares of Common Stock that are proposed to be included in such Shelf Underwritten Offering, and of such Holders’ rights under this Section 2.2(b). Such notice shall be given promptly (and in any event not later than two Business Day following receipt of the Shelf Underwritten Offering Request); provided, that if the Shelf Underwritten Offering is a bought or overnight Underwritten Offering and the Managing Underwriter advises the Company and the Requesting Holder that the giving of notice pursuant to this Section 2.2(b) would adversely affect the offering, no such notice shall be required (and such Holders shall have no right to include Registrable Securities in such bought or overnight Underwritten Offering); and provided further, that the Company shall not so notify any such other Holder that has notified the Company (and not revoked such notice) requesting that such Holder not receive notice from the Company of any proposed Shelf Underwritten Offering. If such notice is delivered pursuant to this Section 2.2(b), each such Holder shall then have three Business Days (or one Business Day in the case of a bought or overnight Underwritten Offering) after the date on which the Holders received notice pursuant to this Section 2.2(b) to request inclusion of Registrable Securities in the Shelf Underwritten Offering (which request shall specify the maximum number of Registrable Securities intended to be disposed of by such Holder and such other information as is reasonably required to effect the inclusion of such Registrable Securities) (any such Holder making such request, a “Shelf Piggybacking Holder”). If no request for inclusion from a Holder is received within such period, such Holder shall have no further right to participate in such Shelf Underwritten Offering.

11

(c) If the Managing Underwriter of the Shelf Underwritten Offering shall inform the Requesting Holder of its belief that the number of Registrable Securities requested to be included in such Shelf Underwritten Offering by the Holders (and any other shares of Common Stock requested to be included by any other Persons having registration rights with respect to such offering) would materially adversely affect such offering, then the Company shall include in the applicable Underwritten Offering Filing, to the extent of the total number of Registrable Securities that the Company is so advised can be sold in such Shelf Underwritten Offering without so materially adversely affecting such offering (the “Section 2.2 Maximum Number of Shares”), Registrable Securities in the following priority:

(i) First, all Registrable Securities that the Holders requested to be included therein (the “Holders Securities”) (pro rata among the Holders based on the number of Registrable Securities each requested to be included), and

(ii) Second, to the extent that the number of Holders Securities is less than the Section 2.2 Maximum Number of Shares, the shares of Common Stock requested to be included by any other Persons having registration rights with respect to such offering, pro rata among such other Persons based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included.

(d) The Requesting Holders shall determine the pricing of the Registrable Securities offered pursuant to any Shelf Underwritten Offering and the applicable underwriting discounts and commissions and determine the timing of any such Shelf Underwritten Offering, subject to Section 2.3.

(e) Each Holder shall have the right to withdraw their Registrable Securities from the Shelf Underwritten Offering at any time prior to the execution of an underwriting agreement with respect thereto by giving written notice to the Company of its request to withdraw.

Section 7.3 Delay and Suspension Rights. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company may (i) delay effecting a Shelf Underwritten Offering or (ii) suspend the Holders’ use of any prospectus that is a part of a Shelf Registration Statement upon written notice to each Holder whose Registrable Securities are included in such Shelf Registration Statement (provided that in no event shall such notice contain any material non-public information regarding the Company) (in which event such Holder shall discontinue sales of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement but may settle any then-contracted sales of Registrable Securities), in each case for a period of up to 40 consecutive days, if the Board determines (A) that such delay or suspension is in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders generally due to a pending financing or other transaction involving the Company, (B) that such registration or offering would render the Company unable to comply with applicable securities laws or (C) that such registration or offering would require disclosure of material information that the Company has a bona fide business purpose for preserving as confidential (any such period, a “Suspension Period”); provided, however, that in no event shall any Suspension Periods collectively exceed an aggregate of 60 days in any 180-day period or exceed an aggregate of 90 days in any 12-month period; provided, further, that the number of days that the Company may so delay or suspend in accordance with this Section 2.3 in the 180-day period and 12-month period immediately following the Closing Date shall be reduced by the number of days after the Required Shelf Filing Date that the Shelf Registration Statement is declared or otherwise becomes effective.

12

Section 7.4 Piggyback Registration Rights.

(a) Subject to Section 2.4(c), if the Company at any time proposes to file an Underwritten Offering Filing for an Underwritten Offering of shares of Common Stock for its own account or for the account of any other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, other than the Holders (a “Piggyback Underwritten Offering”), it will give written notice of such Piggyback Underwritten Offering to each Holder, which notice shall include the anticipated filing date of the Underwritten Offering Filing and, if known, the number of shares of Common Stock that are proposed to be included in such Piggyback Underwritten Offering, and of such Holders’ rights under this Section 2.4(a). Such notice shall be given promptly (and in any event at least five Business Days before the filing of the Underwritten Offering Filing or two Business Days before the filing of the Underwritten Offering Filing in connection with a bought or overnight Underwritten Offering). If such notice is delivered to pursuant to this Section 2.4(a), each such Holder shall then have four Business Days (or one Business Day in the case of a bought or overnight Underwritten Offering) after the date on which the Holders received notice pursuant to this Section 2.4(a) to request inclusion of Registrable Securities in the Piggyback Underwritten Offering (which request shall specify the maximum number of Registrable Securities intended to be disposed of by such Holder and such other information as is reasonably required to effect the inclusion of such Registrable Securities) (any such Holder making such request, a “Piggybacking Holder”). If no request for inclusion from a Holder is received within such period, such Holder shall have no further right to participate in such Piggyback Underwritten Offering. Subject to Section 2.4(c), the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to include in the Piggyback Underwritten Offering all Registrable Securities that the Company has been so requested to include by the Piggybacking Holders; provided, however, that if, at any time after giving written notice of a proposed Piggyback Underwritten Offering pursuant to this Section 2.4(a) and prior to the execution of an underwriting agreement with respect thereto, the Company or such other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, as applicable, shall determine for any reason not to proceed with or to delay such Piggyback Underwritten Offering, the Company shall give written notice of such determination to the Piggybacking Holders and (i) in the case of a determination not to proceed, shall be relieved of its obligation to include any Registrable Securities in such Piggyback Underwritten Offering (but not from any obligation of the Company to pay the Registration Expenses in connection therewith), and (ii) in the case of a determination to delay, shall be permitted to delay inclusion of any Registrable Securities for the same period as the delay in including the shares of Common Stock to be sold for the Company’s account or for the account of such other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, as applicable.

(b) Each Holder shall have the right to withdraw its request for inclusion of its Registrable Securities in any Piggyback Underwritten Offering at any time prior to the execution of an underwriting agreement with respect thereto by giving written notice to the Company of its request to withdraw. Any Holder may deliver written notice (an “Opt-Out Notice”) to the Company requesting that such Holder not receive notice from the Company of any proposed Piggyback Underwritten Offering; provided, however, that such Holder may later revoke any such Opt-Out Notice in writing. Following receipt of an Opt-Out Notice from a Holder (unless

13

subsequently revoked), the Company shall not, and shall not be required to, deliver any notice to such Holder pursuant to this Section 2.4 and such Holder shall no longer be entitled to participate in any Piggyback Underwritten Offering.

(c) If the Managing Underwriter of the Piggyback Underwritten Offering shall inform the Company of its belief that the number of Registrable Securities requested to be included in such Piggyback Underwritten Offering, when added to the number of shares of Common Stock proposed to be offered by the Company or such other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights (and any other shares of Common Stock requested to be included by any other Persons having registration rights on parity with the Piggybacking Holders with respect to such offering), would materially adversely affect such offering, then the Company shall include in such Piggyback Underwritten Offering, to the extent of the total number of securities which the Company is so advised can be sold in such offering without so materially adversely affecting such offering, shares of Common Stock in the following priority:

(i) if the Piggyback Underwritten Offering is for the account of the Company, first, all shares of Common Stock that the Company proposes to include for its own account (the “Company Securities”), second, the shares of Common Stock that the Piggybacking Holders propose to include (pro rata among the Piggybacking Holders based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), and third, the shares of Common Stock that other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights propose to include (pro rata among such other Persons based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included);

(ii) if the notice of a Piggyback Underwritten Offering pursuant to Section 2.4(a) is given on or prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Felix Closing Date, the Piggyback Underwritten Offering is for the account of any other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, first, all shares of Common Stock that the Piggybacking Holders propose to include (pro rata among the Piggybacking Holders based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), second, the shares of Common Stock that such other Persons propose to include (pro rata among such other Persons based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), and third, the Company Securities; or

(iii) if the notice of a Piggyback Underwritten Offering pursuant to Section 2.4(a) is given after the third (3rd) anniversary of the Felix Closing Date, the Piggyback Underwritten Offering is for the account of any other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, first, the shares of Common Stock that such other Persons propose to include (pro rata among such other Persons based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), second, all shares of Common Stock that the Piggybacking Holders propose to include (pro rata among the Piggybacking Holders based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), and third, the Company Securities.

14

Section 7.5 Participation in Underwritten Offerings.

(a) In connection with any Underwritten Offering contemplated by Section 2.2 or Section 2.4, the underwriting agreement into which each Selling Holder and the Company shall enter into shall contain such representations, covenants, indemnities (subject to Article III) and other rights and obligations as are customary in Underwritten Offerings of securities by the Company, and the Company shall be entitled to designate counsel for the underwriters. No Selling Holder shall be required to make any representations or warranties to or agreements with the Company or the underwriters other than representations, warranties or agreements regarding such Selling Holder’s authority to enter into such underwriting agreement and to sell, and its ownership of, the securities being registered on its behalf, its intended method of distribution and any other representation required by law.

(b) Any participation by the Piggybacking Holders in a Piggyback Underwritten Offering shall be in accordance with the plan of distribution of the Company or the other Persons who have registration rights, as applicable.

(c) In connection with any Piggyback Underwritten Offering in which any Piggybacking Holder includes Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 2.4, such Piggybacking Holder agrees (A) to supply any information reasonably requested by the Company in connection with the preparation of a Registration Statement and/or any other documents relating to such registered offering and (B) to execute and deliver any agreements and instruments being executed by all holders on substantially the same terms reasonably requested by the Company or the Managing Underwriter, as applicable, to effectuate such registered offering, including, without limitation, underwriting agreements (subject to Section 2.5(a)), custody agreements, powers of attorney, questionnaires, and lock-ups or “hold back” agreements pursuant to which such Piggybacking Holder agrees with the Managing Underwriter not to sell or purchase any securities of the Company for the shorter of (i) the same period of time following the registered offering as is agreed to by the Company and the other participating holders (not to exceed the shortest number of days that any director of the Company, “executive officer” (as defined under Section 16 of the Exchange Act) of the Company or any stockholder of the Company (other than a Holder or director or employee of, or consultant to, the Company) who owns 10% or more of the outstanding shares contractually agrees with the underwriters of such Piggyback Underwritten Offering not to sell any securities of the Company following such Piggyback Underwritten Offering) and (ii) 60 days from the date of the execution of the underwriting agreement with respect to such Piggyback Underwritten Offering.

Section 7.6 Registration Procedures.

(a) In connection with its obligations under this Article II, the Company will take all reasonably necessary action to facilitate and effect the transactions contemplated thereby, including, but not limited to, the following:

(i) promptly prepare and file with the Commission such amendments and supplements to such Registration Statement and the prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep such Registration Statement effective and to comply with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of all securities covered by such Registration Statement until such time as all of such securities have been disposed of in accordance with the intended methods of disposition by the Selling Holder or Selling Holder thereof set forth in such Registration Statement;

15

(ii) furnish to each Selling Holder, without charge, such number of conformed copies of such Registration Statement and of each such amendment and supplement thereto (in each case including, without limitation, all exhibits), such number of copies of the prospectus contained in such Registration Statement (including without limitation each preliminary prospectus and any summary prospectus) and any other prospectus filed under Rule 424 under the Securities Act, in conformity with the requirements of the Securities Act, and such other documents, as such Selling Holder may reasonably request;

(iii) if applicable, use its commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify all Registrable Securities and other securities covered by such Registration Statement under such other securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions as each Selling Holder thereof shall reasonably request, to keep such registration or qualification in effect for so long as such Registration Statement remains in effect, and to take any other action which may be reasonably necessary or advisable to enable such Selling Holder to consummate the disposition in such jurisdictions of the securities owned by such Selling Holder, except that the Company shall not for any such purpose be required to qualify generally to do business as a foreign corporation in any jurisdiction wherein it would not but for the requirements of this clause (iii) be obligated to be so qualified or to consent to general service of process in any such jurisdiction;

(iv) use its commercially reasonable efforts to provide to each Selling Holder and any underwriters a copy of any customary auditor “comfort” letters, legal opinions or reports of the independent petroleum engineers of the Company relating to the oil and gas reserves of the Company;

(v) promptly notify each Selling Holder, at any time when a prospectus relating thereto is required to be delivered under the Securities Act, upon discovery that, or upon the happening of any event as a result of which, the prospectus included in such Registration Statement, as then in effect, includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, and at the request of any such Selling Holder promptly prepare and file or furnish to such Selling Holder a reasonable number of copies of a supplement or post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement or a supplement to the related prospectus or any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference, or file any other required document as may be necessary so that, as thereafter delivered to the purchasers of such securities, such prospectus shall not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances under which they were made;

(vi) otherwise comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the Commission, and make available to its security holders, as soon as reasonably practicable, an earnings statement, which earnings statement shall satisfy the provisions of

16

Section 11(a) of the Securities Act, and shall furnish to each such Selling Holder at least the Business Day prior to the filing thereof a copy of any amendment or supplement to such Registration Statement or prospectus;

(vii) provide and cause to be maintained a transfer agent and registrar for all Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement from and after a date not later than the effective date of such Registration Statement;

(viii) in connection with the preparation and filing of any Registration Statement or any sale of Registrable Securities in connection therewith, the Company will give the Holders offering and selling thereunder, any underwriters and their respective counsels the opportunity to review and provide comments on such Registration Statement, each prospectus included therein or filed with the Commission, and each amendment thereof or supplement thereto (other than amendments or supplements that do not make any material change in the information related to the Company) (provided that the Company shall not file any such Registration Statement including Registrable Securities or an amendment thereto or any related prospectus or any supplement thereto to which such Holders or any underwriter shall reasonably object in writing), and give each of them, together with any underwriter, broker, dealer or sales agent involved therewith, such access to its books and records and such opportunities to discuss the business of the Company and its subsidiaries with its officers, its counsel, the independent public accountants who have certified its financial statements, and the independent petroleum engineers of the Company as shall be necessary, in the opinion of the Holder’s and such underwriters’ (or broker’s, dealer’s or sales agent’s, as the case may be) respective counsel, to conduct a reasonable due diligence investigation within the meaning of the Securities Act;

(ix) use its commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, and, if any such order suspending the effectiveness of such Registration Statement is issued, shall promptly use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the withdrawal of such order at the earliest possible moment;

(x) promptly notify the Holders (i) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or the initiation or threat of any proceedings for that purpose, (ii) of any delisting or pending delisting of the Common Stock by any national securities exchange or market on which the Common Stock are then listed or quoted, and (iii) of the receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification of any Registrable Securities for sale under the securities or “blue sky” laws of any jurisdiction or the initiation of any proceeding for such purpose;

(xi) cause all Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement to be listed on any securities exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed;

(xii) enter into such customary agreements, including but not limited to lock-up agreements by the Company (and, if reasonably requested by the Managing

17

Underwriter(s), the Company’s directors and “executive officers” (as defined under Section 16 of the Exchange Act)) that extend through 60 days following the entrance into the corresponding underwriting agreement, and to take such other actions as the Holder or Holders shall reasonably request in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities; and

(xiii) cause its officers to use their commercially reasonable efforts to support the marketing of the Registrable Securities covered by the Registration Statement (including, without limitation, participation in electronic or telephonic “road shows”).

(b) Each Holder agrees by acquisition of such Registrable Securities that upon receipt of any notice from the Company of the happening of any event of the kind described in Section 2.6(a)(v), such Holder will forthwith discontinue such Holder’s disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement until such Holder’s receipt of the copies of the supplemented or amended prospectus contemplated by Section 2.6(a)(v) as filed with the Commission or until it is advised in writing by the Company that the use of such Registration Statement may be resumed, and, if so directed by the Company, will deliver to the Company (at the Company’s expense) all copies, other than permanent file copies, then in such Holder’s possession of the prospectus relating to such Registrable Securities current at the time of receipt of such notice. The Company may provide appropriate stop orders to enforce the provisions of this Section 2.6(b).

Section 7.7 Cooperation by Holders. The Company shall have no obligation to include Registrable Securities of a Holder in any Registration Statement or Underwritten Offering if such Holder has failed to timely furnish such information as the Company may, from time to time, reasonably request in writing regarding such Holder and the distribution of such Registrable Securities that the Company determines, after consultation with its counsel, is reasonably required in order for any registration statement or prospectus supplement, as applicable, to comply with the Securities Act.

Section 7.8 Expenses. The Company shall be responsible for all Registration Expenses incident to its performance of or compliance with its obligations under this Article II. Each Selling Holder shall pay its pro rata share of all Selling Expenses in connection with any sale of its Registrable Securities hereunder.

Section 7.9 Additional Rights. The Company is not currently a party to and shall not hereafter enter into any agreement with respect to its securities that in any way violates or subordinates rights granted to the Holders by this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Majority Holders.

ARTICLE VIII

INDEMNIFICATION AND CONTRIBUTION

Section 8.1 Indemnification by the Company. The Company will indemnify and hold harmless each Holder, its officers and directors and each Person (if any) that controls such Holder within the meaning of either Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act

18

from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs (including costs of preparation and attorneys’ fees and any legal or other fees or expenses incurred by such Person in connection with any investigation or Proceeding), expenses, judgments, fines, penalties, charges and amounts paid in settlement (“Losses”) as incurred, caused by, arising out of or based upon, resulting from or related to any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement or prospectus relating to the Registrable Securities (as amended or supplemented if the Company shall have furnished any amendments or supplements thereto) or any preliminary prospectus, any filing made in connection with the qualifications of the offering under the securities or other blue sky laws of any jurisdiction in which Registrable Securities are offered, or any other offering document (including any related notification, or the like) incident to any such registration, qualification, or compliance, or based on any or any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading (in the case of any prospectus, in the light of the circumstances under which such statement is made), or any violation by the Company of this Agreement, the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, or any rule or regulation thereunder applicable to the Company and relating to action or inaction required of the Company in connection with any such registration, qualification, or compliance, provided, however, that such indemnity shall not apply to that portion of such Losses caused by, or arising out of, any untrue statement, or alleged untrue statement or any such omission or alleged omission, to the extent such statement or omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished in writing to the Company by or on behalf of such Holder expressly for use therein.

Section 8.2 Indemnification by the Holders. Each Holder agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its officers and directors and each Person (if any) that controls the Company within the meaning of either Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act from and against any and all Losses caused by, arising out of, resulting from or related to any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement or prospectus relating to Registrable Securities (as amended or supplemented if the Company shall have furnished any amendments or supplements thereto) or any preliminary prospectus, or any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading (in the case of any prospectus, in the light of the circumstances under which such statement is made), only to the extent such statement or omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished in writing by or on behalf of such Holder expressly for use therein.

Section 8.3 Indemnification Procedures. In case any Proceeding (including any governmental investigation) shall be instituted involving any Person in respect of which indemnity may be sought pursuant to Section 3.1 or Section 3.2, such Person (the “Indemnified Party”) shall promptly notify the Person against whom such indemnity may be sought (the “Indemnifying Party”) in writing (provided that the failure of the Indemnified Party to give notice as provided herein shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations under this Article III, except to the extent the Indemnifying Party is actually and materially prejudiced by such failure to give notice), and the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to participate in such Proceeding and, unless in the reasonable opinion of outside counsel to the Indemnified Party a conflict of interest between the Indemnified Party and Indemnifying Party may exist in respect of such claim, to assume the defense thereof jointly with any other Indemnifying Party similarly notified, to the extent that it chooses, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such Indemnified Party, and after notice from the

19

Indemnifying Party to such Indemnified Party that it so chooses, the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable to such Indemnified Party for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by such Indemnified Party in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation; provided, however, that (i) if the Indemnifying Party fails to assume the defense or employ counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party, (ii) if such Indemnified Party who is a defendant in any action or Proceeding that is also brought against the Indemnifying Party reasonably shall have concluded that there may be one or more legal defenses available to such Indemnified Party that are not available to the Indemnifying Party or (iii) if representation of both parties by the same counsel is otherwise inappropriate under applicable standards of professional conduct then, in any such case, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to assume or continue its own defense as set forth above (but with no more than one firm of counsel for all Indemnified Parties in each jurisdiction, except to the extent any Indemnified Party or Parties reasonably shall have concluded that there may be legal defenses available to such party or parties that are not available to the other Indemnified Parties or to the extent representation of all Indemnified Parties by the same counsel is otherwise inappropriate under applicable standards of professional conduct) and the Indemnifying Party shall be liable for any expenses therefor. No Indemnifying Party shall, without the written consent of the Indemnified Party, effect the settlement or compromise of, or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to, any pending or threatened action or claim in respect of which indemnification or contribution may be sought hereunder (whether or not the Indemnified Party is an actual or potential party to such action or claim) unless such settlement, compromise or judgment (A) includes an unconditional release of the Indemnified Party from all liability arising out of such action or claim and (B) does not include a statement as to, or an admission of, fault, culpability or a failure to act, by or on behalf of any Indemnified Party.

Section 8.4 Contribution.

(a) If the indemnification provided for in this Article III is unavailable to an Indemnified Party in respect of any Losses in respect of which indemnity is to be provided hereunder, then each Indemnifying Party, in lieu of indemnifying such Indemnified Party, shall to the fullest extent permitted by law contribute to the amount paid or payable by such Indemnified Party as a result of such Losses in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of such party in connection with the statements or omissions that resulted in such Losses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the Company (on the one hand) and a Holder (on the other hand) shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by such party and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.

(b) The Company and each Holder agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Article III were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in Section 3.4(a). The amount paid or payable by an Indemnified Party as a result of the losses, claims, damages or liabilities referred to in Section 3.4(a) shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth above, any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such Indemnified Party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Article III, no Holder shall be liable for indemnification or contribution pursuant to this Article III for any amount in excess of the net proceeds of the

20

offering received by such Holder, less the amount of any damages that such Holder has otherwise been required to pay by reason of such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

ARTICLE IX

RULE 144; ASSISTANCE WITH TRANSFERS.

Section 9.1 Rule 144.

(a) With a view to making available the benefits of certain rules and regulations of the Commission that may permit the resale of the Registrable Securities without registration, the Company agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to:

(i) make and keep public information regarding the Company available, as those terms are understood and defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, at all times from and after the date hereof;

(ii) file with the Commission in a timely manner all reports and other documents required of the Company under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act at all times from and after the date hereof; and

(iii) so long as a Holder owns any Registrable Securities, furnish (i) to the extent accurate, forthwith upon request, a written statement of the Company that it has complied with the reporting requirements of Rule 144 under the Securities Act and (ii) unless otherwise available via the Commission’s EDGAR filing system, to such Holder forthwith upon request a copy of the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company, and such other reports and documents so filed as such Holder may reasonably request in availing itself of any rule or regulation of the Commission allowing such Holder to sell any such securities without registration.

Section 9.2 Assistance with Transfers. In connection with any sale or transfer of Registrable Securities by any Holder, including any sale or transfer pursuant to Rule 144 and other rules and regulations of the Commission that may at any time permit a Holder of Registrable Securities to sell securities of the Company to the public without registration, the Company shall, to the extent allowed by law, take any and all action necessary or reasonably requested by such Holder in order to permit or facilitate such sale or transfer, including, without limitation, at the sole expense of the Company, by (i) issuing such directions to any transfer agent, registrar or depositary, as applicable, (ii) delivering such opinions to the transfer agent, registrar or depositary as are customary for the transaction of this type and are reasonably requested by the same, and (iii) taking or causing to be taken such other actions as are reasonably necessary (in each case on a timely basis) in order to cause any legends, notations or similar designations restricting transferability of the Registrable Securities held by such Holder to be removed and to rescind any transfer restrictions with respect to such Registrable Securities; provided, however, that such Holder shall deliver to the Company, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the

21

Company, representation letters regarding such Holder’s compliance with such rules and regulations, as may be applicable. In addition, the Company, at its sole expense, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to remove any restrictive legend on any shares of Common Stock that are Registrable Securities upon request by the Holder if (A) such shares of Common Stock are sold pursuant to an effective registration statement or (B) a registration statement covering the resale of such shares of Common Stock is effective under the Securities Act and the applicable Holder delivers to the Company a representation letter agreeing that such shares of Common Stock will be sold under such effective registration statement.

ARTICLE X

TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS

The rights to cause the Company to register Registrable Securities under Article II of this Agreement may be transferred or assigned by each Holder to one or more Transferees or assignees of Registrable Securities if such Transferee is (i) a Permitted Transferee or (ii) acquiring at least $100 million of Registrable Securities as determined by reference to the volume weighted average price for such Registrable Securities on any securities exchange or market on which the Common Stock are then listed or quoted for the five trading days immediately preceding the applicable determination date (the “5-Day VWAP”) and such Transferee has delivered to the Company a duly executed Adoption Agreement; provided, that a Holder’s rights under Section 2.2 and Section 2.4 may only be transferred if such Transferee is (i) an Affiliate of the Investor; or (ii) is acquiring at least $100 million of Registrable Securities as determined by the 5-Day VWAP.

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.1 Termination. This Agreement shall terminate as to any Holder, when such Holder no longer owns any shares of Common Stock that constitute Registrable Securities; provided, however, that Article III shall survive any termination hereof.

Section 11.2 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be illegal and unenforceable by any court of law, the remaining provisions shall be severable and enforceable in accordance with their terms.

Section 11.3 Remedies. In the event of actual or potential breach by the Company of any of its obligations under this Agreement, each Holder, in addition to being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law and under this Agreement, including recovery of damages, will be entitled to specific performance of its rights under this Agreement. The Company agrees that monetary damages would not provide adequate compensation for any losses incurred by reason of a breach by it of any of the provisions of this Agreement and further agrees that, in the event of any action for specific performance in respect of such breach, it shall waive the defense that a remedy at law would be adequate.

22

Section 11.4 Governing Law; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws that would direct the application of the laws of another jurisdiction.

(b) THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY ANY PARTY AGAINST ANOTHER IN ANY MATTER WHATSOEVER ARISING OUT OF OR IN RELATION TO OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT. FURTHER, NOTHING HEREIN SHALL DIVEST A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION OF THE RIGHT AND POWER TO GRANT A TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER, TO GRANT TEMPORARY INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, OR TO COMPEL SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF ANY DECISION OF AN ARBITRAL TRIBUNAL MADE PURSUANT TO THIS PROVISION.

Section 11.5 Adjustments Affecting Registrable Securities. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to any and all shares of capital stock of the Company or any successor or assignee of the Company (whether by merger, consolidation, sale of assets or otherwise) that may be issued in respect of, in exchange for or in substitution for the Registrable Securities, by reason of any stock dividend, split, reverse split, combination, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or otherwise in such a manner and with such appropriate adjustments as to reflect the intent and meaning of the provisions hereof and so that the rights, privileges, duties and obligations hereunder shall continue with respect to the capital stock of the Company as so changed.

Section 11.6 Binding Effects; Benefits of Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns and each Holder and its successors and assigns. Except as provided in Article V, neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, benefits or obligations hereunder may be assigned or transferred, by operation of law or otherwise, by any Holder without the prior written consent of the Company.

Section 11.7 Notices. All notices or other communications that are required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given if (i) personally delivered, (ii) sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, (iii) sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested or (iv) email, addressed as follows:

(a) If to the Company, to:

Devon Energy Corporation

333 West Sheridan Avenue

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102

Attention: Jeffrey L. Ritenour; Lyndon C. Taylor; Edward Highberger

Email: Jeff.Ritenour@dvn.com; lyndon.taylor@dvn.com; Edward.Highberger@dvn.com

23

with copies to (which shall not constitute notice):

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP

1000 Louisiana Street

Suite 6800

Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: Frank Ed Bayouth II

Email: Frank.Bayouth@skadden.com

(b) If to the Investor, to

Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC

1530 16th Street

Suite 500

Denver, Colorado 80202

Attention: John D. McCready

Email: johnm@felix-energy.com

with copies to (which shall not constitute notice):

Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.

1001 Fannin, Suite 2500

Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: Douglas E. McWilliams and W. Matthew Strock

E-mail: dmcwilliams@velaw.com; mstrock@velaw.com

(c) If to any other Holders, to their respective addresses set forth on the applicable Adoption Agreement;

or to such other address as the party to whom notice is to be given may have furnished to such other party in writing in accordance herewith. Any such communication shall be deemed to have been received (i) when delivered, if personally delivered, (ii) on the date sent if delivered by e-mail on a Business Day, or if not sent on a Business Day, on the first Business Day thereafter, (iii) the next Business Day after delivery, if sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, and (iv) on the third (3rd) Business Day following the date on which the piece of mail containing such communication is posted, if sent by first-class mail.

Section 11.8 Modification; Waiver. This Agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented only by a written instrument duly executed by the Company and the Majority Holders. No course of dealing between the Company and the Holders (or any of them) or any delay in exercising any rights hereunder will operate as a waiver of any rights of any party to this Agreement. The failure of any party to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement will in no way be construed as a waiver of such provisions and will not affect the right of such party thereafter to enforce each and every provision of this Agreement in accordance with its terms.

Section 11.9 Entire Agreement. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings of the parties in connection therewith.

24

Section 11.10 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original instrument, but all such counterparts taken together shall constitute but one agreement.

[signature page follows]

25

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be executed by its undersigned duly authorized representative as of the date first written above.

DEVON ENERGY CORPORATION
By: |  |
|  | Name:
|  | Title:

SIGNATURE PAGE TO REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

FELIX INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS II, LLC
By: |  |
|  | Name:
|  | Title:

SIGNATURE PAGE TO REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT A

ADOPTION AGREEMENT

This Adoption Agreement (“Adoption Agreement”) is executed by the undersigned transferee (“Transferee”) pursuant to the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of [●], 2020, among Devon Energy Corporation (the “Company”), Felix Investment Holdings II, LLC and the Holders party thereto (as amended from time to time, the “Registration Rights Agreement”). Terms used and not otherwise defined in this Adoption Agreement have the meanings set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement.

By the execution of this Adoption Agreement, the Transferee agrees as follows:

2. | Acknowledgement. Transferee acknowledges that Transferee is acquiring certain shares of Common Stock of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of Registration Rights Agreement, among the Company and the Holders party thereto.

3. | Agreement. Transferee (i) agrees that the shares of Common Stock of the Company acquired by Transferee shall be bound by and subject to the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement, pursuant to the terms thereof, and (ii) hereby adopts the Registration Rights Agreement with the same force and effect as if he, she or it were originally a party thereto.

4. | Notice. Any notice required as permitted by the Registration Rights Agreement shall be given to Transferee at the address listed beside Transferee’s signature below.

5. | Joinder. The spouse of the undersigned Transferee, if applicable, executes this Adoption Agreement to acknowledge its fairness and that it is in such spouse’s best interest, and to bind such spouse’s community interest, if any, in the shares of Common Stock and other securities referred to above and in the Registration Rights Agreement, to the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement.

Signature:

Address:

Contact Person:

Telephone No:

Email:

EXHIBIT B

AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF

INCORPORATION OF THE SURVIVING CORPORATION

[See attached.]

Exhibit B - 1

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

WPX ENERGY, INC.

[●]

The undersigned, [●], certifies that he or she is the [Secretary] of WPX Energy, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation”), and, on behalf of the Corporation, hereby further certifies as follows:

A. The current name of the Corporation is:

WPX Energy, Inc.

B. The original Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on April 19, 2011, amended and restated in its entirety on December 31, 2011, and amended thereto on May 21, 2015.

C. This Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation was duly adopted in accordance with the provisions of Sections 228, 242 and 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

D. The text of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation is amended and restated to read in its entirety, as follows:

ARTICLE I

NAME

The name of the Corporation is:

WPX Energy, Inc.

ARTICLE II

REGISTERED OFFICE AND AGENT

The address of the registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is at Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, 19801, and the name of its registered agent at that address is The Corporation Trust Company.

ARTICLE III

DURATION

The duration of the Corporation is perpetual.

ARTICLE IV

PURPOSE

The nature of the business and the purpose of the Corporation shall be to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware as set forth in Title 8 of the Delaware Code (the “GCL”).

ARTICLE V

CAPITAL STOCK

The Corporation shall be authorized to issue a total of 1,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share. Except as otherwise required by applicable law or as expressly set forth herein, all shares of common stock shall be identical and shall entitle the holders thereof to the same rights and privileges.

ARTICLE VI

MANAGEMENT AND CONDUCT OF THE CORPORATION

The following provisions are inserted for the management of the business and the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation, and for further definition, limitation and regulation of the powers of the Corporation and of its directors and stockholders.

(a) The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors.

(b) The directors shall have concurrent power with the stockholders to make, alter, amend, change, add to or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation.

(c) The number of directors of the Corporation shall be as from time to time fixed by, or in the manner provided in, the Bylaws of the Corporation. Election of directors need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws so provide.

(d) In addition to the powers and authority hereinbefore or by statute expressly conferred upon them, the directors are hereby empowered to exercise all such powers and do all such acts and things as may be exercised or done by the Corporation, subject, nevertheless, to the provisions of the GCL, this Certificate of Incorporation, and any Bylaws adopted by the stockholders; provided, however, that no Bylaws hereafter adopted by the stockholders shall invalidate any prior act of the directors which would have been valid if such Bylaws had not been adopted.

ARTICLE VII

LIMITATION OF DIRECTOR LIABILITY

No director shall be personally liable to the Corporation or any of its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability (i) for any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) pursuant to Section 174 of the GCL or (iv) for any transaction from which the director

- 2 -

derived an improper personal benefit. Any repeal or modification of this Article VII by the stockholders of the Corporation shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the Corporation existing at the time of such repeal or modification with respect to acts or omissions occurring prior to such repeal or modification.

ARTICLE VIII

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

Meetings of stockholders may be held within or without the State of Delaware, as the Bylaws may provide. The books of the Corporation may be kept (subject to any provision contained in the GCL) outside the State of Delaware at such place or places as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors or in the Bylaws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE IX

AMENDMENT

Except as provided herein, the Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or later prescribed by statute. All rights, powers, privileges, and discretionary authority granted or conferred upon stockholders or directors herein are granted subject to this reservation.

[Signature Page Follows]

- 3 -

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned [Secretary] of WPX Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby acknowledges that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of said Corporation in effect on the date of this certificate.

Name: [●]
Title: [Secretary]

[Signature Page – Second Restated and Amended Certificate of Incorporation]

EXHIBIT C

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF THE SURVIVING CORPORATION

[See attached.]

Exhibit C - 1

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED

BYLAWS

OF

WPX ENERGY, INC.

[●]

WPX Energy, Inc. (the “Corporation”) hereby adopts these Second Amended and Restated Bylaws, which restate, amend, and supersede the bylaws of the Corporation in their entirety as described below:

ARTICLE I

NAME, PURPOSES, OFFICES

1.1 Name. The name of this Corporation is “WPX Energy, Inc.”

1.2 Purposes. The Corporation is organized under the laws of the State of Delaware for the purposes set forth in its Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as may be amended from time to time (the “Certificate of Incorporation”).

1.3 Registered Office. The registered office of the Corporation shall be in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, State of Delaware.

1.4 Other Offices. The Corporation may also have offices at such other places, both within and without the State of Delaware, as the board of directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) may from time to time determine.

ARTICLE II

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

2.1 Location. All meetings of stockholders for the election of directors or for any other purpose shall be held at such time and place, within or without the State of Delaware, as may be designated from time to time by the Board and stated in the notice of the meeting. The Board may, in its sole discretion, determine that a meeting of the stockholders shall not be held at any place, but may instead be held solely by means of remote communication in the manner authorized by Section 211 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”).

2.2 Annual Meeting. The stockholders shall hold an annual meeting for the election of directors and the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting. The meeting shall be held at such date, time, and place, if any, as shall be determined by the Board and stated in the notice of the meeting.

2.3 Special Meetings. Unless otherwise required by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, Special Meetings of Stockholders, for any purpose or purposes, may be called by either (i) the chairman of the Board, if there be one, or (ii) the president, (iii) any vice president, if there be one, (iv) the secretary or (v) any assistant secretary, if there be one, and

shall be called by any such officer at the request in writing of (i) the Board, (ii) a committee of the Board that has been duly designated by the Board and whose powers and authority include the power to call such meetings or (iii) stockholders owning a majority of the capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote on the matter for which such Special Meeting of Stockholders is called. Such request shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting. At a Special Meeting of Stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall be specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto).

2.4 Notice of Meetings. Whenever stockholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a notice of the meeting, in the form of a writing or electronic transmission, shall be given which shall state the place, if any, date, time, the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of such meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. Unless otherwise required by law, notice of any meeting shall be given not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting as of the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of such meeting.

2.5 Adjournments and Postponements. Any meeting of the stockholders may be adjourned or postponed from time to time by the chairman of such meeting or by the Board, without the need for approval thereof by stockholders to reconvene or convene, respectively at the same or some other place. Notice need not be given of any such adjourned or postponed meeting if the time and place, if any, thereof, and the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such adjourned or postponed meeting are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken or, with respect to a postponed meeting, are publicly announced. At the adjourned or postponed meeting, the Corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the adjournment or postponement is for more than thirty (30) days, notice of the adjourned or postponed meeting in accordance with the requirements of Section 2.4 shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. If, after the adjournment or postponement, a new record date for stockholders entitled to vote is fixed for the adjourned or postponed meeting, the Board shall fix a new record date for notice of such adjourned or postponed meeting in accordance with Section 2.10 hereof, and shall give notice of the adjourned or postponed meeting to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at such adjourned or postponed meeting as of the record date fixed for notice of such adjourned or postponed meeting.

2.6 Quorum. Unless otherwise required by the DGCL or other applicable law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote, present in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all meetings of the stockholders. A quorum, once established, shall not be broken by the withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than a quorum. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, the stockholders entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, in the manner provided in Section 2.5 hereof, until a quorum shall be present or represented.

2

2.7 Voting. Unless otherwise required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any question brought before any meeting of the stockholders, other than the election of directors, shall be decided by the vote of the holders of a majority of the total number of votes of the Corporation’s capital stock present at the meeting in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on such question, voting as a single class. Each stockholder shall at every meeting of stockholders be entitled to one (1) vote for each share of stock having voting power held. Such votes may be cast in person or by proxy as provided in this Section 2.7. The Board, in its discretion, or the chairman of a meeting of the stockholders, in his or her discretion, may require that any votes cast at such meeting shall be cast by written ballot.

2.8 List of Stockholders. The Corporation shall prepare, at least ten (10) days before every meeting of the stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting; provided, however, if the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote is less than ten (10) days before the meeting date, the list shall reflect the stockholders entitled to vote as of the tenth (10th) day before the meeting date. Such list shall be arranged in alphabetical order, and show the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder; provided, that the Corporation shall not be required to include electronic mail addresses or other electronic contact information on such list. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder for any purpose germane to the meeting for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting (i) on a reasonably accessible electronic network, provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the notice of the meeting, or (ii) during ordinary business hours, at the principal place of business of the Corporation. In the event that the Corporation determines to make the list available on an electronic network, the Corporation may take reasonable steps to ensure that such information is available only to stockholders of the Corporation. If the meeting is to be held at a place, then a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting shall be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present. If the meeting is to be held solely by means of remote communication, then the list shall also be open to the inspection of any stockholder during the whole time of the meeting on a reasonably accessible electronic network, and the information required to access such list shall be provided with the notice of the meeting.

2.9 Action by Written Consent of S tockholders. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the stockholders may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of votes which would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted, and shall be delivered to the Corporation by delivery to its registered office in the State of Delaware, its principal place of business, or an officer or agent of the Corporation having custody of the book in which proceedings of meetings of the stockholders are recorded. The secretary shall give prompt notice of the taking of corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous written consent to those stockholders who have not consented in writing. Delivery made to the Corporation’s registered office shall be by hand or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. No written consent shall be effective to take the corporate action referred to therein unless written consents signed by a sufficient number of holders to take action are delivered to the Corporation in the manner required by this Section 2.9 within sixty (60) days of

3

the first date on which a written consent is so delivered to the Corporation. Any person executing a consent may provide, whether through instruction to an agent or otherwise, that such a consent will be effective at a future time (including a time determined upon the happening of an event), no later than sixty (60) days after such instruction is given or such provision is made, if evidence of such instruction or provision is provided to the Corporation. Unless otherwise provided, any such consent shall be revocable prior to its becoming effective. An electronic transmission consenting to an action to be taken and transmitted by a stockholder or proxy holder, or by a person or persons authorized to act for a stockholder or proxy holder, shall be deemed to be written and signed for the purposes of this Section 2.9, provided that any such electronic transmission sets forth or is delivered with information from which the Corporation can determine (i) that the electronic transmission was transmitted by the stockholder or proxy holder or by a person or persons authorized to act for the stockholder or proxy holder and (ii) the date on which such stockholder or proxy holder or authorized person or persons transmitted such electronic transmission. A consent given by electronic transmission shall be deemed delivered to the Corporation upon the earliest of: (i) when the consent enters an information processing system, if any, designated by the Corporation for receiving consents, so long as the electronic transmission is in a form capable of being processed by that system and the Corporation is able to retrieve that electronic transmission; (ii) when a paper reproduction of the consent is delivered to the Corporation’s principal place of business or an officer or agent of the Corporation having custody of the book in which proceedings of meetings of the stockholders are recorded; (iii) when a paper reproduction of the consent is delivered to the Corporation’s registered office by hand or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested; or (iv) when delivered in such other manner, if any, provided by resolution of the Board. Any copy, facsimile or other reliable reproduction of a consent in writing may be substituted or used in lieu of the original writing for any and all purposes for which the original writing could be used, provided that such copy, facsimile or other reproduction shall be a complete reproduction of the entire original writing. Prompt notice of the taking of the corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous written consent shall be given to those stockholders who have not consented in writing and who, if the action had been taken at a meeting, would have been entitled to notice of the meeting if the record date for notice of such meeting had been the date that written consents signed by a sufficient number of holders to take the action were delivered to the Corporation as provided above in this Section 2.9.

2.10 Record Date. In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of any meeting of the stockholders or any adjournment thereof, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board, and which record date shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting. If the Board so fixes a date, such date shall also be the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting unless the Board determines, at the time it fixes such record date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be the date for making such determination. If no record date is fixed by the Board, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at a meeting of the stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board may fix a new record date for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting, and in such case shall also fix, as the record date for stockholders entitled to

4

notice of such adjourned meeting, the same or an earlier date as that fixed for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.10.

2.11 Order of Business. The chairman of the meeting shall determine the order of business and the procedure at the meeting.

ARTICLE III

DIRECTORS

3.1 Powers. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of its Board, which may exercise all such powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things, except as may be otherwise provided in the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws.

3.2 Number, Qualifications, Term. The number of directors which shall constitute the entire Board shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board but shall not be less than one nor more than fifteen. Each director shall hold office until a successor is duly elected and qualified or until the director’s earlier death, resignation, disqualification, or removal. Directors need not be stockholders.

3.3 Vacancies. Unless otherwise required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, vacancies on the Board resulting from the death, resignation or removal of a director, or from an increase in the number of directors constituting the Board, may be filled by the affirmative votes of a majority of the remaining members of the Board, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. A director so elected shall be elected to hold office until the earlier of the expiration of the term of office of the director whom he or she has replaced, a successor is duly elected and qualified, or the earlier of such director’s death, resignation, or removal.

3.4 Meetings. The Board and any committee thereof may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or without the State of Delaware. Regular meetings of the Board or any committee thereof may be held without call or notice at such place and at such time as may be determined from time to time by the Board or such committee, respectively. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the chairman of the Board, if there be one, the president, or by any director. Special meetings of any committee of the Board may be called by the chairman of such committee, if there be one, the president, or any director serving on such committee. Notice of any special meeting stating the place, date and hour of the meeting shall be given to each director (or, in the case of a committee, to each member of such committee) not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the date of the meeting, by telephone, or in the form of a writing or electronic transmission, or on such shorter notice as the person or persons calling such meeting may deem necessary or appropriate in the circumstances.

3.5 Quorum. Except as otherwise required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, at all meetings of the Board, a majority of the total number of directors, excluding any vacancies, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the

5

Board. If at any meeting a quorum is not present, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting periodically without notice other than announcement at the meeting of the time and place of the adjourned meeting, until a quorum is present. The act of a majority of directors present in person at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board.

3.6 Presence at Meeting. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, members of the Board, or any committee thereof, may participate in a meeting of the Board or such committee by means of a conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 3.6 shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

3.7 Action Without Meeting. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board or any Board committee may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board or committee, as applicable, consent in writing and the written consent is filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board or the committee. Any person, whether or not then a director, may provide, through instruction to an agent or otherwise, that a consent to action will be effective at a future time (including a time determined upon the happening of an event) no later than sixty (60) days after such instruction is given or such provision is made and such consent shall be deemed to have been given at such effective time so long as such person is then a director and did not revoke the consent prior to such time. Any such consent shall be revocable prior to its becoming effective.

3.8 Compensation. The directors may be paid their expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board and may be paid a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board or a stated salary for service as director. No such payment shall preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor. Members of special or standing committees may be allowed like compensation for service as committee members.

3.9 Interested Directors. No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the Corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association or other organization in which one or more of its directors or officers are directors or officers or have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because any such director’s or officer’s vote is counted for such purpose if: (i) the material facts as to the director’s or officer’s relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board or the committee, and the Board or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; or (ii) the material facts as to the director’s or officer’s relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or (iii) the contract or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified by the Board, a committee thereof or the stockholders. Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board or of a committee which authorizes such contract or transaction.

6

ARTICLE IV

OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES

4.1 Election.

(a) The officers of the Corporation shall be chosen by the Board. Officers may include a president, one or more vice presidents, a secretary, and other officers. No officer need be a director or a stockholder. Two or more offices may be held by the same person, unless otherwise prohibited by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws.

(b) The Board, at its first meeting held after each Annual Meeting of Stockholders, shall elect the officers of the Corporation who shall hold their offices for such terms and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board; and each officer of the Corporation shall hold office until such officer’s successor is elected and qualified, or until such officer’s earlier death, resignation or removal. Any officer elected by the Board may be removed at any time by the Board. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Corporation shall be filled by the Board. The salaries of all officers of the Corporation shall be fixed by the Board.

4.2 Term, Removal and Vacancies. Each officer of the Corporation shall hold office until such officer’s successor is elected and qualified or until such officer’s earlier death, resignation, or removal. The Board may remove any officer at any time with or without cause, if any, of the person so removed. The Board shall fill any vacancy in any office.

4.3 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and President. The chairman of the Board, if any, or the chief executive officer or president shall, as designated by the Board shall preside at all meetings of the Board and stockholders and may also preside at meetings of committees of which he or she is a member. The chairman of the Board, if any, or the chief executive officer or president shall have such authority and perform such duties as the Board may assign and shall have, subject to the control of the Board, general and active management of the business of the Corporation and shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board are carried into effect. The chairman of the Board, if present, shall preside at all meetings of the Board and shall have such powers and perform such duties as may be assigned to him by these Bylaws or the Board. The chief executive officer shall perform all duties customarily incident to the office of chief executive office and such other duties as may be assigned to him by the Board, and the president shall perform all duties customarily incident to the office of president and such other duties as may be assigned to him by the Board. In case of the absence or inability to act of the chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer or the president shall have the powers and perform the duties of the chairman of the Board and, if a director, preside at meetings of the Board.

4.4 Vice Presidents. At the request of the president or in the president’s absence or in the event of the president’s inability or refusal to act (and if there be no chairman of the Board), the vice president, or the vice presidents if there are more than one (in the order designated

7

by the Board), shall perform the duties of the president, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the president. Each vice president shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board from time to time may prescribe. If there be no chairman of the Board and no vice president, the Board shall designate the officer of the Corporation who, in the absence of the president or in the event of the inability or refusal of the president to act, shall perform the duties of the president, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the president.

4.5 Secretary and Assistant Secretary. The secretary shall keep the corporate records, and shall give notice of, attend, and record minutes of meeting of stockholders and directors and shall perform like duties for the standing committees of the Board when required. The secretary shall, in general, perform all duties incident to the office of secretary and such other duties as the Board or the president may assign. The secretary shall have custody of the seal of the Corporation and the secretary or any assistant secretary, if there be one, shall have authority to affix the same to any instrument requiring it and when so affixed, it may be attested by the signature of the secretary or by the signature of any such assistant secretary. The Board may give general authority to any other officer to affix the seal of the Corporation and to attest the affixing by his signature. The assistant secretary, or if there be more than one, the assistant secretaries in the order determined by the Board (or if there be no such determination, then in the order of their election), shall, in the absence of the secretary or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the secretary and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board or secretary may delegate to them.

4.6 Treasurer and Assistant Treasurer. The treasurer shall have the custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall keep full and accurate accounts or receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the Board, or a committee thereof.

(a) The treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the president and the Board, at its regular meetings, or when the Board so requires, an account of all his transactions as treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation.

(b) The assistant treasurer, or if there shall be more than one, the assistant treasurers in the order determined by the Board (or if there be no such determination, then in the order of their election) shall, in the absence of the treasurer or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the treasurer and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board or the president may from time to time prescribe.

4.7 Other Officers. Such other officers as the Board may choose shall perform such duties and have such powers as from time to time may be assigned to them by the Board. The Board may delegate to any other officer of the Corporation the power to choose such other officers and to prescribe their respective duties and powers.

8

ARTICLE V

COMMITTEES

5.1 Committees. The Board may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation. Each member of a committee must meet the requirements for membership, if any, imposed by applicable law.

5.2 Subcommittees. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or the resolution of the Board designating a committee, such committee may create one or more subcommittees, each subcommittee to consist of one or more members of the committee, and delegate to a subcommittee any or all of the powers and authority of the committee. Except for references to committees and members of committees in Section 5.1, every reference in these Bylaws to a committee of the Board or a member of a committee shall be deemed to include a reference to a subcommittee or member of a subcommittee.

5.3 Appointment. The Board shall appoint the members of committees and shall designate a chairman of each committee.

5.4 Ex Officio Members. The Board may appoint ex officio non-voting members of committees. Ex officio non-voting members of committees shall be entitled to all of the rights and privileges of regular committee members, but shall not vote or be counted in determining the existence of a quorum.

5.5 Quorum. Except as otherwise required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, at any meeting of a committee, a majority of the total members of such committee, excluding any vacancies, shall constitute a quorum.

5.6 Manner of Acting. The act of a majority of the members of a committee present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee. Any action which may be taken at a meeting of a committee may be taken without a meeting if such action is taken in accordance with Section 3.6.

5.7 Waiver of Notice. Any meeting at which a quorum of committee members is present and for which those who are not present waive notice of the time and place of meeting in writing either before or after the date of the meeting shall be deemed a duly constituted meeting of the committee.

5.8 Removal. The Board may remove any member of a committee.

5.9 Vacancies. Unless otherwise required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, vacancies on any committee resulting from the death, resignation or removal of a director, or from an increase in the number of directors constituting the committee or otherwise, may be filled by the affirmative votes of a majority of the remaining members of the Board, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. A committee member so elected shall be elected to hold office until the earlier of the expiration of the term of office of the committee member whom he or she has replaced, a successor is duly elected and qualified, or the earlier of such committee member’s death, resignation, or removal.

9

5.10 Expenditures. Any expenditure of corporate funds by a committee shall require prior approval of the Board.

5.11 Procedure. Each committee may adopt its own rules of procedures.

ARTICLE VI

STOCK

6.1 Form of Certificates. Every holder of stock in the Corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of, the Corporation by any two authorized officers of the Corporation, certifying the number of shares owned by such stockholder in the Corporation. The Corporation shall not have power to issue a certificate in bearer form.

6.2 Signatures. Any or all of the signatures on a certificate may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if such person were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue.

6.3 Transfers. Stock of the Corporation shall be transferable in the manner prescribed by applicable law and in these Bylaws. Transfers of stock shall be made on the books of the Corporation only by the person named in the certificate or by such person’s attorney lawfully constituted in writing and upon the surrender of the certificate therefor, properly endorsed for transfer and payment of all necessary transfer taxes; provided, however, that such surrender and endorsement or payment of taxes shall not be required in any case in which the officers of the Corporation shall determine to waive such requirement. Every certificate exchanged, returned or surrendered to the Corporation shall be marked “Cancelled,” with the date of cancellation, by the secretary or assistant secretary of the Corporation or the transfer agent thereof. No transfer of stock shall be valid as against the Corporation for any purpose until it shall have been entered in the stock records of the Corporation by an entry showing from and to whom transferred.

6.4 Lost, Stolen, Destroyed, and Mutilated Certificates. The Board may direct a new certificate to be issued in place of any certificate theretofore issued by the Corporation alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate of stock to be lost, stolen or destroyed. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate, the Board may, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, or such owner’s legal representative, to advertise the same in such manner as the Board shall require and/or to give the Corporation a bond in such sum as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Corporation on account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of such certificate or the issuance of such new certificate.

6.5 Fixing Date for Determination of Stockholders of Record. In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment

10

of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any other change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board may fix, in advance, a record date, which shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting, nor more than sixty (60) days nor less than ten (10) days prior to any other action. If no record date is fixed by the Board, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held. A determination of stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of such meeting; provided, however, that the Board may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

ARTICLE VII

INDEMNIFICATION AND ADVANCEMENT OF EXPENSES

7.1 Right to Indemnification.

(a) Each person (hereinafter referred to as an “indemnitee”) who was or is made a party or is threatened to be made a party to, or is otherwise involved in, any action, suit, arbitration, alternative dispute mechanism, inquiry, administrative or legislative hearing, investigation or any other actual, threatened or completed proceeding, including any and all appeals, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (hereinafter a “proceeding”), by reason of the fact that he or she (i) is or was an employee providing service to an employee benefit plan in which the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates participates or is a participating company or (ii) is or was a director or an officer of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director or officer (including elected or appointed positions that are equivalent to director or officer) of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, whether the basis of such proceeding is alleged action in an official capacity as a director or officer (or equivalent) or in any other capacity while serving as a director or officer (or equivalent), shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Corporation to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended, against all expense, liability and loss (including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 excise taxes or penalties and amounts paid in settlement) reasonably incurred or suffered by such indemnitee in connection therewith; provided, however, that, except as provided in Section 7.3 with respect to proceedings to enforce rights to indemnification, the Corporation shall indemnify any such indemnitee in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such indemnitee only if such proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized or ratified by the Board.

(b) To receive indemnification under this Section 7.1, an indemnitee shall submit a written request to the secretary of the Corporation. Such request shall include documentation or information that is necessary to determine the entitlement of the indemnitee to indemnification and that is reasonably available to the indemnitee. Upon receipt by the secretary of the Corporation of such a written request, the entitlement of the indemnitee to indemnification shall be determined by the following person or persons who shall be empowered to make such determination: (i) the Board by a majority vote of the directors who are not parties to such proceeding, whether or not such majority constitutes a quorum, (ii) a committee of such directors

11

designated by a majority vote of such directors, whether or not such majority constitutes a quorum, (iii) if there are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered to the indemnitee, (iv) the stockholders of the Corporation or (v) in the event that a change of control (as defined below) has occurred, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered to the indemnitee. The determination of entitlement to indemnification shall be made and, unless a contrary determination is made, such indemnification shall be paid in full by the Corporation not later than 60 days after receipt by the secretary of the Corporation of a written request for indemnification. For purposes of this Section 7.1(b), a “change of control” will be deemed to have occurred if the individuals who, as of the effective date of these Bylaws, constitute the Board (the “incumbent board”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to such effective date whose election, or nomination for election by the stockholders of the Corporation, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the incumbent board shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the incumbent board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a person other than the Board.

7.2 Advancement of Expenses.

(a) In addition to the right to indemnification conferred in Section 7.1, each director and each Section 16 officer, as determined by the chief executive officer of the Corporation in accordance with Section 16a1-f of the Exchange Act (hereinafter referred to as a “Section 16 officer”) shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, also have the right to be paid by the Corporation the expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in defending any such proceeding in advance of its final disposition (hereinafter an “advancement of expenses”); provided, however, that if the DGCL requires, an advancement of expenses incurred by an indemnitee in his or her capacity as a director or any such officer (and not in any other capacity in which service was or is rendered by such indemnitee, including, without limitation, service to an employee benefit plan) shall be made only upon delivery to the Corporation of an undertaking (hereinafter an “undertaking”), by or on behalf of such indemnitee, to repay all amounts so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined by final judicial decision from which there is no further right to appeal (hereinafter a “final adjudication”) that such indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified for such expenses under this Section 7.2(a) or otherwise.

(b) In addition to the right to indemnification conferred in Section 7.1 and except for the Section 16 officers covered under Section 7.2(a) above, any other officer entitled to indemnification in Section 7.1 shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, also have the right to be paid by the Corporation an advancement of expenses, provided, however, that (i) if the DGCL requires, an advancement of expenses incurred by an indemnitee in his or her capacity as an officer (and not in any other capacity in which service was or is rendered by such indemnitee, including, without limitation, service to an employee benefit plan) shall be made only upon delivery of an undertaking, by or on behalf of such indemnitee, to repay all amounts so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined by final adjudication that such indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified for such expenses under this Section 7.2(b) or otherwise, and (ii) unless otherwise

12

available pursuant to Section 7.4, the Corporation shall not advance or continue to advance expenses to any officer covered under this Section 7.2(b) in any proceeding if a determination is reasonably and promptly made (x) by the Board by a majority vote of directors who are not party to the proceeding with respect to which an advancement of expenses is sought, even though less than a quorum, (y) by a majority vote of a committee of such directors designated by a majority vote of such directors, or (z) if there are no such directors or such directors so direct, or in the event of a change of control (as defined in Section 7.1(b)), by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, that the facts known to the decision-making party at the time such determination is made demonstrate clearly and convincingly that such officer acted in bad faith or in a manner that such officer did not believe to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation. In no event shall any advance be made in instances where the Board, a committee or independent legal counsel reasonably determines that such officer deliberately breached such officer’s duty to the Corporation or its stockholders.

(c) To receive an advancement of expenses under this Section 7.2, an indemnitee shall submit a written request to the secretary of the Corporation. Such request shall reasonably evidence the expenses incurred by the indemnitee and shall include or be accompanied by the undertaking required by Section 7.2(a). Each such advancement of expenses shall be made within 20 days after the receipt by the secretary of the Corporation of a written request for advancement of expenses, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 7.2(a) or Section 7.2(b), as applicable.

7.3 Right of Indemnitee to Bring Suit. In the event that a determination is made that the indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification or if payment is not timely made following a determination of entitlement to indemnification pursuant to Section 7.1(b) or if an advancement of expenses is not timely made under Section 7.2(c), the indemnitee may at any time thereafter bring suit against the Corporation in a court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Delaware to recover the unpaid amount of the claim. If successful in whole or in part in any such suit, or in a suit brought by the Corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, the indemnitee shall be entitled to be paid also the expense of prosecuting or defending such suit. In any suit brought by the indemnitee to enforce a right to indemnification hereunder (but not in a suit brought by the indemnitee to enforce a right to an advancement of expenses) it shall be a defense that the indemnitee has not met any applicable standard of conduct for indemnification set forth in the DGCL. Further, in any suit brought by the Corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, the Corporation shall be entitled to recover such expenses upon a final adjudication that the indemnitee has not met any applicable standard for indemnification set forth in the DGCL. Neither the failure of the Corporation (including its directors who are not parties to such proceeding, a committee of such directors, independent legal counsel, or its stockholders) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of such proceeding that indemnification of the indemnitee is proper in the circumstances because the indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in the DGCL, nor an actual determination by the Corporation (including its directors who are not parties to such proceeding, a committee of such directors, independent legal counsel, or its stockholders) that the indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of conduct, shall create a presumption that the indemnitee has not met the applicable standard of conduct or, in the case of such a suit brought by the indemnitee, be a defense to such suit. In any suit brought by the indemnitee to enforce a right to indemnification or to an advancement of expenses hereunder, or brought by the

13

Corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, the burden of proving that the indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified, or to such advancement of expenses, under this Article VII or otherwise shall be on the Corporation.

7.4 Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights to indemnification and to the advancement of expenses conferred in this Article VII shall not be exclusive of any other right which any person may have or hereafter acquire under any law, agreement, vote of stockholders or directors, provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws or otherwise.

7.5 Insurance. The Corporation may maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and any director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any expense, liability or loss, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under the DGCL.

7.6 Indemnification of Employees and Agents of the Corporation. Except for those indemnitees entitled to indemnification under Section 7.1, the Corporation may, to the extent authorized from time to time by the Board, grant rights to indemnification and to the advancement of expenses to any employee or agent of the Corporation to the fullest extent of the provisions of this Article VII with respect to the indemnification and advancement of expenses of directors and officers of the Corporation.

7.7 Nature of Rights. The rights conferred upon indemnitees in this Article VII shall be contract rights. Such rights shall vest at the time an indemnitee becomes a director or officer of the Corporation and shall continue as to an indemnitee who has ceased to be a director or officer and shall inure to the benefit of the indemnitee’s heirs, executors and administrators. Any amendment, alteration or repeal of this Article VII that adversely affects any right of an indemnitee or its successors shall be prospective only and shall not limit or eliminate any such right with respect to any proceeding involving any occurrence or alleged occurrence of any action or omission to act that took place prior to such amendment or repeal.

7.8 Settlement of Claims. The Corporation shall not be liable to indemnify any indemnitee under this Article VII for any amounts paid in settlement of any action or claim effected without the Corporation’s written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, or for any judicial award if the Corporation was not given a reasonable and timely opportunity, at its expense, to participate in the defense of such action.

7.9 Subrogation. In the event of payment under this Article VII, the Corporation shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the rights of recovery of the indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and shall do everything that may be necessary to secure such rights, including the execution of such documents necessary to enable the Corporation effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.

7.10 Severability. If any provision or provisions of this Article VII shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Article VII (including, without limitation, all portions of any paragraph of this Article VII containing any such provision held to be invalid,

14

illegal or unenforceable, that are not by themselves invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby, and (b) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Article VII (including, without limitation, all portions of any paragraph of this Article VII containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that are not themselves invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to the intent of the parties that the Corporation provide protection to the indemnitee to the fullest enforceable extent.

ARTICLE VIII

NOTICES

8.1 Notices. Whenever written notice is required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, to be given to any director, member of a committee or stockholder, such notice may be given in writing directed to such director’s, committee member’s or stockholder’s mailing address (or by electronic transmission directed to such director’s, committee member’s or stockholder’s electronic mail address, as applicable) as it appears on the records of the Corporation and shall be given: (a) if mailed, when the notice is deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, (b) if delivered by courier service, the earlier of when the notice is received or left at such director’s, committee member’s or stockholder’s address or (c) if given by electronic mail, when directed to such director’s, committee member’s or stockholder’s electronic mail address unless such director, committee member or stockholder has notified the corporation in writing or by electronic transmission of an objection to receiving notice by electronic mail or such notice is prohibited by the under applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws. Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders, but subject to Section 232(e) of the DGCL, any notice to stockholders given by the Corporation under applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws shall be effective if given by a form of electronic transmission consented to by the stockholder to whom the notice is given. Any such consent shall be revocable by the stockholder by written notice or electronic transmission to the Corporation. Notice given by electronic transmission, as described above, shall be deemed given: (i) if by facsimile telecommunication, when directed to a number at which the stockholder has consented to receive notice; (ii) if by a posting on an electronic network, together with separate notice to the stockholder of such specific posting, upon the later of (A) such posting and (B) the giving of such separate notice; and (iii) if by any other form of electronic transmission, when directed to the stockholder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a notice may not be given by an electronic transmission from and after the time that (i) the Corporation is unable to deliver by such electronic transmission two consecutive notices given by the Corporation and (ii) such inability becomes known to the secretary or an assistant secretary of the Corporation or to the transfer agent, or other person responsible for the giving of notice, provided, however, the inadvertent failure to discover such inability shall not invalidate any meeting or other action.

8.2 Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice is required, by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, to be given to any director, member of a committee or stockholder, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person or persons entitled to notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent thereto. Attendance of a person at a meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where the person attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the

15

beginning of the meeting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any Annual or Special Meeting of Stockholders or any regular or special meeting of the directors or members of a committee of directors need be specified in any written waiver of notice or any waiver by electronic transmission unless so required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws.

ARTICLE IX

GENERAL

9.1 Dividends. Dividends upon the capital stock of the Corporation, subject to the requirements of the DGCL and the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, if any, may be declared by the Board at any regular or special meeting of the Board (or any action by written consent in lieu thereof in accordance with Section 3.7), and may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the Corporation’s capital stock. Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the Corporation available for dividends such sum or sums as the Board from time to time, in its absolute discretion, deems proper as a reserve or reserves to meet contingencies, or for purchasing any of the shares of capital stock, warrants, rights, options, bonds, debentures, notes, scrip or other securities or evidences of indebtedness of the Corporation, or for equalizing dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any property of the Corporation, or for any proper purpose, and the Board may modify or abolish any such reserve.

9.2 Disbursements. All checks or demands for money and notes of the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers or such other person or persons as the Board may from time to time designate.

9.3 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be determined by the Board.

9.4 Corporate Seal. The seal of the Corporation shall be in such form as shall be approved by the Board; provided, however, the corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Corporation, the year of its organization and the words “Corporate Seal, Delaware”. The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise.

9.5 Pronouns. All pronouns in these Bylaws shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine, or neuter, singular or plural, as the context or the identity of the person or persons may require.

ARTICLE X

FORUM FOR ADJUDICATION OF CERTAIN DISPUTES]

10.1 Forum for Adjudication of Certain Disputes. Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum (an “Alternative Forum Consent”), the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a duty (including any fiduciary duty) owed by any current or former director,

16

officer, stockholder, employee or agent of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation or any current or former director, officer, stockholder, employee or agent of the Corporation arising out of or relating to any provision of the General Corporation Law of Delaware or the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws (each, as in effect from time to time), or (iv) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation or any current or former director, officer, stockholder, employee or agent of the Corporation governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the State of Delaware; provided, however, that, in the event that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware lacks subject matter jurisdiction over any such action or proceeding, the sole and exclusive forum for such action or proceeding shall be another state or federal court located within the State of Delaware, in each such case, unless the Court of Chancery (or such other state or federal court located within the State of Delaware, as applicable) has dismissed a prior action by the same plaintiff asserting the same claims because such court lacked personal jurisdiction over an indispensable party named as a defendant therein. Any person or entity purchasing, otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of this Section 10.1 of Article X. The existence of any prior Alternative Forum Consent shall not act as a waiver of the Corporation’s ongoing consent right as set forth above in this Section 10.1 of Article X with respect to any current or future actions or claims.

ARTICLE XI

AMENDMENTS

11.1 Amendments. These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed, in whole or in part, or new Bylaws may be adopted by the stockholders or by the Board; provided, however, that notice of such alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption of new Bylaws be contained in the notice of a meeting of the stockholders or Board, as the case may be, called for the purpose of acting upon any proposed alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption of new Bylaws. All such alterations, amendments, repeals or adoptions of new Bylaws must be approved by either the holders of a majority of the outstanding capital stock entitled to vote thereon or by a majority of the entire Board then in office. Any amendment to these Bylaws adopted by stockholders which specifies the votes that shall be necessary for the election of directors shall not be further amended or repealed by the Board.

17

EXHIBIT D

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY

[See attached.]

Exhibit D - 1

DEVON ENERGY CORPORATION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

(Amended and Restated as of [●])

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Devon Energy Corporation (the “Company”) has adopted the following Corporate Governance Guidelines specifically tailored to the needs of the Company. These Guidelines reflect the Board’s commitment to monitor the effectiveness of policy and decision-making both at the Board and management level, with a view to enhancing stockholder value and taking into account the interests of the Company’s other stakeholders over the long- term. The Board believes these Guidelines should be an evolving set of corporate governance principles, subject to alteration as circumstances warrant in accordance with the terms hereof.

Director Qualifications and Board Composition

The Governance Committee is responsible for proposing qualified candidates to serve on the Board, and reviews with the Board special director qualifications, taking into account the composition and skills of the entire Board.

Independence — A majority of the Board members must qualify as “independent” Directors in accordance with the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and the related disclosure requirements in the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) Regulation S-K, Item 407(a). All of the members of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, and the Governance Committee must also be Directors determined by the Board to be independent according to these standards and any applicable enhanced standards relating to Board committee membership.

Director Qualifications — The Board believes that individuals nominated by the Board to serve as a Director should have demonstrated notable achievements and have the ability to make significant contributions to the direction of the affairs of the Company and to enhance the ability of the committees of the Board to fulfill their duties. The Governance Committee has established director qualifications that will be considered in evaluating candidates for nomination, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 1, which includes such factors as:

| • |  | Integrity and Accountability — Character is the primary consideration in evaluating any Board member. Directors should demonstrate high ethical standards and integrity in their personal and professional dealings and be willing to act on and remain accountable for their boardroom decisions.

| • |  | Informed Judgment — Board members should have the ability to provide wise, thoughtful counsel on a broad range of issues. Directors should possess high intelligence and wisdom and apply it in decision-making.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

| • |  | Peer Respect — The Board functions best when Directors value Board and team performance over individual performance. Openness to other opinions and the willingness to listen should rank as highly as the ability to communicate persuasively. Board members should approach others assertively, responsibly, and supportively and raise tough questions in a manner that encourages open discussion.

| • |  | High Performance Standards — In today’s highly competitive world, only companies capable of performing at the highest levels are likely to prosper. Board members should have a history of achievement that reflects high standards for themselves and others.

Director Recruitment — The Governance Committee shall identify and recruit candidates to serve on the Board. A list of candidates to be elected by stockholders shall be presented to the Board for nomination at each annual meeting of stockholders. Candidates identified to fill vacancies between meetings of stockholders shall be presented to the Board for appointment. The Board will take reasonable steps to ensure that a diverse group of qualified candidates are in the pool from which the Board member nominees are chosen. The Governance Committee may at its discretion seek third-party resources to assist in the process and will make the final recommendation to the Board.

The Governance Committee will consider properly submitted recommendations for nominees from stockholders and will give appropriate consideration in the same manner as given to other nominees. Stockholders who wish to submit director nominees for election may do so by submitting in writing such nominee’s name, in compliance with the procedures required by our Bylaws, to the Governance Committee of the Board of Directors, Attention: Chair of the Governance Committee, c/o Office of the Corporate Secretary, Devon Energy Corporation, 333 West Sheridan Avenue, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102-5015. Information on the requirements to ensure that a stockholder’s recommendation is properly and timely submitted can be found in our annual proxy statement.

Director Selection — The Governance Committee shall be responsible for reviewing with the Board any other special director qualifications, taking into account the composition and skills of the entire Board. Given the importance of the Board’s role in monitoring the financial performance of the Company, the Governance Committee shall ensure that a sufficient number of the Board members are financially literate with ability to read a balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement and have an understanding of the use of financial ratios and other indices for evaluating Company performance.

2

Corporate Governance Guidelines

An invitation to join the Board shall only be extended to a potential candidate at such time as the nomination or appointment of the candidate has been approved by the Board.

Director Resignation Policy — Any nominee for Director in an uncontested election who fails to receive a greater number of votes cast “for” such nominee’s election than the votes cast “withheld” in such nominee’s election shall tender his or her written offer of resignation for consideration by the Governance Committee within 90 days from the date of the election. The Governance Committee shall consider all of the relevant facts and circumstances and recommend to the Board the action to be taken with respect to such offer of resignation.

Term Limits — The Board does not believe it should establish term limits. While term limits could help ensure that there are fresh ideas and viewpoints available to the Board, they have the disadvantage of causing the Company to lose the contribution of Directors who have been able to develop, over a period of time, increasing insight into the Company and its operations and thereby provide an increasing contribution to the Board as a whole. The Board believes an annual assessment of Board and committee performance provides each Director an appropriate opportunity to reflect on the effectiveness of the Board, and to confirm a Director’s decision to continue as a member of the Board.

Mandatory Retirement — Non-management Directors will retire as of the annual meeting following their 73rd birthday.

Multiple Directorships — The Company recognizes that its Board members benefit from service on the boards of other companies. While that service is encouraged, it is critical that Directors have the opportunity to dedicate sufficient time to serve on the Company’s Board. It is recommended that Directors serve on no more than four public company boards in addition to the Board.

Directors are expected to promptly advise the Chair of the Board and the Chair of the Governance Committee upon accepting any other public, private, or not-for-profit company directorship or any assignment to the audit committee or compensation committee of the board of directors of any public, private, or not-for-profit company of which such Director is a member.

No Director shall serve as a director, officer, or employee of a competitor of the Company, without the approval of the Governance Committee.

Director Responsibilities

Best Judgment — Directors should exercise their business judgment to act in what they reasonably believe to be in the best interests of the Company in a manner consistent with their fiduciary duties. Directors should regularly attend meetings of the Board and of all Board committees upon which they serve, and should review relevant meeting materials in advance of any such meeting.

3

Corporate Governance Guidelines

Confidentiality — Directors shall preserve the confidentiality of proprietary material given or presented to the Board.

Conflicts of Interest — Directors must disclose to the Audit Committee any related party transactions and potential conflicts of interest they may have with respect to any matter under discussion and, if appropriate, refrain from voting on a matter in which they may have a conflict.

Meeting Attendance — The Chair of the Board will set the schedule and location for meetings of the Board. The Board will typically hold regular meetings on a quarterly basis. In addition to the regularly scheduled meetings, unscheduled Board meetings may be called, upon proper notice, at any time to address specific needs of the Company. The annual meeting of stockholders will be scheduled in conjunction with a regularly scheduled Board meeting. The Board expects all Board members to attend regularly scheduled Board and committee meetings and the annual meeting of stockholders, unless there are extenuating circumstances.

Change in Status — Directors are expected to report to the Chair of the Board and the Chair of the Governance Committee any substantial changes in his or her principal occupation or professional affiliations or responsibilities, including retirement, and shall submit his or her offer of resignation for consideration by the Governance Committee. The Governance Committee shall consider all of the relevant facts and circumstances and recommend to the Board the action to be taken with respect to such offer of resignation.

Stock Ownership — The Board believes that members of the Board should own common stock of the Company to further align their interests and actions with the interests of the Company’s stockholders. The Board has adopted stock ownership guidelines, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.

Board Committees

Standing Committees — The Board shall at all times maintain, at a minimum, an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, a Governance Committee, and a Reserves Committee, in each case, comprised during the Governance Period (as defined below) of the number of Directors set forth on Exhibit 3. Each such committee must operate in accordance with applicable laws, their respective charters as adopted and amended from time to time by the Board, the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC, and the listing standards of the NYSE. The Board may also establish such other committees as it deems appropriate and delegate to such committees any authority permitted by applicable law and the Company’s Bylaws as the Board may see fit.

4

Corporate Governance Guidelines

Directors’ Compensation

The Governance Committee shall periodically review the form and amounts of Directors’ compensation and make recommendations to the Board with respect thereto. The Board shall set the form and amounts of Directors’ compensation, taking into account the recommendations of the Governance Committee. The Board believes that the amount of Directors’ compensation should fairly reflect the contributions of the Directors to the performance of the Company. The Chair of the Governance Committee shall at least annually obtain a report on the director compensation policies and practices of the Company’s principal competitors and other comparable companies. Only non-management Directors shall receive compensation for their services as Director. To create a direct linkage with corporate performance, the Board believes that a meaningful portion of the total compensation of non-management Directors should be provided and held in Company common stock, stock options, restricted stock awards, or other types of equity-based compensation.

Leadership Structure

The Board reserves the right to determine, from time to time, how to configure the leadership of the Board and the Company in the way that best serves the Company. Subject, during the Governance Period, to the requirements in Exhibit 3, the Board specifically reserves the right to vest the chair and chief executive officer responsibilities in the same individual. The Board has no fixed policy with respect to combining or separating the offices of chair and chief executive officer. In the event one individual holds both positions or if the chair is otherwise not an independent Director, then the non-management Directors, after consulting with all members of the Board, shall, from time to time, appoint an independent Director to serve as the Lead Director.

Board Procedures

Agenda — The Chair of the Board shall set the agendas for meetings of the Board and the Chair of each committee shall set the agendas for meetings of the applicable committee. Any Director may suggest agenda items and may raise at meetings other matters that they consider worthy of discussion.

Information and data that is important to the Board’s understanding of the business to be discussed at meetings will be distributed in advance of meetings to the extent practicable, except when such material is too sensitive to be put in writing. To prepare for meetings, Directors should review these materials in advance of each meeting.

5

Corporate Governance Guidelines

Non-Management Director Sessions — Executive sessions or meetings of non-management Directors without management present shall be held at each regularly scheduled quarterly meeting. In the event any of the non-management Directors is not independent, then an executive session including only independent Directors shall be held at least once a year, and if the Chair is not independent, the Lead Director shall preside over such meetings. Additional executive sessions or meetings of non-management Directors may be held from time to time as required. If the Chair is a member of management, then the Lead Director shall preside over meetings of non-management Directors. Executive sessions shall be held from time to time with the Chief Executive Officer for a general discussion of relevant subjects.

Orientation and Continuing Education — The Board will establish, or identify and provide access to, appropriate orientation programs, sessions, or materials for newly elected Directors for their benefit either prior to or within a reasonable period of time after their election or appointment. The Board will encourage, but not require, Directors to periodically pursue or obtain appropriate continuing education programs, sessions, or materials as to the responsibilities of directors of publicly traded companies.

Access to Management — The Company shall provide each Director with complete access to the management of the Company, subject to reasonable advance notice to the Company and reasonable efforts to avoid disruption to the Company’s management, business, and operations.

Independent Advisors — The Board and Board committees, to the extent set forth in the applicable committee charter, have the right to consult and retain independent legal and other advisors at the expense of the Company.

Board Policies

Equity Plans — All Company equity compensation plans, except plans assumed in connection with mergers or acquisitions, and tax qualified and excess benefit plans will be approved by stockholders. Unless submitted to stockholders for approval, stock options will not be repriced.

Code of Conduct — The Company will continuously maintain a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics setting forth the Company’s expectations in various areas of legal and ethical concern. The Code addresses specific elements of the Company’s business and refers to separate Company policies that are currently in place.

Management Evaluation and Succession

Annual Evaluation — The Compensation Committee shall be responsible for coordinating an annual evaluation and determining the annual compensation of the President and Chief Executive Officer. The Chair of the Compensation Committee shall be the liaison with the President and Chief Executive Officer.

6

Corporate Governance Guidelines

Succession Planning — The President and Chief Executive Officer shall provide an annual report on succession planning and related personnel development recommendations to the Board or the Compensation Committee, including a short-term succession plan delineating temporary delegation of authority in the event that the President and Chief Executive Officer or any other executive officer is unexpectedly unable to perform his or her duties.

Annual Performance Evaluation of the Board

Board Evaluation — The Board will conduct an annual evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board and the Board committees, which shall be reviewed and discussed by the Governance Committee.

Committee Evaluations — The Governance Committee, the Compensation Committee, the Audit Committee, and the Reserves Committee will complete annual performance evaluations in accordance with their respective charters.

The full Board will discuss the evaluation reports to determine what, if any, actions could improve the effectiveness and performance of the Board or the Board committees.

Reporting of Concerns to Non-Management Directors

The Company shall establish a method whereby interested parties may communicate directly with the Chair or Lead Director, as applicable, or with the non-management Directors of the Board as a group either by email or by telephone, as set forth under the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website at www.devonenergy.com. Information provided by email or telephone will be monitored by the Corporate Secretary’s office and forwarded to the non- management Directors.

Communication with Stockholders

Except in unusual circumstances or as required by committee charters or as requested by senior management, Directors are expected to follow the principle that senior management, as opposed to individual Directors, shall provide the public voice of the Company. Directors receiving inquiries from a member of the public, institutional investors, the press, customers, securities analysts, stockholders, or others should refer the inquiries to the President and Chief Executive Officer or another appropriate officer of the Company.

7

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for establishing effective communications with the Company’s stakeholder groups, i.e., stockholders, customers, Company associates, communities, suppliers, creditors, governments, and corporate partners. It is the policy of the Company that management speaks for the Company. This policy does not preclude non-management Directors from meeting with stockholders, but it is preferable for any such meetings to be conducted with management present.

Review of Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Board, with the assistance of the Governance Committee, as appropriate, shall review these Corporate Governance Guidelines from time to time to determinate whether any changes are appropriate. Consistent with NYSE listing requirements these Guidelines will be included on the Company’s website.

During the Governance Period, these Guidelines may be amended, modified, or waived by the affirmative vote of seventy-five percent (75%) of the Directors. Following the Governance Period, these Guidelines may be amended, modified, or waived by the Board, and waivers of these Guidelines may also be granted by the Governance Committee. Any amendments, modifications and waivers shall also be subject to the disclosure requirements and other provisions of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

8

Exhibit 1

Director Qualifications

Exhibit 1-1

Exhibit 2

Director Stock Ownership Guidelines

Exhibit 2-1

Exhibit 3

Certain Additional Requirements

In connection with the closing of the merger (the “Merger”) under the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 26, 2020 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, [Merger Sub] and WPX Energy, Inc. (“WPX”), which the Board has deemed advisable and in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders, the Board has agreed to adopt certain requirements of the Board and management which are set forth in this Exhibit 3 and are to be effective from the effective time of the Merger on [●] (the “Effective Date”) and for two years thereafter (the “Governance Period”), unless otherwise altered in accordance with these Guidelines.

| 1. | Board Size. The Board has, as of the effective time of the Merger, caused the size of the Board to comply with Section 5.18(a) of the Merger Agreement and designated certain persons to the Board as contemplated thereby. The persons designated as Directors by the Company pursuant to Section 5.18(a) of the Merger Agreement and the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company as of immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger are referred to herein as the “Devon Directors”, and the persons designated as Directors by WPX pursuant to Section 5.18(a) of the Merger Agreement (including the person (the “EnCap Director”) designated pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement among the Company, Felix Investments II, LLC and the other parties thereto) and the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of WPX as of immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger are referred to herein as the “WPX Directors”. The Board acknowledges that the EnCap Director may, from time to time, serve on the board of directors (or similar governing body) of one or more portfolio companies of EnCap Investments L.P. (or a fund managed thereby) that competes with the Company, and the Board waives the limitation on serving as a director of a competitor with respect to the EnCap Director in respect of any such position with any such portfolio company. If, for any reason, during the Governance Period, (i) any WPX Director is unable or unwilling to serve on the Board or any committee, such vacancy shall be filled by the Board, and the Board shall not nominate or designate any individual to fill such vacancy, unless, not less than a majority of the Continuing WPX Directors have approved the appointment or nomination (as applicable) of the individual appointed or nominated (as applicable) to fill such vacancy, and (ii) any Devon Director is unable or unwilling to serve on the Board or any committee, such vacancy shall be filled by the Board, and the Board shall not nominate or designate any individual to fill such vacancy, unless, not less than a majority of the Continuing Devon Directors have approved the appointment or nomination (as applicable) of the individual appointed or nominated (as applicable) to fill such vacancy. For purposes of the preceding sentence, (x) the term “Continuing WPX Directors” shall mean, at any given time, the WPX Directors then serving as Directors and any Directors who were subsequently appointed or

Exhibit 3-1

| nominated and elected to fill a vacancy created by the cessation of service of a WPX Director (or any Continuing WPX Director) pursuant to the preceding sentence, and (y) the term “Continuing Devon Directors” shall mean, at any given time, the Devon Directors then serving as Directors and any Directors who were subsequently appointed or nominated and elected to fill a vacancy created by the cessation of service of a Devon Director (or any Continuing Devon Director) pursuant to the preceding sentence.

| 2. | Re-Election. The Devon Directors and the WPX Directors shall serve as Directors of the Company during the Governance Period. For the first and second annual meetings of the Company’s stockholders following the Effective Date (each, an “Applicable Meeting”), except as provided in this Section 2 of this Exhibit 3, the Governance Committee and the Board shall nominate, recommend and designate the Devon Directors and the WPX Directors then on the Board for re-election (the “Recommended Slate”). The Board and the Governance Committee shall take all action within their power to secure the election of the Recommended Slate at the Applicable Meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Governance Committee, by the affirmative vote of 75% of the Directors on the Governance Committee, determines not to nominate any Devon Director or any WPX Director for re-election at an Applicable Meeting, such Director shall not be nominated, recommended or designated for re-election, but, for the avoidance of doubt, the selection of the replacement for such Director shall be subject to the penultimate sentence of Section 1.

| 3. | Chairman. Subject to this Section 3 of this Exhibit 3, Dave Hager shall be appointed the Chair of the Board during the Governance Period, unless at any time the Board, by the affirmative vote of 75% of the Board, determines not to appoint Mr. Hager as Chair of the Board. If Mr. Hager is unable or unwilling to serve at any time (including in circumstances where he is not re-elected as a Director of the Company or is otherwise removed from office by a resolution of the Company’s stockholders in accordance with applicable law and the Bylaws) or when Mr. Hager’s term as Chair expires, then a Chair shall be appointed by the Board.

| 4. | Chief Executive Officer. Subject to this Section 4 of this Exhibit 3, as set forth in, and subject to, the Employment Agreement, dated as of the date of the Merger Agreement, between the Company and Richard E. Muncrief (the “CEO Agreement”), the Board shall designate Mr. Muncrief to serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company during the Governance Period, unless at any time the Board, by the affirmative vote of 75% of the Board, determines to remove Mr. Muncrief as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and, during such period, the Board shall not and shall cause the Company not to amend, modify or terminate the CEO Agreement without the affirmative vote of 75% of the Board. For the avoidance of doubt and in compliance with the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, Mr. Muncrief shall not be entitled to vote with respect thereto.

Exhibit 3-2

| 5. | Governance Committee Membership. During the Governance Period, the Board shall take all necessary action to cause the Governance Committee of the Board to consist of 4 members, 2 of which shall be Devon Directors and 2 of which shall be WPX Directors. Subject to the penultimate sentence of Section 1, one of the WPX Directors on the Governance Committee shall be the EnCap Director.

| 6. | Audit Committee Membership. During the Governance Period, the Board shall take all necessary action to cause the Audit Committee of the Board to consist of 5 members, 3 of which shall be Devon Directors and 2 of which shall be WPX Directors.

| 7. | Compensation Committee Membership. During the Governance Period, the Board shall take all necessary action to cause the Compensation Committee of the Board to consist of 5 members, 3 of which shall be Devon Directors and 2 of which shall be WPX Directors.

| 8. | Reserves Committee Membership. During the Governance Period, the Board shall take all necessary action to cause the Reserves Committee of the Board to consist of 5 members, 3 of which shall be Devon Directors and 2 of which shall be WPX Directors.

Exhibit 3-3

EXHIBIT E

NEW FELIX REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

[See attached.]

Exhibit E - 1

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of [●], 2020, is by and among Devon Energy Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Investor”), and the other Holders (as defined below) from time to time parties hereto.

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Investor, the other Holders from time to time parties thereto and WPX Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“East” and together with the Investor and the other Holders from time to time parties thereto, the “East RRA Parties”) are party to that certain Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2020 (the “East Registration Rights Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things, East provided certain registration rights to the Holders of East Common Stock (as defined below) issued to the Investor pursuant to the terms of that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2019, between East and the Investor;

WHEREAS, the Company and East have entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 26, 2020, (as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, East Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), and East, pursuant to which, among other things, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into East (the “Merger”), which will survive as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the shares of East Common Stock will be converted into shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share, of the Company (the “Common Stock”);

WHEREAS, in connection with, and effective upon, the date of the closing of the Merger (the “Closing Date”), the Company has issued to the Investor the Issued Shares (as defined below) and all of Investor’s shares of East Common Stock were canceled in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement;

WHEREAS, in connection with the closing of the Merger, the Company is granting to the Investor and the other Holders from time to time parties hereto, certain registration rights with respect to the Issued Shares, as set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, in connection with, and effective upon, entering into this Agreement, the East RRA Parties are entering into that certain termination agreement, dated the date hereof, pursuant to which the East RRA Parties agreed to terminate the East Registration Rights Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by each party hereto, the parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

As used herein, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

“Adoption Agreement” means an Adoption Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.

“Affiliate” means (a) as to any Person, other than an individual Holder, any other Person who directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such Person and (b) as to any individual, (i) any Relative of such individual, (ii) any trust whose primary beneficiaries are one or more of such individual and such individual’s Relatives, (iii) the legal representative or guardian of such individual or any of such individual’s Relatives if one has been appointed and (iv) any Person controlled by one or more of such individual or any Person referred to in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above. As used in this Agreement, the term “control,” including the correlative terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with,” means possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management or policies (whether through ownership of securities or any partnership or other ownership interest, by contract or otherwise) of a Person.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph.

“ASR Filing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, any federal holiday or any other day on which banking institutions in the State of Texas or the State of New York are authorized or required to be closed by law or governmental action.

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor governmental agency.

“Common Stock” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Company” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph.

“Company Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(c)(i).

“East” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“East Common Stock” means the common stock of East, $0.01 par value per share.

“East Registration Rights Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“East RRA Parties” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

2

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor federal statute, and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect at the time.

“Felix Closing Date” means March 6, 2020.

“Holder” means any record holder of Registrable Securities.

“Holders Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(c)(i).

“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3.

“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3.

“Investor” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph.

“Issued Shares” means the number of shares of Common Stock issued to the Investor pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement.

“Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

“Majority Holders” shall mean, at any time, the Holder or Holders of more than fifty percent (50%) of the Registrable Securities at such time.

“Managing Underwriter” means, with respect to any Underwritten Offering, the lead book-running manager(s) of such Underwritten Offering.

“Merger Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Opt-Out Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b).

“Permitted Transferee” of a Holder means (i) any Affiliate of the Holder or (ii) any direct or indirect partner, shareholder or member of the Holder or any trust, family partnership or family limited liability company, the sole direct or indirect beneficiaries, partners or members of which are the Holder or Relatives of the Holder.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, firm, association, trust, government, governmental agency or other entity, whether acting in an individual, fiduciary or other capacity.

“Piggyback Underwritten Offering” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

“Piggybacking Holder” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

“Proceeding” shall mean an action, claim, suit, arbitration or proceeding (including, without limitation, an investigation or partial proceeding, such as a deposition), whether commenced or threatened.

3

“Registrable Securities” shall mean (a) the Issued Shares and (b) any securities issued or issuable with respect to the Issued Shares by way of distribution or in connection with any reorganization or other recapitalization, merger, consolidation or otherwise; provided, however, that a Registrable Security shall cease to be a Registrable Security when (i) such share has been disposed of pursuant to an effective Registration Statement, (ii) such share has been disposed of under Rule 144 or any other exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act as a result of which the Transferee thereof does not receive “restricted securities” as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act or (iii) such shares are freely tradeable by the Holder thereof without volume or other limitations or requirements under Rule 144 and such Holder and its Affiliates collectively hold less than 5% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock.

“Registration Expenses” means all expenses incurred by the Company in complying with Article II, including, without limitation, all registration and filing fees, printing expenses, road show expenses, fees and disbursements of counsel and independent public accountants and independent petroleum engineers for the Company, fees and expenses (including counsel fees) incurred in connection with complying with state securities or “blue sky” laws, fees of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., fees of transfer agents and registrars, and the reasonable fees and disbursements of one special legal counsel to represent the Investor in an applicable Shelf Underwritten Offering or Piggyback Underwritten Offering not to exceed $25,000 per Shelf Underwritten Offering or Piggyback Underwritten Offering, but excluding any Selling Expenses.

“Registration Statement” means any registration statement of the Company filed or to be filed with the Commission under the Securities Act, including the related prospectus, amendments and supplements to such registration statement, and including pre- and post-effective amendments, and all exhibits and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement.

“Relative” means, with respect to any natural person: (a) such natural person’s spouse, (b) any lineal descendant, parent, grandparent, great grandparent or sibling or any lineal descendant of such sibling (in each case whether by blood or legal adoption), and (c) the spouse of a natural person described in clause (b) of this definition.

“Requesting Holder” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

“Required Shelf Filing Date” means the 10th Business Day after the date of this Agreement.

“Rule 144” means Rule 144 promulgated by the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, as such rule may be amended from time to time, or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the Commission as a replacement thereto having substantially the same effect as such rule.

“Section 2.2 Maximum Number of Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(c).

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any successor federal statute, and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect at the time. References to any rule under the Securities Act shall be deemed to refer to any similar or successor rule or regulation.

4

“Selling Expenses” means all (a) underwriting fees, discounts and selling commissions allocable to the sale of Registrable Securities, (b) transfer taxes allocable to the sale of the Registrable Securities and (c) costs or expenses related to any roadshows conducted in connection with the marketing of any Shelf Underwritten Offering.

“Selling Holder” means a Holder selling Registrable Securities pursuant to a Registration Statement.

“Shelf Piggybacking Holder” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b).

“Shelf Registration Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“Shelf Underwritten Offering” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

“Shelf Underwritten Offering Request” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

“Suspension Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.

“Transfer” means any offer, sale, pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation, entry into any contract to sell, grant of an option to purchase, short sale, assignment, transfer, exchange, gift, bequest or other disposition, direct or indirect, in whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise. “Transfer,” when used as a verb, and “Transferee” and “Transferor” have correlative meanings.

“Underwritten Offering” means an offering (including an offering pursuant to a Shelf Registration Statement) in which shares of Common Stock are sold to an underwriter for reoffer.

“Underwritten Offering Filing” means (a) with respect to a Shelf Underwritten Offering, a preliminary prospectus supplement (or prospectus supplement if no preliminary prospectus supplement is used) to the Shelf Registration Statement relating to such Shelf Underwritten Offering, and (b) with respect to a Piggyback Underwritten Offering, (i) a preliminary prospectus supplement (or prospectus supplement if no preliminary prospectus supplement is used) to an effective Shelf Registration Statement (other than the Shelf Registration Statement) or (ii) a Registration Statement, in each case relating to such Piggyback Underwritten Offering.

“WKSI” means a well-known seasoned issuer (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act).

ARTICLE II

REGISTRATION RIGHTS

Section 2.1 Shelf Registration.

(a) As soon as practicable, and in any event on or prior to the Required Shelf Filing Date, the Company shall prepare and file a “shelf” registration statement under the Securities Act to permit the resale of the Registrable Securities from time to time as permitted by Rule 415 under the Securities Act (or any similar provision adopted by the Commission then in effect) (the “Shelf Registration Statement”). If at the time of such filing, the Company is a WKSI,

5

the Registration Statement shall be an automatic shelf registration statement that becomes effective upon filing with the Commission in accordance with Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act (an “ASR Filing”). If the Shelf Registration Statement does not qualify as an ASR Filing, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such Registration Statement to become or be declared effective as soon as practicable after the filing thereof and, in any event, within 45 days after the date of this Agreement in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 or 90 days after the date of this Agreement in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-1. Following the effective date of the Shelf Registration Statement that is not an ASR Filing, the Company shall notify the Holders of the effectiveness of such Registration Statement.

(b) The Shelf Registration Statement shall be on Form S-3 or, if Form S-3 is not then available to the Company, on Form S-1 or such other form of registration statement as is then available to effect a registration for resale of such Registrable Securities and shall contain a prospectus in such form as to permit any Holder to sell such Registrable Securities pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act (or any successor or similar rule adopted by the Commission then in effect) at any time beginning on the effective date for such Registration Statement. The Shelf Registration Statement shall provide for the distribution or resale pursuant to any method or combination of methods legally available to the Holders.

(c) The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Shelf Registration Statement to remain effective, and to be supplemented and amended as promptly as practicable to the extent necessary to ensure that the Shelf Registration Statement is available or, if not available, that another Registration Statement is available (which Registration Statement shall also be referred to herein as the Shelf Registration Statement), for the resale of all the Registrable Securities until all of the Registrable Securities have ceased to be Registrable Securities or the earlier termination of this Agreement (as to all Holders).

(d) When effective, the Shelf Registration Statement (including the documents incorporated therein by reference) will comply as to form in all material respects with all applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading (in the case of any prospectus contained in the Shelf Registration Statement, in the light of the circumstances under which such statements are made).

Section 2.2 Underwritten Shelf Offering Requests.

(a) In the event that any Holder or group of Holders elects to dispose of Registrable Securities under a Registration Statement pursuant to an Underwritten Offering and reasonably expects gross proceeds of at least $100 million from such Underwritten Offering (including proceeds attributable to any Registrable Securities included in such Underwritten Offering by any Shelf Piggybacking Holders), the Company shall, at the request (a “Shelf Underwritten Offering Request”) of such Holder or Holders (in such capacity, a “Requesting Holder”), enter into an underwriting agreement in a form as is customary in Underwritten Offerings of securities by the Company with the underwriter or underwriters selected by the Requesting Holders holding a majority of the shares of Common Stock expected to be sold in such Underwritten Offering (and reasonably acceptable to the Company) and shall take all such other reasonable actions as are requested by the Managing Underwriter of such Underwritten Offering

6

and/or the Requesting Holders in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities and, subject to Section 2.2(c), the Registrable Securities requested to be included by any Shelf Piggybacking Holder (a “Shelf Underwritten Offering”); provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to facilitate or participate (i) in more than two Shelf Underwritten Offerings that are initiated by a Holder pursuant to this Section 2.2 during any 12-month period (and no more than one Shelf Underwritten Offering in any 120-day period) or (ii) in any Shelf Underwritten Offering if the Company has conducted a Shelf Underwritten Offering in the preceding 120-day period in which such Requesting Holder was eligible to exercise piggyback registration rights pursuant to Section 2.4 and was not subject to cutback pursuant to Section 2.4(c) to the number of Registrable Securities that the Requesting Holder had requested be included in the Piggyback Underwritten Offering.

(b) If the Company receives a Shelf Underwritten Offering Request, it will give written notice of such proposed Shelf Underwritten Offering to each Holder (other than the Requesting Holder), which notice shall include the anticipated filing date of the related Underwritten Offering Filing and, if known, the number of shares of Common Stock that are proposed to be included in such Shelf Underwritten Offering, and of such Holders’ rights under this Section 2.2(b). Such notice shall be given promptly (and in any event not later than two Business Day following receipt of the Shelf Underwritten Offering Request); provided, that if the Shelf Underwritten Offering is a bought or overnight Underwritten Offering and the Managing Underwriter advises the Company and the Requesting Holder that the giving of notice pursuant to this Section 2.2(b) would adversely affect the offering, no such notice shall be required (and such Holders shall have no right to include Registrable Securities in such bought or overnight Underwritten Offering); and provided further, that the Company shall not so notify any such other Holder that has notified the Company (and not revoked such notice) requesting that such Holder not receive notice from the Company of any proposed Shelf Underwritten Offering. If such notice is delivered pursuant to this Section 2.2(b), each such Holder shall then have three Business Days (or one Business Day in the case of a bought or overnight Underwritten Offering) after the date on which the Holders received notice pursuant to this Section 2.2(b) to request inclusion of Registrable Securities in the Shelf Underwritten Offering (which request shall specify the maximum number of Registrable Securities intended to be disposed of by such Holder and such other information as is reasonably required to effect the inclusion of such Registrable Securities) (any such Holder making such request, a “Shelf Piggybacking Holder”). If no request for inclusion from a Holder is received within such period, such Holder shall have no further right to participate in such Shelf Underwritten Offering.

(c) If the Managing Underwriter of the Shelf Underwritten Offering shall inform the Requesting Holder of its belief that the number of Registrable Securities requested to be included in such Shelf Underwritten Offering by the Holders (and any other shares of Common Stock requested to be included by any other Persons having registration rights with respect to such offering) would materially adversely affect such offering, then the Company shall include in the applicable Underwritten Offering Filing, to the extent of the total number of Registrable Securities that the Company is so advised can be sold in such Shelf Underwritten Offering without so materially adversely affecting such offering (the “Section 2.2 Maximum Number of Shares”), Registrable Securities in the following priority:

7

(i) First, all Registrable Securities that the Holders requested to be included therein (the “Holders Securities”) (pro rata among the Holders based on the number of Registrable Securities each requested to be included), and

(ii) Second, to the extent that the number of Holders Securities is less than the Section 2.2 Maximum Number of Shares, the shares of Common Stock requested to be included by any other Persons having registration rights with respect to such offering, pro rata among such other Persons based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included.

(d) The Requesting Holders shall determine the pricing of the Registrable Securities offered pursuant to any Shelf Underwritten Offering and the applicable underwriting discounts and commissions and determine the timing of any such Shelf Underwritten Offering, subject to Section 2.3.

(e) Each Holder shall have the right to withdraw their Registrable Securities from the Shelf Underwritten Offering at any time prior to the execution of an underwriting agreement with respect thereto by giving written notice to the Company of its request to withdraw.

Section 2.3 Delay and Suspension Rights. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company may (i) delay effecting a Shelf Underwritten Offering or (ii) suspend the Holders’ use of any prospectus that is a part of a Shelf Registration Statement upon written notice to each Holder whose Registrable Securities are included in such Shelf Registration Statement (provided that in no event shall such notice contain any material non-public information regarding the Company) (in which event such Holder shall discontinue sales of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement but may settle any then-contracted sales of Registrable Securities), in each case for a period of up to 40 consecutive days, if the Board determines (A) that such delay or suspension is in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders generally due to a pending financing or other transaction involving the Company, (B) that such registration or offering would render the Company unable to comply with applicable securities laws or (C) that such registration or offering would require disclosure of material information that the Company has a bona fide business purpose for preserving as confidential (any such period, a “Suspension Period”); provided, however, that in no event shall any Suspension Periods collectively exceed an aggregate of 60 days in any 180-day period or exceed an aggregate of 90 days in any 12-month period; provided, further, that the number of days that the Company may so delay or suspend in accordance with this Section 2.3 in the 180-day period and 12-month period immediately following the Closing Date shall be reduced by the number of days after the Required Shelf Filing Date that the Shelf Registration Statement is declared or otherwise becomes effective.

Section 2.4 Piggyback Registration Rights.

(a) Subject to Section 2.4(c), if the Company at any time proposes to file an Underwritten Offering Filing for an Underwritten Offering of shares of Common Stock for its own account or for the account of any other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, other than the Holders (a “Piggyback Underwritten Offering”), it will give written notice of such Piggyback Underwritten Offering to each Holder, which notice shall include the anticipated filing date of the Underwritten Offering Filing and, if known, the number of shares of Common Stock

8

that are proposed to be included in such Piggyback Underwritten Offering, and of such Holders’ rights under this Section 2.4(a). Such notice shall be given promptly (and in any event at least five Business Days before the filing of the Underwritten Offering Filing or two Business Days before the filing of the Underwritten Offering Filing in connection with a bought or overnight Underwritten Offering). If such notice is delivered to pursuant to this Section 2.4(a), each such Holder shall then have four Business Days (or one Business Day in the case of a bought or overnight Underwritten Offering) after the date on which the Holders received notice pursuant to this Section 2.4(a) to request inclusion of Registrable Securities in the Piggyback Underwritten Offering (which request shall specify the maximum number of Registrable Securities intended to be disposed of by such Holder and such other information as is reasonably required to effect the inclusion of such Registrable Securities) (any such Holder making such request, a “Piggybacking Holder”). If no request for inclusion from a Holder is received within such period, such Holder shall have no further right to participate in such Piggyback Underwritten Offering. Subject to Section 2.4(c), the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to include in the Piggyback Underwritten Offering all Registrable Securities that the Company has been so requested to include by the Piggybacking Holders; provided, however, that if, at any time after giving written notice of a proposed Piggyback Underwritten Offering pursuant to this Section 2.4(a) and prior to the execution of an underwriting agreement with respect thereto, the Company or such other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, as applicable, shall determine for any reason not to proceed with or to delay such Piggyback Underwritten Offering, the Company shall give written notice of such determination to the Piggybacking Holders and (i) in the case of a determination not to proceed, shall be relieved of its obligation to include any Registrable Securities in such Piggyback Underwritten Offering (but not from any obligation of the Company to pay the Registration Expenses in connection therewith), and (ii) in the case of a determination to delay, shall be permitted to delay inclusion of any Registrable Securities for the same period as the delay in including the shares of Common Stock to be sold for the Company’s account or for the account of such other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, as applicable.

(b) Each Holder shall have the right to withdraw its request for inclusion of its Registrable Securities in any Piggyback Underwritten Offering at any time prior to the execution of an underwriting agreement with respect thereto by giving written notice to the Company of its request to withdraw. Any Holder may deliver written notice (an “Opt-Out Notice”) to the Company requesting that such Holder not receive notice from the Company of any proposed Piggyback Underwritten Offering; provided, however, that such Holder may later revoke any such Opt-Out Notice in writing. Following receipt of an Opt-Out Notice from a Holder (unless subsequently revoked), the Company shall not, and shall not be required to, deliver any notice to such Holder pursuant to this Section 2.4 and such Holder shall no longer be entitled to participate in any Piggyback Underwritten Offering.

(c) If the Managing Underwriter of the Piggyback Underwritten Offering shall inform the Company of its belief that the number of Registrable Securities requested to be included in such Piggyback Underwritten Offering, when added to the number of shares of Common Stock proposed to be offered by the Company or such other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights (and any other shares of Common Stock requested to be included by any other Persons having registration rights on parity with the Piggybacking Holders with respect to such offering), would materially adversely affect such offering, then the Company shall include in such

9

Piggyback Underwritten Offering, to the extent of the total number of securities which the Company is so advised can be sold in such offering without so materially adversely affecting such offering, shares of Common Stock in the following priority:

(i) if the Piggyback Underwritten Offering is for the account of the Company, first, all shares of Common Stock that the Company proposes to include for its own account (the “Company Securities”), second, the shares of Common Stock that the Piggybacking Holders propose to include (pro rata among the Piggybacking Holders based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), and third, the shares of Common Stock that other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights propose to include (pro rata among such other Persons based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included);

(ii) if the notice of a Piggyback Underwritten Offering pursuant to Section 2.4(a) is given on or prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Felix Closing Date, the Piggyback Underwritten Offering is for the account of any other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, first, all shares of Common Stock that the Piggybacking Holders propose to include (pro rata among the Piggybacking Holders based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), second, the shares of Common Stock that such other Persons propose to include (pro rata among such other Persons based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), and third, the Company Securities; or

(iii) if the notice of a Piggyback Underwritten Offering pursuant to Section 2.4(a) is given after the third (3rd) anniversary of the Felix Closing Date, the Piggyback Underwritten Offering is for the account of any other Persons who have or have been granted registration rights, first, the shares of Common Stock that such other Persons propose to include (pro rata among such other Persons based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), second, all shares of Common Stock that the Piggybacking Holders propose to include (pro rata among the Piggybacking Holders based on the number of shares of Common Stock each requested to be included), and third, the Company Securities.

Section 2.5 Participation in Underwritten Offerings.

(a) In connection with any Underwritten Offering contemplated by Section 2.2 or Section 2.4, the underwriting agreement into which each Selling Holder and the Company shall enter into shall contain such representations, covenants, indemnities (subject to Article III) and other rights and obligations as are customary in Underwritten Offerings of securities by the Company, and the Company shall be entitled to designate counsel for the underwriters. No Selling Holder shall be required to make any representations or warranties to or agreements with the Company or the underwriters other than representations, warranties or agreements regarding such Selling Holder’s authority to enter into such underwriting agreement and to sell, and its ownership of, the securities being registered on its behalf, its intended method of distribution and any other representation required by law.

10

(b) Any participation by the Piggybacking Holders in a Piggyback Underwritten Offering shall be in accordance with the plan of distribution of the Company or the other Persons who have registration rights, as applicable.

(c) In connection with any Piggyback Underwritten Offering in which any Piggybacking Holder includes Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 2.4, such Piggybacking Holder agrees (A) to supply any information reasonably requested by the Company in connection with the preparation of a Registration Statement and/or any other documents relating to such registered offering and (B) to execute and deliver any agreements and instruments being executed by all holders on substantially the same terms reasonably requested by the Company or the Managing Underwriter, as applicable, to effectuate such registered offering, including, without limitation, underwriting agreements (subject to Section 2.5(a)), custody agreements, powers of attorney, questionnaires, and lock-ups or “hold back” agreements pursuant to which such Piggybacking Holder agrees with the Managing Underwriter not to sell or purchase any securities of the Company for the shorter of (i) the same period of time following the registered offering as is agreed to by the Company and the other participating holders (not to exceed the shortest number of days that any director of the Company, “executive officer” (as defined under Section 16 of the Exchange Act) of the Company or any stockholder of the Company (other than a Holder or director or employee of, or consultant to, the Company) who owns 10% or more of the outstanding shares contractually agrees with the underwriters of such Piggyback Underwritten Offering not to sell any securities of the Company following such Piggyback Underwritten Offering) and (ii) 60 days from the date of the execution of the underwriting agreement with respect to such Piggyback Underwritten Offering.

Section 2.6 Registration Procedures.

(a) In connection with its obligations under this Article II, the Company will take all reasonably necessary action to facilitate and effect the transactions contemplated thereby, including, but not limited to, the following:

(i) promptly prepare and file with the Commission such amendments and supplements to such Registration Statement and the prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep such Registration Statement effective and to comply with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of all securities covered by such Registration Statement until such time as all of such securities have been disposed of in accordance with the intended methods of disposition by the Selling Holder or Selling Holder thereof set forth in such Registration Statement;

(ii) furnish to each Selling Holder, without charge, such number of conformed copies of such Registration Statement and of each such amendment and supplement thereto (in each case including, without limitation, all exhibits), such number of copies of the prospectus contained in such Registration Statement (including without limitation each preliminary prospectus and any summary prospectus) and any other prospectus filed under Rule 424 under the Securities Act, in conformity with the requirements of the Securities Act, and such other documents, as such Selling Holder may reasonably request;

11

(iii) if applicable, use its commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify all Registrable Securities and other securities covered by such Registration Statement under such other securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions as each Selling Holder thereof shall reasonably request, to keep such registration or qualification in effect for so long as such Registration Statement remains in effect, and to take any other action which may be reasonably necessary or advisable to enable such Selling Holder to consummate the disposition in such jurisdictions of the securities owned by such Selling Holder, except that the Company shall not for any such purpose be required to qualify generally to do business as a foreign corporation in any jurisdiction wherein it would not but for the requirements of this clause (iii) be obligated to be so qualified or to consent to general service of process in any such jurisdiction;

(iv) use its commercially reasonable efforts to provide to each Selling Holder and any underwriters a copy of any customary auditor “comfort” letters, legal opinions or reports of the independent petroleum engineers of the Company relating to the oil and gas reserves of the Company;

(v) promptly notify each Selling Holder, at any time when a prospectus relating thereto is required to be delivered under the Securities Act, upon discovery that, or upon the happening of any event as a result of which, the prospectus included in such Registration Statement, as then in effect, includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, and at the request of any such Selling Holder promptly prepare and file or furnish to such Selling Holder a reasonable number of copies of a supplement or post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement or a supplement to the related prospectus or any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference, or file any other required document as may be necessary so that, as thereafter delivered to the purchasers of such securities, such prospectus shall not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances under which they were made;

(vi) otherwise comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the Commission, and make available to its security holders, as soon as reasonably practicable, an earnings statement, which earnings statement shall satisfy the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act, and shall furnish to each such Selling Holder at least the Business Day prior to the filing thereof a copy of any amendment or supplement to such Registration Statement or prospectus;

(vii) provide and cause to be maintained a transfer agent and registrar for all Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement from and after a date not later than the effective date of such Registration Statement;

(viii) in connection with the preparation and filing of any Registration Statement or any sale of Registrable Securities in connection therewith, the Company will give the Holders offering and selling thereunder, any underwriters and their respective counsels the opportunity to review and provide comments on such Registration Statement,

12

each prospectus included therein or filed with the Commission, and each amendment thereof or supplement thereto (other than amendments or supplements that do not make any material change in the information related to the Company) (provided that the Company shall not file any such Registration Statement including Registrable Securities or an amendment thereto or any related prospectus or any supplement thereto to which such Holders or any underwriter shall reasonably object in writing), and give each of them, together with any underwriter, broker, dealer or sales agent involved therewith, such access to its books and records and such opportunities to discuss the business of the Company and its subsidiaries with its officers, its counsel, the independent public accountants who have certified its financial statements, and the independent petroleum engineers of the Company as shall be necessary, in the opinion of the Holder’s and such underwriters’ (or broker’s, dealer’s or sales agent’s, as the case may be) respective counsel, to conduct a reasonable due diligence investigation within the meaning of the Securities Act;

(ix) use its commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, and, if any such order suspending the effectiveness of such Registration Statement is issued, shall promptly use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the withdrawal of such order at the earliest possible moment;

(x) promptly notify the Holders (i) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or the initiation or threat of any proceedings for that purpose, (ii) of any delisting or pending delisting of the Common Stock by any national securities exchange or market on which the Common Stock are then listed or quoted, and (iii) of the receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification of any Registrable Securities for sale under the securities or “blue sky” laws of any jurisdiction or the initiation of any proceeding for such purpose;

(xi) cause all Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement to be listed on any securities exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed;

(xii) enter into such customary agreements, including but not limited to lock-up agreements by the Company (and, if reasonably requested by the Managing Underwriter(s), the Company’s directors and “executive officers” (as defined under Section 16 of the Exchange Act)) that extend through 60 days following the entrance into the corresponding underwriting agreement, and to take such other actions as the Holder or Holders shall reasonably request in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities; and

(xiii) cause its officers to use their commercially reasonable efforts to support the marketing of the Registrable Securities covered by the Registration Statement (including, without limitation, participation in electronic or telephonic “road shows”).

(b) Each Holder agrees by acquisition of such Registrable Securities that upon receipt of any notice from the Company of the happening of any event of the kind described in

13

Section 2.6(a)(v), such Holder will forthwith discontinue such Holder’s disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement until such Holder’s receipt of the copies of the supplemented or amended prospectus contemplated by Section 2.6(a)(v) as filed with the Commission or until it is advised in writing by the Company that the use of such Registration Statement may be resumed, and, if so directed by the Company, will deliver to the Company (at the Company’s expense) all copies, other than permanent file copies, then in such Holder’s possession of the prospectus relating to such Registrable Securities current at the time of receipt of such notice. The Company may provide appropriate stop orders to enforce the provisions of this Section 2.6(b).

Section 2.7 Cooperation by Holders. The Company shall have no obligation to include Registrable Securities of a Holder in any Registration Statement or Underwritten Offering if such Holder has failed to timely furnish such information as the Company may, from time to time, reasonably request in writing regarding such Holder and the distribution of such Registrable Securities that the Company determines, after consultation with its counsel, is reasonably required in order for any registration statement or prospectus supplement, as applicable, to comply with the Securities Act.

Section 2.8 Expenses. The Company shall be responsible for all Registration Expenses incident to its performance of or compliance with its obligations under this Article II. Each Selling Holder shall pay its pro rata share of all Selling Expenses in connection with any sale of its Registrable Securities hereunder.

Section 2.9 Additional Rights. The Company is not currently a party to and shall not hereafter enter into any agreement with respect to its securities that in any way violates or subordinates rights granted to the Holders by this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Majority Holders.

ARTICLE III

INDEMNIFICATION AND CONTRIBUTION

Section 3.1 Indemnification by the Company. The Company will indemnify and hold harmless each Holder, its officers and directors and each Person (if any) that controls such Holder within the meaning of either Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs (including costs of preparation and attorneys’ fees and any legal or other fees or expenses incurred by such Person in connection with any investigation or Proceeding), expenses, judgments, fines, penalties, charges and amounts paid in settlement (“Losses”) as incurred, caused by, arising out of or based upon, resulting from or related to any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement or prospectus relating to the Registrable Securities (as amended or supplemented if the Company shall have furnished any amendments or supplements thereto) or any preliminary prospectus, any filing made in connection with the qualifications of the offering under the securities or other blue sky laws of any jurisdiction in which Registrable Securities are offered, or any other offering document (including any related notification, or the like) incident to any such registration, qualification, or compliance, or based on any or any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or

14

necessary to make the statements therein not misleading (in the case of any prospectus, in the light of the circumstances under which such statement is made), or any violation by the Company of this Agreement, the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, or any rule or regulation thereunder applicable to the Company and relating to action or inaction required of the Company in connection with any such registration, qualification, or compliance, provided, however, that such indemnity shall not apply to that portion of such Losses caused by, or arising out of, any untrue statement, or alleged untrue statement or any such omission or alleged omission, to the extent such statement or omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished in writing to the Company by or on behalf of such Holder expressly for use therein.

Section 3.2 Indemnification by the Holders. Each Holder agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its officers and directors and each Person (if any) that controls the Company within the meaning of either Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act from and against any and all Losses caused by, arising out of, resulting from or related to any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement or prospectus relating to Registrable Securities (as amended or supplemented if the Company shall have furnished any amendments or supplements thereto) or any preliminary prospectus, or any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading (in the case of any prospectus, in the light of the circumstances under which such statement is made), only to the extent such statement or omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished in writing by or on behalf of such Holder expressly for use therein.

Section 3.3 Indemnification Procedures. In case any Proceeding (including any governmental investigation) shall be instituted involving any Person in respect of which indemnity may be sought pursuant to Section 3.1 or Section 3.2, such Person (the “Indemnified Party”) shall promptly notify the Person against whom such indemnity may be sought (the “Indemnifying Party”) in writing (provided that the failure of the Indemnified Party to give notice as provided herein shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations under this Article III, except to the extent the Indemnifying Party is actually and materially prejudiced by such failure to give notice), and the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to participate in such Proceeding and, unless in the reasonable opinion of outside counsel to the Indemnified Party a conflict of interest between the Indemnified Party and Indemnifying Party may exist in respect of such claim, to assume the defense thereof jointly with any other Indemnifying Party similarly notified, to the extent that it chooses, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such Indemnified Party, and after notice from the Indemnifying Party to such Indemnified Party that it so chooses, the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable to such Indemnified Party for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by such Indemnified Party in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation; provided, however, that (i) if the Indemnifying Party fails to assume the defense or employ counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party, (ii) if such Indemnified Party who is a defendant in any action or Proceeding that is also brought against the Indemnifying Party reasonably shall have concluded that there may be one or more legal defenses available to such Indemnified Party that are not available to the Indemnifying Party or (iii) if representation of both parties by the same counsel is otherwise inappropriate under applicable standards of professional conduct then, in any such case, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to assume or continue its own defense as set forth above (but with no more than one firm of counsel for all Indemnified Parties in each jurisdiction, except to the extent any Indemnified Party or Parties reasonably shall

15

have concluded that there may be legal defenses available to such party or parties that are not available to the other Indemnified Parties or to the extent representation of all Indemnified Parties by the same counsel is otherwise inappropriate under applicable standards of professional conduct) and the Indemnifying Party shall be liable for any expenses therefor. No Indemnifying Party shall, without the written consent of the Indemnified Party, effect the settlement or compromise of, or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to, any pending or threatened action or claim in respect of which indemnification or contribution may be sought hereunder (whether or not the Indemnified Party is an actual or potential party to such action or claim) unless such settlement, compromise or judgment (A) includes an unconditional release of the Indemnified Party from all liability arising out of such action or claim and (B) does not include a statement as to, or an admission of, fault, culpability or a failure to act, by or on behalf of any Indemnified Party.

Section 3.4 Contribution.

(a) If the indemnification provided for in this Article III is unavailable to an Indemnified Party in respect of any Losses in respect of which indemnity is to be provided hereunder, then each Indemnifying Party, in lieu of indemnifying such Indemnified Party, shall to the fullest extent permitted by law contribute to the amount paid or payable by such Indemnified Party as a result of such Losses in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of such party in connection with the statements or omissions that resulted in such Losses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the Company (on the one hand) and a Holder (on the other hand) shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by such party and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.

(b) The Company and each Holder agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Article III were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in Section 3.4(a). The amount paid or payable by an Indemnified Party as a result of the losses, claims, damages or liabilities referred to in Section 3.4(a) shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth above, any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such Indemnified Party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Article III, no Holder shall be liable for indemnification or contribution pursuant to this Article III for any amount in excess of the net proceeds of the offering received by such Holder, less the amount of any damages that such Holder has otherwise been required to pay by reason of such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

16

ARTICLE IV

RULE 144; ASSISTANCE WITH TRANSFERS.

Section 4.1 Rule 144.

(a) With a view to making available the benefits of certain rules and regulations of the Commission that may permit the resale of the Registrable Securities without registration, the Company agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to:

(i) make and keep public information regarding the Company available, as those terms are understood and defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, at all times from and after the date hereof;

(ii) file with the Commission in a timely manner all reports and other documents required of the Company under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act at all times from and after the date hereof; and

(iii) so long as a Holder owns any Registrable Securities, furnish (i) to the extent accurate, forthwith upon request, a written statement of the Company that it has complied with the reporting requirements of Rule 144 under the Securities Act and (ii) unless otherwise available via the Commission’s EDGAR filing system, to such Holder forthwith upon request a copy of the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company, and such other reports and documents so filed as such Holder may reasonably request in availing itself of any rule or regulation of the Commission allowing such Holder to sell any such securities without registration.

Section 4.2 Assistance with Transfers. In connection with any sale or transfer of Registrable Securities by any Holder, including any sale or transfer pursuant to Rule 144 and other rules and regulations of the Commission that may at any time permit a Holder of Registrable Securities to sell securities of the Company to the public without registration, the Company shall, to the extent allowed by law, take any and all action necessary or reasonably requested by such Holder in order to permit or facilitate such sale or transfer, including, without limitation, at the sole expense of the Company, by (i) issuing such directions to any transfer agent, registrar or depositary, as applicable, (ii) delivering such opinions to the transfer agent, registrar or depositary as are customary for the transaction of this type and are reasonably requested by the same, and (iii) taking or causing to be taken such other actions as are reasonably necessary (in each case on a timely basis) in order to cause any legends, notations or similar designations restricting transferability of the Registrable Securities held by such Holder to be removed and to rescind any transfer restrictions with respect to such Registrable Securities; provided, however, that such Holder shall deliver to the Company, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, representation letters regarding such Holder’s compliance with such rules and regulations, as may be applicable. In addition, the Company, at its sole expense, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to remove any restrictive legend on any shares of Common Stock that are Registrable Securities upon request by the Holder if (A) such shares of Common Stock are sold pursuant to an effective registration statement or (B) a registration statement covering the resale of such shares of Common Stock is effective under the Securities Act and the applicable Holder delivers to the Company a representation letter agreeing that such shares of Common Stock will be sold under such effective registration statement.

17

ARTICLE V

TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS

The rights to cause the Company to register Registrable Securities under Article II of this Agreement may be transferred or assigned by each Holder to one or more Transferees or assignees of Registrable Securities if such Transferee is (i) a Permitted Transferee or (ii) acquiring at least $100 million of Registrable Securities as determined by reference to the volume weighted average price for such Registrable Securities on any securities exchange or market on which the Common Stock are then listed or quoted for the five trading days immediately preceding the applicable determination date (the “5-Day VWAP”) and such Transferee has delivered to the Company a duly executed Adoption Agreement; provided, that a Holder’s rights under Section 2.2 and Section 2.4 may only be transferred if such Transferee is (i) an Affiliate of the Investor; or (ii) is acquiring at least $100 million of Registrable Securities as determined by the 5-Day VWAP.

ARTICLE VI

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 6.1 Termination. This Agreement shall terminate as to any Holder, when such Holder no longer owns any shares of Common Stock that constitute Registrable Securities; provided, however, that Article III shall survive any termination hereof.

Section 6.2 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be illegal and unenforceable by any court of law, the remaining provisions shall be severable and enforceable in accordance with their terms.

Section 6.3 Remedies. In the event of actual or potential breach by the Company of any of its obligations under this Agreement, each Holder, in addition to being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law and under this Agreement, including recovery of damages, will be entitled to specific performance of its rights under this Agreement. The Company agrees that monetary damages would not provide adequate compensation for any losses incurred by reason of a breach by it of any of the provisions of this Agreement and further agrees that, in the event of any action for specific performance in respect of such breach, it shall waive the defense that a remedy at law would be adequate.

Section 6.4 Governing Law; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws that would direct the application of the laws of another jurisdiction.

(b) THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY ANY PARTY AGAINST ANOTHER IN ANY MATTER WHATSOEVER ARISING OUT OF OR IN RELATION TO OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT. FURTHER, NOTHING HEREIN SHALL DIVEST A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION OF THE RIGHT AND POWER TO GRANT A TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER, TO GRANT TEMPORARY INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, OR TO COMPEL SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF ANY DECISION OF AN ARBITRAL TRIBUNAL MADE PURSUANT TO THIS PROVISION.

18

Section 6.5 Adjustments Affecting Registrable Securities. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to any and all shares of capital stock of the Company or any successor or assignee of the Company (whether by merger, consolidation, sale of assets or otherwise) that may be issued in respect of, in exchange for or in substitution for the Registrable Securities, by reason of any stock dividend, split, reverse split, combination, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or otherwise in such a manner and with such appropriate adjustments as to reflect the intent and meaning of the provisions hereof and so that the rights, privileges, duties and obligations hereunder shall continue with respect to the capital stock of the Company as so changed.

Section 6.6 Binding Effects; Benefits of Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns and each Holder and its successors and assigns. Except as provided in Article V, neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, benefits or obligations hereunder may be assigned or transferred, by operation of law or otherwise, by any Holder without the prior written consent of the Company.

Section 6.7 Notices. All notices or other communications that are required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given if (i) personally delivered, (ii) sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, (iii) sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested or (iv) email, addressed as follows:

(a) If to the Company, to:

Devon Energy Corporation

333 West Sheridan Avenue

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102

Attention: Jeffrey L. Ritenour; Lyndon C. Taylor; Edward Highberger

Email: Jeff.Ritenour@dvn.com; lyndon.taylor@dvn.com; Edward.Highberger@dvn.com

with copies to (which shall not constitute notice):

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP

1000 Louisiana Street

Suite 6800

Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: Frank Ed Bayouth II

Email: Frank.Bayouth@skadden.com

(b) If to the Investor, to

19

Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC

1530 16th Street

Suite 500

Denver, Colorado 80202

Attention: John D. McCready

Email: johnm@felix-energy.com

with copies to (which shall not constitute notice):

Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.

1001 Fannin, Suite 2500

Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: Douglas E. McWilliams and W. Matthew Strock

E-mail: dmcwilliams@velaw.com; mstrock@velaw.com

(c) If to any other Holders, to their respective addresses set forth on the applicable Adoption Agreement;

or to such other address as the party to whom notice is to be given may have furnished to such other party in writing in accordance herewith. Any such communication shall be deemed to have been received (i) when delivered, if personally delivered, (ii) on the date sent if delivered by e-mail on a Business Day, or if not sent on a Business Day, on the first Business Day thereafter, (iii) the next Business Day after delivery, if sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, and (iv) on the third (3rd) Business Day following the date on which the piece of mail containing such communication is posted, if sent by first-class mail.

Section 6.8 Modification; Waiver. This Agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented only by a written instrument duly executed by the Company and the Majority Holders. No course of dealing between the Company and the Holders (or any of them) or any delay in exercising any rights hereunder will operate as a waiver of any rights of any party to this Agreement. The failure of any party to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement will in no way be construed as a waiver of such provisions and will not affect the right of such party thereafter to enforce each and every provision of this Agreement in accordance with its terms.

Section 6.9 Entire Agreement. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings of the parties in connection therewith.

Section 6.10 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original instrument, but all such counterparts taken together shall constitute but one agreement.

[signature page follows]

20

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be executed by its undersigned duly authorized representative as of the date first written above.

DEVON ENERGY CORPORATION
By: |  |
|  | Name:
|  | Title:

SIGNATURE PAGE TO REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

FELIX INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS II, LLC
By: |  |
|  | Name: John D. McCready
|  | Title: Chief Executive Officer

SIGNATURE PAGE TO REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT A

ADOPTION AGREEMENT

This Adoption Agreement (“Adoption Agreement”) is executed by the undersigned transferee (“Transferee”) pursuant to the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of [●], 2020, among Devon Energy Corporation (the “Company”), Felix Investment Holdings II, LLC and the Holders party thereto (as amended from time to time, the “Registration Rights Agreement”). Terms used and not otherwise defined in this Adoption Agreement have the meanings set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement.

By the execution of this Adoption Agreement, the Transferee agrees as follows:

1. | Acknowledgement. Transferee acknowledges that Transferee is acquiring certain shares of Common Stock of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of Registration Rights Agreement, among the Company and the Holders party thereto.

2. | Agreement. Transferee (i) agrees that the shares of Common Stock of the Company acquired by Transferee shall be bound by and subject to the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement, pursuant to the terms thereof, and (ii) hereby adopts the Registration Rights Agreement with the same force and effect as if he, she or it were originally a party thereto.

3. | Notice. Any notice required as permitted by the Registration Rights Agreement shall be given to Transferee at the address listed beside Transferee’s signature below.

4. | Joinder. The spouse of the undersigned Transferee, if applicable, executes this Adoption Agreement to acknowledge its fairness and that it is in such spouse’s best interest, and to bind such spouse’s community interest, if any, in the shares of Common Stock and other securities referred to above and in the Registration Rights Agreement, to the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement.

Signature:
Address:
Contact Person:
Telephone No:
Email:

EXHIBIT F

NEW FELIX STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT

[See attached].

Exhibit F - 1

STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT

This STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of [●], 2020, is entered into by and among Devon Energy Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the ”Company”), Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the ”Investor”) and, solely for purposes of Section 2.1 and Section 5.10, EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P. (“EnCap”).

WHEREAS, the Investor and WPX Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“East”), have completed the transactions contemplated by that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2019, pursuant to which, among other things, the Investor received 152,910,532 shares of East’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share;

WHEREAS, the Company and East have and will effect the transactions contemplated by that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), dated as of September 26, 2020 (the “Signing Date”), pursuant to which, among other things, the Investor has received [•] shares (the “Issued Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.10 per share (“Common Stock”); and

WHEREAS, in connection with, and effective upon, the date of the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement (the “Closing Date”), the Company and the Investor desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth certain understandings among themselves.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, a Person that directly or indirectly Controls or is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, such specified Person. For purposes of this Agreement, no party to this Agreement shall be deemed to be an Affiliate of another party to this Agreement solely by reason of the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

“Beneficial Owner” of a security is a Person who directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, has or shares (a) voting power, which includes the power to vote, or to direct the voting of, such security and/or (b) investment power, which includes the power to dispose of, or to direct the disposition of, such security. The term “Beneficially Own” shall have a correlative meaning. For the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of this Agreement, the Investor is deemed to Beneficially Own the shares of Common Stock owned by it notwithstanding the fact that such shares are subject to this Agreement.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

“Control” (including the terms “Controls,” “Controlled by” and “under common Control with”) means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Governance Committee” means the Governance Committee of the Board.

“Governmental Entity” means any court, governmental, regulatory or administrative agency or commission or other governmental authority or instrumentality, domestic or foreign.

“Investor Director” means the person listed on Exhibit A hereto, or any other person designated to replace such person in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Investor Group” means the Investor and each of its Affiliates; provided, however, that for purposes of this definition of Investor Group, neither the Investor nor its Affiliates shall be considered to be an Affiliate of the Company or any person Controlled by the Company.

“Law” means any law, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, judgment, order, treaty, convention, governmental directive or other legally enforceable requirement, U.S. or non-U.S., of any Governmental Entity, including common law.

“Necessary Action” means, with respect to a specified result, any and all actions necessary to cause such result, including but not limited to executing any and all agreements and instruments that are required to achieve such result and making, or causing to be made, with any and all Governmental Entities, all filings, registrations or similar actions that are required to achieve such result (but solely to the extent such actions are permitted by Law).

“Non-Affiliated Directors” means a director who qualifies as “independent” under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange or the rules of such other national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed or trading and who is not the Investor Director.

“Organizational Documents” means the Company’s certificate of incorporation, bylaws and certificates of designations, each as amended from time to time in accordance with its terms.

“Permitted Transferee” means (i) any direct or indirect member of the Investor who receives shares of Common Stock as a result of a distribution of Common Stock by the Investor (or any subsequent distribution of such shares of Common Stock by any such direct or indirect member of Investor) and (ii) any Affiliate of the Investor.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, estate, trust, business association, organization, any court, administrative agency, regulatory body, commission or other governmental authority, board, bureau or instrumentality, domestic or foreign and any subdivision thereof or other entity, and also includes any managed investment account.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

2

“Subject Policy” means each policy of the Board in place as of the Signing Date that was in effect and applicable to the other directors (a copy of which was provided to the Investor on or prior to the Signing Date or was available on the Signing Date on EDGAR or the Company’s website at www.devonenergy.com), each subsequent policy of the Board required by Law that is in effect and applicable to all Non-Affiliated Directors, and each other subsequent policy of the Board unless such policy would have the effect of excluding the Investor Director named on Exhibit A from serving on the Board.

Section 1.2 Rules of Construction.

(a) Unless the context requires otherwise: (i) any pronoun used in this Agreement shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms; (ii) references to Articles and Sections refer to articles and sections of this Agreement; (iii) the terms “include,” “includes,” “including” and words of like import shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; (iv) the terms “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein” or “hereunder” refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement; (v) unless the context otherwise requires, the term “or” is not exclusive and shall have the inclusive meaning of “and/or”; (vi) defined terms herein will apply equally to both the singular and plural forms and derivative forms of defined terms will have correlative meanings; (vii) references to any Law or statute shall include all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and references to any Law or statute shall be construed as including any legal and statutory provisions consolidating, amending, succeeding or replacing the applicable Law or statute; (viii) references to any Person include such Person’s successors and permitted assigns; and (ix) references to “days” are to calendar days unless otherwise indicated.

(b) The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and identification only and are not intended to describe, interpret, define or limit the scope, extent or intent of this Agreement or any provision thereof.

(c) This Agreement shall be construed without regard to any presumption or other rule requiring construction against the party that drafted or caused this Agreement to be drafted.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1 Representations and Warranties. Each party hereto represents and warrants to the other party as follows: (i) such party has full legal right and capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by such party and the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by it and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly authorized by all Necessary Action on the part of such party and no other actions or proceedings on the part of such party are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (iii) this Agreement constitutes the valid and binding agreement of such party, enforceable against such party in accordance with its terms; and (iv) the execution and delivery of

3

this Agreement by such party does not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the compliance with the provisions of this Agreement will not, conflict with or violate any Laws or agreements binding upon such party, nor require any authorization, consent or approval of, or filing with, any Governmental Entity, except, with respect to the Company, for filings with the SEC by the Company.

ARTICLE III

COVENANTS

Section 3.1 Designee.

(a) On the Closing Date, the Company will take all Necessary Action to cause the Investor Director listed in Exhibit A hereto to be appointed to the Board.

(b) From and after the Closing Date until the Board Designation Expiration Date, the manner for selecting nominees for election to the Board will be as follows, subject to Section 3.4:

(i) In connection with each annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Company at which directors are to be elected (each such annual or special meeting, an “Election Meeting”), the Investor shall have the right to designate for nomination one (1) Investor Director during any time that the Investor Group Beneficially Own, and have collectively Beneficially Owned at all times from the Closing Date through such Election Meeting, at least ten percent (10%) of the outstanding shares of Common Stock.

(ii) The Investor shall give written notice to the Governance Committee of the Investor Director no later than the date that is ninety (90) days before the first anniversary of the date that the Company’s annual proxy for the prior year was first mailed to the Company’s stockholders and the Investor shall provide, or cause such individual to provide, to the Company, such information about such individual and the nomination to the Company at such times as the Company may reasonably request in order to ensure compliance with the applicable stock exchange rules and the applicable securities Laws, and to enable the Board of any committee thereof to make determinations with respect to the qualifications of the individual to be the Investor Director (the “Required Information”); provided, however, that if the Investor fails to give such notice or the Required Information in a timely manner, then the Investor shall be deemed to have nominated the incumbent Investor Director in a timely manner. The Investor shall also provide to the Company, upon reasonable request from the Company and in connection with providing the Required Information, evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Company that the Investor Group collectively Beneficially Own the number of shares of Common Stock that would be required to designate the Investor Director pursuant to this Section 3.1(b) then serving on the Board or then being designated to the Board in connection with an Election Meeting, as applicable.

(c) From and after the Closing Date until the Board Designation Expiration Date, the Company shall take all Necessary Actions to cause the Board to include the Investor

4

Director entitled to be designated by the Investor pursuant to Section 3.1(b) and otherwise to reflect the Board composition contemplated by Section 3.1, including the following: (i) at each Election Meeting, include (x) the Investor Director entitled to be designated by the Investor pursuant to Section 3.1(b) in the slate of nominees recommended by the Board to the Company’s stockholders for election as directors, (ii) to solicit proxies in order to obtain stockholder approval of the election of the Investor Director, including causing officers of the Company who hold proxies (unless otherwise directed by the Company stockholder submitting such proxy) to vote such proxies in favor of the election of such Investor Director and (iii) to cause the Investor Director to be elected to the Board, including recommending that the Company’s stockholders vote in favor of the Investor Director in any proxy statement used by the Company to solicit the vote of its stockholders in connection with each Election Meeting.

(d) If at any time the Investor Director is serving on the Board when the Investor is not entitled to designate an Investor Director pursuant to Section 3.1(b), then unless otherwise requested by the Board by action of the Non-Affiliated Directors, the Investor shall promptly (and in any event prior to the time the Board next takes any action, whether at a meeting or by written consent) cause such Investor Director to resign from the Board.

(e) On the earliest to occur of (the “Board Designation Expiration Date”) (i) the Investor Group collectively Beneficially Owning less than ten percent (10%) of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and (ii) such date that the Investor delivers a written waiver of its rights under this Section 3.1 and Section 3.2 to the Company (which shall be irrevocable) the Investor will have no further rights under this Section 3.1 or Section 3.2.

(f) For the avoidance of doubt and subject to Section 3.5 and Section 3.7, the right granted to Investor to designate a member of the Board is additive to, and not intended to limit in any way, the rights that the Investor may have to nominate, elect or remove directors under the Organizational Documents or Delaware General Corporation Law.

Section 3.2 Vacancies. Subject to Section 3.1 and Section 3.4, if at any time there is no Investor Director serving on the Board and the Investor is entitled to designate an Investor Director pursuant to Section 3.1(b), whether due to the death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal from office as a member of the Board of the Investor Director or otherwise, the Board shall take all Necessary Action required to fill the vacancy resulting therefrom with such replacement designated by the Investor as promptly as practicable. In furtherance thereof, the Company and the Board shall use its reasonable best efforts, if requested by the Investor on a timely basis, to fill such vacancy prior to the time the Board next takes action on any other matter.

Section 3.3 Compensation; Indemnification. The Investor Director shall be entitled to the same expense reimbursement and advancement, exculpation and indemnification in connection with his or her role as a director as the other members of the Board, as well as reimbursement for documented, reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board or any committee of the Board of which the Investor Director is a member, if any, in each case to the same extent as the other members of the Board. The Investor Director shall be also entitled to any retainer, equity compensation or other fees or compensation paid to the non-employee directors of the Company for their services as a director, including any service on any committee of the Board.

5

Section 3.4 Selection of the Investor Director; Committees.

(a) The Investor Director’s service as a member of the Board must be reasonably acceptable to the Governance Committee. The parties hereto agree that the person listed on Exhibit A to this Agreement is qualified for service pursuant to the foregoing sentence. Subject to applicable Law and stock exchange rules, until the Board Designation Expiration Date, the Investor Director shall be appointed to serve on the Governance Committee, subject to any limitations imposed by Law or stock exchange rules (including with respect to director independence requirements).

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Investor shall not be entitled to designate any Investor Director pursuant to Section 3.1(a) to the Board if the Board or a committee thereof reasonably determines that (i) the election of such Investor Director to the Board would cause the Company to not be in compliance with applicable Law or (ii) such Investor Director has been involved in any of the events that would be required to be disclosed in a registration statement on Form S-1 pursuant to Item 401(f)(2)-(8) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933 or is subject to any order, decree or judgment of any Governmental Entity prohibiting service as a director of any public company. In any such case described in clauses (i) or (ii) of the immediately preceding sentence, the Investor shall withdraw the designation of such proposed Investor Director, and, subject to the requirements of this Section 3.4(b) be permitted to designate a replacement therefor (which replacement Investor Director will also be subject to the requirements of this Section 3.4(b)). The Company hereby agrees that the Investor Director listed on Exhibit A to this Agreement would not be prohibited from serving on the Board pursuant to clause (i) of the first sentence of this Section 3.4(b).

(c) Subject to Section 3.7, the Board may impose as a condition to the Investor Director serving on the Board that such Investor Director agree to, and be subject to, each Subject Policy. For the avoidance of doubt, no Subject Policy shall modify any of the rights and obligations of the parties to this Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement between the parties dated as of the date hereof, the Merger Agreement or any other agreement entered into between the parties in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.

Section 3.5 Lock-up. The Investor shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, during the period commencing on the Closing Date and continuing for one hundred and eighty (180) days after the Closing Date (the “Lock-up Period”), (a) offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, give, assign, hypothecate, pledge, encumber, grant a security interest in, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend or otherwise transfer or dispose of (including through any hedging or other similar transaction) any economic, voting or other rights in or to the Issued Shares, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, or (b) enter into any swap or other agreement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Issued Shares (any such transaction described in clause (a) or (b) above, a “Transfer”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restrictions set forth in this

6

Section 3.5 shall not apply to (i) Transfers involving in the aggregate no more than [•]1 shares of Common Stock (as appropriately adjusted for any stock split, stock dividend or similar transaction), (ii) Transfers to Permitted Transferees; provided, however, that if such Permitted Transferee is EnCap or any of its Controlled Affiliates, EnCap or such Controlled Affiliate must agree in an executed written agreement (a copy of which will be delivered to the Company) for the benefit of the Company to be bound by the terms of this Section 3.5 prior to such Transfer or distribution, as applicable, and that any Permitted Transferee that is an Affiliate of EnCap and does not otherwise qualify as a Permitted Transferee shall also agree that such Person shall Transfer such shares of Common Stock back to EnCap if, during the Lock-Up Period, such Person ceases to be an Affiliate of EnCap, or (iii) any Transfers made in connection with any tender offer, exchange offer, merger, consolidation or other similar transaction approved or recommended by the Board or a committee thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, EnCap shall not be entitled to distribute shares of Common Stock to its limited partners during the Lock-Up Period. In connection with any Transfer to a Permitted Transferee, the Company agrees to not take any action that would cause such Transfer to be subject to requirements imposed by any “fair price,” “moratorium,” “control share acquisition,” “business combination” or any other anti-takeover statute or similar statute enacted under applicable Law (“Takeover Laws”), and, at the request of the Investor, will take all reasonable steps within its control to exempt (or ensure the continued exemption of) the Transfer from the Takeover Laws of any state that purport to apply to such transaction.

Section 3.6 Waiver of Corporate Opportunities. It is hereby acknowledged that members of the Investor Group participate in, and own and will own substantial equity interests in other entities (existing and future) that participate in, the energy industry (“Portfolio Companies”) and may make investments and enter into advisory service agreements and other agreements from time to time with those Portfolio Companies. Any individual who serves as the Investor Director may also serve as an employee, partner, officer, director, or member of the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies and, at any given time, members of the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies may be in direct or indirect competition with the Company and/or its subsidiaries. The Company waives, to the maximum extent permitted by Law, the application of the doctrine of corporate opportunity (or any analogous doctrine) with respect to the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies or the Investor Director. As a result of such waiver, no member of the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies, nor the Investor Director, shall have any obligation to refrain from: (A) engaging in or managing the same or similar activities or lines of business as the Company or any of its subsidiaries or developing or marketing any products or services that compete (directly or indirectly) with those of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (B) acquiring assets in the same or similar areas of operation and lines of business of the Company; (C) investing in, owning or disposing of any (public or private) interest in any Person engaged in the same or similar activities or lines of business as, or otherwise in competition with, the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including any member of the Investor Group, a “Competing Person”); (D) developing a business relationship with any Competing Person; or (E) entering into any agreement to provide any service(s) to any Competing Person or acting as an officer, director, member, manager or advisor to, or other principal of, any Competing Person, regardless (in the case of each of clauses (A) through (E)) of whether such activities are in direct or indirect competition with the

1 | Note to Draft: To be equal to 1/3 of the Issued Shares.

7

business or activities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (the activities described in clauses (A) through (D) are referred to herein as “Specified Activities”). To the fullest extent permitted by Law, the Company hereby renounces (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) any interest or expectancy in, or in being notified of or offered an opportunity to participate in, any Specified Activity that may be presented to or become known to any member of the Investor Group or Portfolio Companies or the Investor Director. Nothing in this Section 3.5 shall be construed to limit or waive any right of the Company or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to any express written agreement between the Company and/or one or more of its subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any member of the Investor Group, any Portfolio Company, or any of their respective employees, partners, officers, directors or members, on the other hand.

Section 3.7 Amendment to Organizational Documents. The Company shall not amend, or propose to amend, the Organizational Documents in any manner that is inconsistent with or would nullify or supersede any of the terms of this Agreement or would prevent any party hereto from complying with its obligations hereunder unless such proposed amendment is approved by the Investor.

ARTICLE IV

TERMINATION

Section 4.1 Termination. This Agreement (except with respect to the rights and obligations under Section 3.5 hereof, which shall not be terminable) shall terminate upon the earliest to occur of (a) the last to occur of (i) the Board Designation Expiration Date and (ii) the expiration of the Lock-up Period, (b) the Investor and its Permitted Transferees ceasing to own any shares of Common Stock or (c) the mutual written consent of the parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rights and obligations provided under Section 5.10 shall terminate upon the one-year anniversary of the Board Designation Expiration Date.

ARTICLE V

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 5.1 Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered, sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, mailed by registered or certified mail or be sent by facsimile or electronic mail to such party at the address set forth below (or such other address as shall be specified by like notice). Notices will be deemed to have been duly given hereunder if (a) personally delivered, when received, (b) sent by nationally recognized overnight courier, one business day after deposit with the nationally recognized overnight courier, (c) mailed by registered or certified mail, five business days after the date on which it is so mailed, and (d) sent by facsimile or electronic mail, on the date sent so long as such communication is transmitted before 5:00 p.m. in the time zone of the receiving party on a business day and the receiving party affirmatively acknowledges receipt, otherwise, on the next business day.

8

(a) If to the Company, to:

Devon Energy Corporation

333 West Sheridan Avenue

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102

| Attention: | Jeffrey L. Ritenour; Lyndon C. Taylor; Edward Highberger

| Email: | Jeff.Ritenour@dvn.com;lyndon.taylor@dvn.com;

|  | Edward.Highberger@dvn.com

(b) If to the Investor, to:

Felix Investments Holdings II, LLC

1530 16th Street

Suite 500

Denver, Colorado 80202

| Attention: | John D. McCready

| E-mail: | johnm@felix-energy.com

(c) If to EnCap, to:

EnCap Energy Capital Fund X, L.P.1100

Louisiana Street

Suite 4900

Houston, Texas 77002

| Attention: | Douglas E. Swanson, Jr.

| E-mail: | dswanson@encapinvestments.com

Section 5.2 Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable, and the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or any circumstance, is found to be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, (a) a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision and (b) the remainder of this Agreement and the application of such provision to other Persons or circumstances shall not be affected by such invalidity or unenforceability, nor shall such invalidity or unenforceability affect the validity or enforceability of such provision, or the application thereof, in any other jurisdiction.

Section 5.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which, taken together, shall be considered one and the same agreement.

Section 5.4 Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (a) constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all other prior agreements, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and (b) is not intended to confer upon any Person, other than the parties hereto, any rights or remedies hereunder.

9

Section 5.5 Further Assurances.

(a) Each party hereto shall execute, deliver, acknowledge and file such other documents and take such further actions as may be reasonably requested from time to time by the other parties hereto to give effect to and carry out the transactions contemplated herein.

(b) In the event that the Company or any of its successors or permitted assigns engage in a merger, consolidation, equity security exchange or similar transaction in which the Common Stock is converted into or exchanged for equity securities in another entity, the Company (or such successor or permitted assign) shall cause such other entity to enter into an agreement with the Investor that provides the Investor with rights substantially similar to those provided hereunder.

Section 5.6 Governing Law; Equitable Remedies. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE (WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO CONFLICT OF LAWS PRINCIPLES THEREOF). The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with its specific terms or was otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties hereto shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions and other equitable remedies to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any of the Selected Courts (as defined below), this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at Law or in equity. Any requirements for the securing or posting of any bond with respect to such remedy are hereby waived by each of the parties hereto. Each party hereto further agrees that, in the event of any action for an injunction or other equitable remedy in respect of such breach or enforcement of specific performance, it will not assert the defense that a remedy at Law would be adequate.

Section 5.7 Consent To Jurisdiction. With respect to any suit, action or proceeding (“Proceeding”) arising out of or relating to this Agreement, each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably (a) submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the United States District Court for the District of Delaware and the appellate courts therefrom (the “Selected Courts”) and waives any objection to venue being laid in the Selected Courts whether based on the grounds of forum non conveniens or otherwise and hereby agrees not to commence any such Proceeding other than before one of the Selected Courts; provided, however, that a party may commence any Proceeding in a court other than a Selected Court solely for the purpose of enforcing an order or judgment issued by one of the Selected Courts; (b) consents to service of process in any Proceeding by the mailing of copies thereof by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or by recognized international express carrier or delivery service, to their respective addresses referred to in Section 5.1 hereof; provided, however, that nothing herein shall affect the right of any party hereto to serve process in any other manner permitted by Law; and (c) TO THE EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW THAT CANNOT BE WAIVED, WAIVES, AND COVENANTS THAT IT WILL NOT ASSERT (WHETHER AS PLAINTIFF, DEFENDANT OR OTHERWISE) ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION ARISING IN WHOLE OR IN PART UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE, AND AGREES THAT ANY OF THEM MAY FILE A COPY OF THIS PARAGRAPH WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND BARGAINED-FOR

10

AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES IRREVOCABLY TO WAIVE THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY PROCEEDING WHATSOEVER BETWEEN THEM RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND TO HAVE ALL MATTERS RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT BE TRIED IN A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION BY A JUDGE SITTING WITHOUT A JURY.

Section 5.8 Amendments; Waivers.

(a) No provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is in writing and signed (i) in the case of an amendment, by each of the parties hereto, and (ii) in the case of a waiver, by each of the parties against whom the waiver is to be effective.

(b) No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by Law.

Section 5.9 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other parties; provided, however, that the Investor may assign any of its rights hereunder to any of its Affiliates to the extent such Affiliate is Transferred Common Stock not in violation of the terms of this Agreement and provided any such Affiliate execute a joinder to this Agreement. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 5.10 Confidentiality. Each of the Investor and EnCap shall hold, and cause its Affiliates and its and their respective directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, consultants, auditors, attorneys, financial advisors, financing sources and other consultants and advisors (“Representatives”) to hold, in strict confidence, unless disclosure to a regulatory authority is necessary in connection with any necessary regulatory approval, examination or inspection or unless disclosure is required by judicial or administrative process or by other requirement of law or the applicable requirements of any regulatory agency or relevant stock exchange (in which case, other than in connection with a disclosure in connection with a routine audit or examination by, or document request from, a regulatory or self-regulatory authority, bank examiner or auditor, the party disclosing such information shall provide the other party with prior written notice of such permitted disclosure), all nonpublic records, books, contracts, instruments, computer data and other data and information (collectively, “Information”) concerning the Company, East or any of their respective subsidiaries furnished to it or the Investor Director by or on behalf of the Company, East or any of their respective subsidiaries (except to the extent that such information can be shown by the party receiving such Information to have been (a) previously known by such party from other sources; provided that such source was not known by such party to be bound by a contractual, legal or fiduciary obligation of confidentiality to the other party, (b) in the public domain through no violation of this Section 5.10 by such party or (c) later lawfully acquired from other sources by the party to which it was furnished), and no such party shall release or disclose such Information to any other person, except its Representatives (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any

11

Portfolio Company, unless such Portfolio Company enters into a joinder agreement with the Company), or use such Information other than in connection with evaluating and taking actions with respect to such Person’s ownership interest in the Company. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Investor and EnCap may, in the ordinary course of their respective businesses, evaluate investments in the energy industry and that they are actively seeking to invest in energy related projects in a variety of areas, including the provision of fresh water and disposal of produced water in connection with oil and gas exploration and development operations. The Company understands that the Investor, EnCap and the Investor Director will retain certain mental impressions of Information, which are indistinguishable from generalized industry knowledge. Accordingly, the Company agrees that, subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Investor, EnCap and the Investor Director are not precluded from pursuing investments solely because of such retained mental impressions. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, no provision of this Agreement shall apply to any action taken independently by any Portfolio Company so long as the Investor or EnCap has not provided such Portfolio Company with any Information. For purposes of clarification, no such Portfolio Company shall be deemed to have been provided with Information solely as a result of the Investor, EnCap, any Investor Director or any Representative (whether such Person has been provided with or has knowledge of Information) serving on the board of such Portfolio Company (provided that such board member does not use Information in connection with the business of such Portfolio Company).

[Signature page follows.]

12

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

DEVON ENERGY CORPORATION
By: |  |
|  | Name:
|  | Title:

Exhibit - A

FELIX INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS II, LLC
By: |  |
|  | Name: |  | John D. McCready
|  | Title: |  | Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit - A

Accepted and acknowledged, solely for purposes of Section 2.1, Section 3.5, Section 3.7 and Section 5.10 in this Agreement:

ENCAP ENERGY CAPITAL FUND X, L.P.
By: |  | EnCap Equity Fund X GP, L.P.,
|  | General Partner of EnCap Energy
|  | Capital Fund X, L.P.
By: |  | EnCap Investments L.P.,
|  | General Partner of EnCap Equity Fund
|  | X GP, L.P.
By: |  | EnCap Investments GP, L.L.C.,
|  | General Partner of EnCap Investments L.P.
By: |  |
|  | Name: Douglas E. Swanson, Jr.
|  | Title: Managing Partner

Exhibit - A

EXHIBIT A

INITIAL INVESTOR DIRECTOR

1. | D. Martin Phillips

Exhibit - A

EXHIBIT G

FORM OF EAST OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE

[East Letterhead]

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

609 Main Street, Suite 4500

Houston, Texas 77002

Ladies and Gentlemen:

In connection with the opinion (the “Opinion”) to be delivered by Kirkland & Ellis LLP (“Kirkland”) in connection with the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) dated as of September 26, 2020 by and among Devon Energy Corporation, a Delaware Corporation (“Central”), East Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Central (“Merger Sub”), and WPX Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“East”) (Central, together with Merger Sub and East, the “Parties,” and each, a “Party”), regarding certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger (as defined in the Merger Agreement), you have requested certain representations, warranties and covenants with respect to East, Merger Sub and Central. This officer’s certificate (the “Officer’s Certificate”) is being provided to you in response to that request. All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning specified, either directly or by reference, in the Merger Agreement. Except as otherwise provided, all “Section” references are to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and all “Treasury Regulations Section” references are to the Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code.

Recognizing and acknowledging that Kirkland will rely on the representations, warranties, covenants and statements set forth in this Officer’s Certificate in delivering the Tax Opinion, and that the Tax Opinion will be based on an assumption that all of the representations, warranties, covenants and statements set forth herein are true, accurate, and complete in all respects without regard to any qualification for knowledge, belief or otherwise, the undersigned officer of East (the “East Officer”) hereby represents and certifies, in his or her capacity as an officer of East and not in his or her individual capacity, on behalf of East, that, to the extent the following statements and representations relate to East (and to the extent otherwise without reason to believe to the contrary), such statements and representations are true and correct as of the date hereof and will be true and correct at the Effective Time (as if made as of the Effective Time) and through the subsequent periods specified herein:

| 1. | The East Officer is familiar with, or has relied on the knowledge of other East officers that are familiar with, the matters set forth in this Officer’s Certificate, and has made such investigations of factual matters as the East Officer has deemed reasonably necessary for the purpose of making the representations, warranties, covenants and statements in this Officers’ Certificate.

Exhibit G - 1

| 2. | The facts, representations, and warranties relating to the Merger, as described or otherwise set forth in the Merger Agreement and the registration statement on Form S-4 filed publicly by Central with the Securities and Exchange Commission on [●], as amended or supplemented through the date hereof (the “Registration Statement”), the proxy statement/prospectus included as a part of the Registration Statement (the “Proxy Statement/Prospectus”), and the other documents referred to in the Merger Agreement, the Registration Statement and the Proxy Statement/Prospectus (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”), in each case, insofar as such facts, representations, and warranties pertain to East, and its respective affiliates, are true and correct in all material respects (giving effect to the qualifications in the Disclosure Schedules). The Proxy Statement/Prospectus does not omit a material fact that would make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances in which they were made, misleading.

| 3. | Except to the extent otherwise required pursuant to a determination (within the meaning of Section 1313(a)) or by applicable state or local income or franchise tax law, none of East or any of its affiliates will take any position on any U.S. federal, state or local income or franchise tax return, or take any other U.S. tax reporting position, that is inconsistent with (i) the Reorganization Treatment or (ii) the representations, warranties, covenants and statements in this Officer’s Certificate.

| 4. | Each of East and the East Subsidiaries that was or will be a party to the Merger had and will have all requisite corporate powers and authority to undertake and consummate the Merger.

| 5. | Each of East and the East Subsidiaries that was or will be a party to the Merger has complied and will comply with all requirements under the relevant operating documents and local law to effect the Merger.

| 6. | The Merger will be consummated in accordance with (i) the material terms and conditions of the Transaction Documents, and none of the material terms and conditions thereof have been or will be waived or modified, and (ii) the descriptions contained in the Registration Statement and the Proxy Statement/Prospectus. The facts relating to the Merger as described in the Registration Statement, the Proxy Statement/Prospectus and the documents referenced therein are true and correct in all material respects.

| 7. | East is not (i) a regulated investment company, (ii) a real estate investment trust, or (iii) a corporation 50 percent or more of the fair market value of whose total assets are stock and securities and 80 percent or more of the fair market value of whose total assets are assets held for investment. In making the determination described in clause (iii) above, the stock and securities of any subsidiary of a company will be disregarded and such company will be deemed to own its ratable share of such subsidiary’s assets if such company owns 50 percent or more of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of such subsidiary that are entitled to vote or 50 percent or more of the total value of all of the outstanding stock of such subsidiary. In addition, in determining the fair market value of its total assets

Exhibit G - 2

| for purposes of making this representation, East will exclude any cash and cash items (such as receivables), government securities, and any other asset acquired (through incurring indebtedness or otherwise) for the purpose of causing East not to be characterized as an entity described in clause (i), (ii), or (iii) above or causing East to meet the requirements of Section 368(a)(2)(F)(ii).

| 8. | The Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein are the result of arm’s length negotiations conducted by and among the parties thereto and their respective agents and advisors. The Merger Agreement sets forth all of the rights and obligations and represents the entire understanding of the Parties regarding the Merger. There are no other material agreements, documents, understandings, or similar arrangements related to the Merger except for the Transaction Documents.

| 9. | The Merger will be effected for the bona fide business purposes described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, and not for purposes of tax avoidance.

| 10. | Neither East nor any of its affiliates is or will be a party to any oral or written agreement relating to the Merger that may cause any of the statements and representations set forth in this Officer’s Certificate to be untrue, incorrect, or incomplete in any material respect.

| 11. | The fair market value of the Central Common Stock to be received by each East Stockholder pursuant to the Merger Agreement will be approximately equal to the fair market value of the East Common Stock surrendered in exchange therefor (based on the respective approximate fair market value of Central Common Stock and East Common Stock prior to the execution of the Merger Agreement), as determined by arm’s length negotiations between the management of Central and the management of East.

| 12. | To the knowledge of East, neither Central nor any person related to Central within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-1(e)(3), (4), or (5) and/or Section 267(b) (a “Central Related Person”) (including, following the Merger, East) has any plan, intention, or obligation to redeem, reacquire, or purchase after the Merger, directly or indirectly (including through partnerships or through third parties), any Central Common Stock received by East Stockholders in the Merger, except for any plan or intention to purchase such stock on the open market as part of a repurchase program, which purchases and program satisfy the requirements of Revenue Ruling 99-58, 1999-2 C.B. 701, or pursuant to one or more accelerated share repurchase agreements (together, a “Central Stock Repurchase Program”). To the knowledge of East, acquisitions of Central Common Stock pursuant to a Central Stock Repurchase Program will not be matters negotiated by Central with East or any holders of the East Common Stock, and there is no plan or intention for any Central Stock Repurchase Program to favor participation by any holder of Central Common Stock relative to any other holder of Central Common Stock.

| 13. | To the knowledge of East, neither Central nor any Central Related Person has any plan, intention, or obligation to acquire, directly or indirectly (including, without limitation, through partnerships or through third parties), any stock of East (other than pursuant to the Merger Agreement) on or prior to the Effective Time.

Exhibit G - 3

| 14. | To the knowledge of East, neither Central, Merger Sub nor any Central Related Person has any plan, intention, or obligation to make any distribution, directly or indirectly, to former East Stockholders after the Merger, other than normal pro rata dividends or distributions made to all Central Stockholders (which for purposes of this Officer’s Certificate shall include any variable pro rata dividends or distributions of the type paid by publicly traded companies in the oil and gas industry) or repurchases pursuant to a Central Stock Repurchase Program.

| 15. | East has not caused, and will not cause in connection with the Merger, any extraordinary distribution with respect to East Common Stock to be declared or paid prior to the Effective Time. Neither East nor any person related to East within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-1(e)(3), (4), or (5), directly or indirectly (including, without limitation, through partnerships or through third parties), (i) has participated, or will participate in connection with the Merger, in any purchase, sale, redemption, or other disposition or acquisition of East Common Stock or (ii) has paid or will pay, prior to, in contemplation of, or in connection with the Merger or otherwise as part of a plan of which the Merger is a part, any amount to, or on behalf of, any East Stockholder in connection with any purchase, sale, redemption, or other disposition or acquisition of East Common Stock (except, in each case of clause (i) or (ii), as set forth in the Merger Agreement or pursuant to normal pro rata dividends or distributions to all holders of Central Common Stock (which for purposes of this Officer’s Certificate shall include any variable pro rata dividends or distributions of the type paid by publicly traded companies in the oil and gas industry) or repurchases of Central Common Stock pursuant to a Central Stock Repurchase Program).

| 16. | At the Effective Time, East will not have outstanding any warrants, options, convertible securities, or any other type of right, in each case, pursuant to which any person could acquire stock in East that, if exercised, would affect Central’s acquisition or retention of control of East within the meaning of Section 368(c).

| 17. | Following the Merger, East has no plan or intention to issue additional shares of its stock that would result in Central losing control of East within the meaning of Section 368(c).

| 18. | Merger Sub will have no liabilities assumed by East and will not transfer to East any assets subject to liabilities in the Merger.

| 19. | East conducts a historic business for purposes of Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-1(d).

| 20. | Following the Merger, East or one or more other members of Central’s qualified group (as defined in Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-1(d)(4)(ii)) will continue East’s historic business or use a significant portion of East’s historic business assets in a business, in each case, within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-1(d).

| 21. | After the Merger, the Surviving Corporation will hold (i) at least 90 percent of the fair market value of the net assets and at least 70 percent of the fair market value of the gross assets held by East immediately prior to the Merger and (ii) at least 90 percent of the fair market value of the net assets and at least 70 percent of the fair market value of the gross

Exhibit G - 4

assets held by Merger Sub immediately prior to the Merger. For purposes of this representation, the following amounts will be treated as assets of East or Merger Sub, as applicable, held immediately prior to the Merger: amounts (i) used (or to be used) by East or Merger Sub to pay Merger expenses, (ii) paid (or to be paid) by East or Merger Sub to redeem stock, securities, warrants, or options of East as part of any overall plan of which the Merger is a part, (iii) used (or to be used) to repay debt, other than any debt that is refinanced in connection with the Merger, and (iv) distributed (or to be distributed) by East or Merger Sub to East Stockholders or Merger Sub stockholders, as applicable (except for regular, normal dividends), as part of any overall plan of which the Merger is a part. East has not disposed of any assets prior to the Merger which disposition was made in contemplation of, or as part of, the Merger.

| 22. | Except as otherwise provided in the Merger Agreement, each of the parties to the Merger Agreement has paid and will pay only its own expenses incurred in connection with the Merger. East has not paid and will not pay, directly or indirectly, any expenses incurred by any East Stockholder in connection with or in contemplation of the Merger. To the best knowledge of East, each East Stockholder has paid and will pay its own expenses, if any, incurred in connection with the Merger, and no such expenses have been or will be reimbursed, directly or indirectly, by Central, Merger Sub or East.

| 23. | There is no intercorporate indebtedness existing between Central, any Central Subsidiary or Merger Sub (or any of its subsidiaries), on the one hand, and East or any East Subsidiary, on the other hand, that was issued or acquired, or will be settled, at a discount.

| 24. | The payment of cash in lieu of issuing fractional shares of Central Common Stock to East Stockholders is solely for the purpose of avoiding the expense and inconvenience of issuing fractional shares and does not represent separately bargained-for consideration. With the possible exception of East Stockholders who hold through multiple brokers or multiple accounts, no East Stockholder will receive cash in an amount equal to or greater than the value of one full Central Share.

| 25. | East has no issued and outstanding stock (or any other interest treated as stock for U.S. federal income tax purposes) other than East Common Stock. In the Merger, all of the issued and outstanding East Common Stock will be acquired solely for Central Common Stock, except as described in representation 24 above. No stock of Merger Sub will be issued in the Merger. No liabilities of any East Stockholder have been or will be assumed by Central, any Central Related Person, Merger Sub, or East, nor will any East Common Stock be acquired subject to any liabilities. For purposes of this representation, if any East Common Stock is exchanged for cash or other property originating with Central, such East Shares will be treated as acquired by Central in the Merger.

| 26. | None of the compensation received (or to be received) by any East Stockholder that is an employee of, or otherwise provides services to, East or any of its subsidiaries was or will be separate consideration for, or allocable to, any East Common Stock held by such Stockholder. None of the Central Common Stock that will be received in the Merger by any East Stockholder that is an employee of, or otherwise provides services to, East or any of the East Subsidiaries will be separate consideration for, or allocable to, any employment,

Exhibit G - 5

consulting, or similar agreement. Any compensation paid (or to be paid) to any East Stockholder that is an employee of, or otherwise provides services to, East or any of its subsidiaries (i) was (or will be) for services actually rendered or to be rendered, (ii) was (or will be) commensurate with amounts paid to third parties bargaining at arm’s length for similar services, and (iii) has been (or will be) bargained for independent of negotiations specifically regarding the consideration to be paid for East Common Stock in the Merger.

| 27. | East has not (and, to the best knowledge of East, no East Stockholder has) negotiated the direct or indirect sale, exchange, or other disposition of Central Common Stock to be issued in the Merger to Central or any Central Related Person. There is no plan, intention, understanding, or arrangement between Central or any Central Related Person, or any of their respective shareholders, on the one hand, and East or, to the best knowledge of East, any East Stockholder, on the other hand, that any East Stockholder’s ownership of Central Common Stock received in the Merger would be transitory. For purposes of this representation, any reference to East or Central includes a reference to any successor or predecessor of such corporation, except that East is not treated as a predecessor of Central and Central is not treated as a successor of East.

| 28. | Except for any publicly traded bonds issued by Central, there will be no indebtedness between any East Stockholder, on the one hand, and Central, on the other hand, at the time of the Merger, and no indebtedness will be created in favor of any East Stockholder as a result of the Merger.

| 29. | No East Stockholder will retain any rights in the East Common Stock acquired by Central pursuant to the Merger.

| 30. | Immediately after the Effective Time, the fair market value of the assets of East will exceed the sum of its liabilities plus the liabilities, if any, to which such assets are subject.

| 31. | East is a corporation within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(3).

| 32. | East is not under the jurisdiction of a court in a title 11 or similar case within the meaning of Section 368(a)(3)(A).

| 33. | The undersigned is authorized to make all of the representations set forth herein on behalf of East.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK]

Exhibit G - 6

East understands that Kirkland & Ellis LLP, counsel to East, has not undertaken to independently verify, and has not verified, the statements and representations set forth in this Officer’s Certificate. East recognizes that the Tax Opinion of Kirkland & Ellis LLP may not accurately describe the effects of the Merger if any of the foregoing statements or representations are not accurate in all respects. East hereby commits to immediately inform you in writing if, for any reason, any of the foregoing statements or representations ceases to be true, correct or complete prior to the Effective Time.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, East has executed this letter on this day of , 2020.

EAST
By: |  |
Name: |  |
Title: |  |

Exhibit G - 7

EXHIBIT H

FORM OF CENTRAL OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE

[Central Letterhead]

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

609 Main Street, Suite 4500

Houston, Texas 77002

Ladies and Gentlemen:

In connection with the opinion (the “Opinion”) to be delivered by Kirkland & Ellis LLP (“Kirkland”) in connection with the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) dated as of September 26, 2020 by and among Devon Energy Corporation, a Delaware Corporation (“Central”), East Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Central (“Merger Sub,” together with Central, the “Central Parties”), and WPX Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“East”) (the Central Parties, together with East, the “Parties,” and each, a “Party”), regarding certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger (as defined in the Merger Agreement), you have requested certain representations, warranties and covenants with respect to East, Merger Sub and Central. This officer’s certificate (the “Officer’s Certificate”) is being provided to you in response to that request. All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning specified, either directly or by reference, in the Merger Agreement. Except as otherwise provided, all “Section” references are to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and all “Treasury Regulations Section” references are to the Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code.

Recognizing and acknowledging that Kirkland will rely on the representations, warranties, covenants and statements set forth in this Officer’s Certificate in delivering the Tax Opinion, and that the Tax Opinion will be based on an assumption that all of the representations, warranties, covenants and statements set forth herein are true, accurate, and complete in all respects without regard to any qualification for knowledge, belief or otherwise, the undersigned officer of Central (the “Central Officer”) hereby represents and certifies, in his or her capacity as an officer of Central and not in his or her individual capacity, on behalf of Central, that, to the extent the following statements and representations relate to the Central Parties (and to the extent otherwise without reason to believe to the contrary) such statements and representations are true and correct as of the date hereof and will be true and correct at the Effective Time (as if made as of the Effective Time) and through the subsequent periods specified herein:

| 1. | The Central Officer is familiar with, or has relied on the knowledge of other Central officers that are familiar with, the matters set forth in this Officer’s Certificate, and has made such investigations of factual matters as the Central Officer has deemed reasonably necessary for the purpose of making the representations, warranties, covenants and statements in this Officers’ Certificate.

Exhibit H - 1

| 2. | The facts, representations, and warranties relating to the Merger, as described or otherwise set forth in the Merger Agreement and the registration statement on Form S-4 filed publicly by Central with the Securities and Exchange Commission on [●], as amended or supplemented through the date hereof (the “Registration Statement”), the proxy statement/prospectus included as a part of the Registration Statement (the “Proxy Statement/Prospectus”), and the other documents referred to in the Merger Agreement, the Registration Statement and the Proxy Statement/Prospectus (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”), in each case, insofar as such facts, representations, and warranties pertain to Merger Sub, Central, and their respective affiliates, are true and correct in all material respects (giving effect to the qualifications in the Disclosure Schedules).

| 3. | Except to the extent otherwise required pursuant to a determination (within the meaning of Section 1313(a)) or by applicable state or local income or franchise tax law, none of Central or any of its affiliates will take any position on any U.S. federal, state or local income or franchise tax return, or take any other U.S. tax reporting position, that is inconsistent with (i) the Reorganization Treatment or (ii) the representations made herein.

| 4. | Each of Merger Sub, Central, and the Central Subsidiaries that was or will be a party to the Merger had and will have all requisite corporate powers and authority to undertake and consummate the Merger.

| 5. | Each of Merger Sub, Central, and the Central Subsidiaries that was or will be a party to the Merger had or will have complied and will comply with all requirements under the relevant operating documents and local law to effect the Merger.

| 6. | The Merger will be consummated in accordance with the material terms and conditions of the Transaction Documents, and none of the material terms and conditions thereof have been or will be waived or modified.

| 7. | Neither Central nor Merger Sub is (i) a regulated investment company, (ii) a real estate investment trust, or (iii) a corporation 50 percent or more of the fair market value of whose total assets are stock and securities and 80 percent or more of the fair market value of whose total assets are assets held for investment. In making the determination described in clause (iii) above, the stock and securities of any subsidiary of a company will be disregarded and such company will be deemed to own its ratable share of such subsidiary’s assets if such company owns 50 percent or more of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of such subsidiary that are entitled to vote or 50 percent or more of the total value of all of the outstanding stock of such subsidiary. In addition, in determining the fair market value of its total assets for purposes of making this representation, Central and Merger Sub will exclude any cash and cash items (such as receivables), government securities, and any other asset acquired (through incurring indebtedness or otherwise) for the purpose of causing Central or Merger Sub not to be characterized as an entity described in clause (i), (ii), or (iii) above or causing Central or Merger Sub to meet the requirements of Section 368(a)(2)(F)(ii).

Exhibit H - 2

| 8. | The Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein are the result of arm’s length negotiations conducted by and among the parties thereto and their respective agents and advisors. The Merger Agreement sets forth all of the rights and obligations and represents the entire understanding of the Parties regarding the Merger. There are no other material agreements, documents, understandings, or similar arrangements related to the Merger except for the Transaction Documents.

| 9. | The Merger will be effected for the bona fide business purposes described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus.

| 10. | None of Merger Sub, Central, or any of their respective affiliates (including, after the Effective Time, East and the East Subsidiaries) is or will be a party to any oral or written agreement relating to the Merger that may cause any of the statements and representations set forth in this Officer’s Certificate to be untrue, incorrect, or incomplete in any material respect.

| 11. | The fair market value of the Central Common Stock to be received by each East Stockholder pursuant to the Merger Agreement will be approximately equal to the fair market value of the East Common Stock surrendered in exchange therefor (based on the respective approximate fair market value of Central Common Stock and East Common Stock prior to the execution of the Merger Agreement), as determined by arm’s length negotiations between the management of Central and the management of East.

| 12. | Neither Central nor any person related to Central within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-1(e)(3), (4), or (5) and/or Section 267(b) (a “Related Person”) (including, following the Merger, East) has any plan, intention, or obligation to redeem, reacquire, or purchase after the Merger, directly or indirectly (including through partnerships or through third parties), any Central Common Stock received by East Stockholders in the Merger, except for any plan or intention to purchase such stock on the open market as part of a repurchase program, which purchases and program satisfy the requirements of Revenue Ruling 99-58, 1999-2 C.B. 701, or pursuant to one or more accelerated share repurchase agreements (together, a “Central Stock Repurchase Program”). Acquisitions of Central Common Stock pursuant to a Central Stock Repurchase Program will not be matters negotiated by Central with East or any holders of the East Common Stock, and there is no plan or intention for any Central Stock Repurchase Program to favor participation by any holder of Central Common Stock relative to any other holder of Central Common Stock.

| 13. | Neither Central nor any Related Person has any plan, intention, or obligation to acquire, directly or indirectly (including, without limitation, through partnerships or through third parties), any stock of East (other than pursuant to the Merger Agreement) on or prior to the Effective Time.

| 14. | Neither Central nor any Related Person has any plan, intention, or obligation to make any distribution, directly or indirectly, to former East Stockholders after the Merger, other than normal pro rata dividends or distributions made to all Central Stockholders (which for purposes of this Officer’s Certificate shall include any variable pro rata dividends or distributions of the type paid by publicly traded companies in the oil and gas industry) or repurchases pursuant to a Central Stock Repurchase Program.

Exhibit H - 3

| 15. | Neither Merger Sub, Central nor any Related Person, directly or indirectly (including, without limitation, through partnerships or through third parties), (i) has participated, or will participate in connection with the Merger, in any purchase, sale, redemption, or other disposition or acquisition of East Common Stock or (ii) has paid or will pay, prior to, in contemplation of, or in connection with the Merger or otherwise as part of a plan of which the Merger is a part, any amount to, or on behalf of, any East Stockholder in connection with any purchase, sale, redemption, or other disposition or acquisition of East Common Stock (except, in each case of clause (i) or (ii), as set forth in the Merger Agreement or pursuant to normal pro rata dividends or distributions to all holders of Central Common Stock (which for purposes of this Officer’s Certificate shall include any variable pro rata dividends or distributions of the type paid by publicly traded companies in the oil and gas industry) or repurchases of Central Common Stock pursuant to a Central Stock Repurchase Program).

| 16. | Central has no plan or intention following the Merger to (i) liquidate East or Central (including a deemed liquidation from an entity classification election under Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3), (ii) merge East or Central with or into another corporation or entity, (iii) sell or otherwise dispose of any of the stock of East (other than a transfer contemplated by Section 368(a)(2)(C) or the Treasury Regulations thereunder, such as a contribution of the East Common Stock by Central to Central Energy Corporation (Oklahoma), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Central) or (iv) cause East to sell or otherwise dispose of any of its assets outside the ordinary course of business.

| 17. | Merger Sub will have no liabilities assumed by East and will not transfer to East any assets subject to liabilities in the Merger.

| 18. | Following the Merger, East or one or more other members of Central’s qualified group (as defined in Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-1(d)(4)(ii)) will continue East’s historic business or use a significant portion of East’s historic business assets in a business, in each case, within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-1(d).

| 19. | After the Merger, the Surviving Corporation will hold (i) at least 90 percent of the fair market value of the net assets and at least 70 percent of the fair market value of the gross assets held by East immediately prior to the Merger and (ii) at least 90 percent of the fair market value of the net assets and at least 70 percent of the fair market value of the gross assets held by Merger Sub immediately prior to the Merger. For purposes of this representation, the following amounts will be treated as assets of East or Merger Sub, as applicable, held immediately prior to the Merger: amounts (i) used (or to be used) by East or Merger Sub to pay Merger expenses, (ii) paid (or to be paid) by East or Merger Sub to redeem stock, securities, warrants, or options of East as part of any overall plan of which the Merger is a part, (iii) used (or to be used) to repay debt, other than any debt that is refinanced in connection with the Merger, and (iv) distributed (or to be distributed) by East or Merger Sub to East Stockholders or Merger Sub stockholders, as applicable (except for regular, normal dividends), as part of any overall plan of which the Merger is a part. Merger Sub has not disposed of any assets prior to the Merger which disposition was made in contemplation of, or as part of, the Merger.

Exhibit H - 4

| 20. | Except as otherwise provided in the Merger Agreement, each of the parties to the Merger Agreement has paid and will pay only its own expenses incurred in connection with the Merger. Neither Central nor Merger Sub has paid nor will pay, directly or indirectly, any expenses incurred by any East Stockholder in connection with or in contemplation of the Merger. To the best knowledge of Central, each East Stockholder has paid and will pay its own expenses, if any, incurred in connection with the Merger, and no such expenses have been or will be reimbursed, directly or indirectly, by Central, Merger Sub or East.

| 21. | There is no intercorporate indebtedness existing between Central, any Central Subsidiary or Merger Sub (or any of their respective subsidiaries), on the one hand, and East or any East Subsidiary, on the other hand, that was issued or acquired, or will be settled, at a discount.

| 22. | The payment of cash in lieu of issuing fractional shares of Central Common Stock to East Stockholders is solely for the purpose of avoiding the expense and inconvenience of issuing fractional shares and does not represent separately bargained-for consideration. With the possible exception of East Stockholders who hold through multiple brokers or multiple accounts, no East Stockholder will receive cash in an amount equal to or greater than the value of one full Central Share.

| 23. | No liabilities of any East Stockholder have been or will be assumed by Central, Merger Sub, East or any Related Person, nor will any East Common Stock be acquired subject to any liabilities. For purposes of this representation, if any East Common Stock is exchanged for cash or other property originating with Central, such East Shares will be treated as acquired by Central in the Merger.

| 24. | Immediately before the Effective Time, Central will own all of the stock of Merger Sub and will be in control of Merger Sub within the meaning of Section 368(c). At the Effective Time, Merger Sub will not have outstanding any warrants, options, convertible securities, or any other type of right pursuant to which any person could acquire stock in Merger Sub (or, following the Merger, stock in East) that, if exercised, would affect Central’s retention of control of East within the meaning of Section 368(c). Merger Sub was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the Merger contemplated by the Merger Agreement and has not owned any assets since its formation (other than assets with nominal value contributed upon formation), incurred any indebtedness for money borrowed, issued stock or any other equity to any person, or engaged in any trade or business activities or operations.

| 25. | Central has no present plan or intention to, following the Merger, permit East to issue additional shares of its stock that would result in Central losing control of East within the meaning of Section 368(c).

| 26. | Central has not (and, to the best knowledge of Central, no East Stockholder has) negotiated the direct or indirect sale, exchange, or other disposition of Central Common Stock to be issued in the Merger to Central or any Central Related Person. There is no plan, intention,

Exhibit H - 5

| understanding, or arrangement between or among Central, East or any of their respective shareholders, that any East Stockholder’s ownership of Central Common Stock received in the Merger would be transitory. For purposes of this representation, any reference to East or Central includes a reference to any successor or predecessor of such corporation, except that East is not treated as a predecessor of Central and Central is not treated as a successor of East.

| 27. | Except for any publicly traded bonds issued by Central, there will be no indebtedness between any East Stockholder, on the one hand, and Central, on the other hand, at the time of the Merger, and no indebtedness will be created in favor of any East Stockholder as a result of the Merger.

| 28. | No East Stockholder will retain any rights in the East Common Stock acquired by Central pursuant to the Merger.

| 29. | Immediately after the Effective Time, the fair market value of the assets of Central will exceed the sum of its liabilities plus the liabilities, if any, to which such assets are subject.

| 30. | Each of Central and Merger Sub is a corporation organized under the laws of Delaware.

| 31. | Neither Merger Sub nor Central is under the jurisdiction of a court in a title 11 or similar case within the meaning of Section 368(a)(3)(A).

| 32. | The undersigned is authorized to make all of the representations set forth herein on behalf of Merger Sub and Central.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK]

Exhibit H - 6

Central understands that Kirkland & Ellis LLP, counsel to East, has not undertaken to independently verify, and has not verified, the statements and representations set forth in this Officer’s Certificate. Central recognizes that the Tax Opinion of Kirkland & Ellis LLP may not accurately describe the effects of the Merger if any of the foregoing statements or representations are not accurate in all respects. Central hereby commits to immediately inform you in writing if, for any reason, any of the foregoing statements or representations ceases to be true, correct or complete prior to the Effective Time.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Central has executed this letter on this day of , 2020.

CENTRAL
By: |  |
Name: |  |
Title: |  |

Exhibit H - 7

ANNEX I

INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS

|  | Page No. |
Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement |  |  | 100 |
Acquisition Proposal |  |  | 101 |
Activities |  |  | 67 |
Affiliate |  |  | 101 |
Agreement |  |  | 1 |
Anti-Corruption Laws |  |  | 101 |
Book-Entry Common Share |  |  | 101 |
Business Day |  |  | 101 |
CARES Act |  |  | 24 |
Central |  |  | 1 |
Central Acquisition Agreement |  |  | 72 |
Central Adverse Recommendation Change |  |  | 73 |
Central Balance Sheet |  |  | 37 |
Central Balance Sheet Date |  |  | 37 |
Central Benefit Plans |  |  | 46 |
Central Board |  |  | 1 |
Central Budget |  |  | 62 |
Central Common Stock |  |  | 3 |
Central Credit Agreement |  |  | 101 |
Central Disclosure Letter |  |  | 33 |
Central Employees |  |  | 79 |
Central ERISA Affiliate |  |  | 46 |
Central Excess Shares |  |  | 6 |
Central Intervening Event |  |  | 101 |
Central Leased Real Property |  |  | 51 |
Central LPC Report |  |  | 49 |
Central Material Adverse Effect |  |  | 90, 102 |
Central Material Contracts |  |  | 43 |
Central Notice |  |  | 73 |
Central Notice of Change |  |  | 74 |
Central Officer |  |  | 1 |
Central Officer’s Certificate |  |  | 85 |
Central Organizational Documents |  |  | 34 |
Central Owned Real Property |  |  | 51 |
Central Parties |  |  | 1 |
Central Permits |  |  | 40 |
Central Preferred Stock |  |  | 35 |
Central Proposal |  |  | 35 |
Central Real Property |  |  | 51 |
Central Real Property Lease |  |  | 51 |
Central Recommendation |  |  | 1 |

Annex I - 8

Central Related Person |  |  | 3 |
Central Reserve Report |  |  | 49 |
Central Risk Policies |  |  | 38 |
Central RSUs |  |  | 35 |
Central SEC Documents |  |  | 37 |
Central Stock Plans |  |  | 35 |
Central Stock Repurchase Program |  |  | 3 |
Central Stockholder Approval |  |  | 34 |
Central Stockholders |  |  | 1 |
Central Stockholders’ Meeting |  |  | 69 |
Central Subsidiaries |  |  | 3 |
Certificate of Merger |  |  | 2 |
Cleanup |  |  | 104 |
Closing |  |  | 2 |
Closing Date |  |  | 2 |
Code |  |  | 2, 1 |
Confidentiality Agreement |  |  | 67 |
Consent Solicitations |  |  | 86 |
Contract |  |  | 104 |
Converted RSA |  |  | 77 |
Converted RSU |  |  | 77 |
Converted Stock Option |  |  | 77 |
Corporate Governance Policy |  |  | 104 |
COVID-19 |  |  | 15 |
D&O Insurance |  |  | 81 |
Derivative Product |  |  | 104 |
DGCL |  |  | 1 |
DOJ |  |  | 75 |
DTC |  |  | 104 |
East |  |  | 1, 3, 1 |
East Acquisition Agreement |  |  | 70 |
East Adverse Recommendation Change |  |  | 71 |
East Balance Sheet |  |  | 13 |
East Balance Sheet Date |  |  | 13 |
East Benefit Plans |  |  | 22 |
East Board |  |  | 1 |
East Budget |  |  | 57 |
East Common Stock |  |  | 3 |
East Common Stock Trust |  |  | 6 |
East Credit Agreement |  |  | 104 |
East Disclosure Letter |  |  | 9 |
East Employees |  |  | 78 |
East ERISA Affiliate |  |  | 22 |
East Intervening Event |  |  | 105 |
East Leased Real Property |  |  | 27 |
East Loan Agreement |  |  | 105 |

Annex I - 9

East March 20 8-K/A |  |  | 14 |
East Material Adverse Effect |  |  | 89, 105 |
East Material Contracts |  |  | 19 |
East Note Offers and Consent Solicitations |  |  | 86 |
East Notice |  |  | 71 |
East Notice of Change |  |  | 71 |
East NSAI Audit Report |  |  | 25 |
East Officer |  |  | 1 |
East Officer’s Certificate |  |  | 85 |
East Organizational Documents |  |  | 9 |
East Owned Real Property |  |  | 27 |
East Permits |  |  | 16 |
East Preferred Stock |  |  | 10 |
East Real Property |  |  | 27 |
East Real Property Lease |  |  | 27 |
East Recommendation |  |  | 1 |
East Reserve Report |  |  | 25 |
East Risk Policies |  |  | 14 |
East RSA |  |  | 77 |
East RSU |  |  | 77 |
East SEC Documents |  |  | 13 |
East Stock Certificate |  |  | 4 |
East Stock Option |  |  | 77 |
East Stock Plans |  |  | 10 |
East Stockholder Approval |  |  | 10 |
East Stockholders |  |  | 1 |
East Stockholders’ Meeting |  |  | 68 |
East Subsidiaries |  |  | 3 |
Economic Sanctions/Trade Laws |  |  | 107 |
EDGAR |  |  | 108 |
Effective Time |  |  | 2 |
Employees |  |  | 79 |
Encumbrance |  |  | 108 |
Enforceability Exceptions |  |  | 10 |
Entity |  |  | 108 |
Environmental Claim |  |  | 108 |
Environmental Law |  |  | 108 |
ERISA |  |  | 21 |
ESPP |  |  | 78 |
ESPP Exercise Date |  |  | 78 |
Exchange Act |  |  | 12 |
Exchange Agent |  |  | 5 |
Exchange Fund |  |  | 5 |
Exchange Ratio |  |  | 3 |
Excluded Shares |  |  | 3 |
executive officers |  |  | 108 |

Annex I - 10

Existing East Notes |  |  | 108 |
Expenses |  |  | 94 |
Felix |  |  | 108 |
Felix Balance Sheet |  |  | 109 |
Felix Financial Statements |  |  | 14 |
Felix Reserve Report |  |  | 26 |
Felix Stockholders’ Agreement |  |  | 109 |
FFCRA |  |  | 24 |
FTC |  |  | 75 |
GAAP |  |  | 109 |
Governance Period |  |  | 87 |
Government Official |  |  | 32 |
Governmental Entity |  |  | 109 |
Hazardous Materials |  |  | 109 |
HSR Act |  |  | 12 |
Hydrocarbons |  |  | 109 |
Indebtedness |  |  | 109 |
Indemnified Parties |  |  | 81 |
Intellectual Property |  |  | 110 |
IT |  |  | 29 |
Joint Proxy Statement |  |  | 67 |
Kirkland |  |  | 1 |
Knowledge |  |  | 110 |
Labor Agreements |  |  | 23 |
Law |  |  | 110 |
Legal Proceeding |  |  | 111 |
Merger |  |  | 1 |
Merger Agreement |  |  | 1 |
Merger Consideration |  |  | 3 |
Merger Sub |  |  | 1 |
Mineral Interest |  |  | 111 |
Money-Laundering Laws |  |  | 111 |
New Felix Registration Rights Agreement |  |  | 111 |
New Felix Stockholders’ Agreement |  |  | 111 |
New Plans |  |  | 79 |
NSAI |  |  | 25 |
NYSE |  |  | 6 |
OFAC |  |  | 107 |
Offers to Exchange |  |  | 86 |
Offers to Purchase |  |  | 85 |
Officer’s Certificate |  |  | 1 |
Oil and Gas Leases |  |  | 111 |
Oil and Gas Properties |  |  | 111 |
Old Plans |  |  | 80 |
Opinion |  |  | 1 |
Order |  |  | 112 |

Annex I - 11

Parties |  |  | 1 |
Party |  |  | 1 |
Payoff Letter |  |  | 85 |
Permit |  |  | 112 |
Permitted Encumbrance |  |  | 112 |
Person |  |  | 114 |
PPP Loan |  |  | 24 |
Pre-Closing Period |  |  | 57 |
Proceeding |  |  | 96 |
Production Burdens |  |  | 114 |
Proxy Statement/Prospectus |  |  | 2 |
Registration Statement |  |  | 36, 2 |
Related Person |  |  | 3 |
Release |  |  | 114 |
Reorganization Treatment |  |  | 84 |
Representatives |  |  | 67 |
Sanctions Target |  |  | 114 |
SEC |  |  | 13 |
Securities Act |  |  | 13 |
Software |  |  | 110 |
SOX |  |  | 13 |
Stock Issuance |  |  | 1 |
Subsequent Listing Application |  |  | 83 |
Subsidiary |  |  | 115 |
Superior Proposal |  |  | 115 |
Support Agreement |  |  | 1 |
Surviving Corporation |  |  | 2 |
Takeover Laws |  |  | 115 |
Tax Return |  |  | 115 |
Taxes |  |  | 115 |
Taxing Authority |  |  | 116 |
Termination Date |  |  | 90 |
Termination Fee |  |  | 94 |
Transaction Documents |  |  | 2 |
Transition Committee |  |  | 8 |
Treasury Regulations |  |  | 116 |
Treasury Regulations Section |  |  | 1 |
Unit |  |  | 116 |
Wells |  |  | 116 |
Willful and Material Breach |  |  | 116 |
Willfully and Materially Breach |  |  | 116 |

Annex I - 12